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Preface

IOWA: A Guide to the Hawkeye State may be considered the result of
community effort rather than the achievement of any person or group of
persons. This book, primarily a guide for sightseers from other States, will
have another purpose, unsuspected when the work of making it began—
to acquaint Iowans with Iowa. When the Federal Writers’ Project got un-
der way, with the purpose of presenting Iowa in a guide book, it became
apparent that Iowa people generally had yet to know their own State, to
define its history, to appraise their commonwealth’s real values.

Iowans may appear indifferent to the natural beauty of their State and
to its amazing power as a producer of foodstuffs, but when asked to help
with the production of an Iowa guide book, they responded generously.
Soon, from one border to the other, the book-in-the-making came to be
regarded as a State enterprise, a job to be done with patriotic devotion,
Those who were close to the task soon knew the thrill of working together
for the good of their State, and from every county and city came evidence:
of the same feeling. Because of this book, Iowans have become better ac-
quainted not only with Iowa, but with each other.

Out of the wealth of facts derived from manifold sources of informa-
tion, the manuscript came finally to completion. Postmasters, librarians,.
ministers, teachers, historians, old settlers, newspaper men, and others
supplied material; project workers and expert consultants in all branches
of research contributed to the book’s interest and factual exactitude.

The guide book workers are thankful for assistance from the State His-
torical Society of lowa, the Iowa State Planning Board, the State Con-
servation Commission, State officers and members of their staffs; the li-
brarians in the State and city libraries in Des Moines and throughout the
State. Others who have the gratitude of the Iowa Writers’ Project are
Adrian Dornbush, A. L. Case, Edgar R. Harlan, Prof. Ada Hayden, Prof.
George Hendrickson, Harvey Ingham, Prof. George F. Kay, Prof. Charles
Reuben Keyes, Edward A. Kimball, Charles F. Pye, Prof. Frank Luther
Mott, Ira D. Nelson, Charles D. Reed, Miss Julia A. Robinson, Mrs. L. B,
Schmidt, Prof. Ray Wakeley, and Jay du Von.

RAYMOND KRESENSKY, State Director
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Notations on the Use of Book

IOWA: Past and Present is designed to give a reasonably comprehensive
survey of the State in its various aspects. Frequently persons, places, and
events mentioned in the essays, are discussed at length in the city and tour
descriptions. A classified bibliography is included.

Cities and Tours: Descriptions of seventeen cities have been removed
from tours because of their length. At the end of each is a list of im-
portant nearby points of interest, with reference to the tours on which
these places are described.

Maps are provided for ten of the cities. Points of interest are numbered
in the descriptions, to correspond with numbers on the maps.

Conditions of admission to points of interest vary from time to time;
those given in this book are for February 1938.

Most tours cover a highway bearing a single State or Federal number;
they contain mile by mile descriptions of towns, points of interest, and the
countryside on or near the route.

The inter-State routes are described from boundary to boundary of the
State, but the tour headings bear in parentheses the names of the nearest
out-of-State cities of importance, as an aid in identifying the routes.

Descriptions of minor routes branching from the main ones are printed
in smaller type.

All main route descriptions are written from North to South and East
to West, but can be followed quite easily in the reverse direction. The
names of railroads paralleling highways are noted in the tour headings;
the tour descriptions are useful to rail travelers as well as to motorists.

Mileages are cumulative, beginning at the northernmost or easternmost
point on the main highways. Where long routes have been divided into
sections, mileages have been started afresh at the beginning of each sec-
tion. Mileages on side routes are counted from the junctions with the main
routes. All mileages are necessarily relative; minor re-routings of highways,
tire pressure, and individual driving habits, will produce variations between
the listed mileages and those shown on speedometers.

Cities on the tour routes, but described in the Cities Section, are indi-
cated by cross-references. Cities and towns at junctions of two tours are
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described on only one tour. The other tour gives a cross-reference to the
one bearing the description.

Foints of interest in cities, towns, and villages are indexed under the
name of the particular point of interest, rather than under that of the com-
munity, because many persons know the name of a point of interest, but
are uncertain as to the name of the community.

Great effort has been expended to make this book as accurate as pos-
sible, but it is realized that no volume covering such a wide range of
material, some of it inadequately documented, can be free from mistakes.
If those who find errors in fact will report them to the Federal Writers’
Project in Washington, corrections will gladly be made in future editions.
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General Information

(State map showing highways and points of interest, and transportation map
showing railroad, air, bus, and water transport routes, in pocket inside back cover.
For scenic map, published each year, write lowa State Highway Commission, Ames,

Towa.)

Railroads: The 13 railtoads are marked on the transportation map; they
are given in connection with State Tours, and are listed in information

section of cities.

Interstate Bus Lines: Burlington Transportation Co., Chicago, Milwaukee,
St. Paul & Pacific R.R.; Interstate Transit Lines; Jefferson Transportation
Co.; Black & White Transfer Co.; Missouri Transit Co.; Northland-
Greyhound Lines, and Foster Bus Lines. Interurban bus lines are listed
in information section of cities.

Air Lines: United Air Lines and American Airways. Private planes for
hire at many of the 35 registered airports (1938) (see cities concerned).
Ten airports and 13 landing fields equipped with lighting facilities for
night flying. Aeronautics Division of the U. S. Dept. of Commerce main-
tains three lighted air routes across Iowa with radio station at Iowa City.

Highways: Towa has a total of 102,533 miles of highways, of which
5,455 miles are paved, and 2,839 are graveled. Seven of the east-west roads
and four of the north-south highways are surfaced throughout. U. S. high-
ways 6, 30, 34, 52, 61, 161, 218, and 275 and State highway 7 west of
Des Moines are entirely paved. All State laws concerning highway traffic,
motor vehicles, and drivers are enforced by State Highway Safety Patrol
of 103 men and by other peace officers.

Traffic Regulations: Speed limits for motor vehicles in Iowa are fixed by
State law—20 miles per hour in business and school districts, 25 miles per
hour in residence districts, and “prudent” speed in suburban and country
districts. Motor vehicles drawing other vehicles are limited to 35 miles per
hour. Local authorities and the State Highway Commission are authorized
to make minor variations in the speed limits, but these are indicated by
signs. Metal tires must not be used on motor vehicles or trailers. Lights
must be dimmed when a car approaching is within soo feet. Reckless
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driving and passing vehicles on hills and curves are prohibited, and may
be punished by fine or imprisonment. Driving a car while intoxicated is
punishable, on the first conviction, by fine of from $300 to $1,000; or
by imprisonment in the county jail not to exceed one year; or by both fine
and imprisonment. Any accident resulting in the death or injury of any
person, or property damage estimated at $25 or more, must be reported
to nearest peace officer or to sheriff or county attorney of county, or, in
cities of the first class, to chief of police. Any driver involved in an acci-
dent must stop, give aid required by the circumstances, and give his name
and address and the registration number of his car to the other party or,
if that is impossible, to a responsible bystander. Failure to comply with
these requirements may be punished by a fine of not more than $100 or
imprisonment for not more than 30 days in case of property damage; and
by a fine of from $100 to $5,000, or by imprisonment for from 30 days
to one year, or by both fine and imprisonment if a person is killed or
injured. The owner of a car is responsible for damages caused by his car
if he is driving it or if it is driven by another person with his consent
and permission. A non-resident may be served with notice of a damage
suit by the serving of notice on the commissioner of the motor vehicle
department of this State.

Parking: Parking time in cities and towns and in parks is prescribed by
local authorities. Parking on the highways, especially on paved and hard-
surfaced roads, is prohibited by State law. Parks usually charge from $1.00
to $3.00 per month for parking space, light, and water. Parking of cars
or trailers in State parks is limited by law to two weeks and may be more
restricted by the custodians.

Licenses for Cars: All cars owned in Iowa must be licensed and car license
from one car may not be used on any other. License plates must be dis-
played on front and back of car and kept clean. The first part of Iowa
license number—numbers from 1 to g9—designates county where license
is issued (by county treasurer) ; counties are numbered in the order of
alphabetical list of their names. Remaining digits are the registration num-
ber. Cars properly licensed in other States may be operated in Iowa for
varying periods, depending on period of free operation granted Iowa cars
in that State. All non-Iowa cars operated in State for as long as ten days
must be registered with county treasurer, who will grant permit. Special
permits may be issued to students.

Licenses for Drivers: lowa resident must have driver’s license to operate
car. Provision is made for preliminary license for those learning. Drivers’
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licenses are issued by State Motor Vehicle Department, State House, Des
Moines (fee 50 cts.) to persons 16 years of age or over found capable of
driving a car. Examinations are given in county seat towns. For informa-
tion as to dates, consult sheriff’s office. Children between 14 and 16 may
be given licenses to drive to and from school. A non-resident over 16
years of age with license from State of his residence may drive car prop-
erly licensed there (not an Iowa licensed car) for a period of go days or
less. Persons over 18 years of age from States or countries which do not
require drivers’ licenses may drive cars in Iowa for the same period and
on the same conditions. Drivers’ licenses must be carried on the person,
and the registration certificate designating ownership of car must be kept
in view, either on the steering arm or dashboard, at all times. A non-
resident driving in Iowa for longer than 9o days should procure Iowa
driver’s licence. Car owner is forbidden to permit another person to op-
erate his car unless that person is legally authorized to drive in Iowa. A
non-resident chauffeur, with license from place of residence, may drive
or chauffeur car in Iowa, but must secure an Iowa license if he accepts
employment from resident. Chauffeurs must be eighteen years of age or
over. Persons operating vehicles in service of United States Army, Navy,
or Marine Corps, and those operating certain types of farm or road ma-
chinery, do not require licenses.

Trailers: Trailer coaches must be equipped with adequate brakes which
may be applied by driver of towing car. After January 1, 1939, trailers
must be equipped also with automatic brakes. Maximum dimensions of
trailers are: 8 feet in width, 12 feet in height, and 33 feet in length.
Length of car and trailer must not exceed 45 feet and drawbar or connec-
tion must not exceed 15 feet. Trailer homes are subject to the same sanita-
tion regulations as permanent homes.

Accommodations: Hotels are available in most towns and in all cities.
Rates usually vary from $1.00 to $3.50 per day. Cabin tourist camps are
frequent, with rates from 75¢ to $1.50 per day. Many of these have bath-
ing and cooking facilities, with grocery stores and gas stations nearby.
Gas stations are maintained at convenient places; barbecue stands and res-
taurants are available at many points. Fruit, vegetables, and milk may be
purchased at farm homes or from stands along the roadside.

Liguor Regulations: Beer is sold at specially licensed establishments but
intoxicating liquors such as wine, spirits, and alcohol are sold only in State
liquor stores. Permit costing $1.00 is required for individual purchaser;
special permit costing $3.00 for professional, laboratory, or scientific use.



XXIV GENERAL INFORMATION

Permits are obtainable at liquor stores. They may be revoked for drunken-
ness, desertion of dependents, or commission of felonies and misdemean-
ors in which alcoholic liquor was contributing factor. The sale or giving
of liquors to minors except by parents or guardians or for medicinal put-
poses is prohibited. Liquor stores are closed on Sundays, election days,
and legal holidays. Liquor may not be consumed in the State liquor stores,
in other public places, or on streets or highways.

Fish and Game Regulations: Game fish—all bass, trout, pike, pickerel,
perch, catfish, bluegills, sunfish, sturgeon, and so on. Non-resident fishing
license, $1 for 6 days or $3 for year. Hunting license, $15 (for migra-
tory waterfowl, $1 Federal stamp in addition); trapping license, $25.
Complete regulations from State Conservation Commission, zoth and Mul-
berry Sts., Des Moines. Licenses are issued by county recorders, who will
furnish necessary information. Open Fishing Season (1938): Trout be-
tween 5 a.m. April 1, and 9 p.m. Sept. 1. Inland waters where open—
northern, sand, sauger, and wall-eyed pike, sheepshead, yellow perch,
striped, yellow, and silver bass, minnows, May 15-Nov. 30; large- and
small-mouth bass and warmouth bass, crappies, rock bass, sunfish, blue-
gills, June 15-Nov. 30; rock and sand sturgeon, paddlefish, Aug. 1-Nov.
30; rough fish continuous. Mississippi and Missouri Rivers—crappie,
perch, yellow and silver bass, sunfish, bluegills, rock and warmouth bass,
wall-eyed pike, minnows, May 15-Nov. 30; large- and small-mouthed
bass, June 15-Nov. 30; rock and sand sturgeons, paddlefish, Aug. 1-
Nov. 30; rough fish continuous. All streams not always open for fishing.
Information from State Conservation Commission, Des Moines. Streams
and lakes restocked from State fish hatcheries and nurseries. Artificial lakes
closed to all fishing and minnow removal (1938): Upper Pine Lake, Lake
Macbride, Lake Ahquabi, Springbrook Lake, Beed’s Lake, Lake Keomah,
Echo Valley Lake, Lake of Three Fires, Farmington Lake, Afton Reservoir,
Greenfield City Reservoir, Lake Keosauqua, Swan Lake, and Red Haw
Lake. Catch and Size Limits: Not more than 25 game fish daily including
bullheads, redhorse, dace, chubs, shiners, or suckers, of which not more
than 15 in the aggregate may be black bass, silver bass, rock bass, sand
pike, wall-eyed pike, great northern pike, pickerel, salmon, crappie, cat-
fish, perch, sunfish, bluegills; and not more than five of the 15 may be
black bass, rock bass, silver bass, trout, sand pike, wall-eyed pike, or great
northern pike. No more than the legal catch of two days may be in pos-
session. No pike or pickerel less than 13 in.; no catfish less than 12 in.;
no black bass less than 10 in.; no rock or silver bass, trout, crappie, or
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perch less than 7 in.; no sunfish less than 5 in. Prohibited: No use of
drugs, lime, explosives, or electricity to kill or affect fish. No trolling from
any gasoline, oil, or electric launch, or steamboat. No erecting or using
shelter or artificial heat while fishing through the ice. No throwlines or
trotlines in any stocked lake, or within 300 ft. of any dam or spillway, or
within posted areas. No shipping beyond boundaries of State of frogs
taken from State witers. Specific restrictions concerning use of spears, min-
now seines, and tackle, and buying and selling fish. Open Game Season:
Small game such as quail, pheasant, raccoon, fox, rabbit, and squirrel avail-
able in certain open areas each year, but open areas vary. Limited open
season frequently declared on migratory and upland birds. Notice of sea-
son published in newspapers of district, 2 wks. prior to opening of season.
In counties where there is an open season (1938) dates on quail are Nov.
1-Dec. 1, except in Lee Co., Nov. 15-Dec. 15; on pheasants and par-
tridges, Nov. 12-14; on coots, jacksnipes, duck, geese, and squirrel, Sept.
15-Nov. 30; on rabbits, Aug. 1-Mar. 1; on deer, no open season. Bag
Limits: Daily—squirrels, not more than 1o; rabbits, not more than 10;
pheasants, not more than 3, only one of which may be a hen; quail, not
more than 8; ducks, not more than 10; geese and brant, not more than
4 in the aggregate; coots, not more than 15; Wilson’s snipe or jacksnipe,
not more than 15. Usually possession limit is daily bag limit; but allowed
squirrel bag is 12, rabbit 20. Prohibited: No trapping, snaring, or netting
game birds except under direction of State Conservation Commission; no
use of poison or medicated food or any other substance in taking or killing
game birds and animals. No more than 15 game bitds or animals can be
taken from State. General Regulations: Non-game birds are protected, and
scientific collections can be made only with permission of conservation
commission. The “take” must go to place of residence indicated on license,
or must be carried so it can be inspected readily. License must be shown
on request. General regulations govern hunting on game refuges, carrying
guns on highways, and type of gun which may be used for shooting. Evz-
dences of Violations: Evidences of violation are not to have license on
person or to refuse to show it on request; to have in one’s possession (1)
any fish, game, furs, birds, birds’ nests, eggs, or plumage, or animals un-
lawfully caught or killed; (2) fish or game when, or in place where, un-
lawful to kill (except in first 10 days of closed season following open sea-
son) ; and (3) implements, devices, equipment, and so on, for taking fish
and game where possession and use are prohibited.

Operating Boats on lowd's Lakes and Streams: Secure rules and regulations
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from State Conservation Commission, roth and Mulberry Sts., Des Moines.
General regulations: (1) Between 1/ hr. after sunset and the hour of sun-
rise, motorboats cannot exceed 15 m.p.h.; (2) boats 20 ft. or under must
carry lantern aft showing a white light at all times between sunset and sun-
rise; (3) boats larger than 20 ft. must show green light on starboatd side
(R) and redlight on port side (L) each light visible for 1, m.; (4) ex-
hausts must be muffled; (5) boats operated for hire mfst be licensed and
inspected. Fire extinguishers, and air tanks with sufficient capacity to sus-
tain boat afloat when full of water and carrying crew and passengers are
required.

Climate: Late spring and early fall are attractive seasons to tour Iowa.
Topcoats necessaty throughout cool weather of May and, sometimes, June.
Fall days usually warm, nights cool. Indian summer pleasant time to tour;
usually comes during last weeks of October. Hot days and nights mark
months of July, August, and September. Winters not pleasant for travel-
ing. Temperatures frequently below zero in northern half of State, zero
weather general. Heavy snowfall temporarily blocks roads, but main high-
ways kept open all winter. When roads glazed with ice, travel extremely
hazardous; radio bulletins warn motorists.

General : Hundreds of miles of nature trails in State parks, woodland paths,
and country roads for hiking. Along roads hiker must go L. against traf-
fic. Poisonous snakes not common, though there are timber and prairie
rattlers in southern and northeastern Iowa. Timber (banded or diamond)
rattler encountered in rocky places or timber, and prairie rattler frequents
marsh and slough lowlands. Extension of cultivated area has greatly re-
duced number of these snakes. Poison-ivy in parts of State parks, wood-
land areas, pasture lands, tourist camps, and roadsides. Poison-sumac found
in lower swamplike areas. Jiggers and woodticks mainly in southern Iowa.
Water in Iowa crecks and streams not usually safe for drinking. Tourist
camps or farm wells provide safe water. Streams have little dangerous
quicksand, but depths often deceiving. Wade or swim at public beaches.
Most farmers have telephones which can be used when car troubles occur
in open country.
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Calendar of Events

(nfd means no fixed date; locations subject to change have been left blank.)

Mar. 5
nfd

nfd

nfd

Apr. 3d week
nfd

nfd

May 1st
Sun.
suitable
2nd week
nfd
nfd

nfd
nfd

nfd

June 2d week
nfd
nfd
nfd
nfd

Fort Des Moines Regimental Day, Army Post

Des Moines
Des Moines

TIowa City

State-wide
Des Moines

Des Moines
Altoona

Pella

Iowa City

Mount Vernon
Ames

Iowa City

Dallas Center
Ames
Grinnell

Fort Dodge

Boys’ High School Basketball
Tournament, Drake University
Stadium

Girls’ High School Basketball
Tournament, Drake University
Stadium

Play Festival (amateur players’
competition)

Iowa History Week

Drake Relays, Drake University
Stadium (national contest)

State Spelling Bee

Blossom Time, Cyrus Harvey
Fruit Farm

Tulip Festival (Dutch celebra-
tion)

Annual Meeting, Iowa Ornithol-
ogists’ Association

Governor’s Day, State University
(Governor reviews student
regiments)

Music Festival, Cornell College

Veishea, Jowa State College
(celebration  with  shows,
dances, etc.)

Festival of High School Music
Association

Love Feast of Old Order of
River Brethren

Girls’ 4-H Club Annual Conven-
tion, Jowa State College

Institute of International Rela-
tions, Grinnell College

Band Day, biennial odd year
(bands from all over State)

State Farm Bureau Picnic



xxViii

July first week
last week
beginning
last Sun.

Aug. 2d week
3d week
beginning
last week
nfd

nfd
middle

Aug. nfd
nfd

Sept. 2d week
nfd
nfd
nfd
nfd

nfd

Oct. first week

nfd

Nov. 12-14

Nov. Sun. before
Thanksgiving

nfd
nfd

Dec. Christmas
Season
nfd

CALENDAR OF EVENTS

Cedar Falls

Burlington
Sidney
Des Moines

Tama

Davenport

Britt

McGregor

Fort Dodge
Marshalltown
Spencer
Adkley

Bluff Creek T.,

Monroe Co.
Harlan

Waterloo

Ames

State-wide

Des Moines
Iowa City

Ames

Ames

Men’s State Golf Tournament

Women'’s State Golf Tournament

Conference on Religion and Life
(eight-day Bible conference)

Tri-State Fair
Championship Rodeo
State Fair

Sac and Fox Indian Powwow
(Indian dances in connection
with fair)

Mississippi Valley Fair and Ex-
position

Hobo Day (national hobo con-
vention )

American School of Waildlife
(national nature-study camp)

Beef Cattle Show

Central Towa Fair

Clay County Fair (largest county
fair)

Sauver Kraut Day (German cele-
bration)

Reunion on Site of Buxton (Ne-
gro celebration)

Annual Picnic of Farm Holiday
Assn.

Dairy Cattle Congress, Belgian
Horse Show, and American
Poultry Congress, Exposition
Grounds

Iowa Librarians’
Meeting

Little Midwest Horticultural Ex-
position, Iowa State College
(competition open to Mid-
western States)

Association

Harvest Sunday

Iowa State Teachers’ Convention
University Homecoming

Handel’'s Messiah, Iowa State
College Music Organizations

Boys’ 4-H Annual Convention,
Iowa State College









Natural Setting

NORTH Central State wholly within the prairie region, Iowa stretches
A approximately 310 miles from the Mississippi River on the east to the
Missouri and Big Sioux Rivers on the west; and from Minnesota on the
north, the prairies extend approximately 200 miles southward to the Mis-
souri Line. The total atea of 56,147 miles (of which only 561 square miles
are water surface) is one-fifth larger than that of New York and just one-
fifth as large as that of Texas. Across the Mississippi River are the States
of Illinois and Wisconsin, and on the west are Nebraska and South Da-
kota. The prolongation of the southern and eastern boundaries, to include
the entire channel of the Des Moines River, gives Iowa a shape somewhat
similar to that of the United States.

From Keokuk at the mouth of the Des Moines River, the southernmost
point in the State, where the elevation is the lowest (477 feet above sea
level), the land rises in gentle swells northward and westward until the
highest point is reached (1,670 feet) near Sibley in Osceola County at the
northern border. The rivers, following this natural drainage, flow eastward
into the Mississippi and westward into the Missouri from a broad water-
parting that runs almost directly north and south. The Upper Iowa, Tur-
key, Maquoketa, Wapsipinicon, Cedar, Iowa, Skunk, and Des Moines
Rivers, which drain the eastern two-thirds of the State, flow slowly over
long winding courses. The longest, the Des Moines, with its soutce in the
far northwest, rises and lowers with the rains—in midsummer a shallow
muddy stream, in spring a swift river over-flowing its banks and bringing
southward a burden of broken branches, driftwood, and rich earth. In the
north its valley is low and broad but, as the river moves on, high wooded
hills and bluffs rise on both sides. The northern rivers in this eastern sys-
tem cut through rock courses. Both the Iowa and Cedar River Valleys are
bill and bluff sections, sometimes marked by limestone cliffs. In the west-
ern system the shorter courses of the Big Sioux, Floyd, Little Sioux, Boyer,
and Nishnabotna Rivers tend to make the current rapid. The rivers here
flow between steep grassy banks.

The greater part of the Iowa country is level land, a region of subtly



MISSISSIPPI RIVER, NEAR BURLINGTON

varying contours, where yellow light spreads over the great expanses and
plays through the luxurious vegetation. Fields of corn and other grains are
planted in even squares and rectangles, with straight roads following the
section lines and defining more squares. Groves of trees shelter the farm
buildings. Large herds of stock feed in the knolly pasture lands. Sudden
breaks in this level country are the low river valleys, from one to ten miles
wide and covered by natural woodlands that rise to irregular lines of hills
or bluffs at the valley’s edge.

The most marked differences are found only in the northeast and south-
west. In the northeastern section cliffs rise abruptly from the banks of the
Mississippi River sometimes to a height of 300 to 400 feet, with tree-
covered hills extending westward. Here the tributaries of the Mississippi
wind through rocky ravines and wooded valleys. In the west, south of the
mouth of the Big Sioux River, a line of mound-like bluffs sweeps up from
the flood plain of the Missouri to heights ranging from 100 to 300 feet.

Lakes of varying size are scattered throughout the northwestern area, ex-
tending about so miles from the Minnesota Line. Lake Okoboji, Spirit
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Lake, and the many smaller lakes in Dickinson County constitute the prin-
cipal region. Storm Lake, lying to the south of this region, and Clear Lake,
to the east, are other important lakes. Some of the Iowa lakes, called “‘wall
lakes,” have rock-walled beaches, where the ice has forced the glacial rocks
from the lake’s bottom to the shore.

Wet springs, warm summers, long growing seasons, and favorable
winds make the State admirably suited to agriculture. Temperatures range
from 25° below zero in winter to 100° in the summer. The lowest tem-
perature ever observed was 47° below zero, on January 12, 1912, at
Washta in Cherokee County. The average for winter, however, is 21.6°.
The highest temperature on record for summer is 118°, registered in the
suburbs of Keokuk, July 20, 1934. Unusual extremes sometimes occur dur-
ing a single season and the temperature may vary so degrees in a day. A
wintry morning will be followed by a warm afternoon, or two days will
be like spring and the next two like winter. An exceptional variation oc-
curred in 1930 in Webster City; the temperature rose from 34° below
zero on February 15 to 72° on February 24, a difference of 106 degrees in
nine days.

Hailstorms sometimes occur during the hot summer months, but data
for the 13 years preceding 1935 show that only 1.12 percent of the crops
were hail-damaged. The greatest damage was suffered in the northwest and
the least in the south-central counties. Crop-destroying droughts seldom
cover the entire State, although twice since 1930 crops in the western and
southern part have been so damaged that much of the corn was unfit even
for fodder. In 1934 the southern and western sections felt the drought
most severely, but in 1936 it was more widespread, with the southern
counties again the most severe sufferers. According to Charles D. Reed,
director of the weather division of the State Department of Agriculture,
“It is not the drought but heat that causes most of the damage to crops in
Iowa.”

During the winters the snowfall is frequently heavy enough to store
moisture in the ground for spring planting and growing. The average annual
snowfall over a 50-year period at Des Moines was 31.8 inches. The great-
est snowfall in a day was in December 1888, at which time 17 inches of
snow fell. In the days before the State was thickly settled, blizzards roared
unhindered across open country, but protecting groves of trees around the
many farmhouses, and the presence of towns and cities, render such
storms less devastating.

Most of the rain, coming on the south winds, falls in the growing sea-
son when the chief crops, corn and other grains, need it most. The average
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of 85 rainy days a year gives an average annual rainfall of about 26 inches
in the extreme nosthwest and about 36 inches in the southeast. Annual pre-
cipitation—averaged for 63 years—is 31.62 inches. The rainfall is an im-
portant factor in the consistent fertility of the State. The long growing
season ranges from 140 days in the northwest to 170 days in the southeast,
or from the last killing frost in the spring (April 20 to May 3) to the
first killing frost in the fall (September 25 to October 15). Sunshine is
present on an average of 215 days in the year.

Resources and Their Conservation

In 1933 the Report on the Iowa Twenty-Five Year Conservation Plan
was published for the Jowa Board of Conservation and the Iowa Fish and
Game Commission. Although this report was in the nature of a research
study outlining the State’s recreational facilities in State parks, and its fish,
game, and waterfowl refuges, it became the beginning of the State’s pro-
gram for the conservation of its land resources in general. Today the State
Planning Board, appointed in part by the Governor, supervises such fact-
finding projects dealing with land use and land waste as the making of
soil surveys, studies of forests and streams in their relation to land waste,
and investigations of methods of preserving soil fertility.

Very little land in the State is unsuitable for agriculture. The National
Resources Board (1935) reported that 25 percent of all the grade-one land
in the United States is in Iowa, and that this rich soil is the State’s most
important natural resource. The entire north-central section is part of the
Wisconsin drift area, with some of the richest soils in the world. How-
ever, this great natural fertility is in danger of being depleted, by erosion
in some sections and by intensive farming throughout the State.

The dark and heavy soil is not likely to blow away in “dust storms” in
drought years, but erosion is a setious problem. Along the hillsides the
soil is being gullied constantly, but this type of erosion does not cause so
much land waste as does that known as “sheet erosion.” The latter, al-
though not so apparent as gully erosion, proceeds rapidly. In extreme
cases as much as 50 tons of soil to an acre have been carried away in one
rain. To regulate the flow of water and to check the washing away of land,
the State is planting trees, building artificial lakes, and damming streams.
Farmers, to guatd against excessive losses, have developed plans of plow-
_ing, the furrows being laid transverse on the slopes.

From the earliest times in Iowa, farmers practiced rotation of crops,
mainly wheat, oats, and barley against corn. Application of the Agricul-
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tural Adjustment Act made a more varied plan profitable. Pasture crops
and such legumes as alfalfa and soybeans alternated with the regular crops
and some of the land was left idle to “‘rest.” Much of this is in the nature
of experimentation, but it is checking the loss of the soils fertility.

Extensive field experiments made during the past ten or 15 years show
that approximately 75 percent of the soils are acid—in need of phosphate.
However, they are benefited by applications of crushed limestone. Aside
from this the soils are so well supplied with organic matter, nitrogen, and
potassium, that it is comparatively easy to maintain their productivity.

An abundant surface-water supply is insured by the two large boundary
rivers, and the many interior streams, lakes, and marshes. Rivers and
watercourses carry off the wastes of industries and communities, and drain
the farmyards. Lakes and numerous marshes, valuable for recreation and
as havens for wildlife, are also a means for regulating stream flow.

The potential water power of the Iowa rivers is relatively slight. Power
is generated by 64 hydroelectric plants including the one at Keokuk,
among the greatest in the world, which generates power for this and su-
rounding States. The dam, nearly a mile long, hbolds back the waters of
the Mississippi River, and 200,000 horse power is generated in the plant.

The urban centers of the northern part of the State depend mainly on
the underground water supply. The public water supply of soo munici-
palities comes from subsurface waters; few areas of equal size have so
many communities thus dependent. Some of these lower water veins,
tapped by larger communities, furnish as much as 4,000,000 gallons a day.
However, in the southern part where the water-bearing strata are very
deep, communities often find it more practical to use the surface waters.

The underground waters flow through the sandstones that lie fairly
near the surface in northeast Iowa—at depths of 1,000 to 3,000 feet. In
Wisconsin and Minnesota these strata come near enough to the surface to
absorb the direct rainfall and percolation, but it is said that the movement
of this absorbed water is so slow that it reaches the surface in Iowa wells
many years after it has fallen as rain.

Shallow wells, developed in areas where there are glacial deposits of
gravel, sand, or clay, are limited in yield. The glacial drift and the wind-
deposited loess retain part of the rainfall and snowfall, carrying it under-
ground to the lakes and streams. Tapping these top strata, drift wells
(usually less than 100 feet deep) furnish the individual domestic supply
as well as that of some of the smaller municipalities. Although the supply
of water borne by these strata is usually limited, an exception occurs in the
gravel deposit adjacent to and underlying the Raccoon River, which fur-
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nishes as much as 20,000,000 gallons a day—enough for the entire city
of Des Moines.

As with the land, the State is faced with a problem of water conserva-
tion. Freeflowing wells once were left uncapped when not in use; marshes
were drained, to the detriment of the sutrounding country; communities
too close together tapped the same water-bearing strata. Frequently indus-
trial and community wastes pollute the streams.

Before setting up a definite program for the conservation of its valuable
water supply the State is collecting accurate basic data; surveying the ex-
tent of river pollution, the availability of better public water supplies, and
the possibilities of flood control and reforestation.

No metallic minerals are mined in Iowa, but sand, gravel, and lime-
stone in the underlying and surface strata constitute an important re-
source. Almost all of the counties have clay deposits. Some types, suitable
for the manufacture of common grades of clay products, are easily acces-
sible; others, valuable in the composition of high-grade products, are more
difficult to reach.

Limestones and shales necessaty for making Portland cement ate found,
but this industry did not develop as quickly as the clay industry because
the combination of the particular kinds of rock necessary, each conforming
closely to a standard composition, is not readily available. The materials
are near enough, however, for advantageous use and are utilized commer-
cially at Davenport, Mason City, Des Moines, West Des Moines, and Gil-
more City. The Mason City plants have both the required limestone and
shale nearby.

Limestone, from a relatively small area in east-central Iowa, is used for
building purposes, while limestones suitable for road surfacing, lime, and
fertilizer are found in quantity throughout the entire eastern portion. The
deposits of sand and gravel in the northern half of the State are largely
used for road building. In 1935 there were 49 plants producing sand and
gravel for road construction and building purposes.

An important deposit of gypsum at Fort Dodge makes possible a State
production ranking second in the United States in quantity and value. In
1936 there were 344,221 tons mined. The deposits at Fort Dodge, in an
area of more than 30 square miles, are made available largely through
stripping and sluicing operations.

Beds of coal underlie approximately 20,000 square miles in 20 counties.
One broad belt extends on both sides of the Des Moines River from Web-
ster County to the Missouri State Line. It has been estimated that, accord-
ing to present needs and rate of consumption, there is enough coal to
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supply the State for more than 4,000 years. The bituminous coals lie
comparatively close to the surface with the deepest shaft at only 387 feet.
The deposits in most places are only 18 to 30 inches thick, and are easily
mined as they stretch evenly between the series of bedrock. In most of
southern Iowa the beds, though seldom deep, are usually continuous
enough to make commercial development profitable. In 1935 the mines
yielded 3,650,000 tons of coal.

Fauna

The open farming country with its grassy nesting grounds, the rush-
grown sloughs, the low brush-land, the lake regions, and the wooded
bluffs and hills along Iowa’s streams are havens for birds of many species.
Ornithologists have pointed out that this territory along the Mississippi
and Missouri Rivers forms a natural channel (flyway) for the passage of
migratory birds. Two feathered travelers that make the longest annual
journey along this route are the bobolink and the purple martin. Both
make trips of approximately 5,000 miles from the northern United States
to South America, crossing by way of the Canal Zone and Central America.
In the autumn, wood warblers pass through by the hundreds. The birds
going north to nest or south to escape the cold weather often stop in the
parks and refuges in passing.
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In the counties along the Missouri River the species of birds differ
somewhat from those to the east. Here, more characteristically western
species, such as the lark-bunting, Lewis woodpecker, and red-shafted
flicker, ate found. Also, in northern Iowa around Clear Lake and Mud
Lake, yellow-headed blackbirds are seen in large numbers, though they are
seldom found elsewhere in the State.

Although there are hundreds of species and sub-species of birds in Iowa,
the commonest ate limited to relatively few species. The brown creeper,
tree-sparrow, slate-colored junco, and northwestern shrike, here in the win-
ter, migrate north in the spring to nest. The cardinal (red bird), blue jay,
eastern goldfinch, crow, white-breasted nut-hatch, black-capped chickadee,
English-spatrow, downy woodpecker, tufted titmouse, and starling remain
throughout the year. The eastern goldfinch which, in the summer, is often
seen feeding on the seeds of dandelions and thistle, was designated the
State bird in 1933.

The meadow latks (eastern and western), bobolink, and red-winged
blackbird, birds of the open meadows, and the bronzed grackle, fox spar-
row, song sparrow, bluebird, robin, mourning dove, and rusty blackbird
arrive eatly in the spring. Perhaps the loveliest singers among the spring
birds are the white-throated sparrow and the prairie horned lark.

Migrating here in the late spring and summer are scarlet tanager, indigo
bunting, red-headed woodpecker, wood peewee, crested fly-catcher, ruby-
throated humming bird, northern yellow throat and yellow warbler, dick-
cissel (considered the characteristic Jowa bird), rose-breasted grosbeak,
Baltimore and orchard orioles, kingbird, kingfisher, cuckoos (rain crow),
cowbird, brown thrasher, woodthrush, hermit thrush, olive and gray-
cheeked thrushes, catbird, purple martin, migrant (loggerhead) shrike,
whippoorwill, and several species of swallows. The night hawk, in appear-
ance similar to the whippoorwill, and one of the summer birds, is well
known to city dwellers.

Among the birds of prey, the bald eagle migrates along the longer rivers
and the turkey vulture nests only in the southern half of the State. There
are at least ten kinds of hawks, two of which are Cooper’s and the sharp-
shinned, both migrants in the fall and spring, although the Cooper’s hawk
is sometimes a resident. The marsh spatrow hawk and the red-tailed hawk
remain through the summer months, less frequently in the winter. Several
species of the owl family are found in the winter, among them the screech,
barred, great-horned, long-eared, and short-eared; several species remain
throughout the year. The snowy owl occasionally visits from December to
March.
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The American bittern, often called *“shite poke’ or “‘slough pump,” was
one of the most conspicuous of prairie birds to early settlers, but now is
decreasing in numbers. American coots (mud hens), common throughout
the area, nest here, though other water birds, such as rails and gallinules,
are far less plentiful. Of the shore birds, most of them migratory—plover,
woodcock, sandpiper, curlew, and snipe—the snipe (Wilson's snipe or
jacksnipe) is the most common game species. The killdeer, a favorite with
his melody, ‘“kill-dee, kill-dee,” lives in the marshy regions while the up-
land plover hunts out the higher grassy lands. Mallard duck and blue-
winged teal nest in the marshes of northwestern Jowa and the Canada
goose stops here during its migration. This northwestern lake region an-
nually becomes one of the greatest concentration points for migrating
wildlife in the Midwest.

Of game birds, the wild turkey, once common, is almost extinct, except
for a small number introduced in the State parks. The quail (eastern bob-
white), although it is not numerous, is found throughout the State.
Prairie chicken (pinnated grouse), here in large numbers in the early days
of settlement when conditions were favorable for its development, de-
creased rapidly until, in 1933, the highest estimate made of their numbers
did not exceed 2,000, and few if any nested here. At one time there were
many sharptail grouse, but now only a few winter migrants are seen; and
the ruffed grouse, found in northeastern Iowa, is now limited in number.

Settlement - naturally destroyed parts of the original habitats for the
birds, but, realizing this, the State began early to introduce birds to fit the
new environment. Ringnecked pheasants, easily adaptable to the locale, now
are numerous enough in the northern area to permit open seasons. The Eu-
ropean partridge (Hungarian), imported in 1902, also replaces some of
the original supply of birds. The farmlands, the meadows, and the culti-
vated areas of Iowa now are as plentiful with bird life as the grasslands of
pioneer days.

Game animals are rare in this region, except for white-tailed deer. To-
day there are an estimated 500 to 6oo of them, mostly escaped from private
herds. More than 50 can be seen around the Ledges State park near Boone,
where 15 are confined within the park and the others roam at liberty.
Herds roam near the town of Avoca and in the northern part of Washing-
ton County, and all are protected by law.

Of the smaller game and fur-bearing animals, beavers (protected by
closed season) are still rare, although they are beginning to return to west-
ern Iowa along the Little Sioux River and some of its tributaries. The
mink, muskrat, raccoon (coon), skunk, and opossum are not over-plentiful
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but the opossum, considered a southern animal, is increasing in numbers
as this animal migrates northward through the country. The civet-cat and
badger are not plentiful, nor is the gray fox, but the red fox, in spite of
the vigor with which hunters track him down, is not in danger of ex-
tinction.

The jack rabbit is common in the northwestern area, while the smaller
cottontail is found throughout the entire State. The jack rabbit can be seen
bounding about the open prairie and fields but the cottontail prefers to be
in or near low brush, thickets, and willow clumps. The fox squirrel is the
most common of the squirrels, with the gray squirrel next; the red squirrel
abundant only in a few places. Other rodents, such as the chipmunk and
gopher, are fairly common everywhere. The groundhog (woodchuck),
around which the legend of the spring’s early or late arrival centers, can
often be seen along the highways.

There are 25 species of reptiles here, of which only three are poisonous
—the massasauga rattler, the prairie rattler, and the banded or timber rat-
tler. The poisonous snakes are distinguished by their three-cornered heads.
Other snakes are the bull-snake, fox-snake, milk-snake, king-snake, and
blue racer, the food of which often consists of rats, mice, ground squirrels,
and pocket gophers.

Although 1371 species of fish have been described, only 26 are common.
The streams in the northeastern region are usually cold and clear—good
trout streams—where rainbow, brook (native), and brown trout are
found; but the streams in southern Iowa, flowing to the east and west into
the two great boundary rivers, have few fish except catfish and bullheads
(a small catfish). The small-mouthed bass is one of the better game fish
found in the northern lakes and some of the streams. Catfish—especially
the little bullhead, crappie, bluegill (sunfish), carp, and sucker (red-
horse) are the common river fish. The white sucker and buffalo are plen-
tiful. The common pike (pickerel) is one of the best game fish of the
rivers and streams, while wall-eyed pike (found in Lake Okoboji and
Clear Lake) and yellow perch (found in great numbers in Spirit Lake)
are also good game fish.

In the Twenty-five Year Conservation Plan it is pointed out that every
element of conservation bears directly upon the restoration and preserva-
tion of wildlife. Under the plan, sanctuaries for upland game and bird
refuges are set aside. Efforts are made to clear the streams and lakes, and
to check pollution. Artificial lakes are built and natural lakes dredged and
improved. Besides State-owned patks, there are some State-owned or
State-leased lands designated as game and refuge areas, mostly around the
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northern lakes, that are recognized by the conservation commission as
wildlife refuges.

Along the Mississippi are the Federal areas, closed to shooting. Three
of these are in Allamakee County and one in Jackson County—all units of
the Upper Mississippi Wild Life Refuge.

Flora

Before the Jowa country was cultivated, the prairie grass, growing as
high as the wheels of the oncoming prairie schooners, covered the entire
area. To the first settler the expanse of prairie seemed illimitable; deep
within the coarse grasses, hundreds of varieties of flowers grew in pro-
fusion.

In early spring the knolls were blue with pasqueflowers. Clumps of
grasslike sedge appeared. False dandelion, cream-flowered paintbrush, and
mats of groundplum-vetch splashed the hilltops. Then followed the bird-
foot violet, white-flowered larkspur, yellow lousewort, and lemon- and
orange-colored gromwell. Along the shallow streams blossomed the marsh-
marigold, small white moccasin-flower, purple heart-leaved violet, white
cress, and yellow stargrass. White and yellow crowfoot floated on the ponds.

Summer brought a different color tone, with red phlox and yellow in-
digo side by side, silver-leaved psoraleas, prairie lilies with orange cups,
porcupine grass, side-oats, New Jersey tea, spiderwort, and countless roses.
Red-purple vetch, yellow parsley, golden alexander, and Canadian anem-
one blended their colors on the ever-changing prairie.

In midsummer, the golden coreopsis, silver-leaved leadplant, red and
white prairie clovers, compassplant, stiff-bush clover, crepe-petalled prim-
rose, and yellow toad flax mingled with spiked mesquite grass, tick trefoil,
Indian grass, Eryngium, and Indian plantain. The prairie’s flowers in the
fall were the goldenrod, gentian, blazing-stars of many patterns, sunflower,
coneflower, and blue, white, and purple prairie asters.

Even after years of careless tillage this grassland cover has not been
entirely obliterated. Today it may be seen in a few patches—strips by the
railroad rights-of-way, by country roads, and in rough lands not claimed
for tillage or for pasture. In State parks and occasional privately owned
propetties, small fragments of the natural garden are preserved.

The wild flowers vary in sections—not to be clearly defined—as diverse
geologic, topographic, and climatic conditions have favored certain plant
forms, many of which have migrated into the State. In the northwestern
region, where the Kansan glacial drift has been covered somewhat with



WILD ROSE: THE STATE FLOWER

loess soil, and southward along the loess-covered mounds of the Missouri
Valley, plants from the western and southwestern plains of the United
States appear—the golden-aster, large-flowered beard-tongue, narrow-
leaved collomia, prairie trefoil, and the locoweed, well known as a poison-
ous plant. Hidden in the grass are prairie roses, blue, white, and purple
asters, the orange-butterfly milkweed, red and white prairie clovers, and
the deep-blue downy gentian. With the bluestems, common throughout
the State, are the wire grass, three mesquite grasses, buffalo grass, and
other southwestern species. The wind-blown loess supports many charac-
teristically western plants such as the Spanish-bayonet (soaproot), Indian
breadroot (pomme de prairie), the red locoweed, and the pink dalea.
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Honeysuckles here are represented by the western buckbrush (one of
the snowberries), and primroses by the scarlet gauras. One of the spurges
known as snow-on-the-mountain grows so profusely that often the hills
are tinted by its pale green, white-edged leaves. The silverberry is a dec-
orative plant with woolly gray leaves and oval silver fruit. Besides the
common annual sunflower there are the rough-leaved, artichoke, and
others; Maximilian’s, a slender gray-leaved perennial, flourishes across the
northern part of the State. Woolly mullen is found in the pastures. Blue-
flowered lettuce contrasts with brilliant patches of the dotted blazing-star,
and the plant known as bundle-of-switches clings to the flat-faced loess
cliffs, opening its delicate pink flowers to the morning sun. In a few lakes
of this region the American lotus blooms.

In the southern third of the State, although the majority of the plants
are common to other sections, there are some native to the Ozark and
Alleghenian centers and points as far south as Texas. Among these are the
gamagrass, a member of the corn family, and the Ruellia, related to the
classic acanthus. The trumpetflower, which kills many trees in its twining
embrace, often displays its brick-red flowers from some porch trellis. The
wild potato vine may be recognized by patches of moonflower-like bloom.
Silky-leaved Virginia plantain, the rare diminutive bluet, and the long-
bracted bur-marigold—all found on the Texas plains—are now naturalized
Iowa flora.

In the central-northeastern section, where the bouldet-strewn land is
drained by the Cedar and Wapsipinicon Rivers, the prairie meadows
abound with pink and white shootingstars, golden ragwort, and long-
plumed purple avens (prairie smoke). Throughout the State there are
many honeysuckles, including the coralberry (red-berried buckbrush), the
black-fruited and black haw nannyberry, and the twining trumpet-
honeysuckles.

Many conspicuous plants grow on the sands of river bottoms, on dune-
like banks of lakes, in sand pits, and on ancient lake beds. Some of the
rarest of these sand plants are found in the bed of extinct Lake Calvin.
Sand-binding calamovilfa grass (whose roots aid in forming sod by check-
ing the blowing of loose sand), fragrant spotted horsemint, the smart-
weed-leaved spurge, green-flowered croton, the trailing wild bean, poison-
ous rattlebox, and goatsrue, all flourish in the sands. White-flowered
woolly Froelichia appears like a ghost among plants of a generally greener
hue; and, of the plants that successfully live on the barest sands, there are
the spider-flower, blue phlox, and large-flowered beard-tongue.

The distinctive flora in the ponds and lakes represent three successive
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stages of development—submerged, floating, and emergent. In some of
the bodies of water in northwest-central Iowa each of these stages can be
traced. Among the plants living in diffused light under water are pond-
weed, coontail, and bladderwort. When the duckweeds, like myriads of
floating cushions, and the leaves of water-lilies begin to shade the sub-
merged plants from the sun, the latter die and the decaying vegetation
sinks to the bottom of the pond. From the accumulating soil, cattails,
rushes, and sedges emerge above the water, raising their leaves to the light
above the floaters and in turn shading them. As these latest emergent
plants rise from the water into the light and accumulate earth about their
roots, they are able to maintain themselves for a time. Then, as they too
die and enrich the soil, the earth is able to support such plants as the at-
rowhead, the flag—making the marsh blue with its flowers—and colonies
of rose-flowered water smartweed that cast a glow over the waters. The tall
joe-pye-weed and the fluffy-leaved lobelias, with their spikes of dazzling
blue, appear along the banks of meadow streams where the slowly accu-
mulating soil rises almost out of the water.

In the tall-grass prairie, near the sources of the Des Moines River in
northern Iowa, where springs bubble forth on hilltops in the poorly
drained sections, colonies of bog flowers occasionally show themselves.
One of these colonies observed in early autumn revealed a cluster of cat-
tails, marsh-dock, and traces of marshmarigolds on the wet top of a knoll,
and, just below the crest of the elevation, asters with blue-fringed swamp-
gentian. Here the shining cup-flowered grass of Parnassus mingled with
the yellow swamp betony and the slender pink foxglove. Outside the circle
was a miniature sod plain of nut rush, deep blue lobelia of the marshes,
white and rose boneset, atrrow grasses, and hosts of asters inside a huge
sunflower hedge. Plain asters, swamp asters, and western asters—blue,
white, and purple—mingled with patches of slender-leaved goldenrod.
Refugee plants of seacoast marshes, of tropical, boreal, and temperate re-
gions, had all been able to maintain themselves in the bog.

The woodlands along the rivers and streams shelter many wild flowers
—snow trillium, blood root, hepaticas (white, rose, and* lavender), and
white lamb’s tongue. As the leafing trees shade the earth, anemones (true,
false, and rue) spring forth among crowfoot, dutchmans-breeches, spring
beauties, mayapple (mandrake), wild ginger, Solomonseal (true and
false), and the yellow violet. On the rocky hillsides scarlet and red trum-
peted columbines cling, bushy meadow rue and cranesbill color the open
spaces, and jack-in-the-pulpit, with yellow or pink moccasin flowers, grow
in the deeper shade of wood or hollow.
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In localized areas on the Mississippi River and its tributaries where bell-
worts and blueberries are found, grow many rare flowers—wild lily-of-the-
valley, wintergreen, dwarf Canadian primrose, the twin-flower, the pan-
icled bluebell, wild snowball, shrubby cinquefoil, and the sweet vernal
grass used in basket making.

On the rocky cliffs along the rivers green or black mosses and matlike
lichens cover the crevices. Clubmoss and rockmosses surround the bright
pink fameflowers that hold tightly to the rocks in northwestern Iowa. In
the natural rock gardens of eastern Iowa, a soft green undertone is given
the countryside by the many ferns—the walking fern, the purple cliff-
brake, the bulblet fern, and the rusty cliffbrake. Polypody fern, beechfern,
brittlefern, maidenhair fern, and blunt-lobed woodsia often grow side by
side with the blue harebell and white rockcress in sandstone crevices.

While the displacement of indigenous flora has been going on all over
the State, other much less desirable plants have been introduced that com-
pete with the native plant life for possession of the soil. After nearly 100
years of settlement by the white man it is estimated that immigrant flora
constitute approximately 18 percent of the known Iowa flora. Records
show that some of these plants are of Asiatic and European origin, intro-
duced as impurities in garden and agricultural seeds and- in straw for pack-
ing purposes. Although some plants have been introduced as ornamentals
(flower-of-an-hour, butter-and-eggs, cypress spurge, snow-on-the-mountain,
and Queen Anne’s lace), in many cases the origin is accidental and un-
known. One of these “imported” weeds is the blue vervain (verbena,
sometimes called Venus’s torch) that colors many farmyards and pastures
with its purple and blue masses. The common white-flowered, pungent
dogfennel also grows abundantly in barnyards.

Many noxious alien weeds have become so widespread that the State has
attempted to control them through legislation. Among these are quack-
grass, Canada thistle, European morning gloty, Russian knapweed, Indian
mustard, and many others that were unknown to the first settlers.

Iowa still possesses 2,500,000 acres of woodland (including woodlots)
of its original 5,000,000 acres; of these, 23,400 acres are State-owned.
These timberlands are chiefly along the streams in the eastern and south-
eastern part. Very little of the original timber is still standing, and prac-
tically all is second and third growth.

Along the main valleys grow hardwood forests represented by birches,
maples, hickories, oaks, elms, and basswood. This bluff woodland gives
way, along stream or lake borders, to elm, but-oak, green ash, and cotton-
wood, which are able to stand the severe climate of the open prairie. The
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green ash of open spaces assumes a hardy prairie form in the midst of the
grassland where the most common tree is the willow. Occasionally cotton-
woods grow in the sandy ground remote from streams. In southeastern
Iowa the hardwood forests contain the oaks—post, swamp, swamp post,
swamp white, yellow chestnut, shrubby chestnut, black jack, and shingle—
and the hickories, including pecan, king nut, and pig nut. Representatives
of the southern broad-leaved forest occur among these, except near the
middle of the State. Yellow and paper birches grow in northeastern Iowa
among the conifers such as white pine, balsam fir, and Canadian yew—
probably relics of a postglacial forest.

With its trees and shrubs, Iowa presents a colorful seasonal panorama
from the opening of the maple buds in February to the last witch hazel
blossoms in November. Along the creeks the greening pussy willows push
forth furry catkins in the spring, and poplars and cottonwoods follow
them with colorful, pendent flower clusters. Among the brushy treetops on
the banks and cliffs the feathery whiteness of the shad-bush stands out
in April. Thorny brown-plum thickets whiten and, over the southern half
of the State, redbud and dogwood color the river woodlands in May. Per-
simmon and papaw are occasionally seen along the southern border, while
snowy hawthorn and rose-flowered crab-apples in spring border the wood-
lands throughout the State. Elderberries blossom in early summer. In the au-
tumn sumac colors the hillsides, the wild grape displays its purple clusters,
and the hazel brush is brown with drying nuts. In winter the rare bitter-
sweet contrasts with the drifts of snow.

One half of the small area of Iowa’s original timberland is already de-
stroyed and the State is beginning to develop plans for preserving the few
trees it has and for reforesting the neglected areas. Besides its value for
lumber, posts, and cordwood, the State realizes the value of its forests in
the utilization of waste land, recreation facilities for its people, and the
regulation of the flow of water in its streams. State-owned recreational
parks, waterfowl and wildlife refuges (four of them Federal areas in east-
ern Iowa), and State-owned lakes, although not definitely set aside as
forest preserves, are the nucleus of a large -scale plan for the preservation
of the trees.

Geology

Geological surveys, beginning as eatly as the first quarter of the nine-
teenth century, have revealed several systems of sedimentary rock (in-
durated) formations that could have been deposited only in oceans as they
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advanced and retreated over the surface of this region hundreds of mil-
lions of years ago. The geological ages represented in these formations are:
the Proterozoic, the Paleozoic, and the Mesozoic. The indurated rocks are
covered for the most part with sands, gravels, and clay laid down by gla-
ciers coming from the north in times recent in comparison to the ages of
the indurated rocks. The record of this glacial period (the Pleistocene of
the Cenozoic age), which lasted probably 1,000,000 years, is cleatly
shown. '

The indurated rock formations that form the bedrock were originally
loose soft layers of sediment spread out on the bottom of prehistoric seas.
As the seas gradually receded, belts of rock were left exposed at the sur-
face. The various layers of rock—each of which formed a sea bottom for
a long period of geologic time—bent down under each new layer. In gen-
eral the rock formations dip gently toward the southwest in the eastern
half of the State, south in the north-central and central parts, and south-
east in the northwestern section. All deposited essentially horizontally,
they have been deformed to make a syncline. Numerous unconformities in-
dicate that they were not all deposited in the same sea.

Many of the formations are visible at highway and railroad cuts through-
out the State, where they will be found underlying the surface soil. Fre-
quently they may be viewed along the banks of rivers and in various sur-
face exposures, particularly in the northeast corner of the State.

The oldest and hardest of these rock formations is the Sioux quartzite
(Pre-Cambrian), found as surface rock only in the far northwestern sec-
tion. In a small area of Allamakee and Clayton Counties are found the sec-
ond oldest rocks—sandstone, dolomite, and siltstone formations—in the
St. Croixan series of the Cambrian system.

The Ordovician rocks, constituting the third oldest in Iowa, extend in a
rapidly narrowing belt along the Mississippi River from Winneshiek
County on the north into Clinton County on the south. Caves and grottoes
are found in the many fissured layers of Galena limestone of this system.
At Decorah, in Winneshiek County, a famous ice cave presents the phe-
nomenon of warm temperature in late autumn and winter followed by
temperatures that form layers of ice in spring and summer (see Tour 2).
The Silurian strata (next youngest to the Ordovician) with its hard
Niagaran dolomite, extends from the southern half of Fayette County
southeastward nearly to Davenport in Scott County, making a belt about
35 to 50 miles wide and over 100 miles long.

Limestones, shales, and dolomites of Devonian age (next younger than
Silurian) lie in an even broader strip from Worth, Mitchell, and Howard
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Counties in northern Iowa to Muscatine and Scott Counties in the south-
east. West of the Devonian rocks a great belt of shales and limestones be-
longing to the Mississippian system (sixth oldest) reaches from Keokuk
in the southeastern corner of the State to Algona in Kossuth County.

Because of its stores of coal and shales, the Des Moines series of the
Pennsylvanian system (next youngest to the Mississippian) is probably
the most economically important rock strata. Included in the system are the
Missouri and the Virgil series, in southwestern Iowa, and the Des Moines
series, underlying a large region in southern and central Iowa.

A rich though limited bed of red sandy shale and gypsum filled a deep
valley in the neighborhood of Fort Dodge to a depth of 8o feet during
Permian time, following the Pennsylvanian age. The formation of gypsum
differs somewhat from the formation of most rocks, resulting as it does
from the rapid evaporation of inland bodies of water. This bed is in the
old valleys of the Des Moines strata (Pennsylvaman) and the Mississip-
pian system.

Underlying the surface soil of west-central and northwestern Iowa, and
cropping out in many localities of the lake region, are the youngest of the
indurated rock strata of Iowa (the ninth in order numbering from the
oldest to the most recent). Sandstones of the Dakota formation were
formed here—comparatively recently—during the Cretaceous period. The
area covered by Cretaceous rock extends from its southern tip in Monona
‘and Crawford Counties, in a gradually widening belt, to the Missouri
River on the west and the Minnesota boundary on the north, and lies next
to the Pennsylvanian and Mississippian strata on the east. Indurated rocks
of the Cretaceous system (the last of the systems deposited by oceans) at-
tain a thickness of 250 feet.

Iowa owes its soils, sands, gravels, silts and clay—the non-indurated or
mantle rocks—chiefly to the four great glaciers that covered all or part of
the area during the Pleistocene period. It is a safe estimate that the last of
these glaciers retreated only 25,000 years ago. The time involved in the ad-
vance and retreat of each glacier and in the succeeding interglacial age
constitutes a cycle. A striking fact is the great length of the interglacial
ages in contrast to the duration of the glacial ages themselves, estimated
at a minimum of 30,000 years for each.

As each glacier traveled into the region, at the estimated rate of one
mile in ten years, it carried along with it the coarse and fine rock mate-
rials picked up and scraped from the ground over which it passed. When
the glacier reached as far south as the region including what is now Iowa,
where the climate was warmer, it began to melt, or retreat, as slowly as it
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had come, leaving till (boulders of all sizes and fine clay) spread out be-
hind it. During this time, streams that flowed out from beneath the melting
glaciers carried immense quantities of sands and gravels, depositing them
in valleys or on top of the till. The till, sands, and gravels together are
known as drift. During the interglacial periods the drift was subject to
weathering by air, wind, and water, and also underwent a certain amount
of leaching and oxidation.

Drift of the first glacier, the Nebraskan, covered the entire region, even
the area commonly called the “driftless area” in Allamakee County in
northeastern Iowa. The drift of later glaciers did not cover this section and
the early deposits have been almost entirely eroded away. Deep-cutting
streams, valleys, and rugged bluffs characterize this section.

Perhaps 500,000 years ago (minimum estimate) the Kansan Glacier
fringed the western edge of the old Nebraskan drift and covered all of the
region except a small area in the northeast. About 300,000 years later a
portion of the continental Illinoian Glacier invaded the southeastern part
from what is now Scott County along the river to Fort Madison, but ex-
tended no more than 30 miles inland. The widespread gumbotil, and re-
lated materials that have undergone a chemical weathering, developed
during the first three glacial periods.

Geologists have discovered that during the third glacial age, the Illinoian,
the now long extinct Lake Calvin was formed, covering large areas in what
is now Johnson, Cedar, Muscatine, Washington, and Louisa Counties. As
the Illinoian Glacier crept westward, the Mississippi River, and the water
therein, became blocked at the mouth of the Wapsipinicon River and was
forced to a new channel about 25 miles west of the original. As the waters
reached the vicinity of what is now Columbus Junction, the Illinoian
Glacier again dammed the way on the southeast, and drift of the Kansan
blocked passage on the southwest. From Columbus Junction the waters
backed up into what is now the Iowa River Valley beyond Iowa City, and
up the Cedar River Valley to West Liberty and Moscow, to form a large
body of water of great depth—perhaps more than 8o feet—over parts of
the present Iowa City, and deeper in other localities. Lake Calvin probably
remained for 130,000 years, or until the approach of the fourth great ice
sheet, the Iowan lobe of the Wisconsin.

More than 50,000 years ago the Iowan lobe of the fourth glacier, the
Wisconsin, crept down through the central northeast from what is now
Worth, Mitchell, and Howard Counties on the north to Linn County on
the south, and by way of a slender strip to Clinton County on the east.
This Wisconsin Glacier retreated to the north for a time. Many years later,
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the second lobe of the last ice sheet to invade Iowa entered from the
northern part, along a path from Osceola County on the west to Worth
County on the east and continued as far south as Polk and Dallas Coun-
ties. So recently did this second lobe (called the Mankato) melt away that
the streams in that region are still shallow and meandering with ill-defined
courses and loosely packed banks. Many lakes, shallows, and marshes are
in this area. Pilot Knob State Park in Hancock County embraces many odd-
shaped morainal deposits (mounds at the edge of the glacier when it rap-
idly melted) characteristic of this lake region.

The Jowan and Mankato drift areas contain some of the richest soils in
the world. Following both of these glaciers the usual drift was deposited ;
but the chemical weathering of the drift into gumbotil and related mate-
rials did not follow, and a widespread black soil was formed. The alluvial
soils, composed of what has been washed down from other soils plus de-
cayed vegetable matter, may be found along the streams and river bottoms.
The loess soils (deposits of wind-blown silt), covering approximately
three-fourths of the State, are browner and thinner than the northern soils.

Iowa may be divided into five principal soil areas: the Mississippi loess
area covering a strip of land in east-central Iowa; the Iowan drift area
covering approximately the territory over which the Iowan lobe passed in
north-central Iowa; the southern Iowa loess area extending over most of
the southern part of the State; the Mankato drift area approximately iden-
tical with the land covered by the Mankato lobe of the Wisconsin
Glacier; and the Missouri loess area extending along a wide belt on the
western border, from Missouri on the south to Sioux City on the north.

Because of the opportunities for analyzing indurated and non-indurated
rock strata, and because of the four distinct glacial ages represented in this
region, Iowa has distinctive geologic importance. It was among the first
States in the New World to be examined geologically. Thomas Nuttall,
from England, studied the banks of the Missouri early in the nineteenth
century. About 1870 an excellent cut was made in Capitol Hill at Des
Moines, exposing many layers of rocks and soils and enabling geologists to
verify their theories and hypotheses. At this point the Mankato drift,
youngest in Iowa, was found resting on soil of the Kansan drift. A bridge
today over the Court Avenue speedway on Capitol Hill connects the south-
ern tip of the Mankato lobe on one side with the edge of the Kansan drift
on the other, joining in a single arch non-indurated soils separated in geo-
logical time by nearly a million years. Samuel Calvin, appointed State
geologist in 1892, was perhaps the first to study Iowa geology extensively
and scientifically.



CRINOID, B. H. BEANE COLLECTION

Paleontologists have found an abundance of fossil remains imbedded in
the successive rock strata of almost every part of the State. Fossils of one-
celled animals, water-dwelling plants, and invertebrates have been discov-
ered in the Paleozoic rocks. Large collections of shells and early forms of
marine life have been taken from the layers of Burlington limestone in the
vicinity of Keokuk, Fort Madison, and Burlington. Crinoids were found
in this region in such abundance that Charles Wachsmuth and Frank
Springer made a collection recognized as one of the most complete in the
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United States (see BURLINGTON ), now in the Smithsonian Institution
at Washington.

In the limestone quarries at Le Grand, Marshall County, finely preserved
starfishes and crinoids (stone lilies) are found (see Toxr 13). The abun-
dance of these fossils and their state of preservation have made the lime-
stones of the Mississippian age here of international importance. Specimens
have been sent to Paris and other foreign cities. The collection made by
B. H. Beane, of Le Grand, is on display in the State Historical building in
Des Moines.

Besides the many crinoids discovered, coal plants have been unearthed
in Marion County, and single-celled animal fossils found near Winterset
in Madison County. Fossils from shale were plentiful at Hackberry Clay
Banks a few miles east of Mason City in Cetro Gordo County and near
Rockford in Floyd County. Bones and teeth of ancient fishes and corals
are found near Iowa City, and there are hornshaped corals near Monticello.
Sponges and clam-like and snail-like fossils may be seen at Dubuque. Fos-
sils of the trilobites and brachiopods are also imbedded in the sandstone
of the steep slopes at Lansing in Allamakee County.

In the sand and gravel beneath the glacial drifts, fossils of the great Ice
Age have been unearthed. Bones and teeth show that hairy elephants
(mammoth and mastodon), camels, musk-ox, sloths, and giant beavers
once roamed over Iowa. The skull of one of these beavers found near
Avoca indicated the living beaver must have been more than nine feet
long. The Cox gravel pit, southeast of Missouri Valley, and several places
between Hamburg and Logan, along the Missouri River bluffs, have given
up remains of prehistoric animals.
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lowans:
The Social Pattern

N IOWAN is as likely to be found in any other of the forty-eight
States as in his native one, if the term be taken simply to mean a
petson who was born in Iowa. By 1930, according to a survey made for
the National Resources Board in 1935, more than one-third of all the
children of Towa were living elsewhere—1,084,000 persons. In that same
year the State’s population was 2,470,939. Between 1920 and 1930, nearly
160,000 emigrated from Iowa, and during the same period many thou-
sands left their cornfields to find a richer living—or merely a living—in
the larger industrial centers within the State.

The Towan who remains at home has a choice of physical environments
similar to those he would find beyond the State’s boundaries. The beautiful
lake region of northwest Iowa is not very different in natural setting or
social customs from parts of Minnesota and Wisconsin; the western edge
is like Nebraska; and the large towns, Sioux City and Council Bluffs,
have characteristics that are definitely western; the southernmost tier of
counties is indistinguishable from adjacent Missouri; and along the Missis-
sippi the population looks to Chicago and the East. In Davenport, Du-
buque, and the smaller river cities the economic, political, and artistic
standards of eastern United States are quickly reflected. :

But the real Iowa to the majority of Americans is the great central
region, with Des Moines as its focal point: an expanse of fertile farmland,
originally prairie, across which the State’s own river flows. Here are the
corn and wheat fields, the characteristic white houses, big red barns and
tall silos; and, at regular intervals, grain elevators and church spires domi-
nating the little towns. It is from this area largely that the State’s agricul-
tural prestige is derived.

With a larger total acreage of grade-one agricultural land than any other
State—possibly twenty-five percent of the country’s total—Iowa is unques-
tionably rich. It has excellent educational institutions, kindly citizens, and
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considerable natural beauty. How then explain the phenomenal emigration
of its people, especially of the young and middle-aged? That question the
State itself is undertaking to answer.

Setting about making surveys and long-term plans is a tradition in
Iowa, one of the earliest States to experiment with extension service from
the colleges and the university to the farm. But there is evident now a new
perspective and a new emphasis. In the past the test of any economic doc-
trine or political program was its possible effect upon agriculture. The
Grange movement was a direct result of the people’s insistence that the
railroads should conform to agricultural needs—incredible as it may seem,
there is no place in the State farther than twelve miles from a railroad.
The innumerable small towns grew up in the center of farming popula-
tions, near a grist mill or a railroad station. The railroad often determined
the town site on the prairie, loaded a tiny depot on a flat car and brought
it to the spot. Next came the freight house for supplies and a stock pen .
for loading cattle; then a tiny grain elevator, a general store; a doctor, a
lawyer, and.a newspaper—a new town in Iowa.

The long struggle against spending money for highway improvement
was due largely to rural opposition, and was ended when the farmer saw
its value in terms of the farm. The size of the larger cities, scattered fairly
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evenly throughout the State, may be traced directly to the number of grain
processing, meat packing, farm implement and tractor manufacturing
plants; and their prosperity depends largely on the prosperity of the
farmer. With the coming of the Nation-wide depression in the 1930’s the
Towan was slow to realize that anything could affect for long the.value of
the farm or nullify the results of the farmer’s labor, for generations, as
unquestioned realities as the hot sun and the abundant corn.

But at length he realized that he was no longer independent as once he
had been. On his neatly fenced farm of 8o to 200 actes the Iowan was
accustomed to being his own manager, a business man as well as a tiller
of the soil. In the World War period, he followed a national trend and
speculated heavily in land. Farms sold at high prices and mortgages were
common, one farm frequently being mortgaged to purchase another. Begin-
ning in 1929 many of these mortgages were foreclosed and much of the
land turned over to banks and insurance companies. The farmer today faces
the fact that tenancy is common in this great farming State, and that more
than half of the farms are rented properties. Unrest and dissatisfaction
brought the farmers to organize, to strike, to declare farm holidays—
co-operating as in pioneer days to maintain the established pattern of their
lives.

In addition to the strictly agricultural problems, the Iowan faces, with
the rest of America, the increasing pressure of modern industrialism. From
the time that the State reached its peak in farm production, about the be-
ginning of the present century, industry began to develop on a large scale.
The small town began to feel the competition of the big manufacturing
center. Potential farmers and farmwives began to work in office, store,
and factory. With the depression, unemployment and social unrest became
realities to a hitherto more or less self-confident people.

Owing to its fertile soil and the hardworking farmer and farmhand,
per capita income in Iowa had been for many years greater than that in
the country as a whole. But a gradual decline in farm income has reduced
the State’s per capita income until it is (1938) approximately equal to
that of the Nation. Industrial income, however, is growing proportionately
larger and has shown greater stability, on the whole, than that of the
United States.

With the development of industry and dissatisfaction with farm life
began the unusual flow of rural people to urban centers within the State;
and this movement from the farm to the manufacturing towns was—and
continues to be—but a step in the exodus to the great industrial and com-
mercial cities of the rest of the country. It is this problem that the con-
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temporary lowan is attempting to solve—how to make Iowa a place where
Towans may live securely and happily.

No longer is the value of a plan or a development tested only by its
value to the farm. How, the Iowan asks, can this State give a full and
satisfying life to its people? In a sense this is not a new perspective; it is
more a picking up of an early tradition simply lost sight of for a while,
neglected because of the needs of the farm, often indeed from strict neces-
sity.

With the first settlers education was a primary interest. In the early
40’s, 50’s and 6o’s, the New England tradition—of culture, religion, self-
government—was brought directly or by way of New York, Pennsylvania,
Illinois, Indiana, Virginia, and Kentucky. Small colleges, some of the
earliest west of the Mississippi, were built before the railroads were. Iowa’s
stately Old Capitol, the cornerstone of which was laid in 1840 (two
years after the first session of the Territorial assembly), has something
of symbolic value today as administrative headquarters of the University
of Iowa.

The early settlers brought also a tradition of tolerance, intensified in the
new land by the common dependence on the soil. Later immigrants came
from adjacent States, from Canada, and from many countries of Europe—
Germans, Scandinavians, Hollanders, Bohemians, English, Irish, Russians,
Italians—bringing new and vital elements of culture. All of these adjusted
themselves to the prevalent agricultural pattern, but the desire for cultural
development remained a pronounced characteristic.

The farmer was willing to pay high taxes for the maintenance of educa-
tional institutions and to go into debt to send his children to college. But.
this was not enough. The younger generation showed a definite reaction
from farm life, and many of those who left Iowa did so to find a more
congenial field for artistic expression and what they believed could be a
richer human life. But memory of the prairie soil and skyline was reflected
in their work, and the lives of the rural people furnished the theme for
novel, poem, and picture.

Those who remained at home began to appraise critically the culture of
which they were a part; literary, art, and music societies were organized;
little magazines were established; and discussion groups stimulated
thought in political, economic, and social fields. The depression years
brought to many a more sensitive consciousness of the pattern of their
society and of national conditions that were beginning to affect it. A few
citizens “on the county” had always been accepted as inescapable, but the
presence of many farmless farmers and great numbers of unemployed men
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and women in the cities required a new analysis of the State’s economic
conditions. The interrelationship between farming and industry had to be
realized before any deliberate modification of the earlier pattern might be
tried.

All these forces may have combined to bring about the centripetal move-
ment now apparent among Iowans. The reverse swing of the pendulum
seems to have begun and the general tendency among the college-trained
is to remain and work in Iowa. Higher education is adjusting itself to
meet modern necessities and, while the State College at Ames maintains
its high rank as an agricultural school, emphasis is being laid more and
more upon science, engineering, economics, and the professions. The State
university sponsors schools of music, art, and drama. At the same time
there is a distinctive development in the cities in the field of art. The
Grandview Music Pavilion at Sioux City (the design for which was made
by Henry Kamphoefner, Iowa architect, and submitted for the Paris prize
of the Society of Beaux Arts), and the Davenport, Sioux City, and Cedar
Rapids Art Galleries are evidences of the new direction.

The humanistic emphasis, so clearly to be seen in cultural activities, is
present also in the State’s approach to its economic problems. The increase
of farm tenancy, particularly in the badly eroded southern counties, is being
met with soil conservation programs, the forestation of land unsuited to
agriculture, and other scientific measures; but not without provision for
the future of the present tenants in some more prosperous area. Long-term
leases are encouraged in order not only that the renter may have time to
plan his crops and conserve the fertility of the soil but also that he may
develop a sense of ownership and eventually become a farmer on his own
property.

Careful study is being given to the development of industry and the
planning for life in urban centers. Mechanization of the workers™ lives,
congested traffic, and slum districts are no longer unknown in the larger
cities. Investigation of the possibilities of part-time farming, the provision
for State and county parks within reach of everyone, traffic surveys, and
the work of business bureaus indicate recognition of the problems, and
something of the means by which they are being met.

A successful experiment in living, based on the fusion of agricultural
and industrial forces, may possibly be carried out here, in this fertile mid-
dle-ground between the congested districts of the East and the more
sparsely settled West. Iowa has the opportunity—rich land, remarkably
uniform diffusion of the population, traditions of culture and tolerance.

It may be that a new spirit of humility is abroad in America and that






DO A S S G S G S

First Americans
Mound Builders

AR in the past, what is believed to have been a race of slant-eyed,
Fcopper-skinned men slowly and painfully piled stone upon stone, and
heaped basket after basket of earth, day after day for many years, leaving
as monuments to their dead the thousands of mounds scattered throughout
Iowa. The homes of these people were of such insecure construction that
scarcely any have been preserved, but the mounds they built reveal to ar-
cheologists something of their customs and culture. Some of these mounds
were fortifications, or the foundations of religious structures; the great
majority were built for burial purposes.

At the base of the burial mound was a shallow grave or low platform
upon which the remains of the dead were deposited, along with offerings
of personal or tribal possessions—meal, tobacco, weapons, or perhaps orna-
ments. Sometimes this platform was inclosed by a structure of wood or
stone. Earth was heaped over this crude vault, and finally an outer cover-
ing of sand and gravel.

More than 10,000 mounds have been found in Iowa, and although years
of work remain to be done in exploring and excavating them, archeologists
in the past 50 years have arrived at several confident conclusions concern-
ing the origin and lives of the mound builders.

There is little doubt that these people were the ancestors of the Ameri-
can Indian tribes found by the first explorers. But the diversity of cultures
included within the term “mound builders” and the greater diversity of
Indian customs at the historic level make it practically impossible to trace
the culture of any specific tribe to a particular mound builder culture.
However, on the basis of a limited number of characteristics, some arche-
ologists believe that the Oneota culture provided the basis for the Siouan
of historic times, and the Woodland the basis for the Algonkian.

The mound builders of Towa have been divided into five groups—



FIRST AMERICANS 33
Woodland, Hopewellian, Oneota, Mill Creek, and Glenwood—according
to the materials found.

The time sequence of these cultures has not been definitely established,
but in northeastern Iowa the Woodland culture is known to have preceded
the Oneota. In Allamakee County, however, the remains of the Oneota
have been found superimposed on those of the Woodland culture.

The Woodland is the most widespread mound builder culture identified
by archeologists in Iowa, and may be found in almost every county in the
State. Numerous village remains have been discovered in oak groves of the
lake district of northwestern Iowa, and more than Go rock shelters have
been located in east-central Iowa. Most of the village sites are small, gen-
erally of two acres or less.

The Woodland people were master artisans in stone and flint, and left
behind them more than 100 known types of chipped flint implements.
They were also responsible for an individual type of pottery, the material
of which was mixed with coarsely crushed granite. Woodland pottery ob-
jects are generally formed on a base in the shape of a rounded-off cone.
The rims and sides are decorated with fabric impressions, and are embel-
lished with punched, stamped, and incised designs.

Effigy mounds in the shape of birds and animals are found in Allama-
kee, Clayton, and Dubuque Counties. The famous “Woman Mound,” on
the Turkey River in Clayton, was built in the shape of a gigantic female
with arms akimbo. It measures 70 feet between the out-thrust elbows and is
135 feet in length. There are also linear mounds in this quarter of the
State and in the middle of the Des Moines River Valley. The conical
mounds are numerous in nearly all sections.

The Hopewellian culture is found along the eastern border of Iowa
upon the banks of the Mississippi River in Jackson, Scott, Muscatine, and
Louisa Counties, from Dubuque south to the mouth of the Iowa River. An
isolated group of Hopewellian mounds is farther north, in the Turkey
River Valley in Clayton County. These latter mounds average three to 10
feet in height and 30 to go feet in diameter. The interiors are rectangular
crypts of logs which served for burial congregations and sacrificial altars.
The largest specimen of the Hopewellian culture in Iowa is on a bluff near
Toolesboro at the junction of the Iowa and Mississippi Rivers.

The earthworks and large village sites of the Oneota culture are wide-
spread over Iowa. The most extensive site, called Blood Run, covers more
than 100 acres in Lyon County, overlooking the Big Sioux River. Orig-
inally there were 143 mounds here and an earthen enclosure of 15 actes.



34 IOWA: PAST AND PRESENT

Other examples of the Oneota appear along the Little Sioux River in Clay,
Dickinson, and Woodbury Counties. Still others are adjacent to the Hope-
wellian culture at Toolesboro and along the Upper Iowa River in Alla-
makee County. The mounds of the Blood Run site best show the distinctive
characteristics of this culture, the majority being conical, two and three
feet high and 25 to 70 feet in diameter. Numerous boulder circles are
often found with the Oneota remains, and these occur invariably on high
bluffs or terraces overlooking rivers or streams.

Ancient remains of the Mill Creek culture have been traced along the
Little Sioux River in northwestern Iowa from Linn Grove in Buena Vista
County, across the southeastern corner of O’Brien County, and southwest-
ward through Cherokee County to its southern border. Fourteen village
sites of one or two acres are left. Two of these still show a broad moat en-
compassing 12 to 20 earth lodge sites. Approximately 0o mounds, two
to four feet high, are in the Mill Creek areas. No cemeteries have yet been
discovered. A single village site of the Mill Creek group is on Broken Ket-
tle Creek (a tributary of the Big Sioux) in Plymouth County.

The pottery of this culture is dark, and like the Woodland has crushed
granite in its composition. Most of the specimens are globular, decorated
with cross-hatched rims, rounded indentations, diagonal and horizontal
incised lines, and molded heads of birds and animals.

Glenwood is the temporary name of a culture of pre-historic peoples
who lived in semi-subterranean lodges scattered along the Missouri flood
plain in southwestern Iowa from about the center of Monona County to
the Missouri State Line. The lodges here were large—from 20 to Go feet
in diameter. Today they appear as circular depressions from one to four
feet deep, standing singly or in groups of two or three. A somewhat at-
tenuated line of seven lodge sites, two miles west of Glenwood, is an un-
usual concentration. The pottery found here is quite different from that of
the other Jowa cultures, and the other artifacts are also more or less differ-
entiated. The bodies of many vessels, and sometimes the outer rims, show
impressions of a coarse fabric or matting which has been partially smoothed.
Tool remains indicate that the people used numerous knives made of
chipped stone, roughly diamond-shaped.

Invariably the mounds and earthworks of the mound builders are found
along the bluffs and terraces of rivers and smaller streams, or on lake
shores, almost never on the wider, more open prairie areas. Village and
camp sites are frequently discovered in connection with burial mounds. A
series of 30 or more along the Little Sioux River constitutes what was once
probably one of the more thickly settled areas in the State, and, in eastern
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Iowa, caves and rock shelters in the cliffs bordering the tnbutanes of the
Mississippi indicate another such center.

Cemetery burial apparently was almost as common as mound inter-
ment. In some cases, collected bones were removed from trees or scaffolds
and buried in mass “ossuaries.” Sometimes the bones of a single skeleton
were tied and interred in a “bundle” burial. Many cemeteries containing
such burials have been found in the Upper Iowa River Valley in north-
east Jowa, and numbers of great ossuaries have been discovered in the cave
region of east-central Jowa. Cremated remains have been unearthed in re-
cent times, and burials in stone-covered graves were not infrequent. Some
bodies are found to have been interred lying on the back, others in a
squatting position or on the side with knees drawn up to the chin.

It is evident that agricultural activity was not uncommon among the
mound builder peoples, and garden crops were raised in large quantities.
Another important industry was the quarrying and working of stone. This
is not surprising since there was an inexhaustible supply of glacial boulders
and deposits of flint and hematite. Several of the stone quarries used by
these men of antiquity have been exactly located, and stone mauls and
axes have been found scattered over the hills from Burlington to Fort
Madison, as well as in other places.

One of the most unusual and impressive structures built by Neolithic
man in Jowa is the large stone dam across the Iowa River at Amana (see
Tour 144), but the nearest approach to actual masonry among the mound
builders is found in the numerous rows of stones sometimes forming ir-
regular inclosures within many of the mounds.

The most widespread art was that of flint chipping. Ceremonial blades,
daggers, and knives were skillfully chipped from flint rock. Catlinite was
used for pipes and ornaments; copper was hammered into useful and dec-
orative articles; and wood, worked by fire and cutting, was fashioned into
bows, arrows, spears, and other necessary articles.

Artifacts uncovered in Iowa have included fetishes, ceremonial weapons,
and sacred articles probably belonging to the priests and medicine men.
Pottery-making was apparently a late development.

There are over 6oo private and public archeological museums and col-
Jections in the State. Outstanding are those of the State Historical Society
of Iowa (see IOWA CITY ), collected for the most part by Chatles R.
Keyes, Mount Vernon, and Ellison Orr, Waukon; the Historical, Memo-
rial, and Art Department (see DES MOINES ); the Frank E. Ellis Museum
at Maquoketa (see TOUR 1), the Herrmann Museum (see DUBUQUE);
and the Davenport Museum (see DAVENPORT ).



Indians

Although no mounds were constructed by the historic Indian, his burials
were as elaborate and often as complex as those of the mound builder; and
it is evident that he had as great an awe of the supernatural and as intense
a belief in an after-life as did his primitive forefathers.

The Iowa (Ioway), from whom the State takes its name, are Siouan and
came here from the Great Lakes region, adopting to some extent the Al-
gonkian culture. The Iowa roamed in all quarters of the Iowa country, but
settled (mainly) in the central part along the Des Moines River Valley.
French explorers, hearing the Sioux speak of these people, added their
own terminals, forming the words “‘Ay-u-vois” (I-u-wa) and “Ay-u-ou-ez”
(I-u-00-ay), thus influencing the two different spellings of the word—
Iowa and Ioway. The meaning of the word in the Sioux dialect is “dusty-
faces,” or “dust-in-the-faces”; but other interpretations, such as “‘drowsy
ones,” “here is the place,” or “beautiful land,” have been accepted.

The Omaha, Oto, and Missouri tribes lived in the western and south-
western part of the region, where they were in continual fear of warring
bands of Sioux. Along with the Iowa Indians, the Oto and Missouri be-
longed to the Chiwere group of the Siouan stock, while the Omaha were
allied to another division, the Thegiha.

The Sac (Sauk) and Fox, originally two distinct tribes of Algonkian
stock, joined in defense against common enemies, and were forced by this
warfare westward through the southern part of the Iowa country. The
hostile Sioux, of the Dakota branch, hunted and fought and trailed their
skin tepees all over the northern third of the area. The Winnebago, also
Siouan, transferred here by the Government, built their villages in what
is now northeastern Iowa. The Pottawattamie (Algonkian) were given
homes in the far southwestern corner ; the Mascoutin settled on the Missis-
sippi River, giving to the present county and city of Muscatine their name.
Generally, the tribes of Algonkian stock came down upon the area from
regions east and north, the tribes of the Siouan stock entering from the
north and west.

The Iowa region was a battle and hunting ground for all these tribes.
Before white men settled in the country the various tribes warred with one
another to possess the rich hunting ground, one driving out another, then
each in turn either drifting on or being driven out. The history of Indians
in Iowa centers around the Sac and Fox, and their leaders—Chiefs Black
Hawk, Keokuk, and Wapello—and the ultimate purchase of their lands.
by the whites.
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Events of the spring of 1804 led to confusion and bitterness among the
Sac and Fox and laid the foundations for conflict between Black Hawk and
the white settlers. An Indian killed a white man and out of the confusion
came a treaty (1804) which Black Hawk considered unjust, since the
makers did not properly represent the Indians and had arranged the treaty
while the Indians were drunk.

It had been the practice of the British traders to let the Indians buy
their supplies on credit, paying for them in the spring after the hunting
season was over. This the American trader refused to do. His action, cou-
pled with Indian resentment aroused by the trickery used to acquire a
claim to the Indian lands, brought about an alliance, duting the War of
1812, between Black Hawk and his followers and the British. A battle
fought at Credit Island (see DAVENPORT) fotced the Americans to
retreat.

When the war ended, Black Hawk signed a treaty (1816) ratifying the
treaty of 1804. Of this he writes in his autobiography, “Here, for the first
time, I touched the goose quill to the treaty not knowing, however, that,
by that act, I consented to give away my village.”

In making these treaties, frequently negotiated with the aid of whisky,
the whites persuaded the Indians to sign documents they did not undet-
stand; this led to confusion that was not lessened by the failure of the
whites to carry out their own treaty obligations. Because of a provision in
the treaty of 1804 providing that “as long as the lands which are now
ceded to the United States remain their property, the Indians belonging to
the said tribes shall enjoy the privilege of living and hunting upon them,”
Black Hawk felt that he and his people had a right to live in the Illinois
village of Saukenuk, at the mouth of the Rock River, until the land was
sold. The Government, ignoring this clause, sanctioned (1831) the action
of squatters who invaded the Indian villages. The squatters tore down the
red man’s lodges, plowed up his cornfields, and beat those who protested
—even Black Hawk himself.

Angered by the actions of the whites, who had not even permitted the
Indian women to harvest the corn they had planted, Black Hawk, in the
spring of 1832, tried to incite his tribesmen in Illinois to battle against
the whites. Chief Keokuk was more conservative. Whether motivated by
the realization of the hopelessness of struggle, or by the thought of gain
he might secure for himself, he bowed to the will of the white man. He
and Wapello persuaded many of the Sac and Fox to follow them across
the river into Iowa. Black Hawk crossed to the west side also, but his stay
there was short.
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Early in April, Black Hawk, with about 1,000 braves, women, and chil-
dren, recrossed the Mississippi River and set out for the north country of
Illinois to visit the Winnebago among whom he hoped to find allies. Fail-
ing in this, he sent scouts to the whites to admit his defeat, and to say that
he was ready at last to go across the Mississippi River. His emissaries were
captured, and one of them was murdered. Convinced that his band would
ultimately be destroyed, and enraged at the treachery and injustice of the
whites, Black Hawk and a few of his braves made a surprise attack and
routed a strong army of white men. Then the Indian chief with his people
moved slowly northward in a great arc, up the Rock River, across the site
of what is now Madison, Wisconsin, down to the mouth of the Bad Axe
River. Black Hawk had hoped to cross before being overtaken, but the
reorganized pursuers caught up with the little band just as they reached
the river. Black Hawk raised the white flag of surrender. But the enemy
paid no heed, firing on the Indian women and children as they struggled
to cross. Most of those who reached the opposite bank were killed by the
Sioux Indians who had been summoned for that purpose by the whites.

Black Hawk gave himself up to a band of Winnebago who turned him
over to his conquerors. He was kept prisoner for a time and then released
through the intervention of Chief Keokuk. The chief’s last home was on
the Des Moines River in the northeast corner of Davis County. Here
Black Hawk died in 1838.

It is estimated that 8,000 Indians were in the Iowa country during the
first decade of the nineteenth century. Traders, trappers, and soldiers had
intermarried with them and the half-breed children began to make claims
for a share in the Indian land. In 1824, as a provision for these half-
breeds, the Sac and Fox Indians made their first cession of land in the
Iowa region. A small triangle between the Mississippi and Des Moines
Rivers in the southeastern corner was turned over to the half-breeds and
became known as the Half-Breed Tract.

In 1825, at a conference of Indians at Prairie du Chien, Wisconsin, a
neutral line was established to divide the territories of the warring Sioux
from that of the Sac and Fox. In 1830 the Sac and Fox ceded a strip 20
miles wide south of this line and the Sioux made an equal ¢ession north
of this line. Later the Winnebago were transferred to this neutral strip.
In 1832 the Sac and Fox, after the Black Hawk War, were compelled to
move farther westward. The Black Hawk Purchase, effected by the United
States Government in 1832, pushed the Indians beyond a line so miles
west of the Mississippi River, A strip of 400 square miles around Chief
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Keokuk’s village was reserved for the chief, but in 1836 this also was
ceded to the whites.

Antoine Le Claire, great-grandson of a Potawatami chief, and inter-
preter for the Indians, was one of their best friends during the days the
Indians were being driven from the Iowa country. Joseph M. Street, ap-
pointed Indian agent in 1827, was another friend. He was stationed first
at Prairie du Chien in Wisconsin and then at Fort Armstrong in Illinois
prior to 1838, when he was transferred to an agency (later to become a
town called Agency) in the Iowa country. Street manifested a kindly inter-
est in the Indians and their problems that was unusual for those times.
Understanding that, as the game supply became scarce, it would be increas-
ingly hard for them to gain a livelihood by hunting, he advised the Gov-
ernment to teach them farming. It was said of Street that he was “an
Indian agent whom the spoils of office could not buy.”

Within 20 years after the Black Hawk Purchase, all the country that
had been occupied by Indians was ceded to the whites. In 1837 2 million
and a quarter acres of land had been given up by the Sac and Fox, and in
1842 these Indians signed a treaty at Agency promising to be out of the
State by 1845. The Potawatami Indians, who had been living in south-
western Iowa, were moved out in 1846, and the Winnebago, in northeastern
Iowa, moved to Minnesota in 1848. The warlike Sioux alone remained in
Iowa up to 1851, when they, too, were forced to give up their lands.

Wapello, friend of the white man, died in 1842 at Rock Creek, in Keo-
kuk County. He is buried at Agency, where a monument has been erected
to his memory. Keokuk lived until 1848, dying on a Kansas reservation.
In 1883 his remains were moved to the city of Keokuk.

The Spirit Lake massacre of 1857 (see Tour 7, Arnold’s Park), in
which 42 whites were killed, was perpetrated by a renegade Sioux Indian
and his band who wanted to avenge the killing of a relative by a white
trader. The massacre was the last outbreak of Indian warfare in Iowa.

After 1845 small groups of Sac and Fox kept moving back into Iowa
from Kansas to rejoin the remnants of their tribes. In time there were 8o
of these Indians in the State. In 1856 the State passed a law permitting
them to remain. The Governor was instructed to urge the National Gov-
ernment to pay the Indians their share of annuities. This the Government
refused to do until 1867, when the Sac and Fox had been joined by more
influential brothers from Kansas who had saved money from annuities for
the purchase of land.

In July 1857, with Gov. James W. Grimes acting as trustee, the
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Indians secured their first 8o acres in Tama County. Later this group,
which had grown to 265, received $5,500 from the Federal Government.
They used $2,000 of it to buy 8o more acres. Since then their holdings
have increased and the Sac and Fox Indian lands (see Tour 3, Tama) in
Tama County harbor the only remaining group of Indians in Iowa.

The cultural background of the Sac and Fox Indians fitted them in many
respects for the life they live today on their own farms in Iowa. The Sac,
although they were described as the most savage people Father Allouez
had met (1667), were an agricultural group. In the fall they left their
bark or reed houses to go into the woods to hunt game, but usually re-
turned to their houses in the spring when planting time came. The women
raised crops of pumpkins, corn, beans, potatoes, and melons. About 1780,
after the Fox tribe had been almost annihilated by the French in Wiscon-
sin, they joined the Sac. Described as a warlike, quarrelsome, but coura-
geous group, their culture, like that of the Sac, was of the eastern wooded
area.

Though the two tribes hold to some of their old customs, they live in
close contact with white farmers and are gradually losing all touch with
the past. They still enjoy hunting and dancing, the pastimes of their an-
cestors, but they carty on agricultural pursuits and are interested in raising
good crops, just as their white neighbors.



History
The First White Men

ATE in June 1673, Pere Jacques Marquette noted in his journal: “To
L the right is a Chain of very high mountains, and to the left are beau-
tiful lands . . .” He and his companions, Louis Joliet, French-Canadian
trapper, and the five voyageurs, from their canoes in the quiet waters of
the upper Mississippi, looked upon the steep bluffs just south of the pres-
ent city of McGregor. Chosen by the Governor of New France to explore
the great river about which they had heard much from the Indians, Mar-
quette and Joliet had set out from St. Ignace (Michigan) on the long
route across Lake Michigan, through Green Bay, and up the Fox River to
the portage where they embarked on the Wisconsin River. They entered
the Mississippi in late spring when the wilderness was in truth a beautiful
land.

The party landed on June 25 on the west bank of the river, probably
at some point near the mouth of the Iowa. It must have been with great
joy they marked the signs of human feet on the prairie trail. ““We silently
followed the natrow path,” wrote Marquette, “‘and, after walking about
two leagues, we discovered a village on the bank of a river . . . Then we
heartily commended ourselves to God . . . and approached so near that we
could hear the savages talking . . . and I therefore spoke to them first, and
asked them who they were. They replied that they were Illinois; and, as a
token of peace, they offered us their pipes to smoke.” The chief thanked
the white men for making the earth bright with their visit. The explorers
rested for two days in the Indian village.

In 1680, from Fort Crevecoeur at the mouth of the Illinois River, Rob-
ert de La Salle sent Michel Accault (Aco) to explore the upper Missis-
sippi. Accault’s expedition, including the Belgian missionary, Louis Hen-
nepin, and Antoine Aguel, passed along the shore of what was later to be
known as Iowa. La Salle, proceeding southward, reached the mouth of the
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Mississippi in 1682, and claimed the whole of the great fan-shaped valley
for France, naming the country Louisiana in honor of King Louis XIV.

By the terms of the secret Treaty of Fontainebleau in 1762, France trans-
ferred control of all the country west of the Mississippi to Spain, but the
actual transfer was not completed until 1769. The upper Mississippi region
remained a wilderness where Sac and Fox Indians hunted and warred at
will, visited at infrequent intervals by white fur traders, missionaries, and
army detachments. It is believed that Jean Marie Cardinal, who came to
Prairie du Chien some time previous to 1763 to establish a trading post,
visited the Iowa country from time to time. He may have known of, and
possibly even worked, some of the lead mines there; although credit for
the discovery of lead in what is now Iowa is commonly given to the wife
of Peosta, a Fox warrior. )

Toward the close of the eighteenth century, American, Spanish, French,
and English interests in trade on the Mississippi began seriously to con-
flict. Napoleon Bonaparte, then First Consul of France, demanded from
Spain the return of Louisiana. By a treaty made in 1800, and a second
signed in 1801, the Louisiana country was retroceded to France but re-
mained under Spanish administration. Napoleon, realizing that the terri-
tory was a political burden, sold it to the United States in 1803, scarcely
a month after French control had been formally established.

The northern part of the Louisiana Purchase was organized as the Lou-
isiana District and was attached for a short time to the Territory of Indiana.
By a treaty at St. Louis (ratified by Black Hawk in 1816) with the Fox
and Sac Indians, who controlled much of what is now eastern Iowa, land
on the east side of the Mississippi River was ceded to the United States
on November 3, 1804. Earlier in that same year Captains Meriwether
Lewis and William Clark had started out on their two-and-one-half-year
trip through the Northwest, traveling up the Missouri River along the
Iowa shore. A member of the expedition, Sergeant Charles Floyd, died
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on August 20, 1804, and was “buried on a high bluff overlooking the
[Missouri} River.” This was the first recorded burial of a white man in
Iowa soil.

On March s, 1805, the United States Government created from the Lou-
isiana District the Territory of Louisiana, and a few months later sent the
second Government expedition to explore the region of which the Iowa
country was a part. The expedition, in charge of Lieutenant Zebulon M.
Pike, went up the Mississippi River, stopped at a village of Sac and Fox
Indians, and visited Julien Dubuque’s settlement (1788). A site on the
heights near the present city of McGregor was designated as a possible
location for a fort. However, the first fortification in Iowa was not built
until 1808, on the site of the present Fort Madison.

During the War of 1812 one battle with the Indians under Black Hawk
was fought at Credit Island, near what is now Davenport, and another
around Fort Madison. In 1813, after several Indian attacks, the guards set
fire to the fort and abandoned it.

Meanwhile, trappers and traders had entered the wilderness, and a few
adventurous individuals even had attempted settlements in the Iowa coun-
try. During the period of Spanish rule, Julien Dubuque, the first white
man to establish a home in Iowa, arrived at the west bank of the Missis-
sippi. French voyageur and adventurer, Dubuque was attracted by the
commercial possibilities of the lead mines near the site of the city which
now bears his name, and in 1788 received permission, in a document
signed by the Fox chiefs, to work the mines and to occupy a certain tract
of land. Spanish title was given to his grant in 1796. The claim, which
Dubuque deferentially named Les Mines d’Espagne, extended for twenty-
one miles along the Mississippi from the Little Maquoketa to the Tetes
des Morts River. Dubuque, as miner, farmer, and trader, was held in high
regard by the Indians. At his death, in 1810, the members of his party
disbanded and the Indians resumed control of the mines.

Another settlement had been made in 1799 by Louis Honore Tesson,
in what is now Lee County. Riding upon a mule, Tesson brought from
St. Charles, Missouri, a hundred seedling apple trees to plant in Iowa’s
first orchard. A rail fence enclosed his orchard, potato patch, and corn-
field. A year later the Frenchman, Basil Giard, obtained from the Spanish
Governor a grant of 5,680 acres in the present Clayton County, title to
which was confirmed in 1803 by a patent issued by the United States
Government.

The Des Moines and Mississippi Rivers and the regions nearby, rich in
fur-bearing animals, were profitable territory for trappers and hunters.
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The first trading posts were erected on the east side of the Mississippi,
and here the Indians exchanged skins and pelts for firearms, blankets,
ornaments, and whisky. The American Fur Company at St. Louis was in-
fluential in founding a number of posts in Iowa that later developed into
towns: among these were Council Bluffs, Sioux City, Eddyville, Musca-
tine, and Keokuk. Later the Des Moines River region became the center
for the Towa fur trade, which in 1809 was valued at $60,000.

One of the best known fur traders was George Davenport, who came
west with the United States soldiers as early as 1816. He traded with the
Indians at Rock Island, south of the present city of Davenport, until 1845,
winning their confidence and friendship. Maurice Blondeau, another well
known pioneer in the industry, opened a trading post on the Des Moines
River, under the auspices of John Jacob Astor.

Many of the trappers and some of the soldiers intermarried with the
Indians, and in 1824 a small area in the extreme southeastern corner of
the Jowa country was turned over to the children of these men. White
settlement really began in this Half-Breed Tract. In 1820 Dr. Samuel C.
Muit, a former Army surgeon who had married an Indian girl, built his
home within the limits of the present city of Keokuk. Moses Stillwell also
came to this district and his daughter Margaret was the first white child
born in Iowa (November 22, 1829). Isaac Galland organized the first
school, which opened on October 4, 1830, in a crude log structure near
the town that now bears his name.

Noted men who crossed the Jowa country during the first decades of the
nineteenth century were George Catlin, painter and student of Indian
life; the Italian traveler, G. C. Beltrami; and John J. Audubon, the
great naturalist. Captain Stephen W. Kearny and a body of United States
dragoons crossed the region in 1820 in an attempt to establish a route
from Camp Missouri (Omaha, Nebraska) to Camp Coldwater (Fort
Snelling, Minnesota). According to Kearny, who kept a record of his
observations along the way, this was the first exploration made of this
route by white men.

Territory of Iowa

Although the Iowa country was included in the Territory of Missouri
in 1812, when Missouri was admitted to the Union in 1821 this part was
left unorganized. Hunters, traders, and trappers moved across the area at
will. Some cabins were built and trading centers established, but settlement
could not legally begin until matters were adjusted with the Indians. How-
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ever, settlement began along the Mississippi River long before the legal
entry dates. Whites rushed in to take the lead mines near the present city
of Dubuque in 1830, after warring Sioux had almost annihilated a band
of Sac and Fox who had been in possession. United States troops under
Lieutenant Jefferson Davis immediately drove the usurpers out. But set-
tlers continued to advance. Finally, a treaty with the Sac and Fox Indians
was signed in 1832 at Rock Island, Illinois, under the terms of which the
Indians ceded a part of eastern Iowa to the whites. This territory, called
the Black Hawk Purchase, became part of the public domain on June 1,
1833. Federal laws prohibited settlement in such regions, but as the Gov-
ernment was lax in enforcement, settlers began to move into the Iowa
country in large numbers. They were permitted to establish homes, and
many laid out claims and built log cabins.

A group of miners took the first step toward establishing law and order.
They met in Dubuque on June 17, 1830, for the purpose of drafting a
compact, by which they might govern themselves. Settlers upon the public
lands, too, found it necessaty to establish rules and regulations for taking
and holding claims. Claim associations were organized to limit the num-
ber of acres in any one claim and to fix the value of improvements re-
quired to make a claim valid. By this time the nuclei of future towns were
beginning to take form. Dubuque was founded in 1833, and in 1836
Antoine Le Claire and others laid out the city of Davenportt. John King
established the first newspaper, the D« Bugue Visitor, which appeared on
May 11, 1836.

Meanwhile, a legal problem arose that drew the attention of the Fed-
eral Government to the need for some kind of established control in the
new country. A group of men in Dubuque, organized as a vigilante
“court,” tried and sentenced to death Patrick O’Connor, a lead miner, for
murdering his partner. O’Connor challenged the court: “Ye have no laws
in the country and cannot try me.” The case was appealed to the Governor
of Missouri and to President Andrew Jackson, but both refused to grant
a pardon because, they said, they lacked proper authority. O’Connor was
hanged in June 1834, a month after the murder.

To remedy this embarrassing situation, the Iowa country was promptly
made a part of the Territory of Michigan (1834) and the first two coun-
ties were formed—De Moine and Du Buque. A fort, the first of three to
be named Des Moines, was established about the same time near the pres-
ent site of Montrose (abandoned in 1837). Since the land had not been
surveyed, claims officially could not be made; but the countty was now
under the jurisdiction of lawfully established courts. In June 1832, not
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more than fifty persons lived within the Iowa country, but during the next
eight years more than 43,000 settled there, most of them coming from the
eastern and southern States. Slavery was barred from the territory by the
terms of the Ordinance of 1787 and the Missouri Compromise. The census
of 1840 enumerated only 188 Negroes.

In the years 1836 and 1837 the roads following the watersheds and
Indian trails were lined with wagons from the eastern States, usually in
groups of two to five. The farmer came with his yoke of oxen, his cows,
and his pigs. Along the way wild birds and game were plentiful. Captain
Benjamin Clark, operating the first interstate ferry across the Mississippi
at Buffalo—the transriver crossing from Illinois into Iowa—was kept busy
night and day. Each family was numbered, and crossed in its turn; wagons
were driven on to a flatboat, and every able-bodied man assisted in the
rowing.

With the exception of farmers, it is said that there were more millers
and millwrights in those early years than all other tradesmen combined.
It was common for travelers to be hailed with the question, *'Is the mill
a-runnin’?” Quite often the response was, “'Crick too high,” “Crick too
low,” or “Froze up.” A variation of three feet in the water might clog the
mill wheel or leave it dry; and since it was usually a long trip to the mill,
it meant much to the farmer to know before he set out whether the mill
was operating or not.

The prairie sod was tough to break and six or seven yoke of oxen were
required to plow it. Except for a few necessities such as salt and tobacco
the pioneer was self-sufficient. He hunted and fished for food; raised his
own sheep and sheared them. His wife carded and spun the wool. She
also raised food for the household in her garden, and gathered berries,
greens, and roots in the woods and on the prairie.

In 1836 the Iowa area was included in the newly formed Territory of
Wisconsin. However, by this time the idea of the formation of a separate
Territory was growing in favor, and the name Iowa began to be associated
definitely with the region. Lieutenant Albert M. Lea, writing in 1836 of
his travels with a party of United States dragoons through the Iowa coun-
try in 1835, referred to it as the Iowa District. Previously the name Iowa
had been used for one of the local rivers; but Lea’s little book effectively
christened the territory.

In an issue of the Patriot, an early newspaper, first published in Illinois
and later at Fort Madison, James G. Edwards, the editor, wrote concerning
the creation of a new territory west of the Mississippi, “If a division of
the territory is effected, we propose that the Iowans take the cognomen of
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Hawk-eyes. Our etymology can then be more definitely traced than can
that of the Wolverines, Suckers, and Gophers, etc., and we shall rescue
from oblivion a memento, at least, of the name of the old chief.”

Madison was selected as the site of the capital of the Territory of Wis-
consin, but men from the Iowa counties prevailed upon the lawmaking
body to meet for the second session in Burlington. In 1838 a bill was in-
troduced in Congress to subdivide the Territory. Senator John C. Calhoun
of South Carolina, fearing the creation of another abolition State, opposed .
the bill, while George Wallace Jones, delegate from the Territory of Wis-
consin, lobbied in favor of the division. Finally, on June 12, 1838, the
Territory of Wisconsin was divided to create the Territory of Iowa. Laws
passed by the Territorial legislature had to be approved by Congress; and
the President of the United States appointed the principal officers, includ-
ing the Governor and the three judges of the highest court.

On August 15, 1838, Robert Lucas was welcomed as the first Governor,
The first Territorial legislature met on November 12 in a Methodist church
building in the temporary capital at Burlington. Governor Lucas believed
in his executive right “to veto what he did not like,” and tried to retain
personal control of all expenditures. The legislature, considering this atti-
tude opposed to the idea of democracy, requested President Martin Van
Buren for the “immediate and unconditional release” of Governor Lucas
because of his “unfitness and stubbornness.” The request was refused.

Government surveys were made of the new Territory; land offices were
opened; a fixed price of $1.25 an acre was set. Meeting at Burlington
from 1838 to 1841, the legislature provided for the building of roads,
protection of settlers’ claims against speculators, and the establishment of
schools. After some debate a committee appointed by the legislature se-
lected a site in Johnson County for the permanent capital, which was to
be called Towa City. The cornerstone of the Capitol was laid on July 4,
1840, but the first legislature to meet there in 1841 had to find other
quarters. The Capitol, constructed of stone quarried in the vicinity, was
first occupied in the fall of 1842.

The establishment of a capital city at this point shows the speed with
which the Iowa country was changed from a wilderness to a settled area.
In less than ten years the frontier line moved inland 8o or 9o miles from
the west bank of the Mississippi River. Fort Des Moines, the second fort
of that name, was erected at the fork of the Raccoon and Des Moines
Rivers, on the western line of settlement. (This fort was abandoned in
1846, when the Indians under its control were moved to Kansas.) Other
forts following the frontier as it moved westward were Camp Kearny
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(1838-1840), near the present site of Council Bluffs; Fort Atkinson
(1840), on the site of the Iowa town of that name; Fort Croghan (1842),
at what is now Council Bluffs; and Fort Sanford (1842), on the Des
Moines River near Ottumwa.

A notable decision was handed down by Chief Justice Charles Mason,
of the Territorial judiciary, in the case of Ralph, a Negro. Ralph had
worked in the lead mines of Dubuque for five years trying to accumulate
the price of his freedom plus the interest agreed upon with his master in
Missouri. The master, tired of waiting, attempted to force Ralph to return
to Missouri and to slavery. The Negro’s friends took the case to coutt.
The Supreme Court of the Territory, which sat on Ralph’s case in 1839,
decided that, since he was not a fugitive slave, his master could not force
him to return to Missouri. (The Kansas-Nebraska Act of 1854 and the
Dred Scott Decision of the United States Supreme Court of 1857 both
nullified this Iowa decision.)

A dispute over the Missouri boundary line occasioned the Honey Wat
in 1839. An early Government survey (1816) had fixed the Sullivan Line,
or the northern boundary of Missouri, with reference to “the rapids of
the River Des Moines.” The Iowans claimed that this clause described
the rapids of that name in the Mississippi River, just above the mouth of
the Des Moines. But in 1837, by order of the Missouri State Legislature,
a line was run westward from the rapids in the Des Moines River, just
above the present site of Keosauqua, thus reducing by some 2,000 square
miles the area that was to become Iowa Territory.

Although tempers were boiling on both sides when Missouri undertook
to extend its jurisdiction officially by collecting taxes in the disputed area,
the destruction of bee trees in 1839 was the overt act that nearly brought
about a civil war. Both Governor Robert Lucas of Iowa and Governor
L. W. Boggs of Missouri, in December 1839, authorized the calling out
of volunteer militias. The Iowa militia from Burlington, Bloomington,
Davenport, and Dubuque assembled at Farmington. The forces were still
being mustered on both sides when the Honey War came to an abrupt
close with an agreement to leave the decision to the United States Govern-
ment. (The Supreme Court decided the case in Iowa’s favor in 1851.)

Statehood

As early as 1839 Governor Lucas had proposed that steps be taken
toward statehood, but the voters were not ready. Under the Territorial
regime the United States Government paid the salaries of the majority of
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the officials, but, with statehood, responsibility for these salaries would
greatly increase taxation, a burden which the people did not wish to as-
sume. Despite the rich farm land the pioneer was not wealthy; with hard
work and few farm implements he was able to produce abundant crops,
but it was not easy to market them.

Not until 1844 did the people vote in favor of a constitutional conven-
tion. The convention, meeting at Iowa City in that year, drew up a con-
stitution, the crux of which was the settlement of the boundaries of the
proposed State. When Congress had established the Territory of Iowa
(1838) it had included all the area north of the State of Missouri, west
of the Mississippi River, and east of the Missouri. The constitution fixed
the boundaries of the new State as they are today, except for the northern
line, but Congress rejected these limits. Had Iowa accepted the suggestions
of Congress, the western boundary would have been only 40 miles west
of the city of Des Moines, and the northern boundary would have been
30 miles beyond the present Minnesota line. These changes were twice
rejected by vote of the people, who preferred to remain under Territorial
government rather than give up the Missouri River as the western boun-
dary. The present boundaries were agreed upon at a second constitutional
convention meeting in May 1846, and later were approved by Congress.
The second constitution was approved by the voters of the Territory on
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August 3, 1846, and Iowa was admitted into the Union that year, the bill
being signed on December 28 by President James K. Polk.

The debate preceding the admission of Iowa was of more than local
interest, since the extension of slavery had become a vital national ques-
tion. Florida had been earnestly seeking admission as a slave State ever
since 1838; so, when Iowa applied for admission, it was paired with Flor-
ida to maintain a balance of power between the North and the South.

The first Jowa legislatures were evenly divided between Whigs and
Democrats. In 1848 the Democrats elected the first United States Senators,
Augustus Caesar Dodge and George Wallace Jones.

Many of the provisions of the second constitution were the same as
those in the one rejected; the one important change was the prohibition
of banks of issue. The frontier needed money, and much of the paper
currency then in circulation was of doubtful value or entirely worthless.
The one legally chartered bank in the Territory, the Miners’ Bank at Du-
buque, incorporated by an act of the legislature of the original Territory
of Wisconsin, was in disrepute. Times were hard on the frontier. Corn
and oats sold for 10¢ a bushel, and wheat for 20¢. The framers of the
constitution of 1846 attributed much of this financial trouble to the “wild
cat” bank notes, and decided to authorize no such banks. Ansel Briggs,
later the State’s first Governor, expressed popular sentiment when he said,
“No banks but earth, and they well tilled.”

Farmers had already discovered that here the corn grew “taller than any
other place in the world,” and many early inland towns grew up around
mills started for the purpose of grinding the grist. Keokuk was the “gate
city,” and one of the liveliest points on the Mississippi above St. Louis,
in this hey-day of the river town. Burlington, Davenport, and Muscatine
grew rapidly. (William F. Cody, later known as “Buffalo Bill,” was born
in 1846 at Le Claire, one of the smaller river towns.) Council Bluffs, on
the Missouri River, was an outfitting point for those on their way to Cali-
fornia in 1849. Here, and at other such places, sometimes as many as a
thousand teams were gathered together at one time, preparing for the
westward trek. Returning prospectors brought a flow of gold into the
State.

Beginning in the 1840’s many Eutopeans, who had emigrated to escape
poverty, famine, religious persecution, or political oppression in their na-
tive country, were attracted by the undeveloped lands of the rich prairie.
Particularly, many Irish, Scots, Swedes, Germans, and Hollanders came.
Racial groups sometimes settled in communities; and some, like the French
Fourierites, carried away by visions of Utopia, planned socialized colonies.
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In May 1846 the United States declared war against Mexico. An out-
standing soldier from the Territory of Iowa was Lieutenant Benjamin S.
Roberts of Fort Madison, who led the advance into the capital of Mexico
and pulled down the Mexican flag. Later he was made a lieutenant colonel,
and the Iowa Legislature voted him a sword. Many Iowa counties and
cities, organized during this period, took their name from military leaders
and battlefields. Among battalions that served with distinction was one
formed by the Mormons, who had come to Iowa early in the spring of
1846.

Owing to the influx of immigrants, the population of Iowa had in-
creased to 192,214 by 1850. The pioneers joined together to establish
schools and churches, and in their farming and business activities. Annual
fairs where farmers and merchants exhibited their commodities were great
diversions. Hunting parties, sleigh rides, quilting and husking bees, church
picnics, school parties, and celebrations of all kinds expressed the co-
operative spirit and hospitality of the early pioneer.

Three of the State’s important schools had their beginnings in the dec-
ade of intense development that ended with 1850. Iowa Wesleyan College
at Mount Pleasant traces a continuous history from 1844, when the school
was incorporated under the name of Mount Pleasant Collegiate Institute.
Iowa College at Davenport, opened to students in 1848, was founded by
three pioneer settlers and the “Iowa Band,” a group of twelve young men,
graduates of Andover Theological Seminary, who had come to the West
as missionaries in 1843. The college was moved in 1859 to Grianell,
where it has continued as Grinnell College. Both town and college were
named in honor of Josiah Bushnell Grinnell, one of the founders of the
town and trustee of the college for thitty years (see TOUR 14). The State
University at Jowa City, established in 1847 by an act of the First General
Assembly, did not begin instruction until 1855. Anticipating the transfer
of the capital to a more nearly central location, the First General Assembly
turned over to the new seat of learning the old Capitol Buildirg and
grounds.

Fort Clarke, later Fort Dodge, the most northerly fort in Iowa, was
built early in the 1850’s; its abandonment in 1853 meant the passing of
the military frontier. Later when Sioux Indians massacred white settlers
around Spirit Lake in 1857, volunteer border brigades were organized;
and, after the Sioux outbreak of 1862 in Minnesota, temporary stockades
were erected. One of these, Fort Defiance, built on the site of Estherville,
was occupied by soldiers for a short time, but after this uprising the In-
dians ceased to play any important part in Iowa history.
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During the 1850’s the population more than tripled, with the westward
movement this time directed to northern Iowa. A caravan of 50 ox teams
carrying immigrants arrived in Mitchell County in 1852. In the late 1850’s
the first Czechs settled in Johnson and Linn Counties, and French Icarians
established a communistic colony in Adams County. The Danes made per-
manent settlement in Benton County in 1854. A German religious com-
munistic colony, the Amana Society, built homes on the Iowa River in
Jowa County, there establishing the village of Amana in 1855. By 1861
five more villages had been laid out within a short radius of Amana, and
the town of Homestead had been purchased.

In 1856 about 1,300 Mormons arrived in Iowa City by railroad and
camped near Coralville (just outside of the city) while arrangements for
their trip to Utah were being completed. This second hegira was called
the Handcart Expedition, for the new converts were obliged to load their
supplies on carts and pull them to the new city.

Upper Iowa University at Fayette began instruction of students in 1857,
although it did not receive its charter until 1862. People interested in the
farming possibilities of the State began to plan a school that would teach
farming scientifically, with the result that in 1858 the Iowa State College
of Agriculture and Mechanic Arts was established by law at Ames. The
school was ready for students in 1868.

The constitution of 1846 had scarcely been ratified when the people of
Iowa began to take steps toward revision of the fundamental law. As long,
however, as the Democrats controlled the General Assembly the Whigs
refused to allow revision, even though the prohibition of banks and cor-
porations brought serious problems. Many Iowa Democrats grew dissatis-
fied with their party. Because of the strong Quaker element and the New
England ancestry of many of the people, both Whigs and Democrats
joined the new Republican Party—organized in Iowa in 1856—which was
becoming an anti-slavery party. This new party elected James W. Grimes,
Governor, and immediately set about to make changes in the Jowa gov-
ernment. One of the results of the political upheaval was a new constitu-
tion for the State, ratified August 3, 1857, providing for the removal of
the seat of government from Iowa City to Des Moines, and authorizing
the incorporation of banks, including a State bank. The first Capitol Build-
ing in Des Moines was ready for occupancy in 1857..

The development of railroads began with the passing of the frontier
to the inland settlements. Ground was broken for the Mississippi and Mis-
souri Railroad at Davenport on September 1, 1853, and the first locomo-
tive in Towa was ferried across the Mississippi to Davenport in 1854. The
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Mississippi and Missouri Railroad (now the Chicago, Rock Island, and
Pacific) had completed its road to Iowa City by January 1856.

From 1850 to 1870 construction reached its height, with communities
and individuals donating land and money, and with townships, towns, and
counties levying taxes and issuing bonds for the benefit of the railroads.
An early State assembly had asked Congtess to grant land to the railroad
companies, and paid lobbyists had worked successfully to that end. Every
alternate section for six sections on each side of the proposed railroad, a
total of more than 4,000,000 actes, was granted. The railroad companies
dictated what Iowa’s future should be. Towns were platted where they
chose to plat them, and money from the sale of lots was used for building
more roads. Freight rates were set as the railroads desired and, conse-
quently, the farmer suffered. The constitution of 1857 limited the assist-
ance that any community or organization might furnish the railroads.

In the agitation for the emancipation of slaves, Iowa played an impot-
tant part. Many Quakers lived in the State, and the Underground Railroad
frequently carried an escaping Negro through the Quaker towns to free-
dom. John Brown, abolitionist, with headquarters established at Tabor and
Springdale, made Iowa the middle ground for three years for his band of
followers.

When the call for troops was issued by Abraham Lincoln in 1861, and
Governor Samuel J. Kirkwood asked that one regiment be formed in
Iowa, ten times that many men offered themselves for enlistment. The
State, in all, furnished President Lincoln with 48 regiments of infantry,
nine regiments of cavalry, and four batteries of artillery. Nearly 80,000
men were enlisted. Among the battles and campaigns in which Iowa troops
figured prominently were those of Wilson's Creek, under General Na-
thaniel Lyon; Fort Donelson, Shiloh, Vicksburg, and Chattanooga, under
General Ulysses S. Grant; and Atlanta, under General William Tecumseh
Sherman. While in 2 prison camp in Carolina, Adjutant S. H. M. Byers,
an lowan, composed the marching song, Sherman Marched Down to the
Sea. Among lowans with the rank of major general were Samuel R. Curtis,
Grenville M. Dodge, Frederick Steele, and Francis J. Herron. Mrs. Annie
Turner Wittenmyer, of Keokuk, was prominent for her work in installing
diet kitchens in the military hospitals.

During the bitter debate over reconstruction, culminating in the im-
peachment of President Andrew Johnson, Senator James W. Grimes of
Iowa, stricken with paralysis, was assisted to his feet in the Senate Cham-
ber to vote “'not guilty.” In 1868 the State Constitution of Iowa, which
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previously had granted suffrage only to white male citizens over 21, was
amended to give the Negro the franchise and the right to hold office.

After the Civil War, a period of inflated prices was followed by a panic
causing hard times and unemployment. The dissatisfaction of farmers with
existing conditions gave rise to many suggestions for change. The Patrons
of Husbandry was organized in 1868 at Newton, and for a number of
years had more than soo granges.

The North Western Railroad reached Council Bluffs in 1867 and the
Chicago, Rock Island and Pacific Railway completed a trans-State railroad
from Davenport to Council Bluffs in 1869. Later the Rock Island joined
with the Union Pacific, forming part of a continuous line from New York
to San Francisco. At the same time the Burlington Lines were laid across
the State and by 1870 the Illinois Central reached Sioux City, giving Iowa
four east and west trunk lines with a total mileage of 3,000. Des Moines,
Cedar Rapids, Fort Dodge, and Waterloo grew into active railroad centers.
Funds were appropriated for a new Capitol Building at Des Moines to
replace the old one, which had become inadequate, and the cornerstone
was laid November 22, 1871 (dedicated in 1884).

By 1870 the State’s population had risen to 1,194,020. The mining of
coal, development of factories, centralized marketing of farm products,
and widespread advertising had their beginnings in these years. Jowa al-

L]
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ready ranked high in the production of corn and hogs. The so-called
“herd law,” an act passed in 1870, represented another step forward in
agricultural development. Before this, most of the country had been un-
fenced; often the farmer’s fields were damaged or entirely destroyed by
a herd of carelessly tended cattle. By the act of 1870, owners were held
responsible for all damage done by their stock.

The depression of 1873 aroused general discontent with the economic
structure. The struggle for railroad extension merged into a conflict for
control of the companies, the farmers charging the existing management
with discrimination and extortion. In the fall of 1873 the Anti-Monopoly
Party, with a program for State control of railroads, elected 50 of the 100
representatives chosen. (At that time the Grange had 1,800 subordinate
granges and a membership of nearly 160,000.) The abundant crops and
consequent low prices of 1874 so intensified the unrest that, in the Fif-
teenth and Sixteenth General Assemblies, the Anti-Monopoly Party, backed
again by the Grange, enacted the so-called Granger Laws. Railroads were
classified according to earnings, with a detailed schedule of rates for pas-
sengers and freight; classes were also established for the various shipments.
In 1877, under pressure from the railroad companies, the Granger Laws
were repealed. A commission was appointed to act as mediator between
people and railroads, but was given little authority. Peter A. Dey, member
of the commission from 1878 to 1895, was an outstanding figure in the
development of the State’s transportation system.

Although railroad traffic was gradually supplanting river traffic, a canal
was completed in 1877, to take care of the lightering service around the
rapids of the Mississippi River north of Keokuk. Here much of the freight
had been carried over tracks.

The last settlement of any size made in Iowa by any racial group oc-
curred in the late 1870’s, with emigration from England promoted by press
agents. These English people established large farms in northwestern Iowa,
particularly around Le Mars (1876) in Plymouth County.

In 1880 the population of 1,624,615 represented a growth of almost
half a million in one decade. The Iowa Normal School, now the State
Teachers College, had been opened in 1876. Drake University was founded
in Des Moines in 1881.

The 1880’s were a stormy period in politics. Besides the railroad ques-
tion, which was still before the people, prohibition was becoming an im-
portant issue. The movement had grown gradually from the time the first
temperance society was organized in 1838 at Fort Madison. Robert Lucas,
the first Governor, had advocated temperance. A State-wide prohibitory
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law, adopted by popular vote in 1855, was amended in 1857 to provide a
license system; and a form of county local option followed in 1870. All
this culminated in a constitutional prohibitory amendment adopted in 1882
but declared invalid by the State Supreme Court in 1883. However, on
July 4, 1884, the State became dry by statutory prohibition.

In spite of the fact that the Grange had instituted a successful purchas-
ing plan for the benefit of farmers, obtained railroad regulation, and man-
aged factories for making its own machinery, the organization began to
decline after 188s5. Inner strife was responsible. When the question of
railroad regulation came up during the administration of William Larrabee
(1886-1890), and the Governor called upon the railroad companies to
revise their freight rates, he found them as defiant and arrogant as ever.
Proponents of railroad control coined the slogan, the “freight rate is the
skeleton that lurks in every farmer’s corn crib.” During this period Judge
N. M. Hubbard, representing the Chicago and North Western Railway,
became almost a legendary figure in Iowa politics, the power behind the
scenes of all political conventions. In Governor Larrabee’s administration,
the commission that had been established in 1877 was given authority
(1888) to formulate the schedule for railroad rates based on distance
traveled.

The Federal census of 1890 did not report a population growth for the
decade comparable with that of the preceding ones, but its numbering of
1,912,297 showed an increase over 188o0.

In the decade between 1880 and 1890 industry was beginning to take
a definite place in the State, and, with the advance of industrialization, the
farmer became increasingly interested in politics. There were many fol-
lowers of the Greenback Party; and, though the State had been Repub-
lican since 1856, it had registered its discontent by electing Democratic
Governor Horace Boies in 1889 and re-electing him in 1891. In 1892
General James Baird Weaver of Iowa was the People’s Party candidate for
President of the United States. In the gubernatorial campaign in 1893,
Governor Boies was defeated by the Republican, Frank D. Jackson, whose
program called for retention of the prohibition law but permitted the sale
of liquor in municipalities which met the required conditions. This led to
the adoption of the Mulct Law of 1894.

In 1893, a depression year, an army of unemployed, whose march
brought into the open the political sentiments of Iowans, started moving
across the country. Charles Kelly’s army, arriving in Omaha in April 1894
on a Union Pacific train it had seized, was hustled across the Missouri
River into Iowa. Worried by the presence of this formidable army, State
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officials persuaded Governor Jackson to call out the National Guard to
stop an invasion of Iowa and to protect railroad property. Three hundred
soldiers assembled at Council Bluffs. Kelly, an experienced soldier in the
Salvation Army, ordered his men to their knees. Singing gospel hymns
and waving flags, Kelly’s marching army was cheered across the State of
Iowa—the railroad companies refused transportation—and Jackson’s army
was jeered until the Governor withdrew the troops. General Weaver and
the People’s Party Political Club welcomed the men in Des Moines.

In the free-silver campaign of 1896, William Jennings Bryan came to
Des Moines, and crowds of his supporters milled about the building of
the old State Register (which adhered to the gold standard) shouting,
“Down with the Register.” Later, when William McKinley came to Des
Moines as a Presidential candidate upholding the gold standard, the cries
changed to “Gold! Gold! Gold!” The sentiment in Iowa was strong for
annexation of the Philippine Islands, and McKinley is said to have based
his campaign in this State on that sentiment.

In the war with Spain in 1898, Iowa furnished four regiments of in-
fantry, two batteries of artillery, a signal unit, and one company of Negro
soldiers.

The period from 1900 (when the population had grown to 2,231,853)
to the World War in 1914 was one of increased general prosperity in
Iowa. Six great crops—corn, wheat, barley, hay, oats, potatoes—brought
top prices in the markets. Bank statements indicated the wealth of many
citizens. Good roads and the introduction of the automobile added strength
to ‘he back-to-the-farm movement which offset, in part, the migration of
Iowans to California and the Northwest.

In the first decade of the twentieth century the idea of the Farm Bureau
Federation began to grow. District agents were appointed by the Govern-
ment in 1900 to teach farmers by actual demonstration how to farm with
profit and success. The first farm bureau was organized in Black Hawk
County at Cedar Falls in September 1912, and a State federation was
organized in 1918 at Marshalltown. About the same time, a group of
farmers organized a branch of the Farmers’ Union in Monona County
(1915), which received a State charter in 1917. The purpose of the union
was to discourage the credit and mortgage system, to develop co-operative
buying and selling among farmers, and to secure cost of production plus
a reasonable profit, eliminating at the same time speculation in farm
products.

The word “‘male” is still in the section of the State constitution relating
to suffrage but is nullified by the Nineteenth Amendment to the Consti-
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tution of the United States. A proposed amendment to the constitution
granting women the right to vote was defeated in 1916, but the Federal
suffrage amendment was ratified by the Iowa General Assembly in 1919
and went into effect in 1920. This, however, did not give women the right
to seats in the General Assembly, and a special amendment (1926) to the
State constitution was required to admit women to the legislature.

In 1915 lowa without benefit of woman suffrage, but probably largely
through the influence of women, returned to State-wide prohibition, and
in 1919 ratified the Eighteenth Amendment to the Federal Constitution.
By amendment to the State law in 1933 sale of malt beverages with not
more than 3.2 percent alcoholic content was permitted; and, in the same
year, a popularly elected convention ratified the repeal of the Eighteenth
Amendment to the Federal Constitution. Provision was made in 1934 for
State-owned liquor stores,under a State Liquor Control Commission.

During the World War Iowa contributed 113,000 men to the Army,
Navy, and Marine Corps. The third fort in Iowa to be named Fort Des
Moines (established just outside that city in 1901) was used for a time as
a training camp for Negro reserve officers. Camp Dodge, a cantonment of
nearly 2,000 buildings, was erected also near Des Moines. The Third ITowa
National Guard Regiment, part of the Rainbow Division (42nd), reached
France in December 1917, and served until the Armistice. One of the first
three Americans to die in the war was Private Merle Hay of Glidden. In
all, there were more than 2,000 casualities among Iowa soldiers and sailors.

During the World War period, and the years immediately following,
land in Towa sold at boom prices. As eartly as 1920, however, farms were
mortgaged heavily, and the land itself was being worked by an increasingly
large percentage of tenants rather than by independent farmers. From 1920
on, farm debts increased as farm assets declined. By the time the depres-
sion was acknowledged formally in 1929, a rapidly increasing number of
farmers were losing their land through mortgage foreclosures. In the na-
tional election of 1932, conditions had grown so bad that Iowa, although
Republican since 1856 except for a short interlude, swung over to the
Democrats.

The Farm Holiday Association, a militant group of farmers drawing
its main strength from the Farmers’ Union, was organized in 193I.
Loosely organized and without any set program, its main purpose was to
prevent farm foreclosures and to fight against prevailing low prices. At the
first meeting, in May 1932, the members decided to inaugurate a Farm
Holiday; they would buy nothing and sell nothing. To save the farms for
impoverished owners, the association members used persuasion, and at
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times intimidation, against “outsiders” present at the foreclosure sales as
prospective bidders. The “penny sale” became well known in this period.
Mortgaged personal property was bought up at the auctions for several
dollars, sometimes for less than a dollar, and turned back, free of burden,
to the farmers who had just lost it. By 1933 the association was or-
ganizing picket lines and strikes, while clashes with the local officials
were common.

Out of this and similar movements elsewhere came a focusing of State
and national attention on the needs of the farmers. State moratorium acts
were passed, but two years of drought (1934 and 1936) produced the
most serious crop shortage on record in the southern and western coun-
ties, and left the farmer still in a precarious position. Farm mortgages con-
tinued to be foreclosed, until more than half of the farm land was oper-
ated by tenant farmers. Land that had once been homesteaded, or tilled
by farmers who owned their own land, was turned over to absentee owners.
Although the problem of farm tenancy remained, Federal subsidies and
loans gave the farmers as a group a breathing spell, and saved them from
immediate economic ruin. In 1936, when farms were being operated again
without loss, farmers began to recognize the need of having a solution to
their problems come through action of their own groups. The Farm Holi-
day Association was no longer a factor, having been largely absorbed by
the Farmers’ Union. A number of farmers’ co-operatives on a State-wide
scale developed, particularly in northwest Iowa. The movement is gaining
strength as the farmer finds it more and more difficult to survive on the
old independent basis as an owner of land.

The future development of Iowa will be influenced inevitably by this
realization on the part of the farmers of their own particular problems,
but as related to national and world affairs. It is probable that the opinion
of the farmer will be, as it has been, a dominant factor in the history of
a State primarily agricultural.

Government

In the present system of government under the constitution of 1857,
as in that of the National Government, there are three branches—the
executive, the legislative, and the judicial. Legislative power is vested in the
General Assembly, composed of a senate and a house of representatives,
which meets regularly once in two years at the seat of government, on the
second Monday of January of each odd-numbered year. The executive de-
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partment, with its supreme power vested in the Governor, is charged with
the enforcement of all laws enacted by the General Assembly. The Su-
preme Court is the “cap sheaf of the judiciary.” Beneath it are district
courts, and inferior courts provided for by the General Assembly.

The Governor, whose term of office is for two years, conducts all offi-
cial business, makes recommendations to the General Assembly, and has
the power of veto over legislation. He is authorized to appoint the mem-
bers of most of the many boards and commissions, and to grant reprieves
or pardons for all offenses except treason and impeachment. In cases of
necessity, he may convene the General Assembly by proclamation before
the regular time of meeting. The Governor is commander-in-chief of the
military forces of the State.

Other elected executive officers are: Lieutenant Governor, Secretary of
State, Auditor of State, Treasurer of State, Attorney General, Secretary
of Agriculture, all having two-year terms; and a Superintendent of Pub-
lic Instruction, who has a four-year term. In the event of the death, resig-
nation, or disability of the Governor, he is succeeded by the Lieutenant
Governor.

The commerce commission, consisting of three members, is elected, but
the Governor appoints the members of the other commissions and boards.
Among them are the board of control of State institutions, the board of
assessment and review, the board of parole, the board of education, the
conservation commission, the board of social welfare, the unemployment
compensation commission, and the highway commission. Among other
officers appointed by the Governor are the comptroller, the superintendent
of the department of banking, the adjutant general, the commissioner of
insurance, the commissioner of public health, the commissioner of labor,
the industrial commissioner, and the fire marshal.

General Assemblies are designated by number, the one meeting in 1937
having been the Forty-seventh. The senate has 5o members, elected for
four-year terms. The Lieutenant. Governor is the presiding officer of the
senate, but the speaker of the house is elected by the representatives. The
assembly passes all laws, creates all commissions, and can pass legislation
over the Governor’s veto by a two-thirds vote.

The Supreme Court has “appellate jurisdiction over all judgments and
decisions of all courts of record, except as otherwise provided by law.”
The nine judges, elected by the people, serve for six years, three being
elected every two years. The position of chief justice passes from judge to
judge, each one holding the position in turn for six months. The oldest
in term of service is the first chief justice. Presiding over the 21 judicial
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districts in the State are 70 judges, each selected for four years. Each dis-
trict has from two to six judges, the number being determined by statute.
Below these courts are the municipal, superior, police, and mayors’ coutrts
(in municipalities without special courts).

Important in the history of the Iowa Supreme Court are the names of
George G. Wright (1855-1870), John F. Dillon (1864-1870), Horace
E. Deemer (1894-1917), and C. C. Cole. Judge Dillon won recognition
when he upheld the right of the State to regulate railroads.

One of the important governmental powers is that of taxation. The
system includes property, sales, income, and corporation taxes. In addition
to these, inheritance, license, gasoline, motor vehicle, cigarette, beer, and
chain store taxes provide a considerable portion of the total tax revenue.
Homesteads are exempt from taxation up to a valuation of $2,500. Special
privilege licenses, such as for hunting and fishing, add to the maintenance
of their respective departments.

The county, divided into several townships, is the State’s unit of local
government. Each of the 99 counties has its own administrative set-up,
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including a board of supervisors which decides most of the policies of
county administration. Other officials who aid in carrying on the county
government are the auditor, the clerk of court, the treasurer, the recorder,
the sheriff, the coroner, the attorney, and, in some counties, the engineer.
The county superintendent of schools is elected for three years at a con-
vention of the presidents of school boards throughout the county. The
civil township—so important in the New England district from which so
many of Iowa’s first residents came—is not important here. Assessors are
the only important township officers; in many cases, trustees or justices of
the peace are not even elected. -

Each city and town provides itself with one of three types of govern-
ment: commission, manager, or mayor-council form. Unless the city votes
for either of the other two, the mayor-council type is provided. There are
four special-charter cities—Muscatine, Camanche, Wapello, and Daven-
port—whose government dates back to pioneer days, when the form of
government was granted either by the Territorial legislature or the Gen-
eral Assembly of the State. The constitution of 1857 prohibits the granting
of special charters, but these four are still held legal.

Any citizen of the United States, 21 years old or more, who has lived
in Towa six months and in the county Go days, is entitled to vote. A for-
eigner must complete the process of naturalization before he may vote at
any election.

Many native Iowans, from early pioneer days to the present, have been
outstanding in the National Government. Notable contemporaries are
Henry A. Wallace, Secretary of Agriculture; Harry L. Hopkins, Works
Progress Administrator; and Herbert Hoover, Secretary of Commerce
1921—29, and President of the United States 1929-33.

Among those who have held Cabinet offices are Secretary of the Treas-
ury Leslie M. Shaw, appointed February 1, 1902; Secretaries of War
William W. Belknap, appointed October 25, 1869; George W. McCrary,
March 12, 1877, and James W. Good, Match 4, 1929; Postmaster Gen-
eral Frank Hatton, appointed October 14, 1884 ; Secretaries of the Interior
James Harlan, appointed May 15, 1865, and Samuel J. Kitkwood (Iowa’s
|+ Civil War Governor), March 5, 1881; and Secretaries of Agriculture
James (“Tama Jim”) Wilson, appointed March 5, 1897, who served
under three Presidents up to 1913, Edwin T. Meredith, February 1, 1920,
Henry C. Wallace, March 4, 1921, and Henry A. Wallace, March 4, 1933.
The brothers Ray Lyman Wilbur and Curtis Dwight Wilbur, who served
respectively as Secretary of the Interior and Secretary of the Navy, are
native Iowans.
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In the United States Senate, William B. Allison represented his State
from 1873 to 1908, Jonathan P. Dolliver from 1900 to 1910, Albert B.
Cummins from 1908 to 1926, and William S. Kenyon from 1911 to 1922.
Samuel Freeman Miller was Associate Justice of the United States Su-
preme Court from 1862 to 1890. David Brenner Henderson, elected
Speaker of the House of Representatives in 1899, and William Peters
Hepburn, United States Representative for more than twenty years, were
prominent in national affairs. Born in Scotland, Henderson served Iowa
for many years in military and governmental posts. John Adams Kasson
(1822-1910), active in the Post Office Department and in diplomacy, was
born in Vermont but became an active force in the growth of the Repub-
lican Party in Iowa. George Windle Read, formerly Major General,
United States Army, an officer of distinction, was born in Indianola, Iowa.
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Agriculture and
Farm Life

GRICULTURE and the activities related to it make up Iowa’s basic
A industry. The population of 31 of the 99 counties is entirely rural
and in only 14 counties do the urban groups (people living in cities of
over 2,500 population) exceed the rural. The reports of the State Comp-
troller’s office term all counties but three “agricultural.” With the largest
proportion of arable land of all States, the number of farms is estimated at
221,986 with a combined acreage of 34,359,000 actes (1935). Farm land
may be roughly divided, according to types of farming, into the cash grain
area, the dairy area, the western and eastern meat-producing atea, and the
southern pasture area. Farming produces from one fourth to one third of
the State’s total income, and an average of 6.9 percent of the entire coun-
try’s gross farm income; it employs more than one third of the State’s
gainful workers. These figures, taken in part from Agricultural Statistics,
1937 (U. S. Department of Agriculture) and from lowa Income: 1909—
1934 (University of Iowa), give some indication of the place of farming
in the general economy of the State.

Everywhere the land is tillable and, even in the coal county where it is
underlaid with mines, the same crops are raised as elsewhere in the State.
The panorama is of corn, growing in great square and rectangular fields,
of grain ripening in the prairie winds; of grazing cattle, red barns, tall
silos, white farmhouses; and of towns bordering the highway at regular
intervals and dominated by grain elevators and church spires. The bird’s-
eye view shows a land of independent farmers of rich soil, and prosperity.
Closer examination, however, reveals another aspect.

The Report of the President’s Committee on Farm Tenancy, prepared
under the auspices of the National Resources Board, found that the per-
centage of farms occupied by tenants has risen throughout the country
from 25 percent in 1880 to 42 percent in 1935. In Iowa tenancy has
risen steadily from 23.8 percent in 1880 to 49.6 percent in 1935. The
percentage of land under lease to “cash renters” has also increased in
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Towa, and farm owners are overburdened with heavy mortgages. Stated in
other terms, 71 percent of the value of Iowa farm real estate did not belong
to the immediate farm operator in 1930, as compared to 58 percent for the
entire United States. Insecure tenure, whether of tenant or owner, is good
neither for the farmer nor for the land. The insecure family moves fre-
quently, the children suffer from lack of continuity in their schooling, and
the family is deprived of normal social contacts. The land also suffers.
The farmer is forced to engage in enterprises he can get into quickly
and get out of quickly. This means that too high a percentage of land is
used for cash crops such as corn and wheat, which take the most fertility
out of the soil and are the most likely to cause erosion. A direct relation
exists between length of farm occupancy and the amount of erosion.

February is moving time for the tenant farmers who must be ready for
spring planting on their new farms by March. Trucks and wagons
crowded with furniture rumble over the frozen roads and tired herds of
cattle and sheep trudge in their wake. Load after load jolt past the farm
houses, stretching out like a gypsy caravan going on to camp elsewhere
for a brief time . . . hoping that the new farm will be a little better than
the last one. Here is a tragic epitome of the problem of farm tenancy
which is increasing so rapidly that there is real cause for alarm.

Tenancy and other forms of insecure tenure have many causes, a power-
ful one being that the market value of farm land has usually been higher
than was warranted by returns to be had from that land. Prices for farm
products went down in the 1920’s and early 1930’s, while interest rates,
the price of farm equipment and land, and general living expenses re-
mained high. The Iowa farmer, usually a peaceable person taking the mid-
dle way between conservatism and radicalism, was caught in a vise. The
situation demanded drastic readjustments and in some cases called out his
latent individualistic tendencies. National attention was focused on the
State and the farmer’s economic difficulties in the so-called Tipton Cattle
War of 1931, when the State militia had to be called out to quell a riot
of farmers opposing the State law on the testing of cattle for tuberculosis
and the killing of infected stock. Of wider significance were the activities
of the Farm Holiday Association with its “penny sales” (see HISTORY)
and the milk strike of 1933 outside of Sioux City.

The plight of farmers in the country at large forced action on a national
scale in 1933. The Agricultural Adjustment Administration aimed first to
increase and stabilize farm income and later to conserve the soil; the Farm
Credit Administration sought to increase security of ownership; and the
Resettlement Administration (now the Farm Security Administration of



the Department of Agriculture) attacked the problem of special distress
brought on by the drought years 1934 and 1936. Crop prices, soil con-
servation, and insecure land tenure are interrelated and are now being
dealt with as a whole.

Several projects were begun in 1936 in which the AAA is co-operating
with State experiment stations, the United States Bureau of Agricultural
Economics, and the Farm Security Administration. The Iowa project,
carried on in co-operation with the State Agricultural Conservation Com-
mittee and 28 county agricultural conservation committees, has already
borne fruit in a number of concrete suggestions for increasing security of
farm tenure. The bulletin Farm Tenure in lowa, published by the Iowa
State College of Agriculture, summarizes the findings of the study and
includes data on the cost of a shifting tenantry—the wear and tear on ma-
chinery and household equipment, losses of feed and livestock, deteriora-
tion of land and improvements, community stagnation in economic, social,
and cultural developments; it also includes data on the causes of frequent
moving; types of leases that handicap the tenant in conserving the soil;
and suggestions for changes in leasing arrangements looking towards recti-
fying these adverse conditions.
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The modern Iowa farmer is more than a simple tiller of the soil. Under
proper conditions, he is also a business man and a student of the science
of farming. Nearly every farmhouse has a radio. It is one of the farmer’s
most valued allies, bringing him daily reports on markets, not only
throughout the State, but from the important shipping centers of Kansas
City, St. Louis, and Chicago. The conception of a “hay-seed” is being re-
placed by a truer picture—that of a progressive, business-like producer
who sells almost 9o percent of his product and studies politics, weather
reports, improved methods of production and marketing, crop control and
soil conservation.

An integrated structure has been built to aid him and further his inter-
ests. The Iowa State Department of Agriculture and the office of secretary
of agriculture were created by the Fortieth General Assembly in 1923. The
work of the department is subdivided as follows: the animal industry divi-
sion, which is responsible for the control of diseases of livestock, super-
vises the movement of livestock, and enforces laws in the field; the dairy
and food division, which enforces laws dealing with sanitation, labeling,
weights, and measures in connection with foods and their commercial
usages; the State chemist, who makes laboratory tests of samples; the
State entomologist, who is in charge of the inspection of nursery stock, the
issuing of quarantine regulations, and the general control of crop pests;
the weather and crop bureau, which collaborates with the Federal Govern-
ment in gathering and disseminating information about livestock, ctop,
and weather conditions; and miscellaneous divisions ditectly under the
assistant secretary of agriculture, who supervises the agricultural warehouse
section, stallion registration, farmers’ institutes, short courses of instruc-
tion, and poultry shows. Five associations are affiliated with the department
—the State Dairy Association, Horticultural Society, Horse and Mule
Breeders’ Association, Beef Producers’ Association, and Corn and Small
Grain Growers’ Association.

Closely co-operating with the State departments of education and agri-
culture is the State College of Agriculture and Mechanic Arts at Ames.
The extension service at the college works with the United States Depart-
ment of Agriculture, from which it receives part of its financial support.
The information and other benefits provided by the experiment station,
also connected with the college, are available to all. The research projects
reported for the year ending June 30, 1936, included work in such major
fields as: agricultural economics, agricultural engineering, animal hus-
bandry, animal breeding, animal production, dairy husbandry, meats and
poultry husbandry, bacteriology, botany and plant pathology, chemistry
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(animal chemistry and nutrition, and plant chemistry), dairy industry
entomology, forestry, farm crops and soils, genetics, and horticulture.

There is a county farm bureau in every county in the State. Organized
in 1918, the membership of the State Farm Bureau Federation in 1938 was
estimated at 50,000 families, each one of which pays $10 in annual dues.
The 4-H Clubs for boys and gitls, associated with the farm bureaus, carry
on educational work. County extension agents, employed by the county
farm bureau groups with salaries set by them, direct the work of extending
agricultural information. The United States Department of Agriculture
and the extension service add contributions to the county appropriations
and the farm bureau funds for this purpose. A close-knit organization has
been developed, starting with the county agents, and widening out through
the farm bureau groups, the State extension service, the college at Ames,
to the United States Department of Agriculture. Some opposition to this
benevolent hierarchy has found expression in the Farmer’s Union (Farmers’
Educational and Cooperative Union) and the Farm Holiday Association, -
the most important independent farm organizations in Iowa.



AGRICULTURE 71

For more than a quarter of a century the agricultural publishing center
of the United States has been in Des Moines. The names of Henry Wal-
lace, Dante Pierce, and Edwin T. Meredith have been household words,
and whatever they said has been accepted as farm gospel. They wrote with
vision and courage, and discussed crop rotation, seed selection, better farm-
ing methods, and everything bearing on farming in their papers, The
lowa Homestead, Wallace’s Farmer, and Successful Farming. Meredith
was appointed United States Secretary of Agriculture, February 1, 1920.
Wallace was the father of one Secretary and the grandfather of another—
Henry C. Wallace, appointed in 1921, and Henry A. Wallace, 1933. An-
other Secretary of Agriculture from Iowa was James (*“Tama Jim”) Wil-
son, who was appointed March s, 1897, and served under three Presidents.

Every winter a State agricultural convention is held at the Capitol
Building to make arrangements for the annual State Fair. This fair, which
is held each August at Des Moines, is conducted by a State fair board, a
separate and distinct department of the government. The livestock shows,
the 4-H Club exhibits by the farm youths, the agricultural displays, and the
educational features make this an outstanding event and the climax of the
agricultural year. The farmer brings his entire family, and a tent city
springs up within the fairgrounds as if by magic. The entertainment fur-
nished by concessionaires on the midway is rivaled by the display of hogs,
corn and grain, horses, cows, and cackling chickens on display in the ex-
hibition buildings. There are also 78 annual county fairs.

Principal Crops

When Iowa was first settled wheat was the most widely grown grain in
the United States, so the pioneers naturally turned to growing of this
crop. As the wheat belt moved westward, Iowa took her place among the
leading wheat-producing States, and raised enough wheat by 1870 to stand
second in rank. But the wheat belt moved still farther to the west, and by
1879 Iowa had fallen to sixth place. Today a comparatively unimportant
winter wheat region lies in the southern half of the State and in the
counties bordering on the Missouri and Mississippi Rivers, and there is
a spring wheat region in the central-western and central-eastern sections.
In 1937 Jowa produced 15,976,000 bushels of wheat.

Corn grew prolifically in the rich soil and, with the passing of the
wheat belt to the more sparsely settled areas, Jowans turned toward the
growing of this crop which fitted well into their system of crop rotation
and intensified farming.
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The Indian had every basic variety of corn grown today and a number
no longer in production; through selective breeding, the white man has
improved on these and developed mixed varieties. Most of the present
Iowa corn (503,505,000 bushels produced in 1937) is derived from seed
that came from the East from 1840 to 1910. The oldest vatiety originated
in a cross made accidentally in 1847 in Tazewell County, Illinois, by Rob-
ert Reid. Reid had planted a crop of late-maturing, large-eared corn, which
was probably of the shoe-peg variety. When this seed failed to produce a
good stand, he replanted his field with an early small yellow flint corn.
The resulting cross gave a great diversity of type, and Reid (and after him
his son, James L. Reid) took care to pick out ears almost as large as the
shoe-peg variety, but with smoother kernels, larger germs, and a greater
proportion of starch. Most of the selection was done in the years between
1870 and 1890, but Reid’s greatest triumph came in 1893 when he won a
prize at the Chicago World’s Fair. By that time the Reid Yellow Dent
corn was being grown extensively by Iowa farmers. Today it is produced
in larger quantities than all other varieties together. The most popular
white corn, grown on a large scale in the northern part of the State, is the
Silver King variety. For this, and for a yellow strain called Pride of the
North, credit is given to J. Goddard of Fort Atkinson, who worked more
than 30 years to find high-yielding, early corn, both white and yellow.

What may be described as “‘corn consciousness” overtook the farmers of
the State from 1893 to 1910, when shows were held at various places,
establishing the standards by which Iowa corn was judged. After the
World War, the influence of these shows declined. By 1920, H. D.
Hughes, professor at Iowa State College, had introduced the Iowa corn
yield test—the first scientific approach to the problem of corn selection.
Since 1925, a cross-fertilized variety known as hybrid corn, involving one
or more inbred lines, has produced a large yield. Henry A. Wallace and
Simon Casady of Des Moines, in 1922, were the first men to develop it.
They had a contract with a seed company to produce one acre, but the
inbreds were used unsuccessfully. After a few trials a successful hybrid
corn technique was developed. The State agricultural experiment station
at Ames has been growing it on an extensive scale, and in 1937 there was
enough hybrid corn to plant 13 percent of the entire corn acreage.

Next to corn, oats is the most important grain both in acreage and in
total value. As with corn, the farmer learned early in Iowa history that
the growing of oats fitted well into his plan of crop rotation. A significant
relation exists between corn acreage and the relative yield of oats. Where
oats cannot be raised profitably, corn is given a larger place than in sec-
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tions in which the relatively high oat yields make this crop faitly profit-
able. The greatest production is found in the northern area; throughout
the northwestern region the percentage of land in oats nearly reaches the
percentage of land in corn. The average yearly total oats production in
bushels from 1924 to 1933 was 208,467,000, with an estimated value of
$65,805,000. The 1937 production was 258,975,000 bushels. Oats are not
so important a cash crop as corn or wheat. Included in the corn-belt
agricultural region because of their value as a crop intermediate between
corn and grass, oats are used as a feed grain for farm animals—horses,
dairy cows, and young stock. The balanced nutritive value of oats for
building animal bone and muscle is not equalled by that of any other
grain. However, not all the oats grown are fed to animals. The largest
cereal factory in the world, at Cedar Rapids, uses much of Iowa’s oat crop.

Legumes play a vital part in agriculture, for not only are they necessary
for feeding livestock, but they are also valuable as fertilizer. The chat-
acteristics of legumes are varied, individual kinds serving different require-
ments. Many years are needed, sometimes a century, to acclimate a crop to a
different farm area. The early farmer had to be his own seedsman as well
as his own experiment station. The State agricultural experiment station,
when it came into existence, found that imported clover lacked winter
hardiness if a stand were secured the first year; the plant was likely to be
entirely dead the next spring. To mark the distinction between foreign and
native seed the State law required that all imported seed be stained so that
it could be identified by dealer and farmer. Red clover is the only legume
field crop grown here since agriculture began, and it is still one of the most
popular of the hay crops. Because red clover seed was high-priced, many
farmers were forced to adopt substitutes, such as timothy, for which Iowa
is today the world center. Though not a legume, timothy assists in retain-
ing soil fertility.

Sweet clover, once regarded as a weed, is now recognized as one of the
most valuable of legumes. An Iowan, to whom goes most of the credit for
the growth of interest in sweet clover, is Frank Coverdale, who first turned
his attention to this particular crop in 1900 when he began using it for
bee pasture. He discovered that it had other good qualities, such as improv-
ing the soil, and that it was valuable as a hay crop. Despite Coverdale’s
work with sweet clover, it would never have attained its present popularity
had not the State agricultural experiment station perfected the huller and
scarifier, which scratches the hard seed coats of sweet clover, making it
possible for the seed to absorb moisture and germinate quickly.

Two other legumes—alfalfa and the soybean—have come into use
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within the last 25 years. In 1910 alfalfa was grown on less than 25,000
acres, practically all of which were in the southwestern part of the State.
Today the production is approximately 400,000 acres a year. Since the
drought of 1934 more farmers have begun to raise alfalfa, having learned
that it is a drought-resisting legume. But alfalfa often receives set-backs
due to excessive winter kill. Both alfalfa and sweet clover require soils that
are either naturally sweet or mixed with lime. In the southern half of the
State where the soil is especially acid, alfalfa and sweet clover do not
thrive, and here the soybean has proved a valuable légume. Soybeans can
be seeded at any time throughout a period of several weeks, with the prac-
tical assurance of a return before frost of from one to two-and-a-half tons
of hay per acre. In 1937, there were 762,000 acres of Iowa land planted
with this crop. In addition to the hay there is a valuable by-product in the
form of soybean oil, which is extracted at several mills in Iowa.

Besides the leading crops of corn and oats, many smaller crops are
raised, of local rather than State-wide importance. The potato crop is not
outstanding except in a few counties which grow more than enough for
their home use. Near St. Ansgar and Davenport are centers for the raising
of onions. Muscatine is famous for its production of melons, and northern
Iowa raises many sugar beets. A national center for popcorn is at Odebodt.
Fruit growing has been successfully developed in many parts because the
soil and climate are adapted to orchard trees and small fruit bushes. Ap-
ples are grown mostly for home use but there are a few commercial
regions, particularly in the southwestern section. Near Council Bluffs
grapes are grown. Pears, plums, and cherries thrive anywhere in the region,
but are grown only for local and home consumption; peaches are grown
successfully in the southern half of the State.

Not only in corn and oats does Iowa take the lead, but also in the pro-
duction of hogs, fattened almost exclusively on Iowa corn. The first hogs
were of the “razorback” type but, when the Iowa country began to be de-
veloped, new breeds of hogs were brought in and the original “razorback”
type disappeared. The newer types were fineboned and easily fattened
varieties. The first highly developed type introduced was the Chester
White, followed later by the Poland China and Duroc Jersey types. From
the 1850’s to the present, hogs have been the major source of income. It is
said that during the depression of 1857 and after, pigs saved the State
from bankruptcy and enabled the farmers to pay their taxes. They are still
the chief market for Iowa corn, and farm income goes up or down with
the quotations on hogs in Chicago. The total number of hogs on Iowa
farms, January 1, 1937, was 6,525,000. In early days corn was cheap and
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lard was high; consequently hogs were fed to weights ranging from
300 to 600 pounds. Today they are marketed at seven or eight months at
a weight around 200 to 220 pounds. They are kept on pasture for a long
time so that they will yield less lard and more meat. The hogs are vac-
cinated against disease, and are fed a variety of supplementary protein
feeds in addition to corn and minerals.

As in the case of other livestock, the pioneer farmer did not concern
himself with good breeds of cattle. A cow was a cow and purebred ones
brought no more on the market than the others. Because Shorthorns were
both good beef and good milking cattle they were popular. Later such
breeds as Brown Swiss and Jersey were brought in. In 1936 more than
three-fifths of Iowa’s dairy cattle were Holsteins. On January 1, 1937,
there were 4,335,000 head of cattle on Iowa farms. In the northeastern
quarter, in the dairy area, much of the State’s output of creamery butter
(218,821,673 pounds in 1935, second only to Minnesota) is produced.

Ranking first of all States in the production of horses—there were
867,000 on Iowa farms on January 1, 1937—Iowa has been concerned
with the breeding of good horses. Many noted sires of the leading draft
breeds in the country came from Iowa farms, for the State ranks high in
the percentage of purebred stallions. The tendency is to breed for the
larger type horse. Almost every town in the State has a good-sized sales
ring which does brisk business, and the annual show of Belgian horses at
Waterloo is a fair of worldwide importance. The State also produces many
sheep and mules. On January 1, 1937, there were on the farms an esti-
mated 1,576,000 sheep and approximately 67,000 mules.

In the year 1936 there were 184,500,000 pounds of poultry produced
from Jowa farms. Hatcheries for the production of baby chicks account
for an increasingly large part of the poultry industry in the last ten yeats.
The farm wife who used to set her hens now drives to town in her auto-
mobile and brings home the little chicks ready for feeding. The raising of
turkeys has become 2 specialized industry, centralized on a few farms. Ap-
proximately 1,500,000 turkeys were produced in 1937.

A great amount of Iowa’s foodstuffs finds easy access to outside markets
at Omaha, St. Louis, St. Joseph, and Chicago. Within the State, the live-
stock market at Sioux City is one of the 12 in the country officially rec-
ognized by the United States Department of Agriculture. State industry
also makes use of Iowa agricultural products. Not only are hogs slaugh-
tered and processed, but dairying, cereal processing, canning, and refining
industries furnish an active home market.
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Racial Elements and

Folkways

OWA'’S population (estimated at 2,534,000 in 1935) is a blending of
many elements, American and European. The first settlers were from
the States to the East, as far away as New England, and to a lesser degree
from the South. Thousands of Europeans forced to emigrate because of
political unrest and hard times, were drawn to the Midwest by persuasive
advertising.

The Irish who were among the first to arrive, driven from home by the
famines of the 1840’s, have settled mainly in the larger towns. Scotch
immigrants spread throughout the Territory, but moved in large numbers
to the mining towns when coal was opened up in southern Iowa. Nor-
wegians first settled at Sugar Creek, Lee County, in 1840. The colony did
not thrive, chiefly because the Norwegians were not adapted to the warm
climate at the southernmost end of the State. A colony of American
Fourierites, French in origin, also made an unsuccessful attempt at settle-
ment on 320 acres of land near the present site of Oskaloosa in Mahaska
County in 1843. Both Norwegian and French elements took root, how-
ever, in the late 1850’s. Scandinavians—Norwegians and Swedes—settled
in the western and central parts of the State, and in Jefferson County; a
French group, called Icarians, came from Nauvoo, Illinois, and established
the community of Icaria in Adams County. A large host of Mormons had
come from Nauvoo ten years eatlier, in 1846, seeking new homes. Driven
first from Missouri to Nauvoo and later to Salt Lake by the antagonism
of their neighbors, they established camps in the southern part of the Ter-
ritory. The most important of these was Kanesville, on the Missouri River,
now Counci! Bluffs.

German immigrants arrived in great numbers after the European revo-
lutions of 1848 and settled chiefly along the Mississippi River. A German
religious communal group, the Amana Society, set up homes in lowa
County along the Iowa River, and founded the village of Amana in 1855.
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Immigrants from other European countries found hospitable welcome,
spreading from county to county and adapting the customs of their native
lands to meet conditions in their new home. Hollanders, led by their
minister Henry P. Scholte, took root in Marion County and founded the
town of Pella in 1847. Hungarians, who like the Germans fled from the
European revolutions of 1848, attempted unsuccessfully to found a co-
operative colony called New Buda in Decatur County in 1850. Many Jews
had reached Iowa as early as 1840 and established themselves in commer-
cial and professional fields. German Jews outnumbered those from all
other countries in the early days but by 1936 most of the State’s twenty
thousand or so Jewish families were Russian and Polish. They, too, have
gained leading places in business and the professions. The greatest con-
<entration of Jewish population is in Des Moines.

In 1854 a small party of Danes made permanent settlement near Lu-
«erne and later at Elkhorn. The Czechs came to Johnson and Linn Coun-
ties at about the same time and founded Spillville, in Winneshiek County.
Forty years later Anton Dvofak, the composer, spent a summer in Spill-
ville and no doubt found material here for his Symphony from a New
World.

The peak of immigration was reached by 1890 and declined steadily
thereafter. According to the United States census figures of 1930, only
six percent of the total population of the State is now foreign-born. Of
this, the largest number—s3,901—is German. The Scandinavian coun-
tries and Denmark come next, though with much smaller numbers: 16,810
Swedes, 14,608 Danes, and 12,932 Norwegians. Iowa’s foreign-born
groups also include Hollanders, English, Czechs, Irish, Canadians, Rus-
sians, and Italians—their numbers descending in the order named from
10,135 Hollanders to 3,834 Italians. More than a dozen other countries
are listed in the census as the birthplaces of foreign-born Iowans. Ap-
proximately a third of the foreign-born population lives in the larger cities
and groups of from five to ten thousand are concentrated in each of the
three cities—Des Moines, Davenport, and Sioux City.

In general, racial lines are tending to grow less distinct as the popula-
tion merges into a unified whole. Enriching the culture of Iowa, many
groups have retained their identity and the customs they brought with
them from the Old World.

Chief among these are the Germans. Throughout the State the small
German communities are held together by the Lutheran and Evangelical
Churches, and the German Catholics, though associated with other racial
groups in their church, tend to have their own rural and small town cen-



RACIAL ELEMENTS AND FOLKWAYS 79

ters. German food, festive wedding parties, and family reunions are the
rule, and in some villages and country districts German is the prevailing
language. Well-defined German communities are found in Clinton and
Bremer Counties and in Davenport and Dubuque. In the cities and larger
towns the Germans have their Turn Vereine (gymnastic clubs) and their
musical societies. Members of the Amana Society, particularly the older
people, still cling to the old forms of dress and to German as their home
tongue. )

The Scandinavians, like the Protestant Germans, remain close to their
Lutheran churches, and in many small communities Swedish, Norwegian,
and Danish customs are common. The clean white town buildings of
Pella and the well-kept farms of this district are characteristic of the Hol-
landers, who keep to the traditions of their fathers in these and other
ways. In the Bohemian (Czech) sections of Cedar Rapids and parts of
Linn County, the customs and language of the old country have also en-
dured. The Czechs have their own banks, newspapers, doctors, lawyers,
and business institutions. In the rural sections surrounding Protivin, St.
Ansgar, and Calmar the observance of old customs is promoted by the
Bohemian societies which provide social halls for the young people and
encourage Czech folk games and music.

The Welsh, who originally settled in the coal-mining camps and are
now found chiefly in Mahaska County, remain a unique group clinging
to their eisteddfods (singing schools) and cymanfa (church conventions).
They are naturally musical people, and many of the musical instructors in
the schools throughout the State are descendants of the early Welsh set-
tlers. There are groups of Italians and Greeks in the larger cities. In Des
Moines particularly, the Italians have their own community and preserve
their Old World customs. The Mexicans—a new element coming into the
State—are spread through Polk, Cerro Gordo, Lee, and Des Moines Coun-
ties, with concentrated groups in Fort Madison, Mason City, and Betten-
dorf. Many of them work in the sugar beet fields in the northern part of
the State. '

Some Negroes came to Iowa in the first years after the Civil War, but
the main migration of Negroes was from the South at the turn of the
century. Imported by the Consolidated Coal Company to break a miners’
strike near the present site of Oskaloosa, they gradually developed into a
complete Negro mining settlement—the largest and best coal-producing
camp in Jowa. During the World War Negroes came from the East as
well as the South in search of higher wages and for military training at
Fort Des Moines and at Camp Dodge. Approximately one-third of
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Iowa’s 17,000 Negroes live in Des Moines, where they have their own
churches, restaurants, amusement centers and religious associations, and
publish their own newspaper, the Iowa Bystander. Both in Des Moines
and Sioux City the Negroes have played a creditable part in civic develop-
ment. Here and elsewhere in the State they are found not only in the labor
field but in business and the professions. A. A. Alexander, of Des Moines,
received the degree of civil engineer from the University of Iowa in 1925,
and was granted one of the two William E. Harmon Awards for Distin-
guished Achievement in industry in 1926—the first year these awards were
made. In many towns the Negroes maintain their own churches and hotels,
and take active part in the educational, religious, and political activities of
the community.

Many of the existing folkways had their beginning in the house-raising,
husking, hog-killing, rag-sewing (for carpets), quilting, and wood-chop-
ping bees, which filled a need for social intercourse while serving their
primary purpose of co-operation in some of the undertakings of pioneer
farm life. Other customs are outgrowths of the singing schools and “'spell-
downs” common to all rural pioneer communities.

Farmers in Iowa assemble for many gatherings—family picnics, com-
munity celebrations, fairs in their small-town centers, and Saturday after-
noon shopping. Much of the social activity is centered in the churches, and
church suppers, “‘aids,” meetings, and sociables of all kinds are festive
events in any small town. The 4-H Clubs, farm burean groups, and similar
organizations foster social life.

It is in the round of farming activities, in the co-operation among neigh-
bors, that the real Iowa folkways appear. As in most agricultural States
threshing is a celebration as well as a co-operative venture. While the men
work together in the fields getting the oats, wheat, barley, or rye to the
threshing machine, the women gather to cook the threshing dinner. The
community is likely to rate its cooks on the basis of their threshing dinners.

Community corn-picking, silo-filling, and plowing have become well
established through the friendly spirit of mutual help handed down from
the past. Jowa makes much of its corn-husking contests held each fall. The
'State contest, a picturesque event in which the county winners participate,
lis started by the report of a gun fired by the Governor. Crowds estimated
lat 20,000 follow the wagons as the huskers, bare-headed and shirtless,
'work down the rows of corn and send the ears flying through the air to
strike against the “bang-boards.” Hog-calling has been developed into
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another annual contest. At the State Fair each year contenders for the State
title take their turn at “whoee-ing” the hogs, and the one with the most
“reach” and volume to his voice wins.

The spirit that prompted the pioneer get-togethers survives today in
various annual celebrations. These generally commemorate some event or
tradition characteristic of the racial heritage of the locality. Thus Germans
fondly remember the past when they take part in the annual celebration of
Sauer Kraut Day in Ackley. The festival was first established in the late
1890’s, and in 1909 the Germans of Lisbon established a similar event.
Sometimes as much as 300 gallons of kraut and 6oo pounds of wieners
are eaten at these celebrations. During the annual Tulip Festival at Pella
each May the town is transformed into a bit of Holland. People wear their
cherished Dutch costumes and clop down the streets in wooden shoes;
they dance old folk dances, sing folk songs, and feast on native Dutch
dishes. Everywhere in Pella bloom the thousands of tulips imported from
Holland. Other local events that are racial in origin are: Orangeman’s
Day at Deep River, held on July 12 when the North Irish assemble; and
the Bohemian Fall Festival at St. Ansgar in October where many of the
activities are carried on in the native tongue.

Annually in September hundreds of Negroes meet on the site of the
town of Buxton in Bluff Creek Township in Monroe County. In 1910
Buxton was one of the largest coal-mining towns west of the Mississippi
with about 6,000 inhabitants, 5,500 of them being Negroes. It is now
abandoned, and the sites of the town’s stores, churches, and schoolhouses
are marked only by stakes. The Negroes in Sioux City have developed the
pleasant custom of the “poor man’s party” to which all the Negroes in
the neighborhood come. Before the festivities are over, the “'poor man”
who has wares to sell has received for them cash enough to pay his rent
and other bills.

The Sac and Fox Indians hold carnival with a powwow at Tama in
August each year. The wikiups, tents of skins and burlap, appear on the
powwow grounds, but each year the gathering is becoming more like the
white man’s county fair. The Indian farmers exhibit their prize ears of
corn, their largest squash, and their best handicraft.

An easterner traveling through Iowa might notice the over-prominent
“yah” for “yes,” and other words not pronounced as they are in the East, but
for the most part the speech is similar to that in other regions. Slang expres-
sions from the cities to the East, words in the Negro dialect, and words char-
acteristically New England are heard. “Crick” for creek, “finicky” for
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fastidious, “catty-cornered’ for cater-cornered, “nubbins” for the small de-
formed ears of corn, and “lickety-split” for fast are common here.

Before radios, automobiles, and paved roads brought the farmer in
close contact with the city, his human newspaper was the traveler. In com-
mon with other rural regions much of the Iowa farm lore concerns the
coming of company. When the rooster crows in the doorway, or the cat licks
his fur, company is on the way. The farmer knows, if he does not believe,
the weather lore; and some continue to plant their potatoes, or other root
vegetables, in the “‘dark of the moon.”

Most of the folktales dealing with the Indians are lurid and romantic.
The story of the Indian lovers who were refused permission to wed and
committed suicide is common to many places. Local residents point out
cliffs where Indian maidens leaped to their death until it would seem that
the first duty of all Indian girls was to jump off cliffs. Maquoketa, for
whom the river is named, is supposed to have jumped to her death, though
the cliff cannot be identified. A tale, with its setting near Onawa, deals
with an Indian lover who would not accept the decision of his Indian
sweetheart to marry a white man. Taking the girl in his arms he leaped
into the river and each year, on the anniversary of their death, the screams
of the girl are heard. In the legend of Wapsi and Pinicon, for whom the
Woapsipinicon River is named, the two lovers were gliding down the river
in their canoe under the eyes of a rival. When Wapsi put her fingers to
Pinicon’s lips, the jealous lover shot an arrow into Pinicon’s heart. Wapsi,
rising to help him, upset the canoe and both were drowned.

Some of the legends are history retold . . . with trimmings. The stories
of the naming of the Tétes des Morts (Heads of the Dead) River Valley
are many. According to one, a battle between Indians and traders left the
river filled with severed heads. Another tells of a battle between two In-
dian tribes in which one was forced over the bow (head) of the cliff into
the river. In this version of the story, the trouble began when a young
Winnebago chief fell in love with Nita, daughter of a Fox chief. Finding
her with a member of her own tribe, he spat in his competitor’s face; the
Fox tribe wiped out the entire Winnebago group in retaliation.

The yarns of the pioneers, handed down from father to son, are tall
tales such as men have always made of the adventures of earlier days. One
group centers around Old Man Schoonover, who told stories to his men
as they gathered at the mine shafts in southern Iowa. But no one knows
Schoonover’s real history and the stories of his great prowess run into end-
less variations. In northeastern Iowa the hunting and fishing stories spun
by Old Marsh Hatfield are still repeated.






R R R e e e

Transportation and
Communication

N THE decade after the first cession of land by the Indians in 1832,
I[ thousands of settlers came from the East, by way of the Great Lakes
and the Ohio and Mississippi Rivers, and then overland into the Iowa
country—by ox-drawn wagon, on horseback, on foot, or by stagecoach. At
the Mississippi River they waited their turn to be taken across on the large
steam ferries. The only roads in the new land were trails following the
Indian and buffalo paths along the hilltops and watersheds, and crossing
the rivers and streams at designated fords.

Waterways were at first the great transportation arteries. Instead of
simple keelboats propelled by poles, paddle-wheeled steamers carried pas-
sengers and freight along the great rivers during the period of settlement.
Tons of freight were frequently hauled in wagons for 150 miles to and
from the river ports. Local packets, known as mail boats, carried newspa-
pers and mail, and the sound of their whistle was as regular and familiar
as the striking of the town clocks along their route.

Traffic on the Mississippi was at its height between 1819 and 1870.
Many landings were established along the shore, from Lansing to Keokuk,
where wood from the nearby woodlands provided fuel for the boats. A
busy lumber industry sprang up after the first lumber rafts were floated
down the Mississippi in 1830, and as the immigrant tide pushed steadily
westward. Hundreds of stern-wheeled steamboats brought lumber on great
rafts to Lansing, Dubuque, Bellevue, Clinton, Muscatine, and Burlington,
where it was planed in the mills for use in the construction of houses and
other buildings, wagons, and boats. The lumbering industry decreased as
the northern forests were gradually depleted, and the coming of the rail-
roads destroyed much of the commerce on the Mississippi, but river traffic
continued up to the close of the nineteenth century. At one time Iowans
had hoped also to develop their inland rivers for traffic but they proved too
shallow.
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When Iowa was organized as a Territory in 1838, there were no roads,
and travelers following the trails were often lost on the open prairies or
wandered far out of their way. The Territorial legislature in 1839 au-
thorized the laying out of a road from Dubuque through Iowa City to the
Missouri State Line. The United States Government appropriated $20,000
for this road, to expedite the movement of soldiers in case of Indian up-
risings or frontier difficulties. According to the story, Lyman Dillon, under
the guidance of an engineer, plowed the longest furrow on record—the
100 miles from Dubuque to Iowa City—to guide the road-builders. Dillon
started from Dubuque with a huge breaking plow drawn by five yoke of
oxen, and a two-horse emigrant wagon carrying provisions, cooking uten-
sils, and bedding for the journey. Day after day the patient oxen drew the
plow through the tough prairie sod, marking the path of the new road.

From river to river across the prairies and river valleys of the southern
part of the State runs the old Mormon Trail, beaten by the wagons and
the feet of thousands of Mormons, who fled in 1846 from the wrath of
their Illinois neighbors. Similar trails were made by the Forty-niners on
their way to California, one passing through Des Moines to Council Bluffs.
Thousands of emigrant wagons passed over this road. Council Bluffs,
where wagon trains were provisioned for the long trip ahead, grew rapidly
in the early days. Stagecoaches carried passengers over the rough dirt roads,
miring to the hubs in the spring mud, and taverns provided food and cheer
along the route.

Until the twentieth century the State had little control of bridges or
highways; the building of roads and culverts was handled by the township
officers (New England township system). Later the counties assumed
charge of the more important roads. Plank “toll roads” were authorized
by the State legislature in 1855, but only the one connecting Butlington
with Mount Pleasant was even moderately successful. A locomobile run
by steam and a Haynes gasoline car, exhibited at a fair in Linn County in
1899, were the first “horseless carriages” in the State. Little permanent
road improvement took place before the introduction of the automobile,
but as the number of automobiles increased, the demand for good roads
kept pace.

In 1904 the State legislature designated Iowa State College to act as a
highway commission. A ‘“good roads investigation” appropriation pro-
vided for the part-time services of an engineer, Thomas H. MacDonald,
later head of the United States Bureau of Public Roads. About 1910 auto-
mobile owners and associations began to participate in the barnstorming
meetings held by this commission to gain public support for better roads.
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As a result, roads soon linked county to county, forming the River-to-
River, the White Pole, the Lincoln, and the Hawkeye through-State high-
ways. After the State legislature in 1913 established a highway commission
with wide authority, the ten miles between Clear Lake and Mason City,
on US 18, were paved. Federal aid for roadbuilding and the passage of the
primary road law of 1919, which provided for highway improvements, ad-
vanced the cause of good roads. Five years later a paving program was
inaugurated, and in 1937 there were 5,455 miles of paved highways out of
a total of 102,533 miles of roads. Iowa has at last “‘come out of the
mud.” ‘

Not satisfied with hauling their produce to market over long distances,
Iowa farmers were quick to encourage the development of the railroads.
The Mississippi and Missouri, the first railroad in the State, was completed
from Davenport to Muscatine in 1855. By January 1, 1856, this road was
extended from Davenport to Iowa City, then the State capital, and the first
train puffed between the two cities even before the first bridge had been
built to connect the rails with Illinois across the Mississippi. The Illinois
Central from Dubuque, the Chicago and North Western from Lyons, and
the Chicago, Burlington and Quincy from the city of Burlington started
building their lines westward in 1855, competing with each other and
with the Mississippi and Missouri to be the first to reach the western edge
of the State.

A number of abortive attempts had preceded the building of these
roads. In 1854 grading was begun by the Lyons-Iowa Central, which
planned to run a road from Clinton to the Missouri River. But work
stopped abruptly in the middle of the summer when the company went
bankrupt. Wages were paid in groceries as long as the supply lasted. Then
the workers who were still empty-handed took possession of the warehouse
in Clinton. The company had nothing left but yards and yards of calico,
and with this commodity it paid off its debts. The story of the unusual
settlement spread through the State until the abandoned project was called
the “'Calico Road.” ‘

After the Civil War the railway network was extended with feverish
haste, and expansion was naturally westward as plans for transcontinental
routes were made. Iowans had watched eagerly the development of the
line from Chicago to Rock Island, Ill., and had already made plans for
a connecting link with this system. By 1866 the Mississippi and Missouri
had been built some miles beyond Iowa City but was then forced to sell out
to the Chicago and Rock Island Line. This line had completed its road to
Council Bluffs two years after the North Western had reached that point
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in 1867. The Burlington Line stretched to the Missouri River in 1869, and
a year later the Illinois Central completed its road to Sioux City. There
were almost 3,000 miles of railroads in 1870. In the more settled areas in
the eastern part, routes were established between small towns, each one
anticipating the growth of the connected centers. In 1885 the Great West-
ern had laid its tracks southward into Iowa from Minnesota, and the
longer lines were complete for the most part at the end of the 1880’s.

A number of electric railways were added later to serve sections on the
north and south axis. In the southern part of the State, coal companies
built lines extending the tracks into many mining towns to facilitate the
marketing of coal. Today no point in the State is more than twelve miles
from a railroad. The railway system consists of thirteen class-1 roads, with
a total trackage of 9,517 miles. Council Bluffs on the western boundary,
where some of these lines meet, is an important transfer point for trans-
continental mail.

The first telegraph line was laid in the State in 1848, and in that year
the wire between Bloomington (now Muscatine) and Burlington carried
the first message sent through Iowa. When the news was wired to Bloom-
ington that Zachary Taylor had been elected President, a Democrat, skep-
tical of the validity of telegraph messages, called it a “Whig lie” and made
a bet that Lewis Cass had won. In 1877 the first telephone line was built.
Today there ate more than 500,000 telephones in use.

Back in 1836 there were only two post offices for the distribution and
collection of mail. One of these, at Augusta, is still in operation. In 1937
post offices were established in 1,148 towns, 65 percent of them with
carrier delivery. Rural free delivery was begun in 1897, when the Govern-
ment established it in 44 States. In 1937 thete were approximately 1,600
rural routes operating out of 828 centers on six days of the week. The
average route is 40 miles long, making the total State coverage more than
64,000 miles.

In the enthusiasm for aviation which followed the World War, many
Iowa communities prepared for this new form of transportation. By 1931
there were 49 registered airports, but in later years the number decreased.
Iowa offers definite advantages to fliers. Because of the low flat country,
planes can maintain even elevations, and there is sufficient good flying
weather to permit operation the year round. Two airports in the State, at
Des Moines and Iowa City (lighted for night flying), are stops on the
route of scheduled plane service. The direct route of the United Air Lines,
with scheduled service from New York to San Francisco, is across the
lower third of the State, and is marked by radio beams and beacon lights.
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The Des Moines airport is advantageously located. Its high elevation (960
feet) makes it possible to take care of all-weather landings and to stay
open longer in bad weather than other Midwestern airports. A Chicago to
Kansas City regular line crosses the southeastern corner of Iowa and has
an emergency stop at Burlington.

One of Iowa’s first aviators was William C. Robinson, who made a non-
stop flight from Des Moines to Chicago in 1914; Clarence Chamberlin,
born in Iowa, made one of the earliest trans-Atlantic flights in 1927.
Among the first newspapers to use planes for news gathering was the Des
Moines Register and Tribune, which began this service in 1928.
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Industry, Commerce
and Labor

SIDE from the fur trade, the first business enterprise in Iowa was lead
A mining, begun by Julien Dubuque in 1788. Later, when financial
pressute in the older parts of the country became acute, and the Towa region
was opened to settlement, settlers rushed westward to the cheap land. The
original settlers were mostly people in poor circumstances. Money, indeed,
was so scarce that estimates fix $1.80 as the per capita currency in 1846.
The Miners’ Bank at Dubuque had been granted a charter by the Territory
of Wisconsin in 1836, but after investigations by the Iowa Legislature
this charter was later annulled. The experience of Iowans with banks and
bankers caused them to insert a clause in the State constitution of 1846,
prohibiting the issuance of paper money by banking corporations. Non-
residents, however, flooded the State with wild-cat money. Those residents
with money to lend often charged as high as 40 percent interest.

The new constitution of 1857 authotized the incorporation of banks and
provided for a State banking system. After the panic of that year, industry
began to move forward. Mining, printing, and publishing (of farm
papers), meat packing, lumbering, and manufacturing found the new reg-
ulations favorable. Interested individuals were encouraged to combine their
resources and develop large enterprises. The national banks, created in
1863, succeeded the State bank system, which had been in effect only a
few years. Commerce continued to increase, as much because of the parallel
growth of the transportation and banking structures as of the abundant
sources of raw materials and available markets.

Industries often developed first to supply the farmers’ needs; later they
were started in order to process farm products. In the early years of farm-
ing, for example, board fences to keep wandering livestock at home often
cost more than all other farm improvements. In the 1860’s barbwire was
invented by an Iowan to solve his own problem. Later, when the demand
for it became general, several factories were started. During the 1880’s
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an eastern syndicate tried to corner the barbwire market and raise prices,
but the farmers formed a protective association, manufactured their own
wire, and held the price down.

This incident is fairly typical of the Iowan’s attitude during the seventies
and eighties toward large-scale eastern finance, especially that represented
by Wall Street. The type of industries developed have usually required but
little outside capital and the agriculturalists generally are inclined to view
the Nation’s money center with distrust.

Between the 1880’s and 1933, banks extended their operations to farm
financing, and the control of banking passed from individuals to State-
regulated banks. Upon the establishment of land bank refinancing by the
Farm Credit Administration in 1933, the absorption of farms by capital
interests became less frequent. Farmers were allowed to continue on their
land under interest arrangements similar to those effective with any cor-
poration or business that operates under banking direction.

Along with the development of the banking system has come the growth
of the insurance business in life, casualty, fire, and other classifications. Des
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Moines, the center of the insurance business in Iowa, is also one of the
largest centers in the Midwest.

One-fifth of the State’s population is supported by manufacturing. In
the value of manufactured products Iowa ranks sixteenth among all the
States, and fifth among those west of the Mississippi. Much of the manu-
facturing is closely related to agriculture. Iowa hogs fattened on Iowa corn
are slaughtered in Jowa abattoirs. Meat packing is a leading industry, fol-
lIowed closely in importance by the processing of cereals and the manufac-
ture of grain products.

In contrast to the older practice of centralizing industry in a few large
cities, most of the 3,317 manufacturing plants are established in small
communities where land values and taxes are low. Two hundred towns,
because of their proximity to both raw materials and markets, are the
homes of important industries. Because of this decentralization, employees
tend to become home owners and settled conservative residents in com-
munities where living costs are low and social conditions generally better
than in the crowded cities. The scattering of manufacturing centers is made
possible by excellent transportation facilities, and the Mississippi River on
the eastern boundary contributes to this primary advantage. Sioux City
ranks first among the cities in the total value of its manufactured products,
with Cedar Rapids second.

Industries may be generally classified in three groups: those that process
farm products, those that produce goods for sale directly to farm markets,
and those concerned with the extraction of raw materials. In addition there
is the usual group of miscellaneous industries, including local factories
that naturally develop in population centers, and others, like washing-
machine and cosmetic plants, that compete in the national market.

The principal industry is the processing of farm products. Since Iowa
ranks first among the States in hog raising, beef production, and the value
of its livestock, its packing plants are naturally of the first importance. An-
nually these plants slaughter approximately 4,500,000 hogs, or about 30
percent of all raised in Iowa. Pork packing began as an industry in 1840
when J. M. D. Burrows of Davenport bought hogs from the farmers and
established a “pork house.”” He reported dressing 19,000 hogs during the
winter of 1853-1854. In 1878 a packing plant was opened in Ottumwa,
and about the same time other plants were started in Sioux City. The latter
has become the center of the State’s packing industry and is ranked second
to Chicago. Following in rank, in the value of livestock marketed, are
Ottumwa, Cedar Rapids, Waterloo, and Mason City.

Trucking in Iowa began soon after 1920, with an extensive road paving
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program. In 1937 more than 90,000 licensed trucks were operated in the
State, many by farmers who customarily haul their own cattle, hogs, sheep,
and produce to the marketing centers. Regular routes have also been estab-
lished by trucking companies. The large packing plants in Sioux City and
Ottumwa have made these cities principal trucking centers for the livestock
trade.

The State supplies, in some years, more than one-third of the national'
requirements of dressed and packed poultry. Since every farmer’s wife has
her own flock of chickens, ducks, geese, or turkeys, a network of packing
plants, generally 25 to 40 miles apart, has been built throughout the State,
with buying stations in most of the small towns. Statisticians credit Iowa
with the production of approximately 200,000,000 dozen eggs a year. Four
cities to the east—New York, Chicago, Buffalo, and Philadelphia—con-
sume more than one-half of Iowa’s eggs.

As a result of the development of dairying during the past 50 years,
Towa has become third in importance as a dairy State. Since the first cream-
ery was established at Spring Branch in 1872, Iowa’s butter, cheese, and
ice cream have reached second rank among the State’s manufactured
products.

Many plants have been established for canning sweet corn, tomatoes,'
cucumbers, and beans. The value of corn products exceeds $22,000,000
annually. Two of the world’s lacgest corn products factories are at Cedar
Rapids and Clinton, respectively producing corn sugar, corn oil, and glu-
cose, and starch and sugar. An abundant source of raw material for
industry may be found in agricultural waste—mainly cornstalks, corn-
cobs, oat hulls, and straw. Among the many possible corncob and corn-
stalk products only one—an insulating board—is now being manufactured
in the State. The plant, in Dubuque, has a capacity of 100,000 square feet
per day. The cereal industry has developed from about 6oo gristmills scat-
tered throughout the State in the early days. The Quaker Oats Company,
established at Cedar Rapids in 1873, has the largest cereal plant in the
world, and buys annually more than $11,000,000 worth of corn and oats
from Iowa farmers.

Among the conspicuous manufacturing centers.for the farm market is
Charles City; from here tractors are shipped daily to all parts of the
United States and the world. The largest tractor plant in the State is lo-
cated at Waterloo. Supplying another farm need are the stump pullers
manufactured at Centerville.

Only New York exceeds Iowa in producing plaster, tile, plaster of paris,
and cement. Five gypsum plants at Fort Dodge and one at Centerville have
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a total annual production of 553,598 tons. Mason City, sometimes called
“the brick and tile capital of the world,” has seven plants for manufactur-
ing clayware. Shipments from these plants have amounted to 12,000 car-
loads a year.

Coal mining in the southern area is one of the State’s greatest industries.
Much of the prosperity enjoyed by southern counties in the early twentieth
centuty depended on bituminous coal. At one time all Towa railroads, ex-
cept the Illinois Central, depended largely on Iowa coal for their supply,
and many thousands of tons were sent to Nebraska, Kansas, and South
Dakota. The number of mines in operation varies from season to season;
in 1936-1938 there were from 450 to 6oo active mines. Coal beds in Iowa
are practically horizontal and thus present few engineering difficulties for
development.

The State is widely known for the manufacture of buttons; it produces
about 20 percent of the Nation’s total. This industry is centered in Mus-
catine. Formerly the Mississippi River and its tributaries yielded the clam-
shells from which the buttons were made, but today large supplies are
imported.
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When William H. Voss invented a washing machine at Davenport in
1877, he contributed the basis of a famous Iowa industry. Of the washing-
machine factories at Newton, one of the centers of the industry in the
United States, one alone supplies a third of the national market. At Bet-
tendorf the makers of railroad equipment—steel freight cars and various
supplies—dominate the Davenport industrial area. One of the largest
calendar factories in the world is located at Red Oak, which is also an im-
portant center for advertising novelties. At Iowa City an advertising com-
pany issues more than 2,000,000 calendars a year. The fountain pen in-
dustry of Iowa began in 1913 in a back-room workshop in Fort Madison.
A cosmetic plant, opened in Des Moines in 1915, has grown to interna-
tional proportions.

The woodworking industry in Iowa grew up around the sawmills in
many of the river towns. When this business declined, the mills were put
to work planing lumber for doors, window frames, molding, and other
parts. Ready-cut lumber for houses is planed in Davenport and furniture,
caskets, and baskets are manufactured in Burlington. The growth of such
an industry in a State without extensive timberlands is unusual, but it has
been justified by the necessity of keeping factories close to the market.

Men who have taken a leading part in Iowa commercial life include
George W. Douglas and Robert Stuart, who in 1873 brought the Scotch
process for making oatmeal to Cedar Rapids; John H. Morrell, founder
(1878) of the packing company at Ottumwa which bears his name;
Frederick M. Hubbell, prominent in the development of Des Moines;
Fred L. Maytag, of Newton, who began to manufacture washing machines
in 1900; and W. A. Sheaffer, of Fort Madison, who established his pen
company in 1913.

The scattering of people in towns and small cities has exerted a sig-
nificant influence on the organization of labor in Iowa. Except among the
miners, who began to organize as soon as their industry developed, there
has been little unionization among workers. The primary reason is the
character of industry, which generally exists in small units throughout the
State. It is true, also, that the farmers have wielded the largest single in-
fluence on economic and political life, and their individualistic philosophy
is reflected in the opinions of many workers. Labor has been reluctant to
organize, and, until after the World War, was largely out of contact with
the labor movement.

In 1867, while the miners were laying plans for their first formal or-
ganization, the Des Moines Cigar Makers’ Union was organized. The
Typographical Union followed in 1868. By 1876 the Knights of Labor
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had penetrated Iowa, and five years later they were included in the Des
Moines Labor Assembly. In 1885, when the Knights were achieving na-
tional importance, there was a membership of 25,000 in the State, mostly
of miners. This group was responsible for the first effective mine regula-
tion, which became the basis for all later legislation in that field. In the
period after the Civil War, the Granges were organized (1868), and it
was this group that forced passage of laws regulating railroads and condi-
tions of railroad labor. The Knights supported this group and the Anti-
Monopoly Party.

The rise of the conservative and efficiently managed craft unions coin-
cided with the decline of the Knights of Labor. When the American
Federation of Labor was formed in Iowa in the convention of 1893, the
Knights became practically non-existent. The miners, always a highly
organized group, entered the A. F. of L. Although the International
Workers of the World never gained a foot-hold, in the winter of 1914~
1915 great numbers of them came in from the wheat fields to the west
and invaded Sioux City. “Big Bill” Haywood, speaking under the protec-
tion of the Mayor—and with two guns strapped to his legs—was not able
to win any substantial following for his organization.

In 1937 the Committee for Industrial Organization became active in the
State. It succeeded in organizing many unorganized groups of workers,
mainly in the utilities, meat packing, and light industries. The State branch
of the American Federation of Labor, with a membership of approximately
20,000 has pursued a general policy of friendship and co-operation with
the C. I. O. This has been true especially among the rank and file.

As elsewhere in the Middle West, the organization of farm labor along
union lines has made little progress. A start in this direction in the State
is to be seen in the Bee Workers Union, organized under the American
Federation of Labor.

The furst labor legislation to concern Iowa people was the Mechanic’s
Lien Law of 1813, passed by the Territory of Michigan, of which Iowa
was a part from 1834 to 1836. In 1838, a more inclusive act on the same
subject was passed by the Territory of Iowa, becoming its first important
labor legislation. Revised in 1876, these laws safeguarded the laborer who
had no contract for the collection of his wages and placed a lien on the
employer’s property if the wages were not paid.

As early as 1872, before labor was effectively organized, the miners were
able to obtain the passage of laws to regulate mines and mining. When the
Khnights of Labor came to power, more regulations of the kind were en-
acted, the most important of them in 1874 and 1884. Provisions were
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made governing safety exits, the use and storage of explosives, ventilation,
illumination, timbering, and liens for wages; and forbidding the employ-
ment of women and children in mines. The Knights of Labor also worked
for the establishment of the Iowa Bureau of Labor Statistics (1888).

Railroad legislation to protect lives and change working conditions came
early. The great number of deaths and injuries caused by hand coupling
induced the General Assembly in 1890 to require automatic couplers on
the cars of all companies operating in Iowa. Deaths and injuries declined,
and the Iowa law became a model for Congressional legislation three years
later.

The American Federation of Labor’s legislative committee successfully
sponsored several important laws. These protected laborers in the collec-
tion of their wages, provided for the inspection of illuminants used in
mining, and obliged the certification of mine foremen and hoisting engi-
neers. In 1902 a State Factory Act was passed; two of its provisions for-
bade the employment of women and children in dangerous occupations,
and forbade any female under 18 years of age, or anyone under 16 years,
to clean machinery in motion. In 1907, when investigation showed that
engineers on the railroads were often forced to work continuously for as
many as 57 hours, a Federal law was passed making 16 hours the maxi-
mum straight shift, with at least 1o hours off duty before a return to work.
Subsequent legislation in the early part of the twentieth century restricted
convict labor, and provided employers’ liability and workmen’s compensa-
tion laws (1913), in which Iowa was a pioneer.

Legislation against child labor has progressed slowly. Children on the
farm have always been considered a necessary supply of labor. Employers
in an attempt to void a State law were found at one time to have made
parents sign agreements waiving all compensation claims for injuries. In
1904 a bill was introduced in the legislature to curb the evils of child
labor, but it was defeated. One potent argument held that children released
from factory toil would indulge in idle pastimes, and the fight against
child labor on humanitarian grounds thus lost itself in a maze of moral
wrangling.

Some employers, however, found telling economic reasons that proved
effective against the practice. In 1906, when another bill was presented,
they testified that they didn’t “want the babies. They don’t watch their
business. . . .” The law of 1906 prohibited children under 14 years from
working in any mine, shop, factory, or slaughter house employing more
than eight persons, thus making concessions to the farm family of laborers
who might be of any age. No one under 18 was to be employed in any
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dangerous capacity. Along with this came compulsory education laws that
materially lessened the problem.

As early as 1851 a general conspiracy law, aimed at the labor boycott,
prohibited any act which might be held injurious to the person, character,
or business of any citizen. But formal recognition of trade unions and their
right to organize and function was made in 1886. In 1888 the practice of
blacklisting was forbidden, and treble damage was allowed any employee
who was dismissed or forced to quit on grounds of unfair discrimination.
A loophole was left, however, by the provision that the employer could
send a record of the employee’s service to the next employer. In 1912 a
board of arbitration was appointed to settle disputes and prevent strikes
and has functioned successfully on the cases placed in its hands. The major
strikes in the coal-mining, railroad, and packing industries in 1921-1922
brought little violence or destruction of property.

During the country-wide “red scare’” in 1919, a criminal syndicalism
bill was added to the section dealing with treason. It carried sentences up
to 20 years for ““any person who, by word of mouth or writing advocates

. . crime, sabotage, violence, in accomplishing industrial or political re-
form . . .”” Under its terms, two or more people constitute a meeting and
the landlord or custodian letting premises for such purposes is held guilty
of misdemeanor. This law remains on the statute books, but has not been
invoked in recent years.

In the general section dealing with treason and incitement to violence,
and with hostility or opposition against the Government of Iowa or the
United States, similar penalties are provided. The display of a red flag,
banner, pennant, or badge is construed as inciting to insurrection and an
insult to the United States flag.

These laws were invoked and enforced against several members of the
International Workers of the World, but in the past few years they have
been disregarded, and have had little effect on the organization of unions.
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OMAN Catholic priests were the first missionaries in the lowa coun-
R try, preaching among the Indian tribes as far west as the Mis-
souri River, years before a white settlement had been made. Notable among
those of the pioneer days was the Italian Father Samuel C. Mazzuchelli, a
Dominican, who visited Dubuque in 1835. The people asked that he be as-
signed to their territory. In that same year he built St. Raphael’s church, the
first Roman Catholic church in Iowa. Until the time of his death Father Maz-
zuchelli worked among the white settlers in the Mississippi River towns, es-
tablishing churches—often designing them himself—and catrying on the
duties of a priest. In 1837 Pope Gregory X VI created the diocese of Dubuque
in the Territory of Wisconsin and appointed Mathias Loras as bishop. The
Belgian priest, Father Pierre Jean De Smet, went among the Indians in the
western part of the Iowa region, and in 1838 founded the St. Joseph mis-
sion for the Pottawattamie Indians at the present Council Bluffs. From
his mission he worked among all the western tribes. His Letters and
Sketches, and other accounts of his travels, have been widely read both in
Europe and America. The Indians, holding him in high esteem, showed
their affection when they said, “He is a white man who does not have a
forked tongue,” meaning he never lied to them.

As early as 1833 Methodist missionaries had been sent to the settlements
of Flint Hills (Burlington) and Dubuque. Barton Randle, a circuit rider,
wrote in that year, “We crossed the Mississippi River at the northwest
corner of Illinois, went into Dubuque, and in the same evening of the day
preached in the tavern of Jesse Harrison.” The following year the first
church of any denomination in Iowa, a log cabin 20 feet wide and 36 feet
long, was built by the Methodists at Dubuque with the help of Irish, French,
Dutch, and Negro contributions, and all religious denominations were
free to hold meetings in the building, which also housed several courts.
Another early church, the site of which is now occupied by a theater, was
Old Zion in Burlington, where the first Iowa Territorial Legislature met
in the fall of 1838. Barton E. Cartwright, the first Methodist missionary in
the southern area, divided his time between preaching and breaking the
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prairie sod to raise food for himself, since he took no collection and re-
ceived no salary.

The Methodists, together with the Presbyterians and Baptists, gave to
Jowa the revival and camp meetings which were so popular among the
pioneers. Many people who attended the camp meetings, held in a grove
or by a spring or creek, pitched their tents and stayed a week. They
brought cooking utensils, food for themselves, and fodder for their horses.
Exhortations were furious and arguments were often prolonged, but this
period of relaxation from everyday drudgery was as much social as it was
religious in spirit.

By means of the circuit rider and the revival, the Methodists were able
to cover the entire settled area, and to acquire many new members. The
Iowa Conference had grown to such an extent by 1856 that it was neces-
sary to divide the territory. An imaginary line was drawn across the State
from east to west, beginning at Davenport, thus forming the Upper Iowa
Conference. In 1860, the Methodists, with 344 congregations, led the re-
ligious denominations in Iowa.

The Reverend David Lowry, a Presbyterian minister, appointed teacher
of a Government school for the Winnebago Indians, traveled to the head-
quarters on the Yellow River in northeastern Iowa in the spring of 1834.
In the fall of that year the Yellow River Mission was completed but, even
before this, what is said to be the first communion service in Iowa was held.
Later, in 1837, a church was established at West Point and, in 1843, one
at Round Prairie (Kossuth Church). Though most of the townspeople at
West Point were from Kentucky and not in sympathy with the “blue
nosed” Presbyterians’ ideas of temperance, they were anxious to sell their
lots. A barbecue was promoted to help the sale. To the surprise of all, the
Presbyterians collaborated, acquiring ground for a church and parsonage,
which later was occupied by the Reverend Launcelot Bell. The Presby-
terians founded several colleges, .one of the first being Parsons, at Fair-
field (1875).

Baptists arrived as eatly as 1834 and organized the Long Creek Church
at Danville. The first Iowa Baptist convention met in this church four
years later, with nine of the ten delegates sitting in a row on a log while
the moderator stood before them. The Society of Friends (Quakers) has
held an important place in Iowa history since 1835, when Aaron Street
founded Salem, the first Quaker settlement. Fifteen years later there were
thirteen similar settlements. These people, noted for their piety and
pacifism, promoted the Underground Railroad for escaping slaves, and
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aided John Brown in his work. The house in which John Brown’s men
spent the winter of 1857-1858 is still standing at Springdale.

The Congregational denomination was established also largely under
the direction of missionaries, usually young men graduates of eastern col-
leges and theological seminaries, who organized churches, held meetings,
and promoted temperance and education. The Reverend Asa Turner was
the leader in this work, coming to Iowa in 1836 and settling in the town
of Denmark. In 1840 a convention met here and organized the association
of Congregational ministers "'in and for the Territory of Iowa.”

Students of Andover Theological Seminary began to make inquiries
about this Mississippi River Valley as early as 1842. In reply to a letter of
inquiry, the Reverend Asa Turner answered for Iowa, “‘Lay aside all your
dandy notions which boys learn in college and take a few lessons of old
farmers or grandmothers. The people will not call you Reverend Mr. B.
but simply A. B. and your wife Polly or Peggy, or whatever her name may
be.” The result of the interest of these students was the formation of the
“Towa Band,” originally composed of 12 college men, of whom 11 came
to Jowa to found churches, schools, and colleges. William Salter, who
came with this group in 1843 and preached at Burlington for many years,
was also one of the State’s leading historians.

In 1836 the Disciples of Christ were organized in Lee County and built
a church at Lost Creek just outside of Fort Madison. A second church,
built on this site in 1849, is still standing, preserved in detail inside and
out as it was in pioneer days. In Davenport, the Disciples of Christ met in
a carpenter’s shop for almost a year. Having outgrown these quarters, the
congregation decided in 1839 to send representatives to confer with An-
toine Le Claire, founder of the city. Le Claire, it is said, had the habit of
wearing his hat in a low forward position when his temper was bad. The
two delegates waited before calling on Le Claire until a time when his hat
was perched jauntily on the back of his head; their request for a lot was
quickly granted. On this lot, the Disciples erected a meeting house which
cost about $300.

The Protestant Episcopalians, never a large group in Iowa, came as early
as 1837, and held, as one of their first services, an outdoor meeting in
Davenport. At their first convention, assembled in May 1854, the Rev-
erend Henry Washington Lee was made first bishop, a man six feet tall
and weighing more than 300 pounds. It is said he met with many mishaps
in traveling about the diocese—breaking carriages on the road, and chairs
and bedsteads in the houses where he was entertained. In those days no
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one dared call his church a “cathedral” since that suggested the papacy; so
it was spoken of as the Bishop’s Chapel.

In the 1830’s the progress of the churches was slow. Itinerant work was
retarded by the long stretches of prairie between the small settlements.
There were rivers to ford, and often blizzards and snow-blocked roads im-
peded travel. The Home Missionary magazine, in August 1842, stated that
there were not more than 2,133 professing Christians in a population of
60o,000. By 1840, however, both Protestant and Roman Catholic churches
were well established. An unorthodox group settled in Van Buren County
near Farmington under the leadership of Abner Kneeland, a free-thinker,
but this group dissolved after Kneeland’s death in 1844.

Changes in church constituencies after 1840 were caused chiefly by the
great influx of immigrants from Europe. One of the first groups to arrive
was that of the Hollanders who came to Pella in 1847. Under the leader-
ship of Henry P. Scholte they established their Dutch Reformed church in a
sod house on the prairie. The following spring they built a log church
and inscribed above its door Iz Deo Spes Nostra et Refugium.

With the great immigration from Germany during the last half of the
nineteenth century, the Lutheran Church began to predominate. Although
Germans had arrived here before this time, they were mainly absorbed by
the established religious groups. In 1854 the German Iowa Synod began
at St. Sebald, near Dubuque, under the leadership of emissaries from the
church in Germany. The American Lutheran Synod in the same year estab-
lished one of the outstanding theological seminaries in the United States—
the Wartburg Theological Seminary at Dubuque. The Evangelical Lutheran
Synod was founded the following year. When Danes, Swedes, and Nor-
wegians began to arrive in Jowa in the period following the Civil War,
the number of Lutherans again increased.

The churches were pioneers in building hospitals, some of the first hav-
ing been erected by Catholic orders. The Iowa Christian Home, under the
care of the Protestant Episcopal Church, was established in Davenport in
1864 as a hospital for the sick and needy, irrespective of religious belief.
The Sisters of Mercy opened a hospital in the same city in 1869. In the
next decade they opened a hospital at Dubuque. Methodists, Presbyterians,
and Lutherans followed with the founding of more hospitals.

From the time of the first settlements the church has furnished the meet-
ing place for many of the social affairs of town and country; the box and
pie suppers, the bazaars, the ladies” aid society meetings, the potluck sup-
pers, and the church party or social. In many communities the only outlet
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for musical expression is in the church where choirs and orchestras are
conducted. Many a talented farmer’s daughter, or small-town girl, has first
been heard at the organ or piano in the church. Dramatic talent, too, is de-
veloped through plays produced in the various departments.

The present (1938) church membership, numbering approximately one-
half of the population, is led by those of the three largest denominations
—the Catholic, the Methodist, and the Lutheran—with congregations in
all counties. Almost one-fourth of the entire membership is Roman Cath-
olic. Northeastern Iowa, as well as the towns along the Mississippi River,
has a high percentage of members of this church body. The organization
consists of three dioceses and one archdiocese, at Dubuque. The Method-
ists, with three conferences, remain the strongest Protestant group. All
the counties in the northern half of the State are strongly Lutheran. Estab-
lished by Germans, Danes, Swedes, and Norwegians, who predominate
in this large farming area, the churches are for the most part in the small
towns and rural districts.

The Presbyterian denomination numbering about one-eleventh of the
total church membership, and the Baptist probably rank next in point of
numbers. Congregationalists, Universalists and Unitarians are mainly ur-
ban groups, remaining close to the centers where the New England
founders lived. Likewise the large Jewish congregations, both orthodox
and reformed, are in the large cities, patticularly Des Moines and Sioux
City.

The two important denominations among the Negroes are the Baptist
and the Methodist, although there are several Lutheran congregations un-
der Negro pastors.

There is a marked tendency toward consolidation among the smaller
church groups, and an indication of union among the larger ones. Espe-
cially in the rural areas, where more than half the churches are found,
consolidation has been necessary. This consolidation is generally along in-
terdenominational lines. From 1926 to 1934 the community church had
its greatest growth, With the extension of improved roads, city churches
also have drawn great numbers from rural congregations, thus hastening
the decline of the isolated country church.



Education

¢« HAT the people do not feel that their efforts to establish an ideal

Teducational system have been entirely successful is evidenced by the
frequent legislative bills introduced to amend school laws.” This comment,
taken from the report of an investigation of rural child life made by the Iowa
Child Welfare Research Station (1930), prefaces a description of the com-
plex school system. But it is noted in the report also that Iowa *‘has tried to
develop an educational policy to fit the peculiar needs of an inland agricul-
tural people.”

Free tax-supported schools were legally authorized in this area while it
was still a part of the Territory of Michigan, and later of the Territory
of Wisconsin. In 1840, after the formation of the Territory of Iowa, a law
was passed that defined the means of establishing free schools. This Terri-
torial law, which has affected all subsequent legislation, was copied almost
word for word from the educational statutes of the State of Michigan.

Private schools, however, preceded the establishment of public institu-
tions. A private school, credited as the first one in Iowa, was opened in
1830, in the Half-Breed Tract, now Lee County. Here in a log cabin pro-
vided by Isaac Galland, Berryman Jennings taught the settlers’ children
how to read and write. Another early school was taught by George Cub-
bage at Dubuque in 1833. When Iowa was made a Territory in 1838 more
than 40 schools had been established. Almost a century later, the lowest per-
centage of illiteracy in the Nation—eight-tenths of one percent—was
Iowa’s.

The present educational system from elementary schools up to the State
University of Iowa, is based upon a law passed by the State legislature in
1858. The imprint of the famous educator, Horace Mann, a member of the
educational committee, is in this law, for many of his recommendations
were incorporated. Supervision of the public schools has passed through
various changes, but the present office of superintendent of public instruc-
tion, an elective State office which today supervises and controls all the
public schools, has been in continuous existence since 1864. The examina-
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tion for teacher-certification is controlled through a State board of educa-
tional examiners of which the State superintendent is chairman.

The first law making education compulsory was passed by the General
Assembly in 1902; subsequent legislation has extended the period of
school attendance to 24 consecutive weeks every year for children between
the ages of seven and sixteen. Part time schools were provided for by law
in 1919 for children between 14 and 16 years old who are employed.

The principal unit in the school system is the school district. This may
be a school township, a rural independent district, a consolidated district,
or an independent district of a town or city. Voters of these districts choose
the members of the school board, or board of directors; rural districts
choose three, districts in towns or villages and second-class cities and con-
solidated districts choose five, and districts in first class cities and in cities
under special charter choose seven. Each board elects its own officers—
except school treasurers, who are elected by the voters of the district
—levies taxes, engages teachers, pays its own bills, and, in general, con-
trols the operation of the schools. The county superintendent of schools,
under whose direct supervision the schools are operated, is chosen for a
three-year period by the presidents of the schools boards in his county.

Rural education, an important factor in the system, developed more
slowly than education in the cities, though the State department is attempt-
ing to equalize advantages, and has laid much stress on the rural system.
In 1937 there were 9,119 country schools. The plain white schoolhouses
appear along the roadside at regular intervals, two to four miles apart.
Ten to twenty farm boys and gitls sit on the benches inside.

But the standards of instruction and curriculum are higher than those
of the rural school of twenty years ago. In all the 99 counties the “'supe-
rior school” movement, with standards for country schools to meet, has
aroused community interest. The office of State superintendent awards
scholarships to rural students; standards of teacher-certification have been
raised; and health education has been encouraged among rural children.
The buildings and equipment likewise have been improved, and many
new buildings have been constructed with ample lighting, heating, and
sanitary facilities. Teachers in these schools receive their normal training
in one of the State colleges or in one of the 170 high schools carrying a
teacher training course.

Another important movement is for the replacement of several one-
teacher schools with one modern building. The consolidated school district
is restricted to certain limits by law; it may include an incorporated town
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as well as country districts. Children in such districts, living outside an
incorporated town, and more than one mile from the school, travel daily
back and forth at public expense. Both the elementary and the secondary
grades are usually taught. This kind of school with its larger number of
pupils can offer better facilities for teaching and recreation. All the ad-
vantages of a city school are thus brought to the rural districts. There are.
more than 400 consolidated school districts in Iowa, including approx-
imately one-fourth of the total area of the State. A high school education:
with free tuition is made available to boys and girls in all districts where-
there ate no high schools By a law requiring the district to pay their high:
school tuition in a neighboring district. )

The David W. Smouse Opportunity School in Des Moines was one of
the first (1931) public schools of its kind in the United States, a special
public school for children whose physical condition prevent them from
attending the ordinary school. The stairways, the special ramps, and the
elevators at the Opportunity School fit the needs of handicapped children.
Activities in the corrective gymnasium, the physiotherapy room, and the
hydrotherapy tank often so improve the students’ physical condition that
they are able to return to their own district’s public school. State schools
are provided to meet the needs of the deaf and the blind—the Iowa School
for the Deaf at Council Bluffs, and the Iowa School for the Blind at
Vinton. : .

In high school teaching, emphasis recently has been put on vocational
guidance. Boys and girls are taught sewing, manual training, and trades.
Associated with the office of the superintendent of public instruction is a
board of vocational education, established (1917) to meet the require-
ments set down by the Federal Government in the Smith-Hughes Act.
Agricultural, trade and industrial, and homemaking education offered to
regular high school students, part-time high school students, and adults is
supervised by this board.

During the last twenty years, supervision of the study of students has
been considered as important as supervised class recitations. Development
by means of visual education is sought through motion pictures, lantern
slides, stereopticon views, newspapers, and visits to industrial plants and
other points of educational interest. Pre-school development and adult edu-
cation are receiving increased attention.

Since the first public junior college was established in Mason City in
1918, the number of two-year colleges, usually operating in the established
high school buildings, has increased until Iowa in 1937 with 27 in opera-
tion ranked second only to California. For the year ending June 30, 1936,



110 IOWA: PAST AND PRESENT

the total enrollment of pupils in the elementary schools, high schools, and
public junior colleges was 538,003, with an average daily attendance for
the year of 456,226. The number of teachers employed was 25,106.

The Iowa State Teachers Association first convened at Muscatine in
1854 at the call of D. Franklin Wells, who was then in charge of a school
in the village. Wells, who served twice as president of the association was
made head of the normal department at the State University in 1856, and
later served as State Superintendent of Public Instruction. In November of
each year this association meets in Des Moines with as many as 21,000
teachers enrolled. A comprehensive institute is conducted by national
leaders foremost in their fields. The association’s journal, Midland Schools,
provides material for teachers for improving the curriculum and instruction.
. So that the parents of school children may meet the teachers of their
children and become acquainted with the work in the public schools, the
Parent-Teachers Association has been formed. Parents and teachers meet—
usually monthly—at the school where programs are provided for their in-
struction and entertainment. Through this group funds are raised for needy
children and recommendations for better teaching offered.

Under the State board of education, distinct from the office of the super-
intendent of public instruction, are the State schools of higher learning,
the School for the Blind and the School for the Deaf. Established in 1847,
the State University, at Jowa City began instruction in 1855. Today more
than so buildings are grouped around Old Capitol, the first capitol build-
ing, which was turned over to the University when the seat of government
was moved to Des Moines.

Iowa State College of Agriculture and Mechanic Arts at Ames was es-
tablished by law in 1858 but was not ready for students until 1868. Today
this is one of the outstanding agricultural and engineering schools in the
Nation, with some 70 buildings and more than 1,900 acres of land. The
extension service, offered through printed matter, radio broadcasts, and
home demonstration agents in home economics, reaches all parts of the
State.

Iowa was a pioneer among the States in this co-operative extension serv-
ice between farm and college. In 1866, Seaman Asahel Knapp came from
New York State to Iowa, and later, as professor of agriculture and presi-
dent of the State College at Ames, advocated connecting the experiment
station with the colleges. Iowa people were active in the movement which
culminated in the passage of the Smith-Lever Cooperative Extension Act
in 1914; this act, accepted by all the States, released Federal funds to
land grant colleges for the establishment of extension departments and for
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carrying on work in connection with the United States Department of
Agriculture. A regular extension department, provided for by the State
legislature, had been established at Ames in 1906, with the same rank as
other college departments. Professor G. B. Holden was made the first
superintendent of extension.

In 1876 the Iowa State Teachers College was founded at Cedar Falls on
the site of 2 home for the orphans of Civil War soldiers. Today the cam-
pus extends over an area of 127 acres, near the southern limits of the city.
Homer H. Seerley, appointed in 1886, and president for more than 40
years, was a particularly important figure in the development of this
school.

There are 198 public libraries under supervision of the library commis-
sion, which is made up of the State librarian, the superintendent of public
instruction, the president of the State University, and four members ap-
pointed by the Governor. Miss Julia A. Robinson, secretary of the com-
mission since 1913, edits (1938) the Iowa Library Quarterly, a journal
devoted to news, selected book lists, and various aids to librarians. A State
traveling library, from which books are lent to schools where libraries are
not available, to communities without public libraries, to small libraries, to
clubs, to organizations, and to individuals, sent out more than 115,647
books in 1935.

In Des Moines, expetiments in adult education have been carried out
successfully. John W. Studebaker, superintendent of the public schools,
and later (1938) United States Commissioner of Education, organized
evening neighborhood forums in 1936-1937. Financed by donations and
by funds from the Carnegie Foundation, speakers were presented who
talked on economic and social problems. Special night classes were ar-
ranged and youth forums were organized. Continued as a civic function,
under a council representing all civic and educational agencies, this plan of
adult education has been an example and inspiration for similar plans in
other localities. :

Before publicly owned educational institutions had been established, the
churches maintained elementary and secondary schools and also founded
several schools of higher education. Iowa Wesleyan College at Mount
Pleasant is the oldest college in Iowa, having a continuous history from the
time it was founded as Mount Pleasant Collegiate Institute in 1844. The
college has always been under the control of the Methodist Episcopal
Church, though it has allowed students of any denomination, or of none,
to enter. It was at this college that seven girls organized the P. E. O. Sis-
terhood in 1869, the meaning of the initials always being kept a secret.
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Grinnell, a Congregational college, was founded by the “Jowa Band” (a
group of young ministers who came to Iowa as missionaries in 1843) as
Iowa College at Davenport and opened to students in 1848. A few years
later the college was moved to Grinnell. At Mount Vernon, home of Cot-
nell College, there is a legend that a Methodist circuit rider, one day in
1851, arriving at the top of a hill, stopped his horse and viewed the land-
scape. Realizing what an ideal site the place would be for a college, he
knelt in prayer and dedicated himself and the hill to the cause of educa-
tion. The following year at a Fourth of July celebration, plans were made
for the erection of a seminary, and in 1853 the school was opened. The
Chicago Symphony Orchestra annually presents a musical program at the
spring music festival here, in collaboration with the music department of
Cornell College.

Other colleges were established by the Methodists: Upper Iowa Uni-
versity at Fayette, Simpson College at Indianola, and Morningside at
Sioux City. The Roman Catholics founded Clarke and Columbia at Du-
buque, and St. Ambrose at Davenport. The Presbyterians established Par-
sons at-Fairfield, Coe at Cedar Rapids, the University of Dubuque at
Dubuque, and Buena Vista at Storm Lake. Central College at Pella was
established by the Reformed Church. Luther College at Decorah was
founded under the auspices of the Norwegian Lutheran Church of America
in 1861. The Luther College Band and Schola Cantorum have toured the
United States; the former has twice played in Europe. Another feature of
Luther College is the museum of Norwegian-American history. William
Penn College, established by the Iowa Yearly Meeting of Friends
(Quakers), opened its first term in 1873 in Oskaloosa, where there was
a settlement of Quakers.

Graceland, at Lamoni, is under the control of the Reorganized Church
of Jesus Christ of Latter Day Saints; Western Union, at Le Mars, of the
Evangelical Church; and Wartburg College, at Waverly, of the American
Lutheran Church. John Fletcher College, at University Park (Oskaloosa),
interdenominational in character, offers studies in the Bible and training
for religious wotkers. One of the large privately endowed colleges is
Drake University, at Des Moines. Established in- 1881, it was named for
Francis M. Drake, a former Governor.
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Social Welfare

HE picture of how Iowa cares for its children and its aged, its crimi-
Tnals and delinquents, those handicapped by physical or mental ill
health or by economic disaster is a mingling of light and dark; no general
rating of the State’s work in social welfare is possible, for in many
branches it excels and in some, unfortunately, it falls below the average.

The National Society of Penal Reformation, in its 1928 survey, gave
Iowa high ranking in the treatment of criminals and in general prison re-
form. The hundred years of prison history which began with the establish-
ment of a prison at Fort Madison in 1839 have been marked by steady
advance in this field. The directors of the first prison were authorized by
the legislature to place every person “now convicted or hereafter . . . in
the confines of this place, and to cause to be employed in the erection of
the penitentiary, all such persons sentenced to hard labor.” When the pub-
lic realized that prisoners were crowded into small quarters and that
violent punishment was used to control the unruly, 2 committee was ap-
pointed by the Territorial legislature to investigate (1845) and a serious
study of the prison situation was undertaken. But other evils soon ap-
peared. The contract system, now generally condemned by prison au-
thorities, prevailed in the State from 1854 to 1915. Furniture, clothing,
shoes, and other commodities were manufactured by prison labor. The
need for improvement in methods of handling criminals was recognized
as early as 1869, however, when George Shedd was sent East to make a
thorough study of prisons. The foundations of the present adequate penal
‘'system were laid with the establishment of a board of parole in 1907. The
abolition of the contract system came next (1915) when the legislature
substituted a program of State-use industries under which prison labor, on
the farms and in the shops, was used to supply the needs of all State
institutions.

The penitentiary at Fort Madison, frequently rebuilt and enlarged, is
today modern both in its physical plant (which includes a hospital, library,
school, power house and machine shop) and in its treatment of inmates.
Other penal institutions in the State include a reformatory for men at
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Anamosa, opened in 1873; the women’s reformatory in Rockwell City,
which conforms to the standards of modern penology and is managed
without bars, walls, or guns; the Eldora training school for boys and a sim-
ilar school for girls at Mitchellville, both of which emphasize education
and rehabilitation rather than punishment.

Iowa’s enviable record in the cate of criminals and delinquents is not
duplicated in the field of public health. The State department of health
was created in 1880, “with supervisory power over public health activities
and legislative authority to make and enforce rules concerning contagious
disease, quarantine, and health.”

The activities of the department fall into two main groupings: Public
health work—consisting of venereal disease control, child health and
health education, public health nursing, State hygienic laboratories, vital
statistics, epidemiological investigations, and public health engineering;
licenses—consisting of licensure (by examination and reciprocal State
agreements) of physicians, dentists, osteopaths, nurses, embalmers, etc.,
registration and renewal of licenses, and law enforcement. A three-point
criticism of public health work in Iowa has been made by recognized au-
thorities. First, the licensing activities of the State department use too large
a proportion of time which might better be employed to develop the inade-
quate nursing, vital statistics, and epidemiological divisions. Second, the
present set-up, with 2,528 independent local government health units (918
cities and towns and 1,610 townships) does not permit well-knit and
smooth functioning of health work in the State as a whole. Third and most
important, Iowa’s appropriations for public health work are far too meager.
Dr. Walter L. Bierring, health commissioner, makes this clear in his
Report of State Department of Health, for the biennial period ending
June 30, 1934.

“Basic elements of a preventive health service,” he writes, “‘can be ob-
tained for the average lIowa community for an expenditure of 50 cents per
capita, and for state public health administration 1o cents per capita is
regarded as a minimum requirement. In Iowa at the present time the an-
nual per capita appropriation for the work of the State health department
is less than 3 cents, the lowest of any state in the Union; while that for
local boards of health does not exceed 10 cents. This is one of the main
reasons for the low fundamental basis on which public health work is
carried on in Jowa.” It should, however, be pointed out that these expendi-
tures ate for supervisory activities and do not represent all of Iowa’s public
health work. For example, many schools, cities, and counties provide nurses;
medical and surgical care of indigent persons is given in State or other hos-
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pitals at the expense of the counties. Both the general death rate and the
infant mortality rate in Iowa are below those of the United States as a whole.

The University of Iowa Hospitals at Iowa City, with general services
established in 1898 and a children’s hospital added in 1919, is the largest
hospital in the State and is recognized as one of the country’s great medical
centers. The bacteriological laboratory, serving the State department of
health, does diagnostic work of higher quality and greater volume (hence
more useful) than that of most States. Included in the set-up of the hos-
pital is one of the largest dental clinics in the world (180 chairs) where
dental students give treatment to thousands of patients at fees covering
only the cost of material.

Provisions for hospitalization in the State seem far above the average.
The 181 hospitals have a combined bed capacity of 8 beds for every thou-
sand population in contrast to the recognized standard for general hos-
pitals of 4.6 beds for every thousand population. Only 61 percent of
hospital beds were occupied in 1936—which may point to the need for
more free care or to the wisdom of diverting funds now used for hospital
maintenance to other health work.

The seven mental hospitals caring for the insane, feebleminded, and
epileptics, present a different picture. Recent studies show that these are
filled to capacity; in fact three report that they are from thirty to fifty per-
cent overcrowded. The first hospital for the insane was established at
Mount Pleasant in 1861. Within the next twenty-five years institutions
were opened at Independence, Clarinda, and Glenwood, the last being for
feebleminded children. There is also a hospital for the insane at Cherokee
and a hospital for epileptics and school for feebleminded children at
Woodward. The counties still take care of many of the less serious cases
in the county homes (poor farms), a questionable procedure from the
point of view of prevention and cure. Signs of more enlightened methods
are to be found in the fact that persons whose insanity is caused by drugs
or alcohol were sent to prison prior to 1902, but are now treated in hos-
pitals for the insane; and in the establishment of the Psychopathic Hos-
pital as part of the University of Iowa Hospital system in 1919.

In its work with children, Iowa has been progtessive on all fronts. The
first child labor law was passed in 1897, forbidding the employment of
any child under fourteen years of age in coal mines. The law also pro-
hibited children under twelve from even entering a coal mine. In 1906
the law was widened to prohibit the employment of children under four-
teen in mines, factories, and similar establishments where eight or more
persons were employed. No child under sixteen was to be employed at
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work dangerous to safety, health, or morals. These and additional laws
have done much to eliminate child labor. Employers have helped by set-
ting high educational standards for their workers. Boys and girls are re-
<quired to have a grammar school, or in some instances a high school
education, and are thus encouraged to remain in school.

t  Under the leadership of Cora Bussey Hillis, Iowa established the first .
child-welfare research station in the United States (1917) at Iowa City.
As stated in the legislative act, its purpose was to investigate the best
scientific methods of conserving and developing the normal child, to dis-
seminate information, and to train students for work in such fields. Dr.
Amy Louise Daniels, one of the country’s leading dietitians, is in charge

_ of the nutrition department, which undertakes special research and study
in foods and nutrition, and trains nutrition specialists. The three State
schools—the University, the College of Agriculture and Mechanic Atts,
and the Teachers College—are co-ordinating centers for child study and
parent education, Field laboratory work is carried on through the organiza-
tion and guidance of groups of parents and workers with children. Radio
broadcasts, bulletins, and pamphlets are used as media of information.
The children’s division of the University of Iowa Hospitals, already men-
tioned, does special work in orthopedics, particularly in bone diseases,
under the direction of Dr. Arthur Steindler, noted orthopedist. Funds are
provided by the State, counties, and various agencies for those unable to
pay and ambulances bring patients from all parts of the State. Children
were the first to be admitted to the university hospitals at public expense,
but this provision was later extended to needy adults.

A home for orphans was established in Davenport soon after the Civil
War and similar shelters wete opened at Glenwood and Cedar Falls. The
Davenport home still cares for orphan and neglected children and a second
orphanage was established at Toledo in 1921. { ’

In the field of recreation, a number of organizations provide camps for
under-privileged children. Especially noteworthy is the Des Moines Salva-
tion Army camp on the Des Moines River, where mothers and children
from the city are given summer outings lasting one or two weeks. Many
of the larger cities have Boy Scout, Girl Scout, and Camp Fire Girl camps
subsidized in part by municipal community chests. In Des Moines, civic
and fraternal organizations provide “‘campships” for boys and girls who
cannot pay their own expenses. For the young men and women outside of
the public schools’ control, both the Young Men’s Christian Association
and Young Women’s Christian Association offer residence and employ-
ment services, and opportunity for social, educational, and recreational
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activities. For many years the indoor swimming pools owned by these or-
ganizations were the only ones available.

Since Territorial days and for some time thereafter, the granting of re-
lief to the poor and, for the most part, to the aged was a function of
.county government. Because the problem was not then acute, State-wide
plans were not considered necessary. Homes or county farms were opened,
some public financial help was given, and private citizens struggled along
with the problem of caring for their needy neighbors, raising funds by
collections. The first move in caring for those in need, along lines other
than purely local, was when the legislature provided money for the erec-
tion of the Old Soldiers’ Home at Marshalltown (1887). All soldiers
legally resident in Iowa and honorably discharged from the Army are ad-
mitted, in some cases with their aged wives, if unable to support themselves.

But in the late 1920’s hard times hit the Iowa farmer and the urban
people dependent on his prosperity. The bureau of social welfare of the
University of Iowa recognized that professional measures were needed and
pointed out that public welfare activities should be unified under the di-
rection of one trained person. Some counties responded in part by em-
ploying social welfare workers and county nurses. In the fall of 1931 the
Governor recognized that an emergency existed and that an effort must be
made to co-ordinate welfare activities in the various counties, but the State
assumed no financial or legal responsibility at that time. Counties were
given flour, milled from grain surpluses purchased by the United States
Government in the summer of 1932, and provided emergency relief in the
form of food, clothing, rent, light, medical services, or cash. Red Cross
units also furnished clothing. By the end of 1932 half of the counties were
no longer able to meet the needs of their unemployed. Six months later
the Federal Government authorized the Reconstruction Finance Corpora-
tion to make Joans to the States for financing their relief operations. The
Jowa Emergency Relief Administration began action under the direction
of the Federal Emergency Relief Administration in June 1933.

Today, in Iowa as in the rest of the country, the unemployed are cared
for by the Works Progress Administration and other work programs, by
general relief, and (for young men) by the Civilian Conservation Corps.
The special problems arising from farm tenancy and soil impoverishment
and how they are being solved is discussed in another section of the Guide
(see Agriculture and Farm Life).

Up to 1934 the problem of the aged had been met to some extent by
providing care in county poor farms. The first step towards a better solu-
tion was taken that year with the granting of old-age pensions to needy
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persons over 65, not in public homes. One of the qualifications imposed
by the law was that the applicant “has no child or other person responsi-
ble under the law of the State, and found by the board or by the commis-
sion able to support him.” The next step was the State’s law for old-age
assistance as provided by the Social Security Act (1936). Figures issued by
the Federal Social Security Board show that in January 1938 there were
45,440 Towans over G5 years of age receiving old age pensions; this num-
ber represents 209 out of every thousand persons in this age group in the
State.

A State board of social welfare was created in 1937, with similar boards
co-operating in the counties, to administer the Federal funds made avail-
able to Iowa under the Social Security Act. In addition to old-age assist-
ance, laws covering unemployment compensation, aid to the blind, and
aid to dependent children have been enacted and approved.
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Sports and Recreation

N THE days before extensive settlement, sportsmen from the East came
]:[ to the prairies in great numbers for the wild game and fowl that hid
away in the tall grasses or frequented the lakes and sloughs. As the prairie
sod was turned and settlement advanced, this great supply of wildlife de-
creased and many species disappeared altogether. Today the best hunting
is in the autumn, when frequently an open season is declared for the color-
ful ring-necked pheasant, an introduced game bird that provides the best
wild-fowl hunting in the State. The best hunting for ducks and geese is
along the marshes of the boundary rivers. Rabbit hunting (either jack or
cottontail) is good in the northwestern part, though the smaller rabbits can
be hunted any place in Iowa.

Fishing grounds for select game fish are hard to find. In the streams
throughout there is some fishing for catfish and carp; and there is trout
fishing in northeastern Iowa, where the streams are clear and cool. In gen-
eral, the northern lakes provide the best fishing.

Every year thousands of petsons visit the lake region in the northwest.
Lake Okoboji and Spirit Lake, the largest and most popular waters, offer a
diversified program of recreation. A line of steamers operates on the lakes,
making regular trips to all parts; and numerous launches are available for
pleasure rides or trips. Swimming, boating, and fishing attract vacationists
in the summer to the cottages along the water’s edge. One town, Arnolds
Park, is a city of cabins and summer homes, dance halls, concessions, and
amusement features. With special sections set off by the State for game
and natural preserves, the lake region offers every form of sport and
recreation.

At many of the larger river towns along the Mississippi, at Davenport,
Muscatine, Keokuk, and Dubuque, daytime or moonlight boat excursions
are provided during summer months. The vacationist at McGregor will
find opportunity for trips up the Mississippi River through scenic and his-
toric country. Canoeing is popular on the rivers of eastern Iowa and tours
of two and three days’ length are often organized.

The building of the Davenport Dam on the Mississippi River has
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created a lake of 6,000 acres. The Mississippi between Davenport and Le
Claire was difficult to navigate because the river flowed over a series of
limestone ledges. After the completion of the dam, these rocky reefs were
deep beneath the waters of a lake, which forms one of the finest motor-
boat race courses in the country, and is a center of activity in winter as well
as in summer. Back of the Keokuk Dam is a similar lake.

The northeastern region locally known as ‘‘Little Switzerland,” the
roughest part of the State, is one of outstanding natural beauty. Here the
bluffs on the Mississippi River rise to a considerable elevation, and many
are wooded with native timber. Hiking is popular from the time the wil-
low unfolds its delicate green in the spring until the flaming red haw
drops its fruit in the fall. A wildlife school is held during August on Mc-
Gregor Heights.

Within the last 25 years the State has set aside some 18,500 acres for
park areas and recreational grounds. Backbone, the oldest of the 72 State
parks and preserves, covers more than 1,000 acres. Three have been named
for men whose work in the establishment of these patks was of major im-
portance: John F. Lacey, United States Representative from Iowa (1889-
1907) ; Louis H. Pammel (1862-1931), professor at Iowa State College;
and Thomas H. Macbride (1848-1934), of the State university. As in
many other parks in Iowa that lack a natural water area, an artificial lake
has been created at Macbride Park. Free camping grounds and facilities are
available for tourists, and many natural trails for hikers. Some of the State
parks enclose historic sites and features of geological or botanical interest.

Enjoyment of what is essentially Iowa is to be found along the side
roads, taken in a quiet leisurely way. Here the wild grape and elderberry
drop their fruit almost into the wagon tracks, and hawthorn with its red
apples colors the scene in the autumn. On the less-frequented lanes the
woodchuck and cottontail rabbit venture boldly along the ditches, and the
timid yellow warblers and other attractive birds fly through the bushes.
Here, too, is the best chance to view the farmer’s cornfields and meadows,
and to converse with him behind his horses.

Among athletic sports, baseball has been a popular game since its intro-
duction after the Civil War. Today many towns have baseball teams, and
hundreds of people play kittenball (soft ball) in the evenings in elec-
trically lighted fields. Also from the informal Sunday afternoon baseball
game in the back pasture there has come a highly commercialized sport.
Charles W. Williams established the kite-shaped race track just outside of
Independence.



TROTTING RACE, STATE FAIR

High schools, academies, colleges, universities, and social groups have
teams of swimmers, wrestlers, baseball players, football players, basket ball
players, and track and field men. Some colleges have introduced fencing,
hockey, and rowing. There are State tennis tournaments, and some of the
colleges have tennis teams. Golf receives State-wide attention ; nearly every
town has its country club that supports a golf course, and the State tourna-
ment held each summer is an important affair.

The Drake Relays, held annually in April at Des Moines, is the State’s
most popular athletic event and one of the most prominent track and field
meets held in the United States. Founded by John L. Griffith, commis-
sioner of athletics of the Big Ten Conference (1938), the first meet took
place at the old Drake University Stadium in 1910. Since that time
the “classic” has steadily grown in size and popularity. Two thousand five
hundred athletes were entered in the meet in 1936. Covering a period of
two days, the event is held in the stadium, which was built as a natural
ampbhitheater to seat almost 20,000.

Many of Iowa’s early settlers were Germans who brought their Turn-
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vereins to the State. The Bohemians developed soko! clubs. Doubtless
these influenced other Iowans to take up gymnastics, and almost every
school and college has made physical training a compulsory course. In
consolidated schools, girls and boys go through setting-up exercises; prac-
tice tumbling, trapeze work, and rope climbing; and train for basketball,
even though they must go home at night and milk cows. In March of every
year high school boys’ and girls’ basketball teams gather at Des Moines
to compete in the annual State contests. Because the games represent the
final achievements in winter sports and are participated in by teams from
the smallest town to the largest city, they draw thousands of people.

Horseshoe contests are held in the smaller towns on holidays, and elim-
ination contests for the State and Midwest championships run for days at
the State Fair. Professionals make it their business to win, and old timers
object to being matched with them; they want the $500 in prizes to go to
amateurs only, who declare they play only for fun. Among Iowa’s three
world champions in this sport is “Putt” Mossman (1928), a Midwest
barnstormer who gives exhibitions of his skill at small town celebrations,
county faits, and tournaments. He won the National at Minneapolis
(1924), at St. Petersburg, Florida (1925), and at Chicago (1926).
Motorcycle stuntriding is Mossman’s sideline. Several Iowa players make
their livelihood by exhibition and tournament play, appearing in the Mid-
west in the summer and in California in the winter.

Forty years ago the young people entertained themselves indoors with
parlor games—post office, wink-on-the-sly, and spin the platter—but today
they look for entertainment at the movies and band concerts; the dance
hall, pool hall, and beer parlor also displace the home to some extent.
Checkers, however, is still a popular game, and even the farmers have
adopted bridge—once considered an evil pastime.
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Press and Radio

Newspapers

HE D« Buque Visitor, published by John King at the Dubuque lead

mines in what was then the Territory of Wisconsin, continuing from
May 11, 1836, to June 3, 1837, was the first newspaper in Iowa. King
brought a Smith hand press from Ohio for his paper. Later he sold his press,
and the first newspapers of Minnesota and South Dakota are said to have
been printed on it. In the State historical museums of both States is a small
machine asserted to be the Visitor press.

The second newspaper, established by Dr. Isaac Galland (1837) at
Montrose, called the Western Adventurer, lasted nine months; then the
machinery was sold to James G. Edwards, who moved it to Fort Madison.
He made his newspaper an organ of the Whig party, called it the Fort
Madison Patriot, and in an early editorial proposed that Iowans take the
name Hawk-eyes, a suggestion which won immediate favor. During the
Territorial years, 24 newspapers were started, only ten of which were still
in circulation when Iowa became a State in 1846. One of these, the Terri-
torial Gazette and Burlington Advertiser (1837), is now the Burlington
Hawk-Eye Gazette and the oldest paper in the State. In 1851 Daniel S.
Curtis, writing his emigrant guide, A description of Wisconsin, Illinois
and lTowa with remarks on Minnesota and other territories, listed more
than 30 newspapers, mainly in the towns in the eastern and southeastern
areas.

Early newspapers bristled with information about politics, business, im-
provements, religion, education, and social life in the hundreds of com-
munities. Although news items appeared intermixed with advertisements,
the editorial was the important feature. Early settlers freely criticized
political and personal opinions that did not coincide with their own. The
main purpose of publishing a newspaper was to support the policies of a
political party. Denunciations directed against policies of legislators con-
cerning such matters as contracts for legislative printing and the chartering
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of banks often led to fist fights. The duels of words continued long after
the political issue was settled.

Typical was the verbal battle between two editors in Iowa City, when
the capital was situated there—a battle not confined entirely to words, since
the two once met in the capitol and caned each other soundly. Ver Planck
Van Antwerp, known as the “General,” called the rival paper of the young
Whig, William Crum, a “Whiggery Humbug.” Crum came back at the
Democratic Capitol Reporter with the epithet “Loco-foco Rag,” and de-
clared Van Antwerp’s “longwinded speeches are as frothy as beer and as
empty as his head.” **
Van Antwerp’s reply.

When pioneer editors were not casting verbal stones at each other, they
praised nature, boasted about community progress, urged people to be
honorable and temperate, and worried about their own finances. In
winter the wind blew through the cracks of the frame buildings, filling
type cases with snow and almost freezing the printers’ fingers. Summer
droughts, spring floods, and loss of credit delayed shipments of paper from
St. Louis and Chicago. Publication days had to be postponed, and some-
times an issue was skipped. Subscribers were often “frozen assets,” and
early editors had to admonish them continually on the matter of unpaid
bills or the practice of borrowing their neighbors’ papers. Anything might
be accepted in subscription payment, from grain to old clothes. An Iowa
City newspaper in the 1840’s listed wood, flour, tallow, lard, and honey
as negotiable for the payment of subscriptions. It is the height of folly,”
declared one printer, “to tell an editor to keep cool when he has to burn
exchange papers to keep warm.” Often the editor gathered up his meager
equipment, moved to another town, and began again.

Advertising in the papers of the 1840’s offered a buggy for hire at a
dollar a day, “invariably cash in advance.” A husband proclaimed himself
not responsible for his wife’s debts, and a society of women asked for
quilts for the needy. One “master” offered a dollar reward for “‘George
. . . a boy about 18 years, small size and spare made, and supposed to be
lurking about Iowa City.” The boy was an indentured apprentice and peo-
ple were cautioned not “to harbor or trust . . . on my account.”

The busy period of settlement and development (1836-1860) was a
time of mushroom newspaper growth, but x18 of the 222 newspapers es-
tablished were discontinued after a brief existence. By the time of the Civil
War the press had grown in power. Editors were appointed postmasters
for their political efforts. Equipment was being improved; steam presses
replaced the old hand press. The traveling printer with his “shirt tail full

LT

Contemptible slang-whanger of the ‘Standard,” ™ was
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of type” became more settled in his ways and more permanent in his
residence.

In 1856 the Free Soil Jowa Citizen was established in Des Moines and,
on Januaty 9, 1860, it became the Iowa State Register, under the editorship
of Coker F. Clarkson. James S. Clarkson, his son, became editor after
1870, and the Republican editorial page of his paper became a forcé in
the State’s political history. Clarkson’s editorial style was partisan and
personal. No retreats were ever sounded. The election of William B. Alli-
son as Senator in 1873 was a victory for Clarkson. It is said to have made
him the undisputed leader, and the Register the recognized organ of the
local Republican Party. Loyalty to James G. Blaine was one of his obses-
sions, and, in 1884, Clarkson was so reluctant to concede victory to Grover
Cleveland that mobs threatened to burn his building.

John P. Irish, who assumed the management of the Iowa City Press in
1864, worked to reform the partisan character of school boards and se-
‘cured additional endowment funds for the State university through edi-
torials in his paper. In Sioux City, George D. Perkins established the
Journal, a paper which did much to mold public thought in northwestern
Iowa.

The number of newspapers increased with the population, until in 1907,
the hightide year, there were 934 newspapers, or one to every 2,366 per-
sons. The Des Moines Register was still the chief political force. James 8.
Clarkson’s paper supported—in some cases discovered—many men who
later won prestige and power in national affairs. In the first years of the
twentieth century his protégés, Senators William B. Allison (1873-1908)
and Jonathan P. Dolliver (1900-1910), Secretary of Agriculture James
("Tama Jim™) Wilson (1897-1913), and Secretary of Treasury Leslie M.
Shaw (1902-1903), were powerful in Washington. At that time Iowans
presided over five important Congressional committees. It became a pop-
ular saying of those times that a man who had Iowa on his side could get
whatever he wanted in Washington. Clarkson suffered his first major de-
feat on the issue of railroad rates, when he favored the railroads and
fought reforms. He wrote in his paper that “the attempt to confiscate rail-
road property and to disregard the rights of absentee holders retired the
strong men of Towa to the rear, and brought to the front smaller men than
I had supposed Iowa could produce.”

Joke-loving editors of the first years of the twentieth century perpetrated
several of Jowa's most notorious hoaxes. Lurid tales described a monster,
seven feet tall and eighty feet long, that could be killed only by a can-
nonade with kegs of railroad spikes. Stories were published about it in
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the Oskaloosa Herald and widely circulated before the hoax was exposed.
Editor Bailey, of Britt, staged another hoax in 1900 that brought reporters
from all over the United States. He announced a Hobo Convention, with
glowing tales of the “Knights of the Road.” When the reporters were
unable to find any hoboes at the convention, they passed the hoax on to
the public, writing fanciful accounts that were widely printed as the truth.
The publicity actually established an annual convention of hoboes, who
meet each year at Britt and elect a king.

Today the most attractive features of the weekly newspaper are the col-
umns of social news and the so-called “‘personals.” Income is derived to a
great extent from the publication of official notices of local governmental
bodies. Cooking schools, newspaper weddings, and special editions are
established methods of increasing circulation. The old personalized treat-
ment of news, characteristic of early country journalism, has almost disap-
peared. Many of the editorial pages are written in a matter-of-fact style—
often syndicated material that is the same in all papers.

Editors of the new generation concern themselves more with the promo-
tion of community activities than with the making of virulent personal
attacks, so common in early newspapers. Occasionally, however, editorials
are directed against conditions which the editor believes to be contrary to
the public welfare. In 1936, for example, Verne Marshall, editor of the
Cedar Rapids Gazette, was awarded the Pulitzer Prize for service in pro-
moting law enforcement in the State.

The Traer Star-Clipper was voted the best weekly newspaper in the
United States by the National Editorial Association at its 1927 convention
in Omaha. The association, meeting at Los Angeles in 1932, made the
same award to the Storm Lake Pilot-Tribune. In 1930 and 1933 the Pilot-
Tribune received the Best Front Page award. The Spencer News Herald
won first prize in 1935 for general excellence among weeklies. The
Guthrie Center Guthrian in 1936 won first prize for community service
rendered by a weekly. The Sheldon Mail received first award for the best
use of illustrative material in 1937. E. P. Chase (1879— ), of the At-
lantic News Telegraph (daily), won the Pulitzer award in 1933 for the
best editorial of the year.

The Des Moines Register and Tribune convenes its carrier-salesmen an-
nually. This paper was one of the first in the Midwest to introduce a
carrier system that required boys to promote circulation as well as to dis-
tribute papers. Jobs depend on the ability of the boys to meet circulation
quotas.

The Iowa Press Association, founded in 1915, maintaining headquarters
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in Des Moines, and the Iowa Daily Press Association, founded in 1921,
keep members informed as to the latest journalistic ideas and trends. In
1936 approximately 2,500,000 Iowans were served by 568 newspaperts.
Of these 47 were dailies, 13 semiweeklies, 508 weeklies, one semimonthly,
and six monthlies. Three foreign language papers are published weekly:
the Davenport Iowa Reform, in German; the Cedar Rapids Lissy, in Bo-
hemian; the Decorah Posten, in Norwegian. One semiforeign paper, the
Schleswig Leader, has one page in German. There are 13 labor papers pub-
lished, most of them representative of single editorial viewpoints rather
than organizational policies. More than 20 newspapers and magazines are
published by religious institutions to serve the needs of their special de-
nominations.

Radio

Radio station WSUI, at the State university, began its regular broad-
casts in 1919 as one of the first in the United States to broadcast educa-
tional programs. The second commercial broadcasting station licensed in
the United States, and the first west of the Mississippi River, was WOC
of Davenport (1921).

Today (1938) there are 11 commercial and four educational stations,
ranging from one of 50,000 watts (WHO) to the small s00-watt station,
as well as police and aviation broadcasting stations. WHO, Des Moines,
went on the air in 1924 ; but with the mushroom growth of countless sta-
tions throughout the country, reallocations had to be made in 1928 which
resulted in pairing WHO with WOC. This grouping continued until
1930, when the two stations were synchronized and operated under one
owner, B. J. Palmer of Davenport. For years radio broadcasting in Iowa
was led by these two stations. In March 1933, however, they were sep-
arated again and WHO has now the only clear channel in the State.

In 1924, Henry Field of Shenandoah began putting on the air, over
KENF, his old-time fiddlers, choir singers, and evangelists until today he
sells everything from “‘prunes to silk stockings” through radio sales and
advertising. In some years this commercial station has done a business of
$500,000. So popular did this station manager become that, in 1932, he
was nominated for the office of United States Senator, reviving the old-
time torch-light parade as part of his campaign.

Norman Baker of Muscatine began broadcasting from his radio station
KTNT a reputed cancer cure, which the American Medical Association did
not accept. On June s, 1931, after a long siege in the courts, the Baker
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station was ordered by the Federal Radio Commission to cease broadcasting.

When lack of school funds brought about a public school holiday in
Des Moines during January 1933, the commercial radio station KSO in
the city co-operated with the city board of education and the teachers to
broadcast daily lessons to the school children. For one week, or until the
classes in the schools were resumed, children in grades ranging from kin-
dergarten through the last year of high school received their lessons by air.

At the Jowa State College of Agriculture (Ames) WOI broadcasts
weather and market reports received over a wire directly from Washington.
It also provides short courses and lectures on phases of agriculture for the
benefit of the farmer. The university station at Iowa City, WSUI, has a
television studio where interesting broadcasts are given. This university
was the first in the United States to offer a regular course in radio broad-
casting.
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Literature

ITHIN the last twenty-five to fifty years young men and women,
Wseeking fame and freedom from the commonplace, have retraced
the footsteps of the pioneers; leaving behind them the peace of country
living, they have dared the sophistication and metropolitan indifference of
New York, some stopping first in Chicago and others detouring through
London and Paris. As courageous as their forefathers, many left the secur-
ity of a job on a Cedar Rapids, Davenport, or Des Moines newspaper and
sought the wide—if not too open—spaces of the literary and artistic world.
They took with them vitality, knowledge of their own country (“‘regional-
ism™), perspective, and sometimes wisdom.

That the West and the Middle West furnished to the already crowded
East an unbidden company of would-be writers is not in itself important.
More significant are the traces to be found in their work of day by day
companionship with “the sky so high and the horizon so low . . . the
tender plants and the shining flowers” (Hamlin Garland). But the real
contribution lies in their preoccupation with immediate problems and
everyday living, particularly that of farm and small town people, in these
United States—a preoccupation actuated by desire for wider spiritual hori-
zons than those of their early environment. Like the writers from the
South—Wolfe, Faulkner, Caldwell, and others—they may be said to have
given a new groundwork to American writing; they have helped to re-
lease it from dependence on European patterns, and to build instead an
indigenous literature.

Iowa has high rank as the birthplace or early home of recent and con-
temporary writers, although many have traveled so far afield it is possible
that few readers think of them as Iowans—Thomas Beer, Ellis Parker
Butler, Marquis Childs, George Cram Cook, Paul Engle, Arthur Davison
Ficke, John T. Frederick, Susan Glaspell, James Norman Hall, Harry Han-
sen, Josephine Herbst, Emerson Hough, MacKinlay Kantor, Honoré
Willsie Morrow, Ross Santee, James Stevens, Phil Stong, Ruth Suckow,
Carl Van Vechten, Margaret Wilson. Others not native to Iowa but asso-
ciated with the State through their life or their work came there from
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neighboring, and similar, States—Nebraska, Illinois, Wisconsin, Ohio,
Missouri—thus sharing somewhat the same physical and mental environ-
ment. In this sense Hamlin Garland, Alice French (Octave Thanet),
Herbert Quick, Floyd Dell, Albert Shaw, and Edwin Ford Piper are im-
portant figures in Iowa literature.

Often the titles chosen by Iowa writers directly or subtly refer to. their
home country: Main Traveled Roads (Garland), Country People
(Suckow), Farmer in the Dell (Stong), Barbed Wire and Wayfarers
(Piper), Fromtier Life (Hough), Black Soil (Donovan), State Fair
(Stong), lowa Interiors (Suckow).

In imagery and metaphor as definitely as in subject matter and title
they reveal deep consciousness of country living. This is the more striking
when found in unexpected places. The anthology, New Oxford Poetry
1936, reprints two excerpts from Break the Heart's Anger, written by Paul
Engle, the young Iowa poet (then in residence at Oxford, England). It
is unfair to quote so briefly from this fine poem but a few lines will show
Engle’s irremovable memory of the farm:

It is better now

For all to wander
From auto and plough
Through clay or sand or
Loam where are

No men, and eyes
Need not bother

To watch the paid
Hands of a man
Betray another

Or be betrayed.

Sensitive love of the land marked one of the earliest authentic pieces of
Iowa literature, the autobiography of the Indian chief Black Hawk, which
was dictated in 1833 and turned into English by the interpreter Antoine
Le Claire, an Jowan of French and Indian blood. "My treason teaches me,”
said Black Hawk, “that land cannot be sold. The Great Spirit gave it to
his children to live upon, and cultivate, as far as it is necessary for their
subsistence; and so long as they occupy and cultivate it, they have the
right to the soil. . . . Nothing can be sold but such things as can be carried
away.”

During the period of settlement, 1833-1883, source material for litera-
ture was being stored up in the form of notes, diaries, letters, amateur his-
tories, and reports of pioneer meetings; and long before the treeless praitie
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and the early settlers themselves were gone, the work of preserving these
documents had begun. The State Historical Society of Iowa, since its
establishment at Iowa City in 1857, has collected and published the annals
of the State, both in its quarterly and monthly magazines and in numerous
bound volumes and pamphlets. Many other books valuable as history and
often as literature have been published by the Society (see Bibliography).

Frequently these are reminiscences or accounts of picturesque periods
such as Cyrenus Cole’s I Remember, 1 Remember (1936) and William J.
Petersen’s Steamboating on the Upper Mississippi (1937).

The first comprehensive history of Iowa was presented in four volumes
in 1903 by Benjamin F. Gue, at one time editor and publisher of the Iowa
Homestead. Two years later (1905) William Salter published his little
volume, Towa: The First Free State in the Louisiana Purchase.

Not until the last decade of the nineteenth century, when the pioneer
period was slipping out of memory, when industry and agriculture were
well established and many towns had grown up, did Iowa writers begin
to produce work that was to have important effect upon national literature.
Davenport, a large river town, became a center because it offered the
stimulus of a remarkably cosmopolitan outlook and, perhaps most of all,
because it happened to be the birthplace or home of many talented men
and women.

Alice French (Octave Thanet) wrote of the Davenport of that time in
Stories of a Western Town (1893). Born in Andover, Massachusetts, in
1850, Miss French spent most of her life in Davenport, and her work
reflects the lively intellectual atmosphere of the town. A characteristic that
was to mark most of Iowa literature was evident in her first sympathetic
stories of village and small-town life in the Middle West. A long novel,
Expiation, was published in 1890, and The Missionary Sheriff in 1897.
Concern with the common people brought her, in her later novels, to
serious treatment of the problems of capital and labor, and in the use of
this material in the form of fiction she was a pioneer. The Man of the
Hour (1905) is a notable example.

Hamlin Garland began in this same period his realistic re-creation of
the development of Iowa and the Middle West—"the first actual farmer
in American fiction.” He was born in Wisconsin in 1860 but moved with
his family from Minnesota to Iowa in 1868 and graduated in 1881 from
Cedar Valley Seminary at Osage. Boy Life on the Prairies (1907) is a
sincere and vivid account of his experiences as a farm boy “on the middle
border.” In 1884 Garland abandoned a claim in Dakota and went East
to write, but in 1893 the West called him back. His early stories gave a
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bitterly honest account of the hardships of life in the Midwest (Main
Traveled Roads, 1890) and set a new standard of realism in the treatment
of American farm life on the frontier. Though the lash and sting of his
earlier work is largely lacking from his best-known book, A4 Son of the
Middle Border (1917), it contains some of his finest writing and depicts
without bias the period following the Civil War.

Perhaps the best interpretation of pioneer life in Iowa before the Civil
War, when the plow had just begun to break the ground, is in Herbert
Quick’s novel, Vandemark’s Folly (1922), the first of a trilogy dealing
with Jowa life through the early 1890’s. Born in Missouri in 1861, Quick
—like Garland—began life as a farm boy, but his native interests led him
to law and literature. In Jowa he taught school and practiced law. He
helped edit LaFollette’s Weekly for a time, and then became editor of
Farm and Fireside. He saw groves of trees, plowed fields, and towns re-
place the prairies, “once a land of unbroken sky line with no object in
sight taller than the yellow blossoms of the compass plant.” His trilogy
tells the story. The Hawkeye (1923) followed Vandemark's Folly with a
dramatic description of Iowa life between 1857 and 188s. In the third
book, The Invisible Woman (1924), Quick gives a realistic picture of
rapid development, with its attendant political corruption, in northwest
Iowa during the boom days of the 1880’s and early 1890’s. One Man's
Life (1925), an autobiography, in a measure rounds out the story of
pioneer Jowa.

The Covered Wagon (1922), an epic of the Oregon Trail of 1848,
gave Emerson Hough (1857-1923) an enormous audience. While faithful
in historical detail, Hough idealized the pioneer and “the gaunt and sad-
faced woman sitting in the front seat of the wagon . . . her head hidden
in the same ragged sunbonnet which has crossed the Appalachians.” The
Story of the Cowboy (1897), 54—40 or Fight (1909), and North of 36
(1923), as well as The Covered Wagon, set a pattern for many imitators.

Meanwhile several of the outstanding members of the Davenport group
were in New York, taking part in the restless experimental movement
sometimes called the “renascence of American literature.”

In 1915 a little theater began in Provincetown, Massachusetts, which
was to have profound significance for American drama and literature in
general, and which was to discover one of the foremost modern play-
wrights—Eugene O’Neill. The moving spirit of the Provincetown Players
was George Cram Cook (1878-1924), “whose devotion to the playwright
remained one of the guiding principles. . . . The old timers do not agree
on Jig Cook’s qualities as a thinker or an artist, but all remember him as
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the unifying force of those early days” (The Provincetown, by Helen
Deutsch and Stella Hanau, 1931). Cook wanted to present plays by Ameri-
can playwrights, and to give free play to the creative and experimental
spirit. Above all he had the rare gift of inspiring others. Susan Glaspell
(1882~ ), his wife, with O’Neill, were the two leading playwrights. The
Provincetown presented plays by Floyd Dell, who had been part of the
Davenport group, and a guest performance of Mr. Faust, by Arthur Davi-
son Ficke, another Davenport writer.

Cook found his ideal in the early Greek, but, with all his wide knowl-
edge of the world literature, he was rooted in Iowa and dreamed of re-
turning to “make Davenport another Athens.” In Iowa he had been a pro-
fessor at the State University, a market farmer, and a writer; he had gone
to Chicago as literary editor of the Chicago Evening Post, and from there
to New York. In 1922 he went with Susan Glaspell to his beloved Greece
to spend the last two years of his life among the peasants of Delphi, and
there he is buried beside the Temple of Apollo.

It is difficult to discuss the work of Cook apart from that of his wife,
as he did his best writing in collaboration with her. Two of their most
popular plays are the one-act Trifles and Suppressed Desires. His own
favorite was The Spring, a full-length play of great originality on the
theme of reincarnation with its setting in lowa. The Athenian Woman is
an original treatment of the Lysistrata story. Pethaps his best-known novel
is The Chasm (1911).

After the death of her husband, Susan Glaspell returned to Province-
town and wrote The Road to the Temple (1926), the story of Cook’s life
and, in part, of her own. She wrote several novels before beginning her
important work as a playwright, notably The Glory of the Conquered
(1909); and, in later life, Brook Evans (1928), a poignant recollection
of her early background, and Fugitive's Returrn (1929). The Inberitors,
a full-length play indicting the war spirit and set in a Mississippi river
town, was given by the Provincetown Players in 1921; and The Verge, an
experimental play on the theme of insanity, in the same year. In 1930
Miss Glaspell won the Pulitzer Drama Prize with Alison’s House, based
on the life of Emily Dickinson.

The Provincetown group produced several of Floyd Dell’s plays (1916
1918): King Arthur's Socks, A Long Time Ago, and Sweet and Twenty.
Born in Barry, Illinois, Dell worked for a Davenport newspaper for a
time, going from that to the position of literary editor for the Chicago
Evening Post, and then to New York as managing editor of The Masses.
Moon-Calf (1920), a partly autobiographical novel, is the story of a
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schoolboy, factory hand, poet, and cub reporter in the river towns of the
Middle West; the city of Port Royal is Davenport. His Little Accident
was one of the popular plays of 1928. A valuable contribution to literature
is his all-English text of Burton’s Anratomy of Melancholy, edited with
Paul Jordan Smith (1927).

The realist tradition was carried on by many of the Iowa exiles, par-
ticularly Ruth Suckow, Josephine Herbst, and Phil Stong. To many who
have never known the prairies, Miss Suckow’s The Folks (1934) has
given an explicit and detailed picture—the corn fields, the spare rooms
and the parlors, the churches, and—with deep understanding—the folks of
Iowa. The strong and stoic quality of farm life, and the younger genera-
tion’s revolt against it, are clear in this honest and memorable novel, as in
most of Miss Suckow’s work—Iowa Interiors (1926), Country People
(1924), The Odyssey of a Nice Girl (1925), The Bonney Family (1928),
Cora (1929), Children and Older People (1931).

Josephine Herbst, who was born in Sioux City, is a realist of a some-
what different order, looking farther back into the past and more widely
around the world. In 1937 and 1938 she reported conditions in Ger-
many, Cuba, and Spain for the New York Evening Post and The Nation.
Her eatlier short stories and novels—Nothing Is Sacred (1928) and
Money for Love (1929)—deal with the frustrated ambitions and difficult
lives of middle-class people, especially the young who seek a more satis-
factory world. The trilogy which will be completed with Rope of Gold (to
be published in 1938) is considered her most important work as a novel-
ist. The earlier volumes, Pity Is Not Enough (1933) and The Executioner
W aits, are concerned with the economic pattern of everyday life, and are
marked by irony and bitter truth.

Phil Stong, formerly a columnist for the New Yotk World and now
living in Connecticut, draws on Iowa life for his masterly farmer portraits.
State Fair (1932) brought him to the attention of critics who found in his
robust, straightforward story of his own people a good example of native
literature. He writes without affectation or moralizing about a way of life
that he knows, In Buckskin Breeches (1937) Stong returned to the pioneer
theme.

MacKinlay Kantor, known in the State as “‘a born story teller” and one
of its most accomplished writers, uses historical material, but not alone
that of the early West. Long Remember (1934), a history of the Battle of
Gettysburg, is an attempt to recapture the events that Lincoln believed
would outlive in man’s memory his own great address on the battlefield.
The novel was one of the three books by American writers submitted for
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the Prix Femina American Award. A briefer story, The Voice of Bugle
Ann (1935), was extraordinarily well received.

The romantic historical tradition was continued by Honoré Willsie
Morrow, former editor of Delineator and a native of Towa, in many popu-
lar novels: Stll Jim (1915), We Must March (1925), Forever Free
(1927), Argonaut (1933), a story of the gold rush days, and Yonder
Sails the Mayflower (1934).

A good modern treatment of the pioneer theme is Margaret Wilson's
The Able McLaughlins, which was awarded the Pulitzer Prize in 1923—
a narrative of the life of a Scotch immigrant family who made their homes
on the prairie. The women especially are sympathetically shown, carrying
for many miles slips of plants and flower seeds for their gardens, and pro-
tecting their chickens from quick-rising storms and low-hovering hawks.

Grandmother Brown’s Hundred Years, by Harriet Connor Brown,
which won the Atlantic Monthly Prize for the most interesting biography
of 1928, is an epic tale of American life in the Middle West. “Grand-
mother Brown,” who was born in Ohio, came to Iowa as a young wife
and spent most of her hundred years in the State. Black Soil, by Josephine
Donovan, won the prize offered in 1930 by Extension Magazine and the
Stratford Company for the best Catholic novel; the story is set in north-
western Jowa among immigrant farmers of many nationalities. Walter
Muilenberg in The Prairie writes of much the same kind of life. Bess
Streeter Aldrich, author of A Lantern in Her Hand (1928) returns to
early Jowa and Nebraska.

James Norman Hall went farther afield perhaps than any other Iowan,
choosing Tahiti for his home and for the subject matter of his popular
short stories and novels, many of them written in collaboration with
Chatrles Nordhoff. Mutiny on the Bounty (1933, with Nordhoff) brought
him celebrity, but many readers already knew the pleasantly romantic Faery
Lands of the South Seas (1921).

The explorer tradition and the historical meet in The Great Commo-
dore (1935), a biography of Matthew Galbraith Perry, who opened Japan
to Western trade, written by Edward M. Barrows. Mr. Barrows, whose
early home was Iowa, is the son of Allen C. Barrows who taught at the
State College at Ames, and brother of Frank E. Barrows, founder of Simp-
son College School of Music.

In contrast to these writers, Thomas Duncan, Karlton Kelm, Eleanor
Saltzman, Ruth Stewart, Elmer T. Peterson, and Winnifred Mayne Van
Etten (whose novel I Am the Fox won the Atlantic Monthly Prize in
1936) live in Jowa and draw on the Middle West for literary material.
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Griffith Beems returns to Iowa for his short stories; and Paul Corey,
author of “Bushel of Wheat, Bushel of Barley” (short story), chose to
live on a farm in the East.

William Wister Haines, whose birthplace is Des Moines, created the
character of Slim (1914), well liked in the novel and in the motion
picture of the same name. Richard Sherman, novelist and short story
writer, lived occasionally in the State. His novel, To Mary With Love,
was made into a popular motion picture. Cornelia Meigs, formerly of
Keokuk, Marion Hurd McNeely, and Olivia McCabe of Des Moines are
well known for their stories for children.

Ross Santee, State director of the Federal Writers’ Project in Arizona,
is a native Iowan, as was the late Dick Wick Hall of Salome, Arizona.
Salome is in desert country, and Hall in vivid humorous sketches for his
typed journal, the Salome Sx#n, described life in the arid West. Later, na-
tional periodicals reprinted the sketches. Santee, in Cowboy and his other
stories, is known both as author and artist for his authentic pictures of the
open range.

Besides Josephine Herbst and Honoré Willsie Morrow, many Iowa edi-
tors and newspapermen have found place in metropolitan journalism,
notably Albert Shaw, founder of the Review of Reviews and its editor for
forty-five years; Harry Hansen, literary editor of the New York World-
Telegram; Marquis W. Childs, Washington correspondent for the St.
Louis Post-Dispatch; and Beatrice Blackmar Gould and Bruce Gould, co-
editors of the Ladies’ Home [ournal.

Harry Hansen includes in Midwest Portraits (1923) studies of the
writers of Davenport, his own town. His Carl Sandburg: The Man and
His Poetry, published as one of the Little Blue Books (E. Haldeman-
Julius, 1924) was given important place in metropolitan literary reviews.
Marquis Childs, who was born in Clinton, has gained a wide audience
through magazine articles on political problems. His Sweden: The Middle
Way (1936) was important because it attracted attention to the co-opera-
tive movement as a possible development in America. Mr. Childs has
written many short stories with Iowa as the background and a novel,
Washington Calling (1937), with its setting in the national capital.

Henry Wallace, grandfather of Henry A. Wallace (Secretary of Agricul-
ture under President Franklin D. Roosevelt), established Wallace’s Farmer
in Des Moines in 1895. Secretary Wallace is himself the author of several
important books on agriculture and economics: Agricultural Prices
(1920), Corn and Corn Growing (1923), New Frontiers (1934).

The financially frail “little” magazine is a characteristic expression of
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the experimental spirit, and Iowa’s writers have been true to form in this
respect. The first literary magazine, The Midland Monthly, was founded
in 1894 by Johnson Brigham (State Librarian for more than thirty years)
“to encourage the creative spirit in the Middle West.” Ellis Parker Butler
was its humorist and Emerson Hough’s first published story appeared in
its pages.

John T. Frederick, who established T'he Midland at Towa City in 1915,
deserves high rank among editors for his “‘modest attempt to encourage
the making of literature in the Middle West”; an attempt that was con-
tinued for eighteen years, during which the little magazine published
poems and stories of young writers from all parts of the country. Mr.
Frederick, now State director of the Federal Writers’ Project in Illinois,
is the author of two successful novels, Druida (1923) and Green Bush
(1925), and was for many years a member of the English department of
the State University of Iowa. Frank Luther Mott, professor of journalism
in the university, was assistant editor of The Midland. A History of
American Magazines, 1741-1850, published in 1930, is his most im-
portant work. An earlier study, The Literature of Pioneer Life in lowa
(1923), and his story of “The Man with the Good Face” are also well
known.

The Left, published at Davenport in 1930 and 1931, and The New
Quarterly (in nearby Illinois, 1932) encouraged experimental writing and
free expression of thought. After The Midland was discontinued in 1933
various “‘regional” magazines sprang up: The Hub and The Dubugue Dial
(edited by Karlton Kelm) in 1934, and Hinterland from 1936 to the
present (1938). A promising adventure is American Prefaces, begun at
Iowa City in 1935 and published under the supervision of Norman
Foerster of the University of Iowa, author of Humanism in Ametica
(1930). At Cornell College in Mount Vernon, The Husk, edited by
Clyde Tull, has published some of the younger poets, including Jewell
Bothwell Tull and Edward Weissmiller, winner of the Yale Series of
Younger Poets’ Prize in 1936 with his The Deer Come Down.

In these courageous little magazines short story writers and poets may
express their sense of the beauty and tragedy of farm life—of all life—
in whatever pattern or technique they wish to try. The poets perhaps have
benefited most of all from this opportunity. Jay G. Sigmund (1885—
1937), whose poems and short stories derive from his native Waubeek,
had some of his earlier work published first in The Midland. Contem-
porary poets of ability found encouragement in these reviews: Edwin
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Ford Piper, James Hearst, Raymond Kresensky, Mildred Fowler Field,
Don Farran, Marion Louise Bliss, and many others.

Arthur Davison Ficke, Edwin Ford Piper, and Paul Engle, because of
the volume and quality of their work, are the ranking Iowa poets. Piper,
born in Auburn, Nebraska, has been connected with the State university
as teacher of English, and of poetry especially, for more than thirty years.
His first book, Barbed Wire and Other Poems, appeared in 1917. Barbed
Wire and Wayfarers followed in 1923, Paintrock Road in 1927, and
Canterbury Pilgrims in 193s. Virtually all Piper’s poetry—narrative or
lyric—deals with pioneer life. The Land of the Aionwas, a masque con-
ceived with vigor and beauty, was performed at the Diamond Jubilee of
the University of Towa in 1922.

Arthur Davison Ficke’s poetry is excellently designed, reflecting an in-
terest in Oriental art. His first volume, From the Isles, was published in
1907, and the second, Chats on Japanese Prints, in 1915. Ficke’s love
poetry is well known, especially in Sonnets of a Portrait Painter (1922)
and An April Elegy (1917). One of his more recent poems, “Nocturne in
a Library” is a powerful presentation of the tragic state of the modern
world. Beauty of form and sincere conviction mark many of the poems in
Mr. Ficke's later collections—Selected Poems (1926), Mountain Against
Mountain (1929), and The Secret (1936).

Paul Engle, youngest of the three, began by rejecting the attitude of
futility and tynicism common to many recent poets, and taking as his
theme the beauty of America and the pageantry of its history. American
Song, a long narrative poem describing the development of the United
States, won the World Century of Progress Prize in 1933. Engle’s work
today shows great technical development and maturity of emotion and
thought. Break the Heart's Anger is in the major tradition of poetry for,
though it is a bitter protest against cruelty and confusion, it expresses grief
of so high an order that it becomes affirmation.,



The Arts

Graphic and Plastic Arts

HE homely richness of the Iowa scene—its tiled silos, the geometric

patterns of its corn fields, the barns and cattle and sturdy farm
houses—has long sustained the pride and patriotism of the State. It is only
during the last twenty years, however, and more particularly during the
1930’s, that the well-known and well-loved homeland has been used as
subject matter for the paintings and murals of contemporary artists. But
what has been hailed as “regional art” may well be found, upon examina-
tion of the many factors which led to its birth, to be part of a wider and
perhaps far more significant movement. The fine arts in Iowa should be
viewed in relation to the cultural development of the entire country.

The first art was, of course, that of the mound builders and Indians,
but it is a thing apart and has had little or no influence. George Catlin,
who was one of the first artists of note to paint the Indians, spent some
months in the early 1830’s living among them and studying their life.
Three of his works, a bear dance of the Sioux Indians and two portraits of
Chief Keokuk, are in the National Museum at Washington.

There was little time for artistic expression in the hard life of the early
settlers, except in those products which served a useful as well as an
asthetic purpose. The quilt that provided warmth also gave opportunity
for skill and beauty in its making. Designs for quilts and coverlets were
passed from neighbor to neighbor, and quilting bees were popular. Gay
colors went into the knitted mufflers and mittens; lace of intricate pattern
trimmed petticoats and pillowcases; and samplers carried in cross-stitch
such mottoes as “God Bless Our Home.” The pioneers followed the gen-
eral Colonial tradition in the native arts with interesting variations. These
were chiefly in the nature of a new sturdiness and simplicity, imposed by
the rigorous demands of pioneer life and the restricted supply of materials
and tools.

Interest in handicraft was acceptable, but anyone who had a talent and
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love for painting worked alone and as secretly as possible. He found no
place in the methodical and hard-driving farm life, and more often than
not was considered “‘a bit queer” or “a lazy good-for-nothing.”

But two unrelated events in the 1860’s brought about a change of atti-
tude, and in a general way influenced developments in the field of art.
George Henry Yewell, whose childhood had been spent in Iowa, won
recognition abroad with his Children of the Seashore, Normandy, painted
in 1861; and the Davenport Academy of Sciences arranged a series of lec-
tures and an exhibition of paintings in 1867. (Several of Yewell's por-
traits of Iowa Governors are still preserved in the State Historical Building
in Des Moines.) For the next half century Iowa imported its art and ex-
ported its potential artists, or at least estimated them by the yardstick of
the recognition they received elsewhere—preferably abroad. The artists
themselves played a passive part in the growing interest in art, since in
general they left the State for their training, never to return, or to return
only (as did Yewell) to paint the portrait of the Governor or of some
other dignitary. The story of this period, in contrast to that of the present
time, is one not of artists but of institutions and personalities that fostered
an appreciation of art.

Their activities upheld the efforts of the more sophisticated East to
“civilize the backwoods,” and were welcomed rather than resisted by the
Iowans, who were adventurous and eager to keep abreast of the times.
The eastern and academic standards thus imposed, together with the influx
of manufactured goods and the vulgarization of taste which followed the
Civil War, destroyed the pioneer arts before they had time to take root.

One unique exception is the Amana Society, a German religious sect
which founded seven villages in Iowa County during the 1850’s (see Tour
14A). The handicraft tradition was part of the Amanite pattern of eco-
nomic self-sufficiency, and the Society developed skillful craftsmen and
some interesting indigenous crafts derived from the original German.
Today it produces furniture, rugs, textiles, and a number of functional
and ornamental objects in wrought iron, and carries on a successful busi-
ness enterprise in wools and blankets. In recent years, through the en-
couragement of outsiders, the Amana Society has established a museum in
one of its little communities which houses some of the best examples of
craft culture in the State.

In the generation before the World War the two most influential
personalities in the State’s art development were Charles F. Cummings
and Lorado Taft. Although the lesser of the two in scope and quality of
leadership, Cummings was the more important locally since he worked
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VETERINARY MEDICINE FARM CROPS
MURALS IN LIBRARY OF

from within the State while Taft made his headquarters in Chicago. On
a number of other points, however, their influence was similar. Though
today their position seems academic and they wasted their last years in a
futile battle against modernism, both contributed measurably to the orien-
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tation toward the fine arts in the Midwest. This they did chiefly by trans-
lating the esoteric art jargon into terms the Midwesterner could understand.
Cummings established the Cummings School of Art in Des Moines in
1895, and fifteen years later became the head of the newly formed depart-
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ment of graphic and plastic arts at the State university, serving in this
capacity until 1927. He made Iowa familiar with the works of his fellow
-academicians in the East, particularly Edward W. Redfield, Gardner
Simons, and Elmer Schofield; and exerted an influence on J. S. Carpenter,
a construction engineer, who built up the first private collection in the
State and encouraged others to follow suit. (A memorial collection of
nineteen portraits by Cummings hangs in the Iowa Historical Library at
Des Moines.) Taft is known both as a sculptor and as the author of
authoritative books in this field, notable among which is his exhaustive
work History of American Sculpture. He taught and lectured for many
years at the Art Institute in Chicago and at the University of Chicago.

It is perhaps due to his influence that Iowan sculptors won recognition
sooner than did the painters. Sherry Edmundson Fry, who was born in
Creston in 1879, modeled his first pieces in Iowa clay. He left the State
to work under Lorado Taft in Chicago, but later returned to study Indian
life. While in Paris, he modeled his prize-winning statue of Chief Ma-
haska, which was cast in bronze and now stands in the city square at
Oskaloosa. Another native-born sculptor, Nellie Verne Walker (1874- )
executed the statue of Chief Keokuk (1913).and the panels at Iowa
State College (1924). She worked first in the shop of her father,
who was a marble cutter, and she too studied under Taft. Her Son, an
idealized mother and son group, is in the collection of the Art Institute
in Chicago. Although David Edstrom (1873— ) was born in Sweden
and returned there, he spent his boyhood in Ottumwa, and designed the
Civil War Soldiers monument (1918) which stands in the central park.
Harriet A. Ketcham of Mount Pleasant executed the monument to Iowa
soldiers and sailors (1890) on the capitol grounds in Des Moines. Harry
Stinson, whose Lewis and Clark monument was erected in 1935 at the city
limits of Council Bluffs, teaches sculpture at the State university. Another
of his works is the figure of Black Hawk (1934) in Lake View. Christian
Peterson, a Danish immigrant, executed the terra cotta murals of the
dairy building, the gymnasium, and the veterinary quadrangle at Iowa
State College. The Girl on Roller Skates and other figures in the Metro-
politan Museum in New York, and Little Mother in the Art Institute in
Chicago, are by Abastenia St. Leger Eberle (1878- ), who was born
in Webster City. The bronze bust of Lorado Taft by Alice L. Siems, the
portrait heads by the farmer Clifton Adams, and the statue of the Indian
girl Sacajawea in Washington Patk, Portland, Oregon, by Alice Cooper
Hubbard are additional examples of Iowa’s contribution in the field of
sculpture. Though not born in the State, Vinnie Ream Hoxie (1847-1914),
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famous for her statue of Lincoln, spent her summers in Iowa in the late
1880’s, working on life-size figures of Governor Samuel J. Kirkwood and
Senator James Harlan. These are now in Statuary Hall, Washington, D.C.

The influence of Cummings and Carpenter brought paintings from the
East (particularly from the National Academy and the Grand Central
Galleries, New York) to the galleries of Des Moines, Iowa City, and
Cedar Rapids, and made Iowa familiar with what may be termed ac-
cepted works of art. But the wave of nationalism which accompanied the
post World War boom gave rise in the East to a reaction against European
dominance in the arts, and this reaction was reflected in the Midwest
by a growing awareness of American and especially of local talent.

Thus the 1920’s saw an acceleration of public interest in painting. Art
associations in various towns, started chiefly in the 1890’s, opened their
galleries to the public with traveling exhibitions of paintings routed by
the American Federation of Arts, the College Art Association, the Na-
tional Galleries, and similar exhibition agencies. The Des Moines Asso-
ciation of Fine Arts, organized in 1918, began to bring exhibits to the
city and promote study clubs. The association today owns paihtings by
Redfield, Miller, Symons, Tanner, Schofield, Brangwyn, Henri, and Kroll,
on display in the city library. The Davenport Municipal Art Gallery was
founded in 1925, and now records as many as 25,000 visitors each year.
The Blanden Memorial Gallery at Fort Dodge was established some years
later. At Cedar Rapids, the Little Gallery was opened by the American
Federation of Arts in 1928, with funds subscribed by the Carnegie Foun-
dation. The sponsors’ hopes of making it an influence and an example for
similar galleries were amply fulfilled under the dynamic leadership of its
director, Edward B. Rowan.

Colleges, women’s clubs, and finally the artists themselves responded
to the general awakening of interest. The Iowa State Fair admitted paint-
ing and sculpture to its exhibits. Women’s clubs set up art departments
and study groups, and popular lecturers on the arts, such as Dudley
Crafts Watson of Chicago, were always assured of large and enthusiastic
audiences. The State Teachers College now gives normal courses in both
creative art and art appreciation; Cornell, Grinnell, and Coe Colleges, and
Drake University have excellent art departments, and special work in the
silicate industries—tile, terra cotta, and pottery—are offered at the State
College. The University of Iowa, with its art department housed in its
own building on the bank of the Iowa River, exerts a major influence.
Its permanent collection includes a number of paintings by academic
American artists and a representative collection of sculpture.
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With the American art world seeking a cultural pole in the heart of
America rather than in Europe or on the eastern seaboard, with Iowa de-
veloping an art consciousness and an awareness of its own potentialities—
the soil was prepared for the flowering of the genius of Grant Wood,
who today ranks as the outstanding artist of the State and among the
distinguished painters of America. Born on a farm near Anamosa, the
son of a Quaker farmer, he shows many of the good qualities as well as
the limitations of his former neighbors. He is conservative, deliberate,
obstinate, and honest; and his pioneer background is evident in the pa-
tient, meticulous, and somewhat rigid craftsmanship shown in his work.
Wood was first a worker in metal and homemade jewelry, and (after his
return to Jowa from the World War) a teacher of art in the public
schools of Cedar Rapids. In 1920 he took a short leave of absence for
study in Paris and thereafter began to paint seriously and develop his own
technique. He first attracted attention with the portrait Jobn B. Turner,
Pioneer, followed by the portrait of his mother, Woman with Plants, now
owned by the Cedar Rapids Art Association. Unexpected and wide acclaim
greeted American Gothic (1930), which shows a farmer and his wife
standing before a farmhouse, the lines and mood of the picture suggesting
a firm but barren sense of devotion to duty. American Gothic is now in
the Art Institute, Chicago, and Wood’s well-known Dinner for Threshers
is in the Whitney Museum, New York.

A group of younger artists, heartened by Wood’s success, and inspired
by his use of Iowa subject matter flocked to his standard. Together with
Rowan and Adrian Dornbush, Wood founded the Stone City artists’
colony in 1932. (See Tour 1A.) Here for two summers a number of
artists and students painted the rolling prairie, the barns, corn fields, and
scenes of farm life typical of southeastern Iowa.

Three among the younger attists share Wood’s rural background:
Robert Tabor of Creston, whose Coxniry Auction, painted in 1934 under
the Public Works of Art program, was hailed as an Iowa primitive; Karl
Flick, a former grocery cletk and member of the Amana Society, who won
notice with his Amana Interior; and the farmer Tom Savage, a young
painter of promise from the vicinity of Fort Dodge. :

Many other influences have contributed to the present lively and vig-
orous art movement. Among the annual exhibitions are the State Fair
Salon and the Iowa Artists’ Art Fair, both in Des Moines; the exhibit of
the Towa Artists’ Club; the Tri-city exhibition at Davenport; the Dubuque
artists’ exhibit; and the traveling exhibition of the Iowa Art Guild. The
strong and racy work of Jay Darling (Ding), cartoonist on the Des
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Moines Register and Tribune, has had a prolonged and vital influence in
the State and, through syndication, in the entire country. Cartooning is
still generally linked with so-called commercial art, and Darling himself
would be the first to disclaim position as an artist. Nevertheless cartooning
can be ranked with certain forms of illustration as one of the most forceful
art expressions in the American vernacular, and it is as such that Darling’s
work should be given recognition. The Register and Tribune, under the
editorship of the younger Cowles—the sons of the founder—has per-
sistently fostered not only the enjoyment of the arts but, more important,
given space and encouragement to local artists. Two murals by Russell
Cowles, on the walls of the business offices of the Register and Tribune
Building, represent the Functions of the Newspaper and Freedom of
Speech.

Among the leaders of the younger group of artists are Francis Robert
White, State Director of the Federal Art Project of the Works Progress
Administration, Chris Glazell, Lowell Houser, -and Dan Rhodes. Grace
French Evans, Evelyn Blunt Fiche, Louise Garst McBroom, and Edith Bell
are also active in the younger group. Kate Keith Van Duzee, of Dubuque,
has long been a leader of art in her own community, as well as an artist
who has caught the quaint flavor of that river town. Some artists of talent
—such as David _McCosh, of‘Cedar Rapids, William Palmer, of Des
Moines, and Carl Free, of Davenport—have followed the traditional prac-
tice of leaving the State for their final training.

The Federal Government, in granting funds to artists, is undoubtedly
a major factor in the Iowa art situation today. The Procurement Division’
of the Treasury Department, the Federal Art Project of the Works Prog-
ress Administration, and (formerly) the Public Works of Art Projects
have given Iowa artists the opportunity of developing their talent at home
and thus of enriching both themselves and the State.

Nine murals depicting phases of agriculture were designed by Grant
Wood for the foyer of the library of the Iowa State College, and developed
and executed by assistants under his direction. White (mentioned above)
has been appointed to design the murals for the Federal building in Cedar
Rapids. Assisting him are Harry Jones, who is also directing the fresco
work (1938) on the walls of the children’s room in the Des Moines city
library, Everett Jeffery, and Don Glassell, who came to America from
Denmark when he was seventeen and is now on the staff of the Sioux City
Art Center. Richard Haines, of Cresco, is designing the mural for his
home city post office, and has also received the regional award for the
execution of the post office mural in Wichita, Kansas. Murals for the post
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offices at Osceola (1936) and Pella (1937) are being executed by Byron
Ben Boyd, of Des Moines, and the commission for the post office mural
at Ames was awarded in 1935 to Lowell Houser of that city, known for
his wood blocks, black and white drawings, and oils made from his Cen-
tral American sketches. Other Iowa artists to receive commissions include
Richard Gates, Mildred Pelzer, Bertrand Adams, William Bunn, Arnold
Pyle, and Savage, Glazell, Rhodes, and Tabor (mentioned above).
Lawrence Stewart’s Symphony in Smoke, a Des Moines riverfront scene,
painted in 1934 under the Public Works of Art Projects, was among the
works exhibited at the Cotcoran Gallery in Washington. The Federal Art
Project exhibition, “New Horizons in American Art,” held at the Museum
of Modern Art in New York in October 1936, and later sent throughout
the country, included paintings by Arnold Pyle and George Chamberlain.
A Federal Art Project undertaking of deep significance for Iowa is the
Community Art Center of Sioux City, sponsored by the Project and the
Sioux City Society of Fine Arts, and launched with the co-operation of the
entire city. Individuals, business firms, and organizations donated time,
money, material, and labor. The two local newspapers outdid themselves
in supporting the Center; volunteer workers, some with funds so meager
that they lacked even streetcar fare, came daily to help; electricians and
carpenters on the Works Progress Administration payroll voluntarily con-
tributed additional hours on the job; young men from the National Youth
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Administration and the public school manual training department built
equipment; and members of the Plumbers and Steamfitters Union, Local
18, donated their labor. More than two thousand people came to see their
art center on the opening day, February 20, 1938, and three hundred
registered for courses. Here, indeed, is a new horizon in American Art.

LA ALHALALALALALALALALALALASALALE RO

The Theater

In 1838, a few years after the first settlers reached Iowa, The Iowa
Thespian Association advertised a performance of “the much admired play,
The Glory of Columbia, by William Dunlap, Esq., to conclude with a
variety of Songs Duets, and Trios.” Snow boats were tying up at the
wharfs of the Mississippi River towns by the mid-century, bringing Carl
Wagner’s Minstrels, Duprez and Benedict’s Minstrels, and J. A. Wal-
lace’s Great Palace Circus. Strolling mimics, singers, and acrobats were
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*, performing in the dining rooms, taverns and market places of Dubuque,
Burlington, and Davenport, and a complete Shakespearean repertoire was
presented at the Julien Theater in Dubuque in 186o.

Iowa’s early interest in the theater was stlmulated by the arrival of Ger-
man immigrants, who brought w1th them 4 love for the drama and in some
instances professional training. They put. on German productions of the
plays of Schiller, Goethe, and Moliére.

Road companies soon found a hearty welcome in the larger towns, where
elaborate opera houses received them. Burlmgton in particular was a pop-
ular theater town from its earliest show-boat days, and a favorite stand for
New York road shows. These played at the old Grimes Opera House and
at the Grand Opera House, built in 1881. The latter was known in the
theatrical world as ‘‘that theater way out west where they always play to
a packed house,” and was the first theater in the State to use uniformed
ushers and an orchestra,

The so-called professional theater today centers in Des Moines, Cedar
Rapids, Davenport, and Iowa City. The Shrine Temple in Des Maines,
built in 1927, can seat an audience of five thousand. But when stars such
as Katharine Cornell, Ina Claire, and Leslie Howard play there the famaus
SRO (standing room only) sign, so dear to all theatrical managers, is
hung out for many a performance.

The Chautauquas supplemented the early road shows and brought to
large sections of the population their only experience with spoken drama.
People from surrounding towns and farms often pitched tent cities on the
Chautauqua grounds and stayed for the entire ten-day meeting.

The movies, in Iowa as elsewhere, largely displaced both road shaws
and Chautauquas, though the latter were still popular in the early nineteen
-hundreds. By 1936 road shows stopped in only the larger cities, and the
number of Chautauquas in the State had been reduced to one.

But interest in the theater persisted in another and perhaps more satis-
factory form. Burlington, carrying on its tradition as a show town, gave
the first Little Theater performance in Iowa in 1915. A Little Theater group
was formed in Waterloo the following year, and a similar group was saon
‘organized in Sioux City.

In Des Moines the idea of using home talent instead of depending en-
tirely on road shows had first been put into practice at the Princess Theater
which opened in 1909. Here a stock company gave training to inexperi-
enced actors, half a dozen of whom later became famous on Broadway and
in Hollywood. Among these are Conrad Nagel, Fay Bainter, and Ralph
Bellamy. Ten years later, the city’s Little Theater society was organized, fol-
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lowing the enthusiastic reception of three plays written and produced by
Des Moines citizens and sponsored by the Iowa Press and Authors’ Club.
This group, later widening its activities to become the Des Moines Com-
munity Drama Association, has presented plays by O’'Neill, Shaw, Strind-
berg, Ibsen, Capek, Lula Vollmer, and other modern dramatists. In 1931
the association launched the Sylvan Theatre in Greenwood Park. A nota-
ble musical performance with a cast of two hundred was given before an
audience of more than eight thousand in 1937—a high light in the history
of the Sylvan Theatre.

The Little Theater, or community theater, movement has developed stead-
ily and become State-wide in scope and significance. Interest in giving
plays and requests for advice led Iowa State College to set up the Little
Country Theater at the State Fair in 1922. As a result, and with the help
of the college extension service, members of 4-H clubs and other rural
community groups began to produce plays. Each winter during Farm and
Home Week college students and rural organizations give performances
at the Theater Work Shop at Iowa State College. From seven to eight hun-
dred plays have been presented at fairs and cattle congresses, and before
local audiences. In 1935 these widely scattered groups combined to give a
successful performance of The Bohemian Girl at Ames, although the en-
tire cast was able to hold only a few rehearsals. The following figures give
some indication of the vitality of the rural community theater movement:
in 1936 drama committees were functioning in 288 townships, and 38
drama schools, county-wide in scope, were helping them with their pro-
ductions.

Meanwhile, the State University at Iowa City was fostering interest in
the theater on a different front. An experimental theater was organized
in 1921 and produced more than 150 plays during the following 15 years.
In addition to plays representing various trends and periods in dramatic
history, new playwrights—some of them students—first tried out their
work here. Virgil Geddes, E. P. Conkle, and Richard Maibaum, later to
win recognition in New York and elsewhere, saw the first productions of
many of their plays at the Experimental Theater. Geddes, one of the orig-
inal directors of the Federal Theater Project in New York, is well known
for his plays The Earth Between, In the Tradition, and Native Ground.
In 1935 a new university theater was built with modern equipment includ-
ing a revolving stage. '

Another activity which is developing a State-wide interest in the theater
is the play festival, held for four days each spring.at Iowa City. A thous
sand or more high school and junior college students present eighty to
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ninety plays in a play competition; winners receive university scholarships
entitling them to training in playwriting and production.

The Iowa Federation of Women’s Clubs cooperates with the State Uni-
versity Division of Drama in encouraging production of plays, the observ-
ance of Drama Week and the fostering of local talent. In these and other
ways the federation is aiding the growth of interest in regional plays and
in local community drama throughout the State.

George Cram Cook and Susan Glaspell, two writers whose work has had
a far reaching effect on the theater of the entire country, were born in
Jowa. They guided the fortunes of the Provincetown Players, the group
which gave first productions of Eugene O’'Neill’s early plays and developed
other notable playwrights as well as actors. Cook and Glaspell also wrote
plays which were especially suitable for Little Theater production and thus
gave impetus to the Little Theater movement.

4AHAALHALHALALHALALALALALALHALALALHLETO >

Music

The first known music of the Iowa country was that of the Indian
tribes, chiefly the Sac and Fox. Other tribes invaded the territory to hunt
or fight, and the Potawatamie and Winnebago—the last to leave Iowa—
moved through the country as the Government drove them northward.
Partly because these tribes occupied adjacent or overlapping territories,
their music was similar and the songs of one tribe were often found in the
language of another; some of the sacred songs of the Iowa, for example,
were in the language of the Winnebago.

Percussion and wind instruments were used by the historic Indians:
drums, rattles, various kinds of whistles, and the red cedar flute. The
drum, like the smaller tambourines, consisted of a skin stretched over a
wooden framework or a section of hollowed wood. The chants of the
Winnebago medicine ceremony were accompanied by drum and rattle.
Tribal chants in general had a wider range than the five to six note limit of
the flute, which was used for love and courtship music. The love song
played by a young man on his flute identified him at long distance.
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Caleb Atwater, Indian Commissioner, in his Memoirs on the Sauks and
Foxes noted that “the tunes of most of the Indians . . . are dull and
monotonous, because with only from three to five musical notes they must
be so . . . yet even such tunes sung by some soft, clear, melodious voices,
both of males and especially females, the music in them is quite agreeable
and enchanting.”

Many of the Indian songs had no definite words, only vocables to carry
the music. When words were used they indicated the many aspects of so-
cial life into which music entered. There were songs for many special
occasions: religious ceremonies, war, dancing, mourning, courting, and
hunting.

Music played a greater part in the lives of early Iowans than did any of
the other arts. As successive waves of settlers—native and European—
moved west from the Mississippi River to the Des Moines River Valley,
they brought with them their own music—songs, dances, and musical
“play-party games.” Even before German, Czech, and Welsh immigrants
formed their bands and choral groups, music had developed with the com-
ing of the “singing professor” and Thursday night “singing school.”
Starting in the fall after cornhusking, these schools continued until Feb-
ruary, drawing young people from miles around to learn notes and scales,
simple tunes, part reading, and group singing.

Iowa is outstanding among Middle Western States for its American
traditional folk music. Carl Van Vechten has written of a leisurely but
fruitless jaunt in the vicinity of Cedar Rapids (his birthplace) in search
of folk music, but competent collectors in the State believe that they have
only begun to explore the neglected folk music field. No authoritative col-
lection has been made, but the songs and dances of the miners, farmers,
railroad men, and other working people are there waiting to be written
down.

The barn dance, originally held to celebrate the building of houses and
barns, became a definite part of the social life of farming communities. It
continued as a custom independent of any special occasion, the locale
changing from seasonally emptied haymows to farmhouses, schoolhouses,
grange halls, opera houses, and lodge halls. In 1936 one of the State’s
largest radio stations was sponsoring a synthetic Saturday night barn dance
program.

The martial drum and fife bands of the military organizations sup-
ported by early settlers were used at celebrations of all sorts. They were
the forerunners of the brass bands which, in later years, contributed to the
development of the modern dance band. In 1841 the first Territorial
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Whig Convention in Davenport met at the LeClaire House and marched
with a band consisting of one bugle and a clarinet. Circus and tent show
bands stimulated interest in music and, before the railroads came and the
river towns had built their first opera houses, showboats advertised “A
First Rate Band of Music Will Be Aboard.”

Sacred music held an important place in the lives of the settlers and,
as eatly as the 1850’s, Iowa was distinguished for its composers of hymns.
William S. Pitts, visiting at Bradford in 1857, wrote The Little Brown
Church in the Vale. A simple frame church, built by village people in 1864,
was named for the song. The background of “singing school” helped to
further music in the churches, whose choits in turn developed both talented
individuals and groups.

European immigrants—especially those from Germany, Sweden, Bo-
hemia (Czechoslovakia), and Wales—brought with them the highly devel-
oped music of their own lands, and tried to adapt it for use in the new
country. Forty years later, Anton Dvofik came to spend a quiet summer
in the small village of Spillville, where he went for walks along the Tur-
key River, played the village church organ, and perhaps composed some of
the music of his New World Symphony. In the period before the Civil
War professional musicians began to arrive from the larger cities to the
south and east, and by 1860 more sophisticated music was heard in Iowa.
Reed organs from the East were regularly part of church equipment and,
with a few pianos, they found place in the parlors of the well-to-do—
possession of either organ or piano being a high social distinction. The
first piano, a rosewood belonging to a Mr. Evans, was brought down the
Ohio by barge in the 1830’s, then overland and by ferry to Montrose and
Keokuk.

Long before 1890 exponents of European music had widened the breach
already existing between old time folk and more formal music. Resident
teachers gave music lessons to young people whose parents could afford
instruction and instruments; talented students went to conservatories in
Chicago, the East, and Europe for advanced study. One of the foremost
European-trained grand opera stars of the 1890’s was Alice Ettinger of
Waterloo, whose stage name was Madame Ettinger Braun. Clarence Eugene
Whitehill, baritone of the Metropolitan Opera Company of New York,
was born in Marengo in 1871.

By the beginning of the twentieth century, the music of the early
Iowans—folk songs and dance music, Civil War songs, hymns, and the
classic and folk music brought from Europe—was submerged in a flood of
“rag time” and “‘coon” music which reached the Midwest by way of the
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first World’s Fair of Chicago. Although musical leaders opposed rag time,
Ta Rab Rabh Rab Boom de Ay (considered sinful in many homes) re-
placed Turkey in The Straw, and the rag time crazes of the 1890’s, Elisha
Green's Cake Walk and Ben Hur's Chariot Race, were sung oftener than
The Little Brown Church in the Vale and Only a Pansy Blossom. 4

Today, instrumental and band music instruction is given in many public
schools, and military organizations, colleges, cities, and towns have uni-
formed bands. They are the life of parades and political rallies, football
games, and celebrations, a fixture in hundreds of communities where band
concerts divert farmers and townspeople as they “trade.” Many of these
bands compete at the biennial Band Day, established by Karl King in Fort
Dodge. The Iowa Corn Song—"That’s where the tall corn grows’—is
blared forth by bands on most occasions. The melody was adapted from
Travelling, a tune popular at the end of the nineteenth century, and the
words were written in 1912 by two Des Moines Shriners as a series of
verses in honor of the various cities they visited.

In the churcheés, hearty congregational singing is being replaCed by
classical music performed by trained choirs, soloists, and instrumentalists.
Except in small isolated communities, or among the various “fundamen-
talist” groups, such spirited singing as that encouraged and exemplified
by Billy Sunday, the Jowa evangelist, is passing. However, the tradition of
hymn writing persists. Adelaide A. Pollard, born near Bloomfield and now
living in London, England, wrote the words of the popular church hymn,
Have Thine Own Way, Lord, and is the author of more than 100 hymn
lyrics. Hungarian-born Elias Blum, who has taught at Grinnell College for
many years, has written numerous fine anthems and religious composi-
tions, including Bow Down Thine Ear and How Lovely Are Thy Dwell-
ings. Another Iowa composer of religious music is Sumner Salter, son of
William Salter of the Iowa Band, and nationally known director, organist,
and author.

Among the Iowans who have written popular songs are Egbert Van
Alstyne of Mount Vernon, who composed Iz the Shade of the Old Apple
Tree, and Mortimer Wilson of Chariton, whose score for the Thief of
Bagdad, an early motion picture, was one of the first compositions for
musical films, Thurlow Lieurance, who is known for his many Indian
lyrics, notably By the Waters of Minnetonka, was born in Oskaloosa.
Frederic Knight Logan, composer of Pale Moon, the famous Missouri
W altz, and other popular waltzes, was also of Oskaloosa. Louise Crawford,
pianist and composer at the Coe College School of Music, Cedar Rapids,
is régarded by some critics as Iowa’s foremost woman composer. Leon
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(“Bix") Beiderbecke, who was born in Davenport in 1903 and died in
New York City in 1931, was eminent in the field of popular music both
as a composer and performer. In addition to writing Iz a Mist, Candle-
light, In the Dark, and other pieces which caught the public fancy,
Beiderbecke was a brilliant exponent of improvisation, a feature of jazz
which has its roots in folk music, particularly that of the Negro. He began
playing the trumpet on showboats while still in his teens and was among
the first band musicians to use the Negro style of playing. Later Beider-
becke developed into a cornetist of high originality. His playing, and
particularly his unique talent for improvisation, influenced musicians in
both the jazz and more scholarly fields.

Iowa has cultivated music in its rural districts to an extent equalled by
few other States. C. A. Fullerton of the Teachers College at Cedar Falls is
known nationally for his pioneer work in music training for children in
rural schools. His methods as outlined in the text book, A One-Book
Course in Elementary Music and Selected Songs for Schools (1925), were
instrumental in the development of the Iowa Choir, whose State-wide
programs finished its first five-year cycle in 1934. Inaugurated for the
musical development of rural children, the choir is made up of children
who have passed an actual singing test in a selected group of songs and
are entitled to State certificates. The success of the program was demon-
strated when a massed choir sang at the State Fair in 1930 and in 1934.
It is estimated that 50,000 tural school children know the fifty songs in
the repertoire of this choir. The annual high school music contest and
festival at Iowa City owes its origin, in part, to G. T. Bennett of Rockford,
who conducted a State-wide contest in 1921. Training in singing, theory,
harmony, orchestra and band playing, and music appreciation is given in
the public schools. The music contest has grown to such an extent that in
1937 about 5,000 high school students from 516 schools, representing at
least 50,000 pupils having some degree of competence, gathered at Iowa
City.

During the past three decades the State’s institutions of higher educa-
tion have developed and enlarged their music departments, their graduates
mainly finding place in the public schools. The first Music Supervisors’
National Council was held in Keokuk in 1907, and from this meeting
grew a national organization with a2 membership of 7,500. These teachers
have developed choirs, symphony orchestras, and musical clubs, present-
ing such oratorios as Elijah, annually. The Sinfonia Trio, an outstanding
chamber music group, is composed of the directors of three music depart-
ments at Drake University, Des Moines. Most of the colleges have small
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symphony orchestras. The Chicago Symphony Orchestra plays each June
at the Cornell Music Festival, first held in 1899 at Mount Vernon. At the
State University the music department under Professor Philip G. Clapp
has done much for the advancement of music in the State. Of wider im-
portance is the psychological laboratory of Dean Carl Seashore where tests
for musical talent, recognized as standards in schools, have been developed.
The work of Seashore and his colleagues is known throughout the world
and, though it has been subject to extensive controversy, it stands an im-
portant contribution in the fields of music and psychology. It has also
thrown light on how musical ability is inherited and has thus rendered
basic service to the science of heredity. Seashore’s text books, The Psy-
chology of Musical Talent and Psychology of Music (1937), are the most
comprehensive of their kind.

An active and influential group cooperating with educational institutions
is the Jowa Federation of Music Clubs, organized in Davenport in 1916
with 13 charter members. The federation, which had 94 affiliated clubs
in 1930, sponsors young artists’ and composers’ contests, and has raised
thousands of dollars to provide scholarships for students and guest artists
for the music loving public.

£ AL ALAALALALAALALALAALALALAALLJGI OO

Architecture

The first types of houses in what is now Iowa were permanent dwellings
of the prehistoric Indians—large round earth-covered lodges—and the
tepees and wigwams of later tribes. These influenced the later architecture
only by suggesting to the white men the use of such materials at hand as
logs, sod, clay, bark, and mats.

During warm weather the pioneer camped in his wagon till his cabin
was built. Sometimes he constructed a “lean-to” of saplings under which
to sleep until his home was finished.

During the construction of these early buildings there was no sound of
the hammering of nails nor the rasping of saws; only the dull thud of the
pioneer’s ax was heard. Instead of nails, screws, bolts, bars, or iron of any
description, the pioneer used wooden pegs hewn from logs. The corners
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of the cabin were “planted” in the earth, and logs were lifted one upon
the other until a height of seven or eight feet was reached. At first rough
logs were used, but later the pioneers smoothed off the bark and squared
the logs so that the inside and outside of the cabin presented flat surfaces.
The two gables sometimes were formed by using progressively shorter logs
until the peak at each end of the building was reached, pinning each log to
the one below. A more common practice in this part of the country was
to frame the gable end with a vertical stud wall of lighter timbers, and
then to face this with shingles or horizontal siding. When the sheltering
roof was complete, the small cracks between the logs were chinked with
split wood, and daubed inside and out with mortar of clay and straw.

The door was made by leaving an aperture of the required size in one
side of the room. A blanket or skin might be hung across this opening un-
til a wooden door could be made. In most cases the chimney was made of
split wood and clay mortar, with the back and sides built of stone. Some
flues were constructed of squares of sod, laid out as a mason lays a wall
of brick, and plastered on the inside with clay. The clay floor was often
overlaid with a puncheon floor made of slabs hewn from logs.
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The log cabins of the pioneer, most of them built in the 1830’s and
1840’s, have all but disappeared. Sometimes a vacant cabin stands among
the trees along the river, or on the open slope of some prairie hill. Occa-
sionally old log houses, now used as summer kitchens or workshops, are
still seen among the newer farm buildings. One well preserved cabin,
built in the 1840's on the Beacon Road west of Oskaloosa (see Toxr 15),
is kept as a memorial. A log cabin of the “dog-trot” or double type (two
cabins with one roof extending over a passageway between them), built
sometime before 1833, stands in Eagle Point Park in Dubuque.

In the northern and western parts of the State, where wood was scarce
and unbroken soil plentiful, the sod house was easy to build, partly above
and partly below the surface of the ground. An excavation was made a few
feet in depth, and blocks of tough prairie sod were piled up to make the
upper portion of the walls. Roofs consisted of poles covered with grass,
and chimneys were constructed of sod blocks. Few wall openings relieved
the somber exterior. The excavation was so made that a seat of earth was
left around the room.

As settlement moved westward and northward, the log cabin was re-
placed by buildings of lumber, brick, and stone. Brick was early used in
the towns along the Mississippi. Brick houses were erected in Burlington
and Dubuque in 1836. All of these early buildings were plain structures
with gable roofs and a chimney at each end.

The eatliest forts wete made of logs in the blockhouse style, but the
fort erected in 1840 at Fort Atkinson was built of gray limestone quarried
nearby. Homes and taverns were constructed (1840-1860) of this same
stone throughout eastern Iowa. Those still standing, like the Butterworth
Home (1852) (see Tour 1, Andrew), present a mellow romantic appear-
ance.

Partly owing to the religious beliefs of a people who shun ostentation,
the architecture of the Amana colonies, in Iowa County, is a stern and
elementary example of early housing. The seven villages have an oddly
colorless aspect, owing to the predominance of unpainted weather-stained
buildings, all in the same style—one might almost say, absence of style—
of architecture. These houses, built between 1855 and 1870, are plain rec-
tangular structures of frame, brick, or a peculiar brown sandstone that is
found in the vicinity. Happily the severe outline is softened somewhat by
the low-pitched roofs and, in summertime, by a singularly charming at-
rangement of vines. Trained over a framework or trellis, built a few inches
from the building to prevent injury to the walls and.at' the same time
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afford an adequate support, the vines run high up the walls of house,
church, school, and hotel, covering them almost to the eaves.

In Pella, a town settled by the Dutch in 1847, many of the houses are
plain one-story frame and brick cottages, some with green and yellow shut-
ters, modeled after the cottages of Holland. In the central, and oldest,
section of the town, severe brick houses, closely grouped, stand at a uni-
form distance from the street.

Along the Mississippi River, in such towns as Lansing, McGregor, Gut-
tenberg, Dubuque, and Bellevue, are found tall old buildings of native
limestone, built by the German settlers in this region in the late 1840’s
and early 1850’s. With little space on the terraces (which extend back to
the bluffs usually less than a quarter of a mile) the buildings crowd to-
gether along one or two narrow streets. Though they fit perfectly their
environment, these rows of stone houses, sometimes three and four stories
high, with deep-casemented windows and doors, suggest the atmosphere
of the Old World. At St. Donatus the settlers from Luxembourg, in the
1850’s, practically reproduced one of their native villages. Here two-story
houses without eaves, built of stone quarried in the vicinity, stand close
together; in some instances with the stable under the same roof.

A name associated with the building of early Iowa churches is that of
Father Samuel C. Mazzuchelli, a pioneer priest. This versatile and bril-
liant churchman, educated in Italy, came to Dubuque in 1835. He included
architecture in the scope of his activities, and was responsible for the de-
sign of numerous churches in eastern Iowa.

John Francis Rague was the architect of the first capitol building, at
Iowa City. This edifice, almost xoo years old, is an example of the Greek
Revival style. With its tall porticos, Corinthian columns (in the dome),
Doric detail, and hanging staircase, the structure is perhaps the most in-
teresting architectural work in Iowa. The old courthouse at Lansing, built
in the 1850’s and now abandoned, is another notable example of the same
period. At the time of the building (1840-1842) of the Old Capitol,
Rague had risen to such prominence in his field that many commissions
came his way, including those for the county jail and city hall in Dubuque.

The first churches, fashioned of brick, stone, or wood, were simply de-
signed and unornamented, following the pioneers’ idea of practicality.
Most of them were long, narrow structures with Gothic windows and a
steeple. An outstanding church done in this severe manner, reminiscent of
New England Puritanism, is the Little Brown Church in the Vale near
Nashua, made famous by Dr. William Pitts’ song of the same name (see
Tour 3A, Bradford). In his schoolhouses the first builder also held to
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functional lines. But in his courthouses he indulged himself. These struc-
tures, set in the city squares, combine the good and bad features of various
styles of architecture; but most of them are large square buildings topped
with a tower.

More ornamental still, the opera houses illustrate the general taste of
the people during the latter half of the nineteenth century. Many of the
larger cities in Iowa erected new opera houses in the 1880’s, and each was
pointed to with pride as the most pretentious building of its kind west of
the Mississippi. These edifices were used for lectures, political speeches,
dramatics, and, at rare intervals, for opera. They were very much alike
throughout Iowa, following models of an earlier period of playhouse con-
struction. On the main floor the parquet sloped back to an elevated “‘dress
circle” which curved in horseshoe fashion. Iron posts in the ornate Corin-
thian style held up the enormous balcony and interfered with the view.
Folding seats were upholstered in red or green plush. The walls were deco-
rated by garish murals, and the faces of the boxes adorned with gilded
ornament on a red or blue background. Many of these “wonder palaces”
‘of the 1880’s are still in use.

An interesting example of native architecture, and one illustrating the
taste of the period, was the exposition palace, decorated with corn, grass, or
coal. An excellent corn harvest in 1887 in the northwest part of the State, at a
time when the rest of the country suffered from drought, called for a pub-
lic expression of thanksgiving. Someone in Sioux City suggested a palace
of corn. The suggestion was greeted with much enthusiasm, and experi-
ments with grain as a building material reached such importance that the
Sioux City Corn Palace Exposition Company was formed with a capital
stock of $250,000.

The first of five giant corn palaces built in Sioux City was designed by
E. W. Loft. Fantastlcally Moorish in appearance, it possessed, neverthe-
less, an architectural design peculiarly adapted to the use of corn and to
the purpose for which it was intended. At each front door there was a
square tower. Great arched entrances opened to the streets, and above each
entrance was a panel wrought in colored corn. The towers were connected
by the battlemented walls of the edifice, above which rose graceful pin-
nacles. Behind this cresting was the corn-thatched roof—a solid mass of
green. Other “palaces,” such as the Blue Grass Palace at Creston and the
Ottumwa Coal Palace, were less pretentious. The design of these imper-
manent exposition buildings represented the architectural trend of their
day, the 1880’s and the 1890’s, when showy palace-like buildings were the
fashion. The use of circular windows, towers, and jigsaw decorations set
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off the newer structures from the plain buildings of pioneer days, which
had been planned for use alone.

There are notable examples of Victorian Gothic, and neo-classic styles.
The New Melleray Abbey of the Trappist monks, near Dubuque, was
founded in 1849 but most of the present buildings were constructed
around 187s. The white stone walls, arched windows, buttresses, spires,
and ornamental chimneys are reminiscent of medieval Gothic buildings.
Planned in the manner of that period, four large structures with gabled
wings enclose a rectangular court. Barlow Hall, near Sioux City, designed
in the English style, is the only vestige of that epoch (1876-1885) when
baronets and viscounts hunted foxes in Iowa meadows (see Tour 12).

The State Capitol at Des Moines, completed in 1884, was designed by
A. Piquenard. The massive structure, with gilded central dome and four
smaller domes at the corners, has an air of grace and lightness despite its
ponderous size. The campus of the University of Iowa, including about
so buildings, is centered in Old Capitol, Iowa’s first capitol building. In
general the buildings on the east side of the Iowa River are designed in
the Italian Renaissance style, while those on the west side are of a modified
early English type. The Iowa State College buildings at Ames are an im-
pressive group. In the center of the campus is a campanile in the style of
the Gothic Revival, surrounded by 70 buildings of Georgian Colonial and
Classic Revival design.

The first farm homes were necessarily roomy, for the farmer had nu-
merous children and farm hands. Additions built to accommodate the
increasing family resulted in the rambling homesteads found throughout
the Jowa countryside. Most of the farmhouses erected in the period from
1910 through the 1920’s are large box-like, two-story structures on high
foundations. Standing out on the low prairie knolls, these houses—gen-
erally painted white, and grouped with modern red farm buildings, tall
silos, and sheltering groves of trees—present a characteristic lowa picture,
although they do not follow the low horizontal lines of a style of archi-
tecture possibly better suited to the prairie.

More recent construction shows a variety of influences: the New Eng-
land Colonial, the Dutch Colonial, the Southern Colonial, American
Georgian, Classic Revival, French Provincial, Norman, Italian, Spanish,
and “modern.” Occasionally a structure in the “prairie style,” built by a
native architect perhaps, shows the influence of Louis Sullivan or Frank
Lloyd Wright, two outstanding architects whose practice was chiefly con-
fined to Chicago and the Middle West. In the larger cities there is a trend
toward functional design, not completely modern in character but with a
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DETAIL, WOODBURY COUNTY COURTHOUSE, SIOUX CITY

leaning toward the Classic. The towered Woodbury County Courthouse,
designed by W. L. Steele, in its bold mass and line and concentration of
rich ornament, is reminiscent of the style developed by Sullivan and
Wright.
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Sullivan’s theory of functionalism is expressed in the five buildings he
designed in Iowa between 1911 and 1914. Of one of these (now the office
of the Druggist Mutual Insurance Company) in Algona, Hugh Morrison
said, in his biography of Sullivan, “Few buildings of that period . . .
match it in quality.” It is a simple rectangular mass, ornamented with un-
usual restraint. The Peoples Savings Bank in Cedar Rapids and the Mer-
chants’ National Bank in Grinnell are also excellent examples of Sullivan’s
work. The Grinnell bank is representative of his lyrical tendency with in-
tricate foliated forms against a structure geometrically exact. The design
for St. Paul’'s Methodist Church in Cedar Rapids, a circular building con-
structed in 1913-1915, is also Sullivan’s; a local architect made a few
minor changes but the fundamental conception is there. Sullivan also de-
signed the Van Allen drygoods store in Clinton (1913-1915).

Frank Lloyd Wright's influence is not so marked as Sullivan’s. However,
the Stockham house and the Park Inn (hotel) in Mason City were de-
signed by him in the “prairie style,” which is so well adapted to the Iowa
country. The home is much as Wright designed it, but the hotel, with a
bank adjoining, has been changed—the hotel but slightly, the bank be-
yond recognition.

Widespread interest in architecture is reflected in the factories as well
as in the homes and the public buildings. The Quaker Oats Company
built one of the largest cereal mills in the world at Cedar Rapids in 1905.
Its seven gigantic elevators, with a combined capacity of 9,500,000 bushels
of grain, rise upward and dominate the structure. The packing plant at
Waterloo, all new buildings constructed in the last ten years, and the one
at Ottumwa, are examples of the purely utilitarian in architectural design.

Farm buildings, too, constitute an indigenous type that is essentially
modern. Cylindrical silos, usually of red brick, tile, or cement (sometimes
of wooden staves) ; barns, in which the predominant note is the utilization
of all available space, often with hipped roofs to give more room for hay;
grain elevators, in every town and at the little roadside stations—all these
vertical, tall structures are expressions of functional design.
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Ames

Railroad Station: Main St. bet. Grand and Clark Sts., for Chicago & North West-
ern Ry.

Bus S¥att'on: Sheldon Munn Hotel, Main and Kellogg Sts., for Jefferson Lines and
Interstate Transit Lines.

Street Buses: Circling the downtown district and making regular 20-minute trips to
the college campus, 7¢. i

Taxis: First zone, 25¢, second zone, 50¢.

Accommodations: Hotels, two downtown, one at campus; restaurants and rooming
houses in both parts of town; Memorial Union, Iowa State College campus.

Information Service: City Hall, sth and Kellogg Sts.

Radio Station: WOI (640 kc.)

Motion Picture Houses: Three.

Swimming: Carr’s Pool, end of Duff St., NE. city limits.

Golf: Overland, 9 holes, 2 m. S. on US 65, so¢; Homewood, 9 holes, NE. edge of
city, so¢.

Tennis: College courts.

Ice Skating: Lake LaVerne, college campus.

Band Concerts: City Park, downtown, at music pavilion once a week during sum-
mer.

Annual Events: Veishea, college celebration, annually in May; Girls' 4-H Club
Convention, June; Horticulture Exposition, Nov.; Boys’ 4-H Convention, Dec.;
Messiah Concert, Dec.

AMES (926 alt., 10,261 pop.), a college town, lies on rolling prairie, near
the geographic center of Iowa. Squaw Creek bisects the town, the north-
eastern corner of which touches Skunk River. From a distance the town
appears to be a dense grove extending between the water towers and
smokestacks at the eastern and western ends of the town. To the casual
observer, Ames is two adjacent towns, since the college farmlands separate
the original town from the section that clusters thickly about the college
—Iowa State College of Agriculture and Mechanic Arts. Each section has
its own business center. Modern buildings line the wide streets of the
downtown section; and shops, catering to student trade, border the south-
ern edge of the campus.

Near the college are two of the newer residential districts—Ridgewood
and College Park. Here the streets wind about between modern homes.
Squaw Creek flows along the eastern boundary of the meadows that inter-
vene between the residence sections. At the east side of the campus stately
dormitories stand out boldly against the heavy foliage of trees.

With the large number of students from all over the State and Nation
and various parts of the world, the town assumes a metropolitan character
and coloring. Students spend an average of $4,000,000 a year in this city.
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The State Highway Commission, with its office workers and road crews
centered here, likewise attracts a  great many people. With its well-kept
homes and wide shaded streets the town wears an air of cleanliness and
charm. The city prides itself on its schools and churches. The health work
of the public schools was recognized as the best in the country by the
National Tuberculosis Association for the three years ending in 1933, thus
giving them ‘permanent possession of the association’s silver cup.

The site of Ames, slough and marshland, was not the kind early set-
tlers usually chose for a town. When Mrs. Cynthia Duff bought the farm-
land occupying the future town site in 1864, no one knew she was buying
it for John I. Blair who planned to build a depot for the Cedar Rapids
and Missouri Railroad (later the North Western) on the land. Although
Blair had been offered 20 acres of free land south of College Farm, located
at this point in 1859, he built the station and laid out the town on the
land acquired by Mrs. Duff. Blair named the new town site for Oakes
Ames, one of the proprietors of the railroad. Noah Webster (not the com-
piler of the dictionary) built the first home in the town in 1864. Until
January 1866, Ames bore the post office name of College Farm because it
was adjacent to the land purchased for the State Agricultural College and
the Model Farm.

With the development of the railroad and the drainage of the land,
more settlers began to come in, until at the end of 1865 there were 300
living here. Special laws were passed by the State legislature to safeguard
the students of College Farm, including one prohibiting the sale of any
kind of alcoholic beverages.

The town was incorporated in 1870; four years later the Narrow Gauge
line (now the North Western) from Des Moines to Ames, helped to com-
plete what the college had already started—the making of a brisk small
town from what had been little more than a flag station. Always an im-
portant railroad center, Ames, for a time, was also the terminal of the
Cedar Rapids and Missouri, making it a place of “considerable railroad
stir.” By 1886 the local time tables boasted that “there were 20 chances
to leave Ames every 24 hours.”

In 1887 fire destroyed the greater part of the business section, but it
was rebuilt by 1891. “The dinky,” a railroad built from Ames to the col-
lege in 1891, made it more convenient for students to visit the town; and
in 1893 Ames qualified as a second class city when it extended its corpo-
rate limits to include the college. It had a city waterworks in 1891; 2
library association in 1893; and a municipal lighting system in 1896.

The fire at the college in 1900 intensified local interest in the school.
When the trustees of the college announced that the dormitories would
not be rebuilt, townspeople at once began to construct large rooming
houses. This was the beginning of the residence section surrounding Iowa
State College.

In 1900 the college was reorganized. A public library was built in 1903
and in 1910, when most Iowa towns were still struggling with dirt streets,
the first Ames paving was laid. The city manager plan of government was
adopted in 1920, at the beginning of the decade in which Ames made its
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greatest growth (6,270 to 10,261 in 1930). Industries in the town today
include a canning factory, a pottery, a hatchery, a garden tools factory, and
a factory making supplies for fraternities.

LHLHLHAAAALALALALALALALALSLALALLEDI P>

Campus Tour—rz.2m

Towa State College campus extends from Beech to Sheldon Avenues on Lincoln
Way, which passes the southern edge of the campus, bordering Lake LaVerne.
Scheduled summer tours are conducted by the Extension Service for county Farm
Bureau groups and others; see Superintendent of Tours, Morrill Hall.

Unless otherwise indicated, buildings, with the exception of classrooms in use,
are open to the public during school hours. Those interested in agriculture and the
experimental farm should apply for information at Agricultural Hall.

The campus has a broad sweep of lawn and trees broken here and there
by imposing buildings, atranged by department groups. An outstanding
feature is the natural grouping of trees and shrubbery, almost as they
might appear in the original Jowa landscape. The paths across the campus
and along College Creek, the hills, the bird shelters, the clusters of trees
and hedges are native Iowa at its best.

A legislative act of 1858 provided for the establishment of a State
Agricultural College and Model Farm “for the purpose of giving aca-
demic instruction to the industrial classes.” It also provided $10,000 for
the purchase of a farm to be used for agricultural experiments and for the
erection of the college buildings. After the people of Story County had
voted bonds of $10,000 and given enough more in land and money to
bring the total contribution to about $21,000, that county was selected for
the farm site on June 21, 1859, and a farm of 648 acres, including the
present campus, was purchased. Daniel McCarthy drove the first stake on
the college farm in 1860 and donated $75 to have the land surveyed.

The Iowa General Assembly at a special session in September 1862
accepted the conditions of the Morrill College Land Grant Bill, passed
by Congress the same year, and received a grant of 204,000 acres of land.
The college opened to students in the fall of 1868.

A number of United States Secretaries of Agriculture have received
training at Iowa State College, including James (Tama Jim) Wilson who
served during the administrations of William McKinley, Theodore Roose-
velt, and William Howard Taft. Henry C. Wallace, Secretary of Agricul-
ture under President Warten G. Harding, and Henry A. Wallace, under
Franklin D. Roosevelt, were graduates of the school.
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Other well known persons associated with the college included W. T.
Hornaday, zoologist, and L. H. Pammel, botanist. Dr. Hornaday, at va-
rious times director of the New York Zoological Park (1896-1926), had
been a collecting naturalist for the American Museum, chief taxidermist
for the United States National Museum (1882-1888), and the winner of
many medals from various countries for his work. He is author of Ouxr
Vanishing Wild Life and Thirty Years War for Wild Life (1931). L. H.
Pammel, first associated with Jowa State College in 1889, became widely
known in Iowa as an advocate of conservation and State Parks.

The college with its campus and experimental farms occupies 1,998
acres. The 70 buildings are ranged on a campus of 250 acres. The planned
new buildings of the inner zone fringing the lawn of the main campus,
are to be built of stone and those in the outer zone of brick. The total
expenditures of the college, the physical plant of which is valued at $11,-
450,000, was in the fiscal year ending 1937, $3,490,000. More than 97
percent of this sum went for education and research. The enrollment of
5,966 students in 1936-37, included students from 23 foreign countries.
Divisions of the college include Agriculture, Engineering, Home Eco-
nomics, Industrial Science, Veterinary Medicine, and' the Graduate Col-
lege. Through its experimental farms and well-equipped laboratories, the
college has aided agricultural and industrial development in every section
of the State.

The Extension Service in agriculture and home economics is financed
jointly by the State and the United States Department of Agriculture. The
Engineering Division offers industrial short courses, extension classes and
correspondence study in Industrial Teachers” Training courses. Jointly with
the Agricultural Extension Service the Engineering Division gives a visual
instruction service in motion pictures, slides, and charts. Radio station WOI
provides educational programs.

N. from Lincoln Way, on Campus Rd.

1. THE KNOLL ( private), Campus Rd. (L), is the home of the presi-
dent of the college. On the right is that part of the campus set aside for
the Women’s Dormitories, Georgian in architectural style, which furnish
homes for approximately 9oo women.

2. AGRICULTURAL HALL, Campus Rd. across College Creek (L),
top of hill, erected in 1907, is a four-story structure of gray Bedford stone,
built in Italian Renaissance style. Part of the inner circle of buildings, it
faces the central campus and houses nine laboratories that provide mod-
ern equipment for studying soil fertility, soil management, soil survey, and
soil bacteriology. The Iowa State Student, tri-weekly student newspaper,
the Green Gander, humor magazine, and other departmental periodicals
are published by the Collegiate Press, Inc., in the basement.

Directly on the right is Agricultural Hall Annex.

3. DAIRY INDUSTRY BUILDING, Campus Rd. (R) beyond Agri-
cultural Hall Annex, has TERRA CoTTa PANELS on the north and south
walls of the main entrance, created by Christian Petersen. They are his-
torical in theme and show butter-making in two eras. TERRA COTTA PAN-
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ORAMA in the central open court symbolizes the dairy industry in Iowa. In
the center are four terra cotta cows, so arranged that they seem to be drink-
ing from a real fountain of water. Laboratories, classrooms, and the gen-
eral office are in the main building. In the wings are rooms where butter,
cheese, ice cream, and condensed and powdered milk are prepared. The
college is one of the few places in the United States where Roquefort
cheese is made, and its output finds a ready market.

4. HISTORIC OLD FARMHOUSE (private), Campus Rd. (L) N. of
the Dairy Industry Building, occupied by one of the college deans, was
once a stagecoach stop and inn. Robert E. Lee stayed here about 1860
when he was surveying in this part of the country. A tablet, giving the
history, is in the front yard.

s. HORTICULTURAL BUILDINGS, Campus Rd. (L), have two
groups of laboratories, adapted classic in style, two ranges of greenhouses,
and various farm buildings. In the principal range of 14 greenhouses ad-
joining the new building are rare plants and conservatory and garden
plants. North of the greenhouses are the formal and trial gardens, and
west, the Botany Building.

6. LANDSCAPE ARCHITECTURE STUDIO, Campus Rd. (R) across
from greenhouses, Georgian in style, was once a college stable, now re-
modeled to house classrooms, a lecture hall, and offices for the faculty and
students in landscape architecture. It is said that President A. S. Welch
gave the first lecture course in the United States on landscape architecture.

7. MEATS LABORATORY, NE. cor. Campus Rd. and North Drive,
N. of Landscape Architecture Studio, is fully equipped for the killing of
cattle, sheep, and hogs, for the handling of carcasses, cuts, and byproducts,
and for the curing of meats. This structure, adapted Gothic in style, has
the appearance of a church. Judging pavilions and barns, north of the
Meats Laboratory, house livestock. Many of the draft horses kept here
have taken first prizes at leading livestock shows in the country.

L. from Campus Rd. on North Dr.

8. VETERINARY QUADRANGLE, North Dr. (R), has half a dozen
structures of brick and terra cotta built in an adapted Gothic style. They
center around an open court that is entered through an attractive brick
archway. The VETERINARY HOSPITAL has hospital stalls, kennels, operat-
ing and clinic rooms.

9. HOME ECONOMICS BUILDING, North Dr. (L), a three-story
building of Bedford stone, classic in style, facing the inner zone, houses
laboratories, classrooms, the Catherine McKay Auditorium with a seating
capacity of 700, and a tea room. Across the drive north of the Home Eco-
nomics building about a block, are the Nursery School Annex and four
Home Management Houses.

10. CHEMISTRY HALL, Nosth Dr. (R), third building W. of Veter-
inary Quadrangle, has a MusEuM oF GEOLOGY, second floor, containing
a collection of 7,000 minerals, rocks, and paleontological specimens.

11. COLLEGE CEMETERY, W. end of North Dr., NW. of Armory
(R), is one of the few college cemeteries in the world. A distinctive me-
morial marks the graves of the first president, A. S. Welch, and wife, Mary
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TERRA COTTA DETAIL, DAIRY INDUSTRY BUILDING, AMES

Beaumond Welch, who was the founder of the Division of Home Eco-
nomics at Iowa State College. Kung Fan Chi, a Chinese youth who died
reputedly as “the seventieth direct lineal descendant of Confucius,” is
buried here. The body of L. H. Pammel, eminent botanist and conserva-
tionist, occupies another of the graves. On the east edge of the cemetery is
a marker indicating the SITE oF THE FIRST PICNIC held on the Fourth of
July (1859) to celebrate the inception of the college.

L. from North Dr. on Inner Campus Rd.

12. COLLEGE LIBRARY (open 8-12 weekdays), Inner Campus Rd.
(R), one of the stone buildings of the inner zone, an adaptation of the
Italian Renaissance in style, houses the valuableé Schneider Music Library
of Orchestrations. MURALS on the walls, painted by Grant Wood and his
assistants under the Civil Works Administration, illustrate Daniel Web-
ster’s text, “When tillage begins other arts follow.” They present first a
pioneer plowing scene, followed by panels showing associated useful arts
such as veterinary medicine, chemical and mechanical engineering, and
home economics.

13. MORRILL HALL, Inner Campus Rd. (R), S. of Library, is one of
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the oldest buildings on the campus. Romanesque in style, it was named
in honor of Justin S. Morrill, the originator of the ‘“land grant” for col-
leges of agriculture and mechanic arts. The offices of the agricultural ex-
tension service and the bulletin shipping rooms are here.

14. CENTRAL BUILDING, Campus Rd. (R), Italian Renaissance in
style, facing Agricultural Hall across inner campus, contains the executive
offices. The tall columns and the wide steps at the main entrance are nota-
ble features of its architecture.

15. CAMPANILE, center of main campus (L), houses the college
carillon, Constructed of yellow brick in modified Gothic design, this 110-
foot tower was donated by Dr. Edgar W. Stanton as a memorial to his wife,
Margaret McDonald Stanton, the first Dean of Women, who died in 1899.
After Dr. Stanton died (1920), the Campanile was made a memorial to
both. Twenty-six bells were added to the original 10, making the chime a
carillon. The largest bell weighs 3,584 pounds. The carillon is heatd best
at least so0 feet away where there is no confusion of overtones.

16. MEMORIAL UNION (open—cafeteria and dining rooms), S. of
Campanile, built on the hillside at the Lynn Ave. entrance, is designed in
a modified Italian and Spanish Renaissance style of architecture. The social
life of the campus is centered in this building. One of its features is GoLD
STAR HALL, the main entrance to the building. The high vaulted stone
ceiling is supported on a row of columns at each side of the room. Between
the columns on the stone walls are carved the names of the 118 alumni
who gave their lives in the World War. Pledges from alumni, faculty, and
students provided funds for the building.

17. LAKE LAVERNE, below Memorial Union, a beautiful, artificial
body of water, covering four and one-half acres, was named in honor of
its alumnus donor, La Verne Noyes. Swans glide in its waters in the sum-
mer. In the winter it is a favorite skating rink.

R. from Inner Campus RA. at Lake LaVerne; continuing to Lincoln Way

Scattered over this section are general college and engineering depart-
ment buildings. On the hilltop as the road curves west appear the Music
Hall, the Alumni Hall, and the Hospital. ENGINEERING HaLL, N. of the
hospital, a four-story structure of Bedford stone built in modified German
Renaissance style, is the largest of the cluster of engineering buildings.
Crop and market reports are received daily for broadcasting over the Cor-
LEGE RapIO STATION WOI (0pen), top floor of the south wing of the
Engineering Annex. In the CHEMICAL LABORATORIES and INDUSTRIAL
ARTs BUILDING are laboratories where research is carried on to determine
how agricultural waste products, such as cornstalks, can be utilized. Al-
ready this research has resulted in patents for the State on a process of
manufacturing synthetic wallboard and two types of compounds similar to
bakeute. A product somewhat like gunpowder can be made from corn-
stalks and research is in progress on the manufacture of paper from corn-
stalks and straw. The LocOMOTIVE, south of Engineering Annex, set on a
narrow gauge track and first used by the “Burlington” in eastern Iowa in
1855, has been on the Iowa State campus since 1905. Some authorities
claim it was the first locomotive to cross Iowa.
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South and west of campus

Numerous experimental farms are scattered throughout the area south
and west of the campus. These farms, ranging in size from 30 to 200 acres,
are used for carrying out farming experiments. At the Apiary Farm, the
availability of nectar and pollen for bees is studied in test plots. Students
have their own segregated apiaries where they can study the different races
of bees. The Poultry Farm breeds most of the leading varieties of domes-
tics fowls on its 36-acre tract. The many types of poultry houses, the lab-
oratory buildings, the varying kinds and sizes of incubators, the feeding
batteries, and the brooders all provide an excellent opportunity for carry-
ing on tests. The Agronomy Farm and Experimental Fields provide 170
acres which are used entirely for experiments with farm crops and soils.
The Animal Husbandry Experimental Farm of 182 acres is used exclusively
for feeding and breeding experiments with beef cattle, hogs, and sheep.
The Dairy Husbandry Farm supplies much of the feed for the college dairy
herd. Experimental work with pastures and other crops is carried on here.

OTHER POINTS OF INTEREST

18. SITE OF NOAH WEBSTER HOUSE, NE. corner sth St. and
Douglas Ave., the first house erected in the city, is marked with a boulder.

19. IOWA STATE HIGHWAY COMMISSION BUILDING, Lincoln
Way between Grand and Elm Aves., houses the commission that has de-
veloped Jowa’s network of good roads. Five commissioners, appointed by
the Governor for four-year terms, have charge of the construction and
maintenance of primary roads, the general supervision of secondary roads,
and the giving of engineering assistance to other State departments. The
State authorized Iowa State College to act as the first highway commission
in 1904. In 1913 the State Highway Commission was reorganized by legis-
lative act and given real authority. A subsequent reorganization in 1927
increased the membership to five and designated that the construction and
supervision of primary roads through the State be taken over by the com-
mission. For many years the commission was housed at Iowa State College.

20. OCTAGONAL HOUSE, 129 Sumner Ave. (private), built about
1870 to satisfy an astronomical whim of Dr. Starr, the designer and first
owner, is known in Ames as the “‘old round house.” Dr. Starr, a student
of astronomy, used the large octagonal-shaped cupola that originally
formed the fourth floor as an observatory. Because the cupola portion of
the octagonal house was in bad condition, it was removed by the present
owner shortly after he bought the house. A rectangular addition has been
built at the rear of the building, covering two sides of the octagon, but
the original shape is still evident.

POINTS OF INTEREST IN ENVIRONS

William (Billy) Sunday’s Birthplace—4 m. (see Tour 5); William Sunday’s
Home, Nevada—7 m. (see Tour 13, sec. b).
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Railroad Station: Union Depot, 300 S. Main St., for Chicago, Burlington & Quincy
R.R. and Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific Ry.

Bus Station: Union Bus Depot, 315 Valley St., for Burlington Trailways, M. Foster
Lines, Illinois Transit Lines.

Airport: Municipal, city limits SW. on Summer St. S. (US 61), taxi fare not over
so¢, Braniff Air Lines to Kansas City.

Dock and Warebouse: Municipal, Inland Waterways and Federal Barge Lines at
river end of Columbia and Washington Sts.

Interurban Station: NW. cor. Main and Jefferson Sts. for bus to W. Burlington.
Street Buses: Fare 10¢, three tokens 20¢.

Taxis: Rate 25¢ first mile; 10¢ each additional .5 mile.

Accommodations: Five hotels, three tourist camps.

Information Service: American Automobile Association and Chamber of Commerce,
Hotel Burlington, NE. cor. 3rd and Valley Sts.

Theaters and Motion Picture Houses: Four motion picture houses, one legitimate
theater, one Little Theater.

Tennis: Crapo Park, Burlington High School Stadium Courts.

Swimming: Kiwanis Pool, S. end Main St., near Crapo Park.

Ice Skating: Crapo Park.

Golf: Crystal Springs, public, 2600 Bluff Road (State 99), 9 holes, weekdays, 25¢;
holidays and Sun., go0¢.

Excursion Boats: Dock, River Front Park, J. S. Streckfus lines.

Annual Events: Tri-State Fair, 2nd week in Aug.; Corn Show or Fall Festival, 1st
Thurs., Fri. and Sat. in Oct.; Wallaneeh, Halloween Festival, Oct. 31.

BURLINGTON (532 alt., 26,755 pop.) is scattered over four hills along
the Mississippi River. The commercial section lies in the Valley where
Hawk Eye Creek, now scarcely discernible, bisects the city southeast to
northwest. Front Street, the old thoroughfare stretching along the Missis-
sippi River, is noisy with the rattle and clatter of trucks and the air is
redolent with the odor of fruits in season, for the wholesale dealers whose
buildings dominate the south end of the street are always loading and
unloading—perhaps cantaloupe today, apples tomorrow. Barges tie up at
the municipal dock, motor boats race by, or an occasional excursion boat
pulls out with its paddle wheels splashing. Bridges bound the street at
cither end. Autos stream over the MacArthur Bridge, and frequently the
draw of the railroad bridge swings open to allow 2 large steamboat to
ass.
G In the bottoms north along the river lies a commercial district that
surrounds the Willow Patch, a settlement started previous to the Civil
War. Then the greater part of the land was under water, making it a con-
venient harbor for houseboats of fishermen and towmen. Today the Wil-
low Patch is known for the fine woven nets and seines that the people
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make. Life here is simple and somewhat primitive. In West Burlington
are the shops of the Chicago, Burlington and Quincy Railroad where more
than soo men are employed.

Burlington has a substantial appearance, owing perhaps to the many old
stone homes and churches. Early settlers quarried the stone in or near the
city to erect buildings and to pave many of the streets and alleys now worn
smooth. The streets that climb the hills from the business and commercial
districts do not run in straight lines for any distance. The steepness makes
them angle off out of sight to skirt a bluff or disappear over a hill. This
irregularity of topography presents homes with 70 or 8o steps leading to
them.

Descendants of the early German, Irish, and Swedish settlers still pre-
dominate in the population and the settlements that clustered about the
pioneer industries are still distinguishable. Living in many of the smaller
box-like cottages of Dutchtown, known as Germania and Lincolnville, are
older Germans who cling to Old World customs. Along these streets
German housewives wear breakfast caps until the morning tasks are over.
A few families annually celebrate October 6, the day German colonists
established themselves in America.

On West Hill, the Swedish -district is traceable in the neat and well
landscaped grounds surrounding the homes, in many of which /utefisk
(dried stockfish), imported from Sweden, is a favorite dish from Novem-
ber to March each year. In the section known as Hibernia old houses still
stand on the sides of the hills and slopes first chosen by Irish immigrants.
With characteristic vigor the Irish organized the West End Improvement
Club, believed to be one of the first community center organizations in the
United States.

The site of Burlington, called Sho-ko-kon (Flint Hills), was valued by
the Indians for the flint found there. Lieut. Zebulon Pike referred to it
when he wrote the story of his expedition (1805) to explore the Missis-
sippi River from St. Louis to its source, to find strategic locations for forts,
and to make friends with the Indians.

Tai-mah (Tama) set up his Indian village (Shokokon) on the site of
Burlington in 1820 but later moved his band to Tama Town Prairie, nine
miles north. Simpson S. White, Morton McCarver, and Amasa Doolittle
were the first permanent settlers. After the Black Hawk treaty was signed
in Sept. 1832, throwing open the territory on the west side of the river
to white settlers, effective June 1833, some 10 or 12 families, too impatient
to wait longer on the east side of the river, crossed over. Complaints of
the Indians, however, forced the soldiers at Fort Armstrong to send them
back. They re-occupied their claims in 1833, and in August of that year
Dr. William R. Ross opened the first store.

John Gray, a native of Vermont, arrived in Flint Hills in March 1834,
and was allowed, upon purchasing a lot, to name the settlement Burling-
ton, after his home town. The Reverend Peter Cartwright, presiding elder
of a large part of Illinois and all of the Iowa country, organized 2 Metho-
dist class at Dr. Ross’s cabin in April and about the same time 16 children
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attended the first school, taught by Zadock C. Inghram. By the close of the
year, Burlington was the chief settlement in Demoine County.

The second legislature of the Territory of Wisconsin convened at Burling-
ton on the first Monday in November 1837 in the temporary capitol erected
to serve until the capitol at Madison was completed. In 1837 the town was
incorporated.

When the Territory of Iowa was created in 1838, the first Legislative
Assembly convened that fall at Burlington, the temporary capital, and
appointed a commission to select the permanent capital.

Drums rattled, fifes whistled; and bugles blew in Burlington when the
first Towa militia assembled there to settle the Iowa-Missouri boundary
dispute, soon after the first assembly met. Roistering groups of would-be
soldiers surged through the streets. Dropping plow handles and axes in
the field, they came wearing make-shift uniforms and carrying an odd
assortment of weapons. They jostled shoulders in the taverns and hunted
excitement along the riverfront. Boisterous hilarity and drunken brawls
marked their brief sojourn. Many companies were still en route to Bur-
lington when settlement of the question was delegated to the United States
Supreme Court.

On July 3, 1839, the body of Black Hawk, Indian chief, disappeared
from its grave on James Jordan’s farm near lowaville. Burlington was
aroused from a mid-summer doze when Nasheakusk, Black Hawk’s son,
with about 50 other Indians marched through the streets to inform Gover-
nor Robert Lucas of what had happened. A year later the bones were
recovered from a dentist in Quincy, Illinois, who had received them from
St. Louis. Black Hawk’s widow left the bones in the care of the “‘good
old man,” Governor Lucas. Later they were placed in the museum of the
Burlington Geological and Historical Society and lost when the building
was burned in 1855.

The murder of John Miller and the subsequent public hanging of
William and Stephen Hodges, the convicted murderers, was an event in
1845. Thousands jammed the streets to see the condemned men paraded
from the jail to the execution hill near the edge of town. Four companies
of riflemen, marching to the dirge of a brass band, preceded the convey-
ance in which the condemned men, shrouded and in chains, sat astraddle
their coffins.

In 1855, Dick, the first fugitive slave caught near Burlington, was tried
in Marion Hall before a crowd determined upon seeing him freed. Iowa
had just elected its first anti-slavery Senator, hence, joyous shouts greeted
Judge Rorer’s dismissal of the case.

The continual stream of immigrants that entered Iowa at Burlington
teached its peak in August 1856 when 20,000 people crossed the Missis-
sippi on the ferry. Then the bustling town had three pork packing plants
important enough to give Burlington the name, “Porkopolis of Iowa.”
Hundreds of steamers docked to discharge freight that the prairie schooners
were to carry inland, or to load pork, lard, and farm produce.

Railroads eventually changed Burlington from a lively river town to a
bustling railroad center. A jubilant excursion from Chicago to a point op-
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posite Burlington celebrated the completion of the second continuous rail-
road from Chicago to the Mississippi in 1855. The next year the Burlington
& Missouri River Railroad, organized in 1851, began operations in Iowa,
following the Hawk-Eye Creek valley. Temporarily Burlington streets were
crowded with the rough and hardy railroad workers, but they moved west-
ward as the railroad approached the Missouri.

Marion Hall was crowded with men registering for service at the time
of the Civil War, adding other companies to the Rifles, the Blues, the
Irish Volunteers, the Washington Guards, and an artillery company al-
ready in existence. Camp Warren was established at the Fair Grounds.

During the war, railroad freight had to be rafted across the river but a
bridge was built in August 1868. The next year the Chicago, Burlington &
Quincy absorbed the Burlington & Missouri River Railroad which then ex-
tended to the Missouri. From that time river traffic gradually slackened.
In the 1870’s, when livestock had become an increasingly important ship-
ment from Omaha to Chicago, extensive stockyards grew up on the east
side of the Mississippi, opposite Burlington. Here the bawling, restless
cattle were unloaded, bedded, watered, and fed.

The year 1871 marked the peak of prosperity for the lumber industry.
Burlington, a lumber shipping point, exported as much as 57,000,000 feet
of lumber in a year. Raftsmen bringing the logs down the river from Wis-
consin to the mills added, for a time, a lusty note to the growing town. In
1873 a disastrous fire, destroying five solid blocks of the business section,
temporarily held back the town’s development. In 1874, after the city had
been rebuilt, horse-drawn cars were inaugurated. The horses pulled the
cars up the many hills, and then rested on the rear platform of the cars
while they traveled down-grade.

In 1875 the city’s special charter was abandoned when the municipality
was organized under council form. In the period from the end of the Civil
War to 1885 Burlington experienced its largest industrial, commercial, and
cultural growth.

The next few decades were not without their events. By 1890 the old-
fashioned horse-drawn cars were supplanted by electric cars. Pleasure boats
began to increase on the river about 1900 and regattas for speed boats be-
came popular celebrations. In 1909 the city adopted the cominission form
of government. The last raft of lumber from the north, towed by the
steamer Ottumwa Bell with Capt. Walter Hunter in charge, passed the city
in 1915. In May 1922 a cloudburst brought the waters from the hills
neatby down into the city’s center, but the losses suffered were soon re-
placed. In the last decades of the nineteenth and the first of the twentieth
centuries, Burlington developed its manufacturing and jobbing—furniture,
baskets, coffins, and monuments—until in 1925 the factory output reached
a high peak, valued at over $12,000,000.

Robert Jones Burdette (1844-1914) brought attention to the city
through his humorous sketches in the Hawk-Eye when he first began to
publish them in the 1880’s. Two other men associated with the city who
received international fame are Charles Wachsmuth and Frank Springer,
whose common interest—collecting fossils—drew them together. In 1897
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the two scientists published the results of their study of crinoids in a
monumental book.

POINTS OF INTEREST

1. SITE OF MARION HALL, NE. corner 4th and Washington Sts.,
is now a park. In 1855 the Dick Slave Trial, was held here. Dr. Edwin
James, whose home just outside Burlington was a station on the under-
ground railroad, was forced by several Missourians to return from Illinois
with Dick, a fugitive slave. Burlington authorities arrested the slave when
the Missourians claimed they were the agents of Thomas Rutherford to
whom Dick belonged. At the trial before a couttroom crowded with Dick’s
sympathizers, Rutherford’s son testified that the slave before him did not
belong to his father. Judge David Rorer dismissed the fugitive, who later
went to Canada. £

SNAKE ALLEY, 6th St. between Washington and Columbia Sts., is the
local name for this steep block of 6th Street that makes five sharp curves
in ascending the steep grade, thus acquiring its name.

2. SILAS HUDSON HOME (private), NW. corner Columbia and sth
Sts., erected in 1844, is where Abraham Lincoln stayed when he visited
Burlington in 1858. Through the influence of his boyhood friend, Silas
Hudson, Lincoln delivered a speech in the GRIMES OPERA HOUSE (site
NE. corner Valley and Main Sts.) on October 9, 1858, in his campaign
against Stephen A. Douglas for Senator from Illinois.

3. PUBLIC LIBRARY (open 9-9 weekdays; June 1 to Sept. 1, 9-5),
SW. corner Columbia and 4th Sts., entrance sor N. 4th St., has among
its exhibits a small model of the Old Zion Church and the Philip M.
Crapo collection of 320 shells and specimens from oceans around the
world. Its files of the Iowa Parriot, Burlington Hawk-Eye, and Wisconsin
Territorial Gazette, and Telegraph, dating from 1837, and valued at more
than $25,000, are kept in well-bound volumes.

4. ST. PAUL ROMAN CATHOLIC CHURCH, NE. corner 4th and
Columbia Sts., English Gothic in style, was built in 1892. It contains the
old pulpit, hand carved by Father Samuel Mazzuchelli, and a bell (one of
the first in the State) from the first church, designed by Father Maz-
zuchelli, pioneer priest, in which the council of the second Territorial leg-
islature met in 1839.

5. MOSQUITO PARK, corner Franklin and 3rd Sts., high on North
Hill Bluff, affords a view of the Willow Patch with its fisherman’s cabins
and boats, the Mississippi River’s rugged shore line and wooded islands,
and the rolling Illinois prairies.

6. SITE OF OLD ZION, first Iowa Territorial Capitol, W. side of 3rd
St. between Columbia and Washington Sts., is now occupied by the
RiaLTO THEATER, known as the Old Grand Opera House in the days of
Lillian Russell, Edmund Booth, John Drew, and the Barrymores. A bronze
PLAQUE on the theater building marks the site. Old Zion served as assem-
bly hall, courthouse, and public meeting place. Here three Territorial as-
semblies met (1838-1841) to settle Indian controversies and boundary
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disputes. Judge Charles Mason sentenced the Hodges brothers to death
from OId Zion pulpit in 1845. By 1851 the church needed repairs. When
J. S. McKenney, editor of the Daily Telegraph, printed posters, “Old
Zion wants a new roof,” he named the church. Old Zion bell still swings
from the square Gothic belfry of the present FIRsT METHODIST CHURCH,
sth and Washington Sts.

7. HAWK-EYE GAZETTE BUILDING, 311 Washington St., houses
Burlington’s only daily newspaper (1937), the consolidation of two
pioneer newspapers, the Burlington Hawék-Eye and the Burlington Gazette.
The building, Renaissance in style, has a terra cotta front. The Hawk-Eye

. Gazette, the State’s oldest newspaper in continuous publication, is the only
' Iowa newspaper with files running back to 1837 (available at public
! library). The Gazette, established in 1836 by James Clarke, later Governor
¢ of the Territory of Iowa, was first known as the Wisconsin Territorial
Gazette and Burlington Advertiser. James G. Edwards, a New York re-
porter who had purchased the Western Adventurer and published it in
| Fort Madison as the Fort Madison Patriot, moved his paper to Burlington
' in 1838. The paper had a succession of names—Burlington Patriot, lowa
' Patriot, Hawk-Eye and lowa Patriot—before Edwards finally called it the
&

§
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. Hawk-Eye on June 1, 1843, at the suggestion of his wife. Edwards, later
- called “Old Hawk,” had suggested the nickname, Hawk-Eyes, for the peo-
. ple of the Iowa country.

. 8. SITE OF FIRST MASONIC HALL IN IOWA, SE. corner Main

! and Columbia Sts. is marked by a bronze TABLET attached to the north

side of the Mid-West Print Shop. The House of Representatives of the
| Wisconsin Territorial Assembly met in rooms over the store of Remey and
| Webber, grocers, which originally stood on this site.
. 9. SITE OF WISCONSIN TERRITORIAL STATE HOUSE, on Front
a St. just N. of Columbia St., is covered by the back portion of the Missis-
. sippi Pearl Button Company'’s office building. The Assembly Hall, built in

- 1837 by Jeremiah Smith, Jr., one of the Iowa District’s representatives, was
! used by the second Wisconsin Territorial Assembly until fire destroyed the
| building on December 13, only a few months after it was built. This was
| the first legislative assembly to meet in Iowa.

' 10. BURLINGTON MUNICIPAL DOCK, Front St. between Wash-

{ ington and Columbia Sts., dedicated in October 1928, has ample trackage
- for loading and unloading 10 railroad cars on a single track. By the use of

| switch lines, 40 cars can be unloaded. Two escalators operate in the ware-

{ house. The dock and warehouse are leased to Inland Waterways Corpo-
ration.

11. UNITED STATES NAVAL RESERVE BARRACKS, Front St. at
ft. of Valley St., has a drill floor equipped to represent a battleship. The
building, originally of the Swiss cottage type, was once a boat house. The

i members of the Burlington unit, the 42nd Fleet Division of the Ninth
‘1 Naval District, have drilled here since 1927. RIVERFRONT PARK begins at

the north end of the barracks.

12. BURLINGTON HIGH SCHOOL, W. end University Place, houses
the senior high school and BURLINGTON JUNIOR COLLEGE, the second
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oldest junior college in the State, and noted for its vested choir. A PuBLIC
MUSEUM (open 9-4 on school days) in the high school basement, has part
of the Charles Buettner collection, originally willed to the public library,
and historic, geologic, and natural history specimens.

13. CHARLES WACHSMUTH MUSEUM ( private), 1111/, Marietta
St., a small brick building which once housed the internationally known
collection of crinoidea camerata fossils, now in the Smithsonian Institution,
Washington, D. C., has been remodeled into a residence. The frail health
of Charles Wachsmuth of Hanover, Germany, and the deep interest of
Frank Springer, a young lawyer, were responsible for Burlington’s reputa-
tion in this field. These flower-like fossils of crinoids (star lilies), related
to starfish or sea urchins, but attached by long stems to the sea bottom,
were found near Burlington in great abundance in early days. Wachsmuth
began to collect fossils when he was ordered to spend as much time as
possible outdoors; while Frank Springer decided to settle in Burlington
after he heard Prof. Louis Agassiz of Harvard University lecture on
crinoids at the University of Iowa. Later Wachsmuth and Springer, who
became warm friends, built and supervised the Wachsmuth museum. They
compiled and published The North American Crinoidea Camerata as Vols.
X and XI of the Memoirs of the Museum of Comparative Zoology, Har-
vard College, Cambridge, Mass. (1897).

14. LOG CABIN (private), at the Hay homestead, 2700 West Ave.,
cabin of Jeremiah Smith, Jr., erected in August 1833, now covered with
weather boarding, is believed to be the oldest house in Des Moines
County. The chinking of white plaster made the three-room cabin a white
landmark for pioneers following dim trails. Chief Black Hawk brought
his Indians to sit about its fireplace. It was a pioneer center for distin-
guished guests, trappers, and families on the way West.

15. SOUTH HILL PARK, corner 6th and Elm Sts., has the BoULDER
MoNUMENT, NW. corner of park, marking the only point in the world
where the solar eclipse of August 7, 1869, was seen. Many well known
scientists gathered in Burlington at that time.

16. CRAPO PARK, S. end of Main St. on a high bluff overlooking the
Mississippi, has PIKE MEMORIAL, 2 boulder monument, near the flag pole
and cannons, placed by the D.A.R. in 1905 to locate the spot where Zebulon
M. Pike is believed to have landed on August 23, 1805, and unfurled the
American flag to designate his choice of a fort site. Other authorities be-
lieve Lieutenant Pike landed at North Hill Bluff. BLack HAWK SPRING,
named for the Indian chief, flows from a rock cavern below the top of the
bluffs and tumbles to the Mississippi a short distance away. A BRONZE
PLAQUE commemorates the spring to Black Hawk, who is said to have used
the spring while hunting here.

POINTS OF INTEREST IN ENVIRONS

Flint I:Iills State Park——_3.5 m., Starr’s Cave—5 m. Our Lady of Grace Grotto,
W. 11)3)ur1mgton—4 m., Jimtown, historic stagecoach stop—16 m. (see Tour 1,
sec. b).
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Cedar Rapids

Railroad Stations: Union Station, 4th St. bet. 3rd and sth Aves. SE., for Chicago &
North Western Ry. and Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific Ry.; Milwaukee Depot, 4th
St. and 1st Ave. SE., for Illinois Central RR. and Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul &
Pacific R.R.

Interurban Station: 328 2nd St. SE. for Cedar Rapids & Iowa City Ry. and Water-
loo, Cedar Falls & Northern Ry.

Bus Station: Union Bus Depot (Interurban Station), for Interstate Transit Lines
(Northwestern Ry. and Union Pacific R.R.), M. C. Foster Lines, Jefferson Trans-
portation Co., Cedar Rapids & Ottumwa Line, and Waterloo, Cedar Falls & North-
ern Motor Coaches.

Street Buses: Cedar Rapids City Lines, fare s¢; service between towns of Marion
and Cedar Rapids, 10¢.

Taxis: First 2 m. or less, 25¢; 10¢ for each additional passenger.

Traffic Regulations: No U-turns in business district, no double parking in “loop.”
Free parking at sth St. and sth Ave. SE.

Street Order and Numbering: 1st Ave., N. & S. dividing line, Cedar River E. and
W. line. City divided into quarters designated as NE., NW., SE., and SW., Sts. and
aves. numbered; N. of 1st Ave. listed alphabetically.

Accommodations: Six hotels in business center, smaller ones nearby.

Information Service: American Automobile Association, 223 3rd Ave. SE.; Cham-
ber of Commerce, Memorial Bldg., Municipal Island.

Radio Station: WMT (Goo kc.).

Motion Picture Houses: Six.

Athletics: Hill Park (Three I League), E Ave. and 13th St.,, NW.

Swimming: Ellis Park bathing beach, Ellis Blvd. NW.; American Legion Pool,
Thomas Park, at town of Marion, NE. of city; YMCA, NE. cor. 1st Ave. and sth
St., open to both sexes.

Tennis: Bever Park, at Bever Ave. or Grand Ave. and Memorial Drive SE.; Dan-
iels Park, Oakland and H Aves. NE.; Ellis Park; Riverside Park, C St. and 11th
Ave. SW.; also B Ave. and 20th St. NE.

Golf: Ellis Park, 9 holes, green fees 26¢ wk. days, 36¢ Sun.; Kenmore Golf Course
(commercial ), Oakland Rd. and 3s5th and 42nd Sts., 9 holes, green fees 31¢ Mon.-
Fri. only, 18 holes, green fees 41¢ wk. days, 45¢ Sat. and Sun.

Boating and Canoeing: Cedar River at Ellis Park.

Annual Events: Boat Races, Ellis Park, Aug.; All-Iowa Livestock Exposition, Hawk-
-eye Downs, Sept.; Silver Skates Tournament, municipal skating rink, Dec.; Golden
Gloves matches, Memorial Coliseumn, Feb.

‘CEDAR RAPIDS (733 alt., 56,097 pop.), named for the swift rapids in
tthe river at this point, is the county seat of Linn County and principal in-
-dustrial center of east-central Iowa, in the midst of a rich agricultural area.
“The Cedar River, flowing southeast, divides the city neatly into the East
and West Sides. The business district lies in a wide flat valley. North and
'south on the flatlands are the larger manufacturing plants, the railroad
yards and shops, and other industries. On First Street at the east side of
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the river most of the shops are low structures of two or three stories,
erected at the turn of the 19th century. They present an old-time atmos-
phere, difhcult to reconcile with the briskness of the city and the many
tall office buildings and modern hotels neatby.

The proximity of the giant Quaker Oats plant to the downtown district
and the four railroads that traverse the main business section along Fourth
Street, plus the fact that the Cedar River, and an island in it, are incor-
porated into the city plan rather than isolated from it, contributes to the
sense of commercial and civic unity.

Cedar Rapids is noted for its residential districts that extend back into
rolling hills on both sides of the river. So rapidly have these sections
grown that the sites now occupied by modern homes were but a few short
years ago pasture and woodland.

Cedar Rapids gives the impression of being uncrowded; there are no
slum areas; residences are set far back from the streets and staunch old
trees line the broad avenues, their branches meeting overhead to form
archways of green. In the newer residential districts the streets curve and
turn as they follow the contour of hill and valley.

Czechs, commonly known as Bohemians, constitute the major foreign
population of Cedar Ragids, there being about 18,000 in the city (1938).
The majority live in a bilingual district in the southwest end of the city,
in the vicinity of Sixteenth Avenue, known as ‘Little Bohemia.” Here they
have their own shopping district where £olaches (a tart filled with cottage
cheese, fruit, or poppy seeds) and other native foods can be obtained.
The Czechs first came to Linn County in 1852 to work in the T. M. Sin-
clair packing plants and as the settlement grew they established churches,
schools, and social organizations. One of their social clubs, the Reading
Society, formed in 1869, later developed into a Little Theatre movement
that presents plays in the native language. The Czech weekly newspaper,
the Cedar Rapids Listy, was established in 1906 and in 1933 the Czech
Fine Arts Society was organized to further Czech culture among the Eng-
lish-speaking younger generation.

The race has long been prominent in the political and civil life of the
city and county. A Czech alderman was elected in 1877 and Karel Jonas,
later to become Lieutenant Governor of Wisconsin, came to Cedar Rapids
in 1858, along with Vojtech Naprstek, Czech patriot and Joseph Sosel,
said to be the first Czech lawyer in the United States. Sosel, who was noted
for his revolutionary activities in his native country, was smuggled out of
Austria in a barrel, and because of his ability to speak the English lan-
guage soon became legal and business adviser to the local Czech colony.

Sac and Fox Indians hunted and trapped in this region before 1838, the
year Osgood Shepherd built his shack on the east side of the river at what
is now First Avenue and First Street. The first survey of the city was made
in 1841 by N. B. Brown, George Greene, and others who purchased
squatter rights held by Shepherd. These men gave the name of Rapids
City to the newly formed town.

Early in the 1840’s 2 dam was constructed across the Cedar River, which
furnished power for the grist and sawmills, already becoming lively in-
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dustries. Robert Ellis, who settled on the west side of the river, built three
flatboats about the same time and loaded them with 4,000 bushels of wheat
for New Orleans, the first outlet for the community’s farm products. The
first newspaper was established in 1851 and the next year David W. King
laid out the town of Kingston on the west side of the river. At this time
the old ferry across the river was replaced by a toll bridge. In 1858 the
citizens of Cedar Rapids launched The Cedar Rapids, a steamer built for
them at Beaver, Pa. It made several trips between St. Louis and Cedar
Rapids, but a collision on the Mississippi River resulted in the loss of their
investment. In June 1858 the railroad reached the city and river traffic was
abandoned.

With the coming of the railroad, interest turned to manufacturing and
marketing. In 1870, the town of Kingston was annexed to Cedar Rapids
and during the next ten years the Douglas and Stuart oatmeal mills were
established, gas for illumination was installed, streetcars drawn by horses
began operations, and a boulevard was opened between Cedar Rapids and
Marion, then the county seat. In that decade also Henry Ward Beecher
spoke to a capacity audience at the Methodist Church and William H.
Seward, Secretary of State under Abraham Lincoln, stopped in the city
while on a trip around the world. The following description of the town
is credited to him: "Of the towns which have sprung up on the plains,
we notice Cedar Rapids. During ten minutes’ stay there we saw suburban
cottages, with pointed roofs of the Norwegian settlers, surrounded by
dark-green meadows, covered with flocks of geese and eider-ducks. We
heard airs from Trovatore on a Chickering piano, in a dwelling not yet
painted or plastered. We saw a Mansard mansion of the speculator in the
city lots . . . There seem to be all sorts of churches for all sects of Chris-
tians—one surmounted with a Catholic cross, and one with a dome and
minaret borrowed from a Mohammedan mosque.”

On December 27, 1880, Greene's Opera House was dedicated with a
performance by the Emma Abbott Opera Company, and in the same year
the Cedar Rapids Business College was established, with Austin Palmer,
later noted for his Palmer Method of Penmanship, as one of the teachers.

In the 1890’s churches and schools were rebuilt and enlarged; a new
post office was constructed; electric cars were introduced and the Union
Station built. With the advent of the 20th century Cedar Rapids was a
prosperous city. In the span of so years it had come from Indians to
automobiles.

Perhaps the most colorful of the city’s characters were the Cherry sisters
—LEfhe, Addie and Jessie—who went on the stage at the turn of the 1g9th
century with an act that was so poor it was good. Because of their per-
formance the Oscar Hammerstein Theatre in New York was able to pay
off its mortgage and the audiences were “laid under the seats.” It is said
their act was at times presented behind nets to protect the sisters from
vegetables, fruit, and other missiles hurled at them. The Cherry sisters,
with the exception of their one season in New York, spent their entire
lives in Cedar Rapids.
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POINTS OF INTEREST

1. MUNICIPAL ISLAND, in the channel of the Cedar River reached
by 1st, 2nd or 3rd Ave. bridges, between E. and W. business districts, is
Cedar Rapids’ civic center. The original island, supplemented by river
walls, is landscaped. The place was the rendezvous of the Shepherd gang
of squatters until 1851. The original purchase price was $7.50. Later, it
was known as May’s Island, and was bought by the city in the early 1900’s
for $105,000. MEMORIAL BUILDING (open 8-5 Mon.-Fri.; 8-12 Sat.), N.
end of the narrow island, between 1st and 2nd Ave. bridges, a limestone
building of neo-classic design, was dedicated in 1928 to those who served
their country in its wars. The main structure is seven stories high. Sur-
mounting it is a colonnaded observation tower topped with a symbolic
sarcophagus on a cenotaph base. There are two main entrances. The Second
Avenue fagade has Doric columns extending from the fifth to seventh
floors, exclusively. The two doors are separated by a stained glass window,
designed by Grant Wood, Iowa artist, and manufactured in Germany,
under his supervision. The central figure is an allegorical symbol of Vic-
tory holding a laurel wreath in one hand and a palm branch in the other.
Below are six uniformed soldiers representing each of the wars in which
the United States has engaged. Insignia of the various branches of the
United States Army and Navy form a border around the window. The
visitor by day should enter the south entrance to see the outside light
through the window. At night floodlights illuminate the window from the
inside. The First Avenue entrance to the building is three stories high,
recessed. The columns are Corinthian in style. Concerts of the Cedar
Rapids Symphony orchestra, organ recitals, lectures, and other events of
city-wide interest are presented in the auditorium, seating 4,000.

LiNN CouNTY COURTHOUSE (open 8-5 Mon.-Fri.; 8-12 Sat.), facing
3rd. Ave,, is at the south end of the island. The building, completed in
1926, is constructed of Indiana limestone. The main entrance, facing the
plaza, is enriched by Ionic columns. The area between the memorial and
county buildings is a landscaped plaza, laid out in formal fashion with a
circular mirror pool and a wall fountain.

2. FEDERAL BUILDING (oper Mon.-Fri. 8-5; Sat. 8-12), 1st St.
between 1st and 2nd Aves. SE., houses the city’s post office and the Fed-
eral offices. The murals and panels representing the theme, Law and Cul-
ture were executed under the sponsorship of the U. S. Treasury Art Proj-
ect. A mural in the courtroom and panels in the first floor lobby are the
work of four artists, Robert Francis White, Everett Jeffrey, Harry Jones,
and Don Glasell. These paintings are executed in egg tempera (dry pig-
ments mixed in egg yolk and applied to the walls). The technique is con-
sidered second to the fresco method in permanency. The building, com-
pleted in 1933, is classic in style with an Indiana limestone exterior. There
are three main entrances to the post office lobby. Columns and cornice are
Ionic in design. Windows of cast iron frames and mullions, and a tiled
roof back of the balustrade parapet are other features,

3. MONTROSE HOTEL, SW. corner 3rd Ave. and 3rd St. SE., a six-
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story, red brick structure, is noted for the murals of Iowa farm life painted
by Grant Wood, Iowa artist, that decorate the dining room opening on to
Third Avenue.

4. PUBLIC LIBRARY (open weekdays 1-5; Sun. and holidays 2-6),
428 3rd Ave. SE., has a collection of books in the Czech language among
its 76,000 volumes. The building, completed in 1906, is Italian Renais-
sance in general architectural style. The exterior is of Roman size pressed
brick, gray in color, and Indiana limestone. CEDAR RAPIDS ART ASSOCIA-
TION GALLERY (open library hours), is located on the second floor. Here
both permanent and traveling exhibits are presented. Included in the per-
manent collection is Woman With Plants, a first painting that launched
Grant Wood to fame.

5. GREENE SQUARE, 3rd and 4th Aves., SE. between 4th and sth
Sts., is named for George Greene, one of the city’s founders. The square
is cut diagonally by a walk, passing through a stone shelter in the center
of the park. Flower beds, stone markers and green lawns distinguish this
restful downtown park.

6. FIRST PRESBYTERIAN CHURCH, SE. corner 3rd Ave. and sth
St. SE., of modified Gothic design, was completed in 1890. Built of Iowa
limestone, the exterior walls are buttressed. There is a memorial window
in the south transept section, the gift of the T. M. Sinclair family.

7. QUAKER OATS PLANT (open Mon.-Fri. Tours 9 AM; 2:30
PM), N. end of 3rd St. NE,, is the city’s largest industry and one of the
largest cereal mills in the world. The mill, founded in 1873 by Robert
Stuart, began with a daily capacity of 200 barrels. It was totally destroyed
by fire in 1905, and rebuilt. The buildings comprising the plant, erected
as necessity demanded and strictly utilitarian in design, have been admired
by artists and architects for their unified strength and beauty. Seven gigan-
tic concrete elevators, cylindrical in construction, with a combined capacity
of 9,500,000 bushels, are required to store the grain; and an average of
from 9o to 160 carloads of grain products and other materials move over
the railroad sidings daily. Output ranges from rolled oats and puffed
grains to flour and feed. Oats are carried to the top floor of the 13-story
building where they are weighed, sorted, and cleaned. The hulls are re-
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QUAKER OATS PLANT, CEDAR RAPIDS

moved, and the oats pass through steam chests to slow-turning rollers.
They emerge as rolled oats. There are tables over which the groats (hulled
and cracked oats) pass under ultra-violet rays. Afterward they move down-
ward through the Euilding on conveyors, emerging at the bottom in pack-
ages.

8. IOWA MASONIC LIBRARY (open weckdays 8-12 and 1-5), 813
1st Ave. SE., contains one of the oldest and largest Masonic libraries in
the United States. It was established in 1844 by Theodore S. Parvin, who
remained Grand Secretary and Librarian from the time of its founding
until his death in xgox. Parvin came to Iowa in 1838 as secretary to Rob-
ert Lucas, Iowa’s first Territorial Governor. The libraty includes works
bearing upon the secret societies of the Middle Ages, and books pertaining
to the history of the Nestorians, Dervishes, Thugs, Druids, Rosicrucians,
and the Guilds. The first section of the museum department is devoted to
collections of Masonic interest. Other items inclucEa a collection of fire-
arms, two complete suits of Japanese armor, Indian arrow and hammer
heads, a mosaic table containing 37,473 pieces of wood gathered from
every State in the Union and foreign countries, a collection of personal
items once owned by Theodore S. Parvin, and the first telephone made in
Iowa. The general offices for the library are located in an old residence
built in the 1880’s. The library proper, extending to the east, is of red
brick, and was added to the building in x909. The building stands on the
SiITE oF DouGLAs PUBLIC SQUARE, named for Stephen A. Douglas, who
gave a talk in a grove here shortly after his debate with Abraham Lincoln.

9. TURNER ALLEY (private), 8th St. SE. between 1st and 2nd Aves.,
is the common name for the hayloft workshop at the rear of the Turner
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property where Grant Wood, Iowa artist, created some of his paintings.
In the reception room of the Turner mortuary are permanently hung a
group of 30 of his early canvases. Wood is best known for his paintings,
Daughters of Revolution and American Gothic.

10. IMMACULATE CONCEPTION CATHOLIC CHURCH, SW.
corner 3rd Ave. and 1oth St. SE., was designed by E. F. Masquera who
planned the Catholic Cathedral in St. Paul, Minn. Of Romanesque design,
the building is constructed of red brick, trimmed with Indiana limestone,
and is surmounted by a Renaissance cupola of antique bronze. The interior
is Italian Renaissance in style.

11. COE COLLEGE, 1st Ave. between 12th and 13th Sts. NE., and
extending N. to E Ave., occupies eight city blocks. The college, a co-
educational Presbyterian institution had its beginning in 1851 when the
Rev. Williston Jones opened a school in his home for 16 Cedar Rapids
young people. In 1866 it became Parsons Seminary and the first building,
now a part of “Old Main,” was built. But since February 2, 1881, the
present name has been used. In 1919 Leander Clark College was absorbed.

The college buildings on the main campus center around the T. M.
SINCLAIR MEMORIAL CHAPEL, a red brick building of Gothic design with
a cruciform plan. The dormitory for girls, the gymnasium, and the four
buildings for classes are connected by neat walks. Tall oaks and elms shade
the area. OLD MAIN, housing offices and classrooms, the oldest structure
on the campus, is a tall, narrow building of old brick, covered with ivy.
The west half was completed in 1868 and the east in 1883. The BERT
HEeALD BAILEY MUSEUM, top floor of Science Hall (open on application),
is one of the largest in Iowa. Exhibits of vertebrates, invertebrates, geo-
logical formations, botanical collections, together with ethnological dis-
plays are found here. STEWART MEMORIAL LIBRARY, N. side B Ave.
facing campus (open weeksdays 9-9), is modified Geotrgian Colonial in
design. It is of red brick and Indiana limestone. Windows and other trim.
are of wood, painted white. The MEN’s GYMNAsSIUM is off the main
campus on C Avenue.

12. ST. PAUL'S METHODIST CHURCH, NW. corner 3rd Ave. and
14th St. SE., was originally designed by Louis Sullivan (1913) but altered
by another architect. The design of the building is a radical departure
from traditional ecclesiastical architecture. The structure is circular in plan
and is lighted by three rows of square windows. The stairways are placed
outside of the auditorium proper. The massive exterior is dominated by a
square tower surmounted by an illuminated cross.

13. DOUGLAS ESTATE (private), 1st Ave. and 20th St. SE., was es-
tablished in 1872 by Mrs. T. M. Sinclair, wife of the founder of the
Cedar Rapids meat packing industry. The home is a large two-story struc-
ture of red brick with a slate roof. The general architectural style is French
Renaissance. The interior was completely remodeled in 1900 by Howard
Shaw (Chicago). The main hall is paneled in butternut. The dining room,
painted white, is French Renaissance. In 1908 Mrs. Douglas built a guest
house in the early American style. Swimming pool, tennis court, and gar-
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den are features of this estate that rises through a series of terraces from
First Avenue.

14. BEVER PARK, Bever Ave. at Memorial Drive SE., a thickly wooded
area, with picnic facilities, contains the JoHN VARDY HOUSE (private),
a plain, white one-story building, constructed in 1842 by one of the town’s
earliest settlers (John Vardy). It is said to be the first frame house in the
city. Moved to its park location from 300 6th Ave. SE., the house is fut-
nished in the style of the 1840’s and preserved as a museum.

15. WILSON PACKING PLANT, S. end of 2nd, 3rd, and 4th Sts.
SE,, is in a curve on the E. side of the Cedar River (open weekdays; tours
8:30, 9:45 a. m.; 12:30, 1:45 p. m.). During the early history of the city
the company, which employs a large number of Bohemians, was known
as the T. M. Sinclair Co.

16. PEOPLES’ SAVINGS BANK BUILDING, West side 3rd Ave.
and st St. SW., erected in 1911, was designed by Louis Sullivan and is
typical of his smaller buildings. It is a buttressed edifice with square set-
back towers. The grill-work in the towers and the terra cotta griffins on the
upper part of the building, and at the entrance, are the only exterior deco-
rations.

17. PENICK AND FORD PLANT (open, tours 10-2, weekdays,
adults only), 1st St. between 8th and 11th Aves. SW., manufactures corn
sugar, glucose, starch and other similar products. At one time this plant
was in the hands of the Douglas family, promoters of Douglas starch. An
explosion in the plant in 1919 caused much property damage in the neigh-
borhood and the loss of many lives. '

18. SHAKESPEARE GARDEN, in Ellis Park, end of the Ellis Park
car-line and Ellis Lane, is maintained by the Cedar Rapids Woman’s
Clubs and contains species of flowers grown in William Shakespeare’s
garden in England.

POINTS OF INTEREST IN ENVIRONS

Marion, first county seat—G m. (see Toar 1A, sec. «); Mount Vernon, site of
Cornell College—17 m., Palisades Kepler State Patk—27 m. through Mount Ver-
non (see Tour 13, sec. a).
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Clinton

Ruailroad Stations: 11th Ave. S. and S. 4th St. for Chicago & North Western Ry.;
Union Station, 12th Ave. S. and S. 3rd St., for Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul &
Pacific RR., Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific Ry, and Chicago, Burlington &
Quincy R.R. .

Interurban Station: 123 sth Ave. S. for Clinton, Davenport & Muscatine Ry.

Bus Station: Lafayette Hotel, SE. cor. 6th Ave. S. and S. 2nd St., and 123 sth Ave.
S., for Scenic Stage Lines and Walrod Bus Line; Lafayette Hotel for Interstate
Transit Lines (North Western Ry. and Union Pacific RR.).

Street Buses: 10¢ or 3 for 25¢.

Taxis: Anywhere in the city, 25¢. {

Parking Space: S. 1st St. bet. 4th and 6th Aves. S.

Business Districts: sth Ave. S. from S. 2nd St. to S. 31d St., and 8. 2nd St. from
4th Ave. S. to 7th Ave. S. in the main town of Clinton; N. end of city in the old
town of Lyons (still known as Lyons) W. from river, foot of US 30.

Accommodations: Seven hotels, numerous private homes open to tourists.

Information Service: Eastern Iowa Motor Clubs, Lafayette Hotel; Chamber of Com-
merce, 4th Ave. S. and S. 1st St.

T heaters and Motion Picture Houses: Public auditorium, 4th Ave. S. and S. 1st St.
Swimming and Tennis: River Front Park.
Golf: Kiwanis Golf Links, 9 holes, 12th Ave. N. and N. 31d St., fee 25¢.

Annnal Events: Gateway Classic, Middlewest High School Track Meet, in the
spring.

CLINTON (593 alt, 25,726 pop.), an industrial and railroad center,
stretches seven miles along the west bank of the Mississippi River at the
foot of a ridge of bluffs to the north and of hills to the south.

A great many of the 6,000 elms planted in 1855 are still standing, their
branches meeting above the streets to form vaulted archways block after
block. Mansions of the late 19th century along Fifth Avenue South and
on the bluffs to the west, stand as evidence of the time when Clinton
claimed 17 millionaires—in the heyday of the lumber industry. Victorian
in style, with embellishments such as diamond-leaded window panes, bays,
oriels, gables and sloping roofs, most of these dwellings have been con-
verted into rooming houses or turned over to public enterprises, such
as the American Legion and the Young Women’s Christian Association.
It is these old houses, and the many trees, that give the city a comfortable,
even sleepy, atmosphere that belies the industrial hum and activity of fac-
tories and railroad yards.

In the southern end of the city, and following a narrow strip along the
river, are the railroad yards; numerous tracks converge at one point and
turn out—east over the river, south and west across the open country, and
northward, close to the river, through the city’s waterfront patk where a
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railroad line passes over the green grass of a lawn. Factory buildings in
this area are white with powdered gram

Elijah Buell, first settler in what is now Clinton, came to the Narrows
at Fulton in 1835. He established a ferry across the Mississippi River to
accommodate the many people on their way into the new West. Joseph M.
Bartlett laid out a town in 1838 where the city now stands, naming it
New York. In 1855 the Iowa Land Company, a promotion concern, made
up of the officers of the Chicago, Iowa & Nebraska Railroad (now the
Chicago & North Western) acquired the site and replatted it, naming it for
DeWitt Clinton, one-time Governor of the State of New York.

A post office was established in 1856 and, in the same year, the Randall
Hotel was built. A spacious brick building, with marble maatels and hot
and cold water, it had a five-stoty brick outside toilet, accessible from all
floors, a marvel of convenience in those early days. The hotel was dubbed
Randall’s Folly by the skeptical who had no faith in the city’s growth. But
where once had been swampland and slough—the present shopping center
—a city came into being. On the banks of a slough, where the courthouse
now stands, was a boat-building factory. The finished boats were floated
through a canal, crossing the main thoroughfare, to the river. The slough
extended westward to what was then the fairgrounds, where there was a
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brick plant that transformed the grayish-green Maquoketa shale, which is
a part of Clinton’s bluffs, into red brick.

Clinton was incorporated as a city in 1859. In 1864 striking railroad
workers dumped the running gear of the freight cars into the Mississippi
River, where they are said to remain. In those early days streetcars were
drawn by mules. Many of the wooden sidewalks were built on stilts and
frequently floated down the river during high water.

In 1878 the town of Ringwood was annexed to Clinton. The city’s rapid
growth followed the establishment of the sawmills, reaching the peak of
production in the early 1880’s, when Clinton was recognized as the largest
lumber-producing city in the world, with five mills from Lyons on the
north to Chancy on the south. In summer an average of 40 to 50 steam-
boats passed daily up and down the river and hundreds of log rafts were
ﬂoatef down from the north in the spring. Workers in the mills were
mainly Irish who came here in the days of famine in Ireland.

One of the biggest problems the mills had was to dispose of sawdust.
The entire north end of Lyons for two and a half blocks west from the
river is still underlaid with sawdust to a depth of 20 feet or more. Sloughs
and streams were filled in with it and large portions of the city were built
on sawdust bottoms. If exposed to air, spontaneous combustion starts
smouldering fires in the buried sawdust which it sometimes takes days to
extinguish.

The city in these days grew so fast that new papers of incorporation
were taken out in 1881. In the 1890’s both Chancy and Lyons were an-
nexed to the growing city. The interests of the lumber people were trans-
ferred to railroading with the last log raft arriving from the north in 1906
and from then on the city turned its attention to manufacturing, trading
and retailing. Most of the present-day business structures were built in the
first two decades of the twentieth century and public improvements were
developed along with them. However, the city’s development was not
without labor troubles. In 1919 a strike in a local factory resulted in the
death of one of the strikers and in 1922, strikes on the North Western
Railroad led machinists and clerks to walk out for six weeks, when a satis-
factory agreement was reached.

Lillian Russell, the girl who first made the beauty of American women
internationally famous, was born in Clinton in 1861. Her home, the news-
paper office where her father worked, and the Davis Opera House where
she first made a stage appearance, have been torn down.

POINTS OF INTEREST

OLD CLINTON THEATER, 213-15 6th Ave. S. (not open), of modi-
fied Romanesque design with a brick and red sandstone front, was built
in 1882 and remodeled in 1936. Here Emma Calvé, Maude Adams, Nora
Bayes, Alla Nazimova, John Drew, Otis Skinner, Margaret Anglin, and
Lillian Russell once performed. Plush stage curtains, a carriage man in
dark green uniform, a colored maid in charge of the ladies’ retiring room,
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were metropolitan touches. C. E. Dixon spent each summer in New York
booking the finest Froductions obtainable, and he still retains a valuable
framed collection of pictures of over 200 stars who appeated on the Clin-
ton stage.

SITE OF UNDERGROUND RAILROAD STATION, SE. corner 6th
Ave. S. and S. 2nd St., is occupied by the Lafayette Hotel. On this site
in the days immediately preceding the Civil War stood a small house that
was a station on the underground railroad. Missouri slaves frequently es-
caped into lIowa where sympathizers helped them to escape, routing them
along the underground railroad. Hidden under straw in wagon boxes, the
slaves, referred to as “volumes bound in black,” were brought to the west-
ern outskirts of Clinton where they found refuge in dugouts or root cellars
in the hills and bluffs, until they could be handled through the local sta-
tion.

RIVER FRONT PARK, between S. 1st St. and the river, stretches
almost a mile from gth Ave. N. to 6th Ave. S. The new StADIUM, built
with WPA labor in 1936, is a feature of the park, which also contains the
city’s $90,000 SWIMMING PoOL, tennis courts and baseball diamonds. The
AL LuBBERS MEMORIAL FOUNTAIN, designed by Leo Hannaher, Clin-
ton’s Superintendent of Public Parks, another feature of the park, was
built in 1934—s, in the form of a fountain and waterfall combined. At
night it is illuminated with colored lights. At the entrance to the park is
a MEMORIAL FLAG POLE designed by Lorado Taft and dedicated to the
veterans of the Civil, the Spanish-American, and the World wars. The
square base of the pole is adorned with military figures at each corner.

A PLAYHOUSE, 318 6th Ave. S., in the rear of the American Le-
gion Home, was at one time the property of Frank Ellis, a lawyer. Built
on the lawn for his young daughter, Jane, who expressed a wish to have
a playhouse like the home of her parents, it was moved during the World
War by the Red Cross to a spot near the railroad station and used as a
canteen from which to serve soldiers passing through. At the end of the
war it was returned to the Ellis lawn, and sold with the home to the
American Legion. Today the playhouse is the headquarters for a Girl
Scout troop sponsored by the Legion Auxiliary.

ST. JOHN'’S EPISCOPAL CHURCH, 240 sth Ave. S, is designed in
the manner of an English Gothic parish church, with open timbered roof.
Back of the altar, covering the entire stone wall, is the BREWER MEMO-
RIAL MosAIC, one of the finest examples of that art in America. It is a
faithful copy of the central group of figures in an Italian painting, The
Light of tfe World. The memorial is the work of six Italian workmen
under the direction of Lorenzo Zantatto. The figure of Christ with four
angels, on a background of glass squares backed by goldleaf fused into
the glass, produces the illusion that the figures are silhouetted against an
immense golden window.

CLINTON COMPANY PLANT (open Mon.-Fri. 8-4; Sat. 8-12;
guides), 2415 Liberty Ave., started operations early in the twentieth cen-
tury. It has equipment capable of grinding 30,000 bushels of corn a day
and uses over 100,000 tons of coal a year. The company manufactures
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syrup and various other corn byproducts, large shipments of which go to
England, the Philippines and the Orient.

OLD STONE HOUSE (private), 850 S. Bluff Blvd., is a long, one-
story building of native, hand-quarried stone, with 2 plain low-pitched
gable roof. It was built in 1837, and is the oldest house in Clinton County.
In 1934 the house was remodeled so skillfully that it lost none of its early
charm. First a squatter’s cabin, it was later a tavern, then a farmhouse.
Built directly on the old Indian trail which paralleled the Mississippi
River from lakes to gulf, travelers paid 25¢ for the privilege of sleeping
on the hard earthen floor in front of the fireplace, furnishing their own
blankets.

MOUNT ST. CLAIRE ACADEMY, Springdale Dr. between 4th and
sth Aves. N., a building of Romanesque architecture on a beautiful es-
tate, is supervised by the Sisters of Saint Francis and has been in opera-
tion as a school for girls for more than 40 years. It provides college pre-
paratory work, two years college credits in liberal and fine arts courses,
secretarial work, and teacher’s training for its 125 students. The MuUsEUM
(open weekdays, 9-8) houses a collection of original paintings. One large
painting was found in a little back room of a church in Kentucky where
1t was neglected for so many years that the canvas had been snagged. Ac-
cumulated-dust almost obscured the subject. It is believed to be more than
300 years old, an original by the Dutch master, Van Dyck (though this
has not been substantiated). The painting is thought to have been owned
in the early part of the 1gth century by Louis Philippe (later King of
France), who was exiled during the French Revolution and came to Amer-
ica, bringing with him many of his personal treasures. Fond of the Trap-
pist monks, who came from France and founded Gethsemane Abbey,
near Bardstown, Kentucky, Louis Philippe spent much of his time at their
retreat. Before leaving, he presented the Trappists with some of his
paintings.

ELIJAH BUELL HOUSE (private), 2517 N. 3td St., erected in 1857
on a high knoll by Clinton’s first settler, has been occupied ever since.
It is a large, square, 12-room house built of brick, hauled many miles
overland by oxen, with a hip roof topped with a small flat deck and square
lookout room.

EAGLE POINT PARK, end of N. 3rd St. on the Mississippi River
bluffs, was once known as Joyce’s Park, the land having been given to the
city by David Joyce. On a limestone cliff is an enormous natural STONE
Face which, according to Indian legend, is an emissary of the Great Spirit,
and guardian of fish and game. On a grassy knoll in the park is a 35-foot
OBSERVATION TOWER (‘open, daily), built of stone quarried on the prem-
ises. Construction is along lines similar to that of the old watch towers of
the Norsemen.

POINTS OF INTEREST IN ENVIRONS

Camanche, early chartered town with pecan groves, 6 m. (see Tour 2 sec. b).
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Council Bluffs

Railroad Stations: 1115 W. Broadway for Chicago & North Western Ry., Union
Pacific R.R., and Wabash Ry.; 1216 W. Broadway for Illinois Central R.R.; 1201
S. Main St. for Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific Ry. and Chicago, Milwaukee, St.
Paul & Pacific R.R.; 900 S. Main St. for Chicago, Great Western R.R.; 407 11th
Ave. for Chicago, Burlington & Quincy R.R.

Bus Station: Union Bus Station, 33 Pearl St., for Interstate Transit (North Western
Ry. and Union Pacific R.R.), P. R. Davis Lines, and Bert Cannon Lines; 1or Pearl
St. for Burlington Bus Lines.

Streetcars : Between Omaha (Nebr.) and Council Bluffs every 15 minutes, every 5
mifnutes during rush hours, fare 10¢, city feeder lines 20-minute schedule, fare 1o¢,
3 for 25¢.

Taxis: 15¢ first m. for one or more persons, 1o¢ each additional m.

Accommodations: Six hotels, all centrally located.
Information Service: Chamber of Commerce, Chieftain Hotel, 38 Peatl St.

Motion Picture Houses: Three.

Swimming: Crystal Pool, 29th and sth Ave.

Tennis: Fairmount Park, end of oth Ave. on High St., and Dodge Park, end of
Broadway on the river, municipal.

Golf: Dodge Patk, municipal, 18 holes, fee 25¢.

Annual Events: Flower Show, May.

COUNCIL BLUFFS (984 alt., 42,048 pop.), seat of Pottawattamie
County, is a railroad center and an important transfer point for trans-
continental mail. The original town, built against the bluffs, is laid out
irregularly but the new part along the Missouri River is platted in even
blocks. Approached from the east, the city on the lowland is seen from
hills that rise abruptly to a height of 100 to 300 feet. A natural point for
east and west crossing, the city is one of the largest mail transfer points
in the United States. Eight trunk lines converge here, and more than 100
freight trains and 68 passenger trains enter and leave the city daily. It is
this railroad activity that gives to the city a marked liveliness. Close to the
railroad yards, in the southern end of the city, are the many modest homes
of the working people, stretching for block after block.

The city, suburban in character, is a place of quiet and peace away from
the railroad tracks. One of the State’s historic cities—the first on the west-
ern edge—tradition plays an important part in the lives of many of the

eople.
5 Igdians first met along the river bluffs in this region to sell their furs
to French traders, and the explorers, Lewis and Clark, camped near the
site in 1804. Itinerant traders and trappers moving through the territory
later designated the whole bluff territory along this part of the Missouri,
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the Council Bluffs. Council Bluffs was early known as Hart’s Bluff, named
for a white man of unknown origin, who, legend says, traded at this point
before 1824. Francis Guittar settled at this point permanently in 1827
when he was appointed agent of the Hart’s Bluff Post of the American
Fur Company.

In 1837 the Potawatami Indians were moved into the region and
Federal troops were established in a temporary camp to protect them from
other tribes. Other than Davis Hardin, farming instructor provided by the
Government in 1836, the Indians had no teacher until Father Pierre Jean
DeSmet arrived in 1838. For the three years the mission was conducted,
Father DeSmet used the camp block house as a church.

On June 14, 1846, the first Mormons arrived, and changed the name of
the settlement, first to Miller’s Hollow, and then to Kanesville for Thomas
L. Kane, an Army officer who was friendly to them. Kanesville, an un-
organized section of Indian country, was ruled by Orson Hyde, priest,
writer, editor, lawyer, and chief of the church’s quorum of 18 apostles.
Everything was controlled by the church, which did not tolerate idleness
and dissipation. Wishing to participate in the Congressional election of
1848, Hyde and a group of Mormons applied at Albia for a township
government “and an election precinct. The candidates for Representative,
knowing that the Mormon vote would decide the election, showered Kanes-
ville with gifts. Controversy over the Mormon vote, however, made a sec-
ond election necessary.

During the California gold rush in 1849, Kanesville, directly in the
line of travel, was a stopping place where travelers rested and prepared
for the long trip to the west coast. Gamblers, traders, thieves, and des-
peradoes flocked to the town to prey on the gold-crazy throng. Vigilance
committees, organized by the citizens, decided more than one trial by
lynching. y

In 1850 the number of Mormons in the vicinity reached 7,828, but in
1852 Brigham Young called all the faithful to join him in Utah. Selling
farms, stares, and cabins, often at great sacrifice, most of the Mormons
departed for Salt Lake City. After Orson Hyde and his high council left
Kanesville in the spring of 1852, the town was without government. Later
the 1,000 people remaining in the town reorganized, and renamed the
community Council Bluffs. In 1853 the State legislature provided a gov-
ernment for the newly named town, and it was incorporated the same year.

In 1852 Grenville M. Dodge came to Council Bluffs and surveyed the
Platte River Valley for a railroad that is now a part of the Rock Island
system. In 1859, while Dodge was at the old Pacific House in Council
Bluffs, he talked with a young lawyer, Abraham Lincoln, about railroads,
telling him under a barrage of questions a good deal more than he had
intended. It is said that Lincoln’s visit to Council Bluffs and his chat with
Dodge, influenced him, in 1863, as President of the United States, in
selecting this city as the eastern terminus of the Union Pacific. General
Dodge returned from the Civil War in 1866 and was appointed chief
engineer of the Union Pacific Railroad. By 1870, five railroads made con-
nections with the Union Pacific at Council Bluffs.
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Charles T. Kelly’s army of the unemployed, on its way to Washington
to petition for jobs, stopped here in 1894. An estimated 1,500 men were
with Kelly when the Union Pacific train, commandeered in Ogden, Utah,
arrived. Citizens of Omaha and Council Bluffs gave the men 1,000 pounds
of beef and 1,000 pies.

During the World War (1917-18), Council Bluff’'s Unit K, Mobile
Hospital No. 1, under Dr. Donald Mactea, Jr., won many medals, thus
distinguishing the city. By 1920, the introduction of manufacturing and
the development of the nearby farm markets, had brought more than
36,000 people to live in the city. In 1932 the city was the center of farm
strikes, with the Farm Holiday Association picketing all roads into town.

Today manufacturing includes a wide range of articles—playground
equipment, beekeepers’ supplies, artificial limbs, candy, and railroad car
wheels. The seven large grain elevators here have a total capacity of
10,000,000 bushels. Some of the largest vineyards in the Middle West
surround Council Bluffs, introducing a pattern that varies from the miles
of corn and grain fields. Many of the vineyards, almost within the city
limits, spread along the river lowlands from three to ten miles in width,
and others cover the mearby hills with acre after acre of blue Concord

grapes.
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POINTS OF INTEREST

1. PUBLIC LIBRARY (open weekdays 10-9), SW. corner Willow
Ave. and Pearl St., constructed of brick, trimmed with stone, was built in
1904. There are more than 55,500 volumes and valued collections includ-
ing letters, articles, scrapbooks, and speeches of Grenville M. Dodge, his
brother, Nathan Dodge, Dexter C. Bloomer and Mrs. Amelia Bloomer.

2. MORMON TRAIL MEMORIAL, center N. side Bayliss Park, 1st
Ave. and Pearl St., is a huge boulder bearing two bronze tablets com-
memorating the passing of the Mormons through the city in the early days.

3. FATHER DESMET MEMORIAL, E. Broadway and State St., is a
bronze tablet on a granite boulder marking the site where Father Pierre
Jean DeSmet, a Jesuit missionary, established a mission among the Potta-
wattamie Indians in May, 1838. Accompanying him were Father Verreydt
and Brother Mazzelli. After two years, Father DeSmet was sent farther
west to work among the Flathead Indians and other tribes in the Rocky
Mountain region, there becoming known as the “Apostle of the Rockies.”

4. BLOCKHOUSE SITE, E. Broadway and Union Sts., is marked by a
large boulder and a bronze tablet. The troops of Capt. D. B. Moore built
the blockhouse upon their arrival here in August 1837, and occupied it
until November, at which time they were ordered to Fort Leavenworth.

5. J. F. WILCOX GREENHOUSES (oper), 1132 E. Pierce St., with
more than 121,000 squate feet under glass, are said to have two of the
largest rose houses in the world. Built into the bluffs, the greenhouses rise
in tiers above the street levels. Established in 1867, the company is the
largest of its kind west of the Mississippi River. Usually there are 225,000
rose plants grown, and more than 640,000 other kinds of plants.

6. LAINSON GREENHOUSES (open), 1300 Canning St., has 250,000
feet of glass covering, where flowers and tropical plants—a specialty of
this company—and more than 3,500,000 roses a year are grown. Banana,
date, fig, lemon, orange, grapefruit, and papaya trees, orchids, gardenias,
and other rare flowers and plants are displayed here.

7. GRENVILLE M. DODGE RESIDENCE (open by permission), 605
S. 3rd St., erected in 1870 at a cost of $35,000, is one of the city’s historic
houses. Situated on a high rock-walled terrace at the foot of a cliff over-
looking the city, this three-story brick building has a mansard roof and
large French windows. The interior is notable for its walnut woodwork,
Italian marble fireplaces, valuable paintings, antique furniture, and relics
of historic significance. A caretaker maintains it as it was at the time of
General Dodge’s death.

8. COOPERATIVE MARKET BUILDINGS of the Council Bluffs
Grape Growers Association (open by permission), goo S. 7th St., most
active during September and October, markets through private sales as
many as 4,500,000 pounds of grapes grown in the community. About 25
Eercent of t_he grapes are made into wine—port, muscatel, and sherry—the

ulk of which is sold through the Iowa State liquor stores. In 1937 there
were 75,000 gallons of wine made for use in 1941, after the wine has
aged. The association, formed in 1893 with 17 members, now has 262
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farmer members. Prof. T. J. Maney, pomology expert at Iowa State Col-
lege, says of the Council Bluffs area, “The character of the soil deposit and
the topography of the land are comparable to those of the famous Rhine
valley in Germany. This grape-growing region of the country enjoys free-
dom from the common diseases and insect pests.”

9. MEMORIAL FOR GRENVILLE M. DODGE, 1512 S. Main St., on
the Rock Island passenger station lawn, is a brown stone marker with a
bronze tablet. It was placed here in 1922 to commemorate the 7oth anni-
versary of the work Dodge did in 1852 in selecting the route of the Rock
Island Railroad across Iowa.

10. UNION PACIFIC TRANSFER DEPOT, 1oth and 21st Sts., a red
brick U-shaped structure, built in 1878, once contained the popular trans-
fer hotel, on its second floor. This depot houses the first terminal railway
post office set up in the United States, an office that, on the basis of
volume handled, was in 1937 the third largest in the country.

11. UNION PACIFIC BRIDGE, W. end of 12th Ave., bears a large
bronze buffalo head, seven feet tall, placed on the east portal (1916) to
welcome travelers to the land of the buffalo west of the Missouri River.
This head, modeled by Capt. Edward Kenny of Perth Amboy, New Jersey,
was cast in bronze by Etienne Favy, New York. General Dodge was chief
engineer of the original Union Pacific bridge which was started in 1868
and opened to traffic in 1873. In 1887 the first bridge was replaced by a
second one to take care of the increased traffic. In 1914 the present struc-
ture was begun. Erected just south of the old bridge, the new high bridge,
extending 1,722 feet and weighing 5,750 tons, was moved into place with
five hoisting machines after the old bridge had been shifted to temporary
piers. The bridge shift delayed train service only four hours and 20 min-
utes. Now there is an average of one train across the bridge, every five
minutes.

12. LINCOLN PARK, Military Ave. and Oakland Dr., a tiny triangle
of land at the edge of Rohrer Park, is owned by the Pottawattamie County
Historical Society. A Lo CABIN (open Suan. 1-8) erected in 1934 at the
curve of the drive, serves as a museum, housing Indian relics, gifts of
historic value, and other interesting collections.

13. LINCOLN MONUMENT, Point Lookout, head of Oakland Dr.
and Lafayette Ave., is a tall granite shaft, commemorating the visit of
Abraham Lincoln to the city August 12-14, 1859. The memorial was
erected by the Council Bluffs chapter of the D. A. R. in October 1911 at
the point from which Lincoln looked over the valley of the Missouri
River.

14. FAIRVIEW CEMETERY, E. end of Lafayette Ave., contains one
of the outstanding memorials in the vicinity, the bronze ANGEL OF DEATH
that was erected in 1918 in memory of Anne B. Dodge (Mrs. Grenville
M. Dodge) by her daughters. The inspiration for the monument came
from a constantly recurring dream about which Mrs. Dodge told her
children before her death. It is a fountain piece in which the Angel of
Death stands on a barge and extends a bowl, brimming over with the
water of eternal life. The water falls into the pool where the barge floats.
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Daniel Chester French, American sculptor, executed the piece, which he
considered his masterpiece, since the Face and figure of the woman are
unusually beautiful. The GRAVE OF AMELIA JENKS BLOOMER, also here,
is visited by many interested in women’s rights. Mrs. Bloomer.(born in
New York, 1818; died in Council Bluffs, Dec. 30, 1894), a pioneer in
the woman suffrage movement, was also an advocate of dress reforms, one
of which the public dubbed “bloomers” for her. Moving to Council
Bluffs in 1855, Mrs. Bloomer continued her work for woman suffrage and
prohibition, and was chosen president of the Iowa Woman’s Suffrage Asso-
ciation in October 1871.

15. LEWIS AND CLARK MONUMENT, four miles north of the
business district on Scenic Rainbow Dr. was erected in 1935 to com-
memorate Lewis and Clark’s council with the Oto and Winnebago Indians
on their historic expedition up the Missouri River in 1804. Some his-
torians place the council site at Fort Calhoun, Neb., although Lewis
and Clark maps of 1814 designate it on the Iowa side. The shaft monu-
ment, built of native stone, was designed by Harry Stinson of the Univer-
sity of Iowa and erected in November 1935. Sculpturing on the south
panel shows the Indians bringing melons and fruits to exchange with
Lewis and Clark for medals and flags, while the north panel depicts the
meeting of Lewis and Clark holding council with the Indian chiefs in full
ceremonial regalia.

POINTS OF INTEREST IN ENVIRONS

Lake Manawa, State game resetve, 1.25 m.; Iowa School for the Deaf, 5 m. (see
Tounr 9, sec. b).
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Railroad Stations: sth and Harrison Sts. for Chicago, Rock Island & Pacific Ry.;
Union Depot, 1st and Harrison Sts., for Chicago, Milwaukee, St. Paul & Pacific
R.R. and Chicago, Burlington & Quincy R.R.

Bus Stations: 418 Main St. for Burlington Trailways; 213 Perry St. for Clinton,
Davenport and Muscatine R.R. Co. buses; 321-23 Perry St. for Interstate Transit
Lines (North Western Ry. & Union Pacific R.R.), Illinois Transit Lines, Blackhawk
Motor Coach Co., Scenic Stages, and Greyhound Lines.

City Buses: All city service, including Bettendotf, 10¢; service to Rock Island and
Moline (Illinois), 15¢.

Streetcar: Bridge Line car to Rock Island, 10¢.

Taxis: 25¢ a trip for 1 to s, fare by meter, or dime fare.

Ferry: Levee, ft. of Main St., to Rock Island (Illinois), 15-minute service, fare s¢,
no service Jan., Feb., Mar.

Bridges: Government, near business center, toll-free to Rock Island, Ill.; Betten-
dorf, Iowa-Illinois Memorial Bridge, US 6 to Moline, Ill., toll.

Airports: Cram Field, NW. cor. of city, on State 122, licensed repair shop, private
plane service; Moline (IIl.), transcontinental service, United Air Lines, follow US
6 (city route) across Government Bridge through Rock Island to Moline and 3 m.
S. on US 150; taxi, $1.50.

Traffic Regulations: No U turns; free parking, Municipal Levee, ft. Main St., one
hour; visitor’s parking card, obtained from merchants, allows longer than usual
one hour patking in loop.

Accommodations: 13 hotels; many boarding and rooming houses.

Information Service: Chamber of Commerce, 402-406 Main St.; Eastern Iowa Mo-
tor Clubs, 418 Main St.

Radio Station: WOC (1370 kc).

Motion Picture Houses: Eight.

Steamboat Excursions: Intervals during summer and fall months; arranged by
Streckfus Co., St. Louis, Mo.

Tennis: Credit Island, on US 61, turn at Schmidt Rd. off Rockingham Rd.; Lindsay
Park, E. River Dr. and Mound St.

Swimming: Municipal Natatorium, 120 S. Main St., Y.M.C.A.; Main and 4th Sts.;
Lend A Hand Club, ft. of Main St.

Golf: Credit Island, 18 holes, 31¢; Duck Creek Park, E. end of Locust St., 18
holes, 41¢; both courses municipal.

Baseball: Credit Island; Fejervary Park, entrance W. end 12th St.; Lafayette Sq.,
4th St. and Gaines St.; Municipal Stadium, ft. of Gaines St. (Western League).
Ice Skating: Vander Veer Patk, Lombard and Main Sts.; Credit Island.

Annual Events: Chrysanthemum Show, Vander Veer Park Conservatory, Thanks-
giving time; Mississippi Valley Fair, W. Locust St., Aug.; Annual Tri-City Art
Exhibit, Davenport Municipal Art Gallery, Spring. ¢

DAVENPORT (559 alt., 60,751 pop.), seat of Scott County and the
third largest city in Iowa stretches along the Mississippi River for nearly
five miles, whete the river widens to form Lake Davenport. The business
district, five blocks wide at the center of the city, broadens to almost a
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mile at the western end, while the residential section spreads over and
beyond the bluffs rising to 160 feet above the level of the business dis-
trict. From this lofty land one glimpses the cities across the river in
Illinois—Rock Island and Moline, which, with Davenport, form the Tri-
Cities group.

Directly on the bluffs stand the older homes, mansionlike in size and
dignity, although many have been changed into apartment houses. Amid
the winding roads to the northeast the newer homes of the McClelland
Heights neighborhood grace the hills, while many other new and attrac-
tive homes border the tree-shadowed drives westward around the edge of
the city. There are no slum areas and even though from its settlers of the
1850's the citizenry has been largely German and some Irish, the national-
alities have never set themselves apart in foreign groups.

The city has many and varied industries, but is noted chiefly as a shop-
ping and trading mart. Second and Third Street shops cater to the farm-
ing and small-town people on the Iowa side and also attract shoppers from
the larger centers on the Illinois side, for the Tri-Cities constitute a
closely-knit community with a large interchange of business. Any hour of
the day a continual stréam of trafic—some on a national highway—pours
;og;hward across the Government bridge and eastward to the Bettendorf

ridge.

Several times a year millions of caddis flies, similar to dragon flies,
invade the city from the Mississippi River for their one night of life.
The next day they are shoveled up and dumped into the river by the
truckload. Harmless, but very annoying, they take possession of the city
during their unwelcome visit; people stay indoors and as many street
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lights as possible are turned out. These caddis invasions are common to
all the eastern river towns.

The site of Davenport, important in the development of the territory
beyond the Mississippi River, was a trading center of the American Fur
Company, and a battleground of the War of 1812. Fort Armstrong, estab-
lished on Rock Island in 1816, brought to the vicinity two men who were
to influence the growth of the future city—Col. George Davenport, for
whom the city was named, and Antoine LeClaire, one of its pioneer
founders. Colonel Davenport, an Englishman who had served in the
United States Army, came to Fort Armstrong with the first troops to con-
duct the Army store. Becoming interested in the rich fur trade, he estab-
lished a post of his own. From this time the Davenport area was a trading
center. Antoine LeClaire, a French halfbreed, reared around trading posts
at Milwaukee and Peoria, and later educated, was highly valued because
he spoke French, Spanish, and English, as well as several Indian dialects.

Gen. Winfield Scott (for whom the county was named) and John
Reynolds, with Chiefs Keokuk and Wapello of the Sac and Fox tribes,
negotiated a treaty here in 1832. LeClaire acted as interpreter. At the re-
quest of the tribes, the United States Government gave to LeClaire the
section of land opposite Rock Island, and one section of land at the head
of the first rapids above Rock Island, the site where the treaty was made.
LeClaire’s first Iowa home, built near this spot, was in fulfillment of his
promise to Keokuk. LeClaire later acquired the land adjoining his reserve
on the west and sold it, with the exception of an eighth interest, to
Colonel Davenport and six other men. On this tract, Davenport was
founded in 1836.

During the 1837—38 term of the Wisconsin Territorial Legislature, when
Scott County was organized, there was a brisk fight between Davenport
and Rockingham, now a part of Davenport, for county seat honors and
three elections were held before the matter was finally settled in favor of
Davenport. The city received its first charter in 1839 and a second in 1843.

From 1850 to 1860 the population rose from 1,848 to 11,267, owing in
a large measure to German and other European immigrants who came to
the United States to escape political difficulties abroad. The Germans
organized their turnvereins and singing societies, one of the first in Daven-
port being a maennerchor, organized in 1851.

Davenport was the first city in Iowa to bave railroad service, and it
was at this point that the first train crossed the Mississippi in 1856. The
Mississipi and Missouri Railroad Company began construction of the road
from Davenport to Council Bluffs in 1853. On August 25, 1855, the first
passenger train to leave the city was drawn by a locomotive that had been
ferried across the Mississippi. This road, completed to Iowa City by
January 1, 1856, was not extended farther for several years. Almost at
once the city was aroused to the possibilities of a bridge to link the
railroads on either side (later consolidated as the Chicago & Rock Island
railway). The Mississippi River Bridge Company, organized in 1853 to
build a bridge at Davenport, began work in 1854 but encountered opposi-
tion. Rivermen and steamboat owners considered the river “a navigable
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waterway consectated by nature” for their use alone. The steamboat men
carried their fight to court to prevent the bridge’s construction, but it was
rushed to completion in April 1856.

Events leading to the Civil War touched Davenport through two well-
known characters—Dred Scott and John Brown. Dred Scott, Negro slave,
based his famous fight for freedom upon his residence in Davenport with
his master, Dr. John Emerson, for whom he occupied a preemption shack.

John Brown, the famed abolitionist, celebrated Fourth of July, 1857, in
Davenport buying supplies for the trip to Kansas that preceded the
Harper’s Ferry episode, which culminated in his arrest. At another time
he concealed a band of runaway slaves in a railroad boxcar as he took
them through Davenport enroute to Chicago, then Canada and freedom.

During the Civil War there were several camps in the vicinity of Daven-
port. Among the more important was Camp McClellan where Sioux In-
dians, who took part in the massacre of 1862 in Minnesota, were im-
prisoned. Another was Camp Roberts, later Camp Kinsman, converted
after the war into the Iowa Soldiers’ Orphans’ Home. Gov. Samuel J.
Kirkwood and his military staff bad their headquarters in the city, for
telegraph facilities terminated in Davenport at the opening of the war,
thus giving the town an important position in relaying the news.

The river traffic of the 1860’s, 1870’s and 1880’s added romance and
color to life in Davenport and gave it activities missing in inland towns.
The city was an important port for boats plying between St. Paul and New
Orleans.

During the 1880’s excellent limestone quarries were developed, mak-
ing possible the establishment of the cement business, now a leading indus-
try. The principal plants fabricating steel and iron were also started about
this time. In 1888 the city developed the second electric trolley (streetcar)
in the United States. By the 1890’s the immigration of Germans, which
had been continuous for almost 40 years, came to a close. During the
World War more than 18,000 individuals were employed in the Rock
Island arsenal just opposite Davenport.

Manufacturing in the city ranges from pearl buttons to ready-made
houses. Chiefly a sawmill town and exporter of raw foodstuffs in its earlier
days, Davenport now manufactures cement, cigars, beer, foundry products,
pumps, steel wheels, washing machines, men’s clothing, wooden sole
shoes, meat products, and wool products.

The third charter, adopted in 1851, and since amended, is still in use.
This charter makes it possible for Davenport to secure indirectly special
legislation to fit the particular needs of the city.<ns1:XMLFault xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat"><ns1:faultstring xmlns:ns1="http://cxf.apache.org/bindings/xformat">java.lang.OutOfMemoryError: Java heap space</ns1:faultstring></ns1:XMLFault>